The Development of Adult Sex-typed Social Behavior in Lemur catta

by

Stephanie Lynn Meredith

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Approved December 2011 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Leanne T. Nash, Chair Kaye E. Reed Gary T. Schwartz

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2012

ABSTRACT

Unanswered questions about the evolution of human gender abound and are salient across the anthropological disciplines and beyond. Did adult sex-typed behavioral tendencies actually evolve? If so, when? For what purpose? The best way to gain insight into the evolution of human gender is to understand the evolution and development of sex-typed behavior in comparative primate taxa. Captive research indicates that there are many proximate factors likely to shape the development of sex-typed behavior in non-human primates—prenatal and postnatal endocrinological experience, social experience, ecological factors, and their interactions. However, it is largely unknown how sex-typed behavior proceeds and is shaped by those factors in evolutionarily salient environments.

This study investigated one—whether extrinsic sexually differentiated social interactions are likely influential in the development of adult sex-typed behavior in wild-living *Lemur catta*. Little is known about sex-typed development in this species or in strepsirrhines in general. This research therefore addresses an important phylogenetic gap in our understanding of primate sex-typed development. Behavioral observations were carried out on mixed cross-sectional sample of adult females (n=10), adult males (n=8), yearling females (n=4), yearling males (n=4), and newborn females (n=16) and males (n=14) at Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve in southwest Madagascar from September 2008 to August 2009.

Twenty-three sex-typed behaviors were identified in adults using linear mixed effects models and models of group response profiles through time. Of those, only eight had a pre-pubertal developmental component. Infants did not exhibit any sex differences in behavior, but juveniles (prepubertal, weaned individuals) resembled adults in their (relatively few) patterns of expression of sex-typed behavior. Most adult sex-typed behaviors in this species apparently develop at or after puberty and may be under gonadal hormone control. Those that develop before puberty do not likely depend on extrinsic sexually differentiation social interactions for their development, because there is no clear evidence that infants and juvenile male and females are not treated differently by others according to sex. If sexually differentiated social interactions are important for sex-typed behavioral development in subadult *Lemur catta*, they are likely intrinsically (rather than extrinsically) driven.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I extend a warm thank you to my committee members: Leanne Nash, Kaye Reed, and Gary Schwartz. Thank you for your patience, positive attitudes, and collegiality. I have learned a great many things from you over the years, and I thank you in advance for continuing to be the people I can go to for advice, guidance, and friendship wherever my future takes me.

This project would not have been possible without funding by The L.S.B. Leakey Foundation, the School of Human Evolution and Social Change, The Arizona State University Graduate and Professional Student Association, and Sigma Xi. I am also indebted to those who helped me with the logistics of working at Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve. Michelle Sauther and Frank Couzzo were generous with their time, information, and especially their personal contacts. Jacky Youssouf and Andry Randrianandrasana became friends in addition to being helpful Reserve administrators. And I thank the staff of Beza for sharing with me their lives and homes. It would have been a lonely 8 months as the sole researcher at Beza without those funeral parties, overnight stays on the floors of your houses, long shared walks to market, and evenings sipping toaka gasy. Misaotra betsaka.

Teague O'Mara, my comrade throughout. I'm sure I could have done it without you, but it would have been a lot less fun, a lot more arduous, and probably not as good. I would not have imagined when we first met that we would work so well together with and for each other in so many ways. Let's keep that up, shall we?

I thank Thierra Nalley for pet-sitting above and beyond the call of friendly duty, and the Lewtons for showing me what it's like be part of a supportive family. To Kristi Lewton: my wife, colleague, friend. As you well know, I quite literally could not have done this without you. You deserve a medal for seamlessly maintaining my life for me while I was half a world away and you were simultaneously traveling for your own research. Every day (and especially lately), you help me in ways too numerous to count. I will not name them. The naming would diminish them, as their importance to me outstrips my own facility with words. But I thank you deeply and sincerely; I am eternally grateful to have you as my teammate.

Finally, I thank my friends. Not for helpful and stimulating conversations. Sure, we have had them, but that's not the point. I thank you for being the types of people with whom it is possible to have such conversations—anytime, anywhere, about anything. The types of people who stay outside in the heat for 45 minutes to watch while you try to pound the cork out of a wine bottle at a party, and who design imaginary future cork-pounding experiments to isolate what makes it work. The types of people who understand when you walk away from them mid-sentence or interrupt them because you've seen something you think is exciting, because they do that to you, too. I thank you for being the types of people I am proud to call my colleagues and friends. To me, you feel like a perfectly broken-in pillow, or like the coziest old sweatshirt in the closet, or like the first time you put on your favorite pair of jeans in the fall after not having worn pants all summer. And I thank you for that. This path has not always been the easiest. It has never been the most lucrative. But it has been the richest, the most interesting, and it has made me the most happy, due in no small part to the bright, challenging, creative, quirky, thoughtful, earnest and honest wonderers with whom it has afforded me the privilege of sharing not just my work, but also my life and myself.

	Page
LIST OF TAI	BLES
LIST OF FIG	GURES
CHAPTER	
1 I.	NTRODUCTION 1
2 B	ACKGROUND
	Evolution of human gender7
	Advantages of comparative research14
	Identifying adaptation18
	Why study development?
	Previous research on sex-typed development
	Human gender development28
	Social causes of behavioral sex differentiation28
	"Biological" causes of behavioral sex differentiation
	Distinguishing the roles of "nature" and "nurture" in sex-typed
	development
	Captive non-human primate sex-typed development
	Social causes of behavioral sex differentiation40
	Biological causes of behavioral sex differentiation46
	Social/somatic interaction
	Wild non-human primate sex-typed development53
	Social and ecological causes of behavioral sex differentiation53
	Biological causes of behavioral sex differentiation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3

4

R Pag
Social/biological interaction5
Shortcomings of previous research
The false dichotomy of social versus biological, and environmental
versus innate6
Shortcomings of non-human primate data for understanding
adaptation in sex-typed development6
Research goals6
Theoretical model and hypotheses7
METHODS
Field site7
Individual identification7
Behavioral sampling8
Samples8
Seasons8
Analytical methods8
ADULT SEX DIFFERENCES 11
Agonism11
Aggression11
Rates of aggression toward others11
Aggression toward adult females11
Aggression toward adult males12
Aggression toward juvenile females12
Aggression toward juvenile males

Aggression toward infants12	25
Non-aggressive dominance12	26
Rates of supplanting others12	27
Supplanting adult females12	28
Supplanting adult males12	<u>2</u> 9
Supplanting juvenile females13	31
Supplanting juvenile males13	32
Supplanting infants13	33
Avoidance	34
Rates of avoidance of others13	34
Adult deviations from rates of avoidance of adult females	
expected at random13	35
Adult deviations from rates of avoidance of adult males expecte	ed
at random13	36
Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile females13	38
Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile males13	38
Adult rates of avoidance of infants13	39
Fear	40
Rates of fear of others	40
Fear of adult females	 11
Fear of adult reales	11
Fear of adult males	+4
Fear of juvenile temales, juvenile males, and infants14	15
Discussion - Agonism	45

Affiliation	148
Grooming	148
Time spent grooming	148
Grooming adult females	152
Grooming adult males	153
Grooming juvenile females	155
Grooming juvenile males	156
Grooming infants	157
Summary and Discussion - Grooming	163
Proximity patterns	165
Number of neighbors in proximity	166
Neighbors in contact	166
Neighbors within reach	170
Neighbors in 3m	171
Time in proximity	172
Time in contact with others	172
Time within weath of others	172
Time within feach of others	173
Time within 3m of others	1/5
Time within 5m of others (inclusive)	1/6
Deviations from random proximity to other age/sex classes	177
Contact with adult females	178
Within reach of adult females	180
Within 3m of adult females viii	181

Contact with adult males182
Within reach of adult males184
Within 3m of adult males187
Contact with juvenile females
Within reach of juvenile females
Within 3m of juvenile females
Contact with juvenile males192
Within reach of juvenile males194
Within 3m of juvenile males196
Contact with infants199
Within reach of infants201
Within 3m of infants203
Summary and Discussion - Proximity
Infant interest
Grooming211
Proximity211
Scent marking
Ano-genital marking (A-G mark)213
Antebrachial and brachial marking214
Rates of anoint tail and tail wave217
Rates of tail play219
Summary and Discussion – Scent marking
Summary – Adult sex differences

ER	Page
5	INTRINSIC SUBADULT SEX DIFFERENCES 226
	Agonism
	Aggression
	Rates of aggression toward others
	Non-aggressive dominance229
	Rates of supplanting others
	Deviations from rates of supplanting juvenile females expected
	at random231
	Summary - Agonism232
	Affiliation234
	Grooming
	Subadult deviations from time spent grooming adult males
	expected at random234
	Subadult deviations from time spent grooming juvenile females
	expected at random238
	Subadult deviations from time spent grooming juvenile males
	expected at random240
	Subadult deviations from time spent grooming infants expected
	at random242
	Summary - Affiliation244
	Proximity
	Average number of neighbors in proximity – contact, within reach,
	and within 3m247

D
Page

Average number of scans per hour in proximity – contact, within
reach, within 3m, within 5m253
Subadult deviations from time spent in proximity to other age/sex
classes expected at random261
Summary – Proximity patterns
Infant interest
Scent marking
Infants
Juveniles
Summary – Subadult development of adult sex-typed behaviors
6 POTENTIAL EXTRINSIC MOTIVATORS OF INTRINSIC SEXUAL
DIFFERENTIATION 298
Affiliation (grooming) from others
Infants
Juveniles
Aggression and supplants received from others
Infants
Juveniles
Extrinsic social interactions - Summary
Sex differential ecology
Feeding time
Sex differences in proximity during feeding/foraging

Infants
Juveniles
Ecological sex differences - Summary
Summary – Extrinsic motivators of intrinsic sexual differentiation324
7 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
Sex-typed socialization
Ecological causes
Hormonal causes
Juvenile model-seeking
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
3-1.	Ethogram of behaviors used in continuous and scan samplings. Bi-
	directional behaviors can be directed by or toward the focal individual.
	Uni-directional behaviors are only exhibited by the focal individual 99
3-2.	Individual samples by observation month for adults and juveniles and by
	real age for infants 106
4-1.	Individual component behaviors of the four types of agonism 117
4-2.	RP model parameter estimates for rates of aggression in adult males and
	females 118
4-3.	Model parameter estimates for deviations of rates of aggression toward
	adult females
4-4.	RP model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of
	aggression toward adult males 122
4-5.	RP model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of
	aggression toward juvenile females 123
4-6.	LMEM model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of
	aggression toward juvenile males 124
4-7.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	aggression toward infants
4-8.	Model parameter estimates for rates of supplanting others 127
4-9.	RP model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of
	supplanting adult females

4-10.	RP model parameters estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	supplanting adult males
4-11.	RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	supplanting juvenile females
4-12.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	supplants of juvenile males
4-13.	RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	supplants of infants 133
4-14.	Model parameter estimates of rates of avoidance of others 134
4-15.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	avoidance of adult females
4-16.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	avoidance of adult males
4-17.	Model parameter estimates of rates of fear of others 141
4-18.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of fear of
	adult females 142
4-19.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of fear of
	adult males 144
4-20.	Summary results of tests for sex differences in overall rates of agonism
4-21.	Summary of sex differences in bias of agonism with respect to partner
	age/sex class
4-22.	Model parameter estimates of time spent grooming others 149

xiv

4-23.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	grooming adult females
4-24.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	grooming adult males
4-25.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	grooming juvenile females 155
4-26.	RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	grooming juvenile males
4-27.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of
	grooming infants
4-28.	Model parameter estimates of absolute time spent grooming others, by
	ace/sex aless 162
	age/sex class
4-29.	Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming
4-29. 4-30.	Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming
4-29. 4-30.	Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming
4-29.4-30.4-31.	age/ sex class 162 Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming 165 Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming each partner type 165 Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in contact 167
4-29.4-30.4-31.4-32.	Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming
4-29.4-30.4-31.4-32.	age/ sex class162Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming165Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming each partner type165Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in contact167RP model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in contact with169
 4-29. 4-30. 4-31. 4-32. 4-33. 	Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming
 4-29. 4-30. 4-31. 4-32. 4-33. 4-34. 	age/ sex class162Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming
 4-29. 4-30. 4-31. 4-32. 4-33. 4-34. 4-35. 	Summary results for adult sex differences in grooming

4-37.	Model parameter estimates of number of scans within 3 meters of others
4-38.	Model parameter estimates of number of scans within 5 meters of others
4-39.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time in contact
	with adult females 179
4-40.	RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	in reach of adult females
4-41.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within 3 meters of adult females 181
4-42.	Model parameters estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	contact with adult males 183
4-43.	Model parameter estimates of deviation from expected time spent within
	reach of adult males
4-44.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within 3 meters of adult males 188
4-45.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	contact with juvenile females 189
4-46.	RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within reach of juvenile females 190
4-47.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within 3 meters of juvenile females 191

4-48.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	contact with juvenile males 193
4-49.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within reach of juvenile males194
4-50.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within 3 meters of juvenile males 197
4-51.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of contact
	with infants 200
4-52.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within reach of infants 202
4-53.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	within 3 meters of infants 203
4-54.	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206
4-54. 4-55.	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner
4-54. 4-55.	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type
4-54.4-55.4-56.	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type
4-54.4-55.4-56.4-57.	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type
 4-54. 4-55. 4-56. 4-57. 4-58. 	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type
 4-54. 4-55. 4-56. 4-57. 4-58. 4-59. 	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type
 4-54. 4-55. 4-56. 4-57. 4-58. 4-59. 4-60. 	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type
 4-54. 4-55. 4-56. 4-57. 4-58. 4-59. 4-60. 4-61. 	Summary results of sex differences in global proximity measures 206 Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner type

4-63.	Summary of adult sex differences in intrinsic behaviors toward each
	partner type 224
5-1.	Model parameter estimates of overall rates of aggression directed by
	subadults
5-2.	Model parameter estimates of rates of supplanting others by subadults
5-3.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected juvenile rates of
	supplanting juveniles and infants
5-4.	Summary of intrinsic agonism in subadults 232
5-5.	Summary of intrinsic agonism bias in subadults by partner type 233
5-6.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	grooming adult males by subadults 235
5-7.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	grooming juvenile females by subadults 237
5-8.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	grooming juvenile males by subadults
5-9.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent
	grooming infants by subadults 242
5-10.	Summary of intrinsic affiliation in subadults
5-11.	Summary of intrinsic affiliation bias in subadults by partner type 245
5-12.	Model parameter estimates of total time spent grooming by juveniles

5-13.	Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in proximity to
	subadults
5-14.	Model parameter estimates of time in proximity to others for subadults
5-15.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from number of expected
	scans spent in proximity to adult females by infants 261
5-16.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time in
	proximity to adult males by infants
5-17.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to juvenile females by infants
5-18.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to juvenile males by infants
5-19.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to infants by infants
5-20.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to adult females by juveniles
5-21.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to adult males by juveniles
5-22.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to infants by juveniles
5-23.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in
	proximity to juveniles by juveniles

5-24.	Summary results of subadult sex differences in global proximity
	measures
5-25.	Summary results of sex differences in proximity measures by partner
	type
5-26.	Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time in contact
	with mother by juveniles 284
5-27.	Model parameter estimates for rates of scent-marking related behavior
	by juveniles
5-28.	Summary results of sex differences in adult sex-typed global agonism
	and proximity measures across age classes 290
5-29.	Summary results of sex differences in adult sex-typed agonism,
	grooming, and proximity by partner type across age classes
5-30.	Summary results of adult sex-typed scent marking across all age classes
5-31.	Summary of adult sex-typed behaviors possessing a subadult
	developmental component
6-1.	Model parameter estimates for time groomed by others for infants 300
6-2.	Model parameter estimates for time groomed by others for juveniles
6-3.	Model parameter estimates for rates of aggression received from others
	for infants
6-4.	Model parameter estimates for rates of supplants received from others
	by infants

Table

6-5.	Model parameter estimates for rates of aggression received from others
	for juveniles
6-6.	Model parameter estimates for rates of supplants received from others
	for juveniles
6-7.	Summary of sex differences in extrinsic social behavior received by
	infants
6-8.	Summary of sex differences in extrinsic social behavior received by
	juveniles
6-9.	Model parameter estimates for time spent feeding by subadults 312
6-10.	Model parameter estimates for deviations from expected time spent
	feeding with nearest neighbors at random for infants by adult partner
	type
6-11.	Model parameter estimates for deviations from expected time spent
	feeding with pearest peighbors at random for infants by subadult
	recuiling with nearest neighbors at fandom for infants by subadult
	partner type
6-12.	partner type
6-12.	partner type
6-12.	partner type
6-12. 6-13.	partner type
6-12. 6-13.	 partner type
6-12. 6-13.	 partner type

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
2-1.	Schematic of hypothetical behavioral developmental trajectories when
	infants are born differentiated by sex versus undifferentiated 72
2-2.	Schematic of hypothetical behavioral sex differentiation caused only by
	sexual maturation
2-3.	Schematic of hypothetical behavioral sex differentiation caused only by
	ecological sex differentiation
3-1.	Map of Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve
3-2.	Position within group. During linear group progressions, focal
	individuals were designated as leading, middle, or lagging. All other
	times, focal individuals were designated as "in" or "out." When
	designated "out," distance from the nearest group member was
	recorded in 5m increments 82
3-3.	Canopy position
3-4.	Individuals sampled per month for each age/sex class
4-1.	Adult rates of aggression toward others 119
4-2.	Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward adult females 121
4-3.	Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward adult males 123
4-4.	Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward juvenile females
4-5.	Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward juvenile males 125
4-6.	Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward infants 126
4-7.	Adult rates of supplanting others

4-8.	Deviations from expected rates of supplants of adult females 129
4-9.	Deviations from expected rates of supplanting adult males 130
4-10.	Deviations from expected rates of supplants of juvenile females 131
4-11.	Deviations from expected rates of supplants of juvenile males 132
4-12.	Deviations from expected rates of supplants of infants 133
4-13.	Adult rates of avoidance of others 135
4-14.	Deviations from expected rates of avoidance of adult females
4-15.	Deviations from expected rates of avoidance of adult males 137
4-16.	Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile females 138
4-17.	Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile males 139
4-18.	Adult rates of avoidance of infants
4-19.	Adult rates of fear of others 141
4-20.	Deviations from expected rates of fear of adult females 143
4-21.	Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected rates of fear of
	adult females
4-22.	Deviations from expected rates of fear of adult males 144
4-23.	Annual resource availability and precipitation at Beza Mahafaly Special
	Reserve
4-24.	Adult time spent grooming others
4-25.	Ordinary least squares regressions of individual rates of grooming others
4-26.	Individual annual means of time spent grooming others 151

4-27.	Individual adult annual time spent grooming: males (upper left); male
	outlier (upper right); females (lower left); female outlier (lower right)
4-28.	Deviations from expected rates of grooming adult females 153
4-29.	Deviations from expected rates of grooming adult males 154
4-30.	Deviations from expected rates of grooming juvenile females 155
4-31.	Deviations from expected rates of grooming juvenile males 156
4-32.	Deviations from expected rates of grooming infants 159
4-33.	Ordinary least squares regressions of individual rates of grooming
	infants 160
4-34.	Annual mean values of deviations from expected rates of grooming
	infants
4-35.	Adult absolute time spent grooming infants 163
4-36.	Adult average number of neighbors in contact per scan 168
4-37.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of number of neighbors in
	contact per scan 168
4-38.	Adult female average number of neighbors in contact per scan (top) and
	values from an outlying female (below) 169
4-39.	Average number of neighbors within reach 170
4-40.	Average number of neighbors within 3 meters 171
4-41.	Average number of scans in contact with others 173
4-42.	Average number of scans within reach of others 174
4-43.	Average number of scans within 3 meters of others 176 xxiv

4-44.	Average number of scans within 5 meters of others 177
4-45.	Deviations from expected time spent in contact with adult females 179
4-46.	Deviations from expected time spent in reach of adult females 180
4-47.	Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult females
4-48.	Deviations from expected time spent in contact with adult males 184
4-49.	Deviations from expected time spent within reach of adult males 186
4-50.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent within reach of adult males 187
4-51.	Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult males 188
4-52.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent within 3 meters of adult males 189
4-53.	Deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile females
4-54.	Deviations from expected time spent within reach of juvenile females
4-55.	Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of juvenile females
4-56.	Deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile males 193
4-57.	Deviations from expected time spent within reach of juvenile males 195
4-58.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent in contact with juvenile males 196

4-59.	Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of juvenile males
4-60.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent within 3 meters of juvenile males 199
4-61.	Deviations from expected rates of contact with infants 200
4-62.	Deviations from expected time spent within reach of infants 202
4-63.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent within reach of infants 203
4-64.	Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of infants 204
4-65.	Average numbers of neighbors in contact; grey bars indicate spring
	mating pulses in 2009 208
4-66.	Average numbers of neighbors in within reach; grey bars indicate spring
	mating pulses in 2009 208
4-67.	Average amount of time spent in contact with others; grey bars indicate
	spring mating pulses in 2009 209
4-68.	Average amount of time spent within reach of others; grey bars indicate
	spring mating pulses in 2009 209
4-69.	Rates of ano-genital marking among adults 214
4-70.	Rates of antebrachial marking among adults 215
4-71.	Rates of brachial marking among adults 217
4-72.	Rates of anoint tail among adults 218
4-73.	Rates of tail wave among adults 219
4-74.	Rates of tail play among adults

xxvi

Figure

5-1.	Overall rates of aggression directed by infants toward others
5-2.	Overall rates of aggression directed by juveniles toward others 227
5-3.	Overall rates of supplants of others by infants 229
5-4.	Overall rates of supplants of others by juveniles 229
5-5.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males by infants
5-6.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males by juveniles
5-7.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent grooming adult males by juveniles
5-8.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females by
	infants 238
5-9.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females by
	other juveniles
5-10.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males by infants
5-11.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males by other
	juveniles
5-12.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected
	time spent grooming juvenile males by other juveniles
5-13.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming infants by other infants
5-14.	Deviations from expected time spent grooming infants by juveniles 243 xxvii

5-15.	Overall time spent grooming by juveniles 246
5-16.	Average number of neighbors in contact with infants per scan 249
5-17.	Average number of neighbors in contact with juveniles per scan 249
5-18.	Average number of neighbors within reach of infants per scan 250
5-19.	Average number of neighbors within reach of juveniles per scan 250
5-20.	Individual ordinary least squares regressions of number of individuals
	within reach of juveniles per scan 251
5-21.	Average number of neighbors within 3 meters of infants per scan 251
5-22.	Average number of neighbors within 3 meters of juveniles per scan. 252
5-23.	Average infant time in contact with others 256
5-24.	Average juvenile time in contact with others 256
5-25.	Average infant time within reach of others 257
5-26.	Average juvenile time within reach of others 257
5-27.	Average infant time within 3m of others 258
5-28.	Average juvenile time within 3m of others 258
5-29.	Average infant time within 5m of others 259
5-30.	Average juvenile time within 5m of others 259
5-31.	Deviations from expected time in contact with adult females by infants
5-32.	Deviations from expected time in 3m of adult females by infants 262
5-33.	Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time in 3m of
	adult females by infants

5-34.	Deviations from scans expected within 3m of adult females for juveniles
5-35.	Deviations from expected scans in contact with adult males for juveniles
5-36.	Deviations from expected scans within reach of adult males for juveniles
5-37.	Deviations from expected scans within 3m of adult males for juveniles
5-38.	Deviations from expected scans within reach of infants for juveniles
5-39.	Individuals OLS regressions of deviations from expected scans within
	reach of infants for juveniles
5-40.	Deviations from expected scans in contact with juvenile females for
	juveniles
5-41.	Deviations from expected scans in contact with juvenile males for
	juveniles
5-42.	Deviations from expected scans in contact with juvenile males for
	juveniles
5-43.	Deviations from expected scans in within 3m of adult females for adults
	and juveniles
5-44.	Juvenile rates of tail play
5-45.	Juvenile rates of antebrachial mark
5-46.	Juvenile rates of brachial mark

Figure

6-1.	Average time groomed by others for infants
6-2.	Average time groomed by adult males for infants 301
6-3.	Individual OLS regressions for average time groomed by adult males for
	infants 302
6-4.	Individual OLS regressions for average time groomed by others for
	infants 302
6-5.	Average rates of being supplanted by adult females for infants 306
6-6.	Average rates of receiving aggression from mother for juveniles 307
6-7.	Deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest
	neighbor at random for infants
6-8.	Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging
	with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for infants
6-9.	Deviations from expected time foraging with adult males as nearest
	neighbors at random for infants
6-10.	Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging
	with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for infants 317
6-11.	Deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest
	neighbor at random for juveniles 319
6-12.	Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging
	with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for juveniles 320
6-13.	Deviations from expected time foraging with juveniles males as nearest
	neighbors at random for juveniles

- 6-14. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging with juveniles males as nearest neighbors at random for juveniles 322

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Gender is a term that was introduced into the academic literature in the mid-1950s by the prominent sexologist John Money as a way to distinguish the behavioral standards marking membership in each biological sex from biological sex itself [Haig 2004]. Eventually, the term was embraced by second wave feminist academics of the 1970s [Haig 2004; Stockett and Geller 2006], who codified the binary opposition of biological sex versus culturally constructed gender, and who largely dismissed the importance of biological sex as a motivator of sexually differentiated behavior [Scott 1986; Stockett and Geller 2006]. Since then, third-wave feminist scholars have abandoned the binary opposition of sex and gender-shifting focus to the creation of identity and the ways in which sex, gender, and the entire male/female binary (among other things) are socially constructed through "discourse, representation, and repetitive performance" [p. 8, Fausto-Sterling 1993; Nicholson 1994; Stockett and Geller 2006]. Meanwhile, evolutionary psychologists have taken up the opposite position, treating sexually differentiated human behavior as an adaptive, fundamentally binary expression of our universal human nature [e.g., Cosmides et al. 1992; Tooby and Cosmides 1990a; Wilson 1994].

The literature is rife with vehement and sweeping claims about both the proximate and ultimate causes of human gender, often buttressed with untested assumptions. Some authors insist that socialization—learning processes in which species-typical behaviors are acquired through direct interaction [Fragaszy and Perry 2003]—is almost entirely responsible for the emergence of human sex differentiated behavior [e.g., Bleier 1984; Fausto-Sterling 1992]. Implicit in this stance is the assumption that socialization cannot produce adaptation, which is used as proof-

1

positive that human sex-typed behavior is non-adaptive. Here, social behavior is extricated from biology and considered separate from it. Of course, this assumption is unfounded; it is quite plausible that socialization processes themselves have been targets of selection because they produce adaptive behaviors. On the other extreme, some researchers accept as a tenet that sexually differentiated behavior in humans is adaptive (even children's sex differences in object play [Gredlein and Bjorklund 2005]), and set about to conjure the selective scenarios and proximate mechanisms that might explain observed modern patterns of behavior [Bussey and Bandura 1999; Eals and Silverman 1994; Eswaran and Kotwal 2004]. But to date, the evolutionary history of most human and non-human primate sex-typed behaviors (and the processes that drive their development) is completely unknown.

Hypotheses of behavioral adaptation are challenging to test, but are best explored using the comparative method [Harvey and Pagel 1991]. The comparative method can reveal elements of adult sex-typed behavior that vary little across many species and that may have experienced stabilizing selection; and it can uncover patterns of sex-typed behavioral variation that co-vary in reliable ways with other factors, such as resource distribution, social system, or specific patterns of social interaction. Comparative study of sex-roles across the primate order, therefore, is the clearest way to gain insight into questions regarding the evolution of, and adaptation in, primate and human sex-typical behavior [Thierry et al. 2008].

There is good reason to consider human sex-typed social behavior in its broader evolutionary context because the rich historical tradition of research on these issues in non-humans may yield important insights for humans. Sociobiological and socioecological theories assert that in sexually reproducing species, selection may act to maximize the fitness of males and females via different behavioral strategies [Emlen and Oring 1977], and much of behavioral ecology and sociobiology focuses on understanding how reproductively mature individuals living in a particular environment, facing a particular set of constraints, are expected to allocate their time and energy to maximize their lifetime reproductive success. Indeed, adult sex-differentiated behaviors are plentiful and often complex in many taxa, cross-cutting a variety of important aspects of life such as: foraging [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005a], intra-group spacing and association [Borries 1993; Koenig 2000; Pepper et al. 1999; van Schaik 1989], and mating tactics [Hrdy et al. 1995; Koenig and Borries 2001; Utami et al. 2002; van Noordwijk and van Schaik 2001; van Schaik et al. 1999].

Infants of mammalian taxa, though, are not born into the world expertly doing all of the things that adults do. The number and complexity of sexdifferentiated adult behaviors not present at birth among gregarious mammals begs the question: How do these behaviors develop? That is, what are the proximate causes underlying the sex-differential development of sex-typed adult behaviors? In primates in particular, neonate levels of physical activity and social interaction are very low compared to adults [Bentley-Condit 2003]. Therefore, many of the behaviors we expect to conform to a given set of theoretical principles must develop during the process of maturation from neonate to adult. And just as adult behaviors not present at birth must develop during maturation, the development of sexdifferentiated adult behaviors not present at birth must proceed, during maturation, in sex-differentiated ways.

3

Research on these questions in non-human primates has been ongoing for decades, forming a vast "nature vs. nurture" literature, and overwhelming evidence indicates that sex-typed development (indeed, all development) results from the interactions thereof [Kelly et al. 1999; Wallen 1996]. Given that, a more refined question emerges: How do *particular* factors interact to shape the development of particular behaviors in particular taxa?

Understanding the proximate causal factors that drive and shape the ontogeny of adult behavioral patterns is not only interesting in its own right, but can also help to clarify how and why those adult behavioral patterns might have evolved by yielding insight into the factors that influence or constrain them [Beaupre et al. 1998; Duvall and Beaupre 1998]. If selection indeed acts to maximize the fitness of males and females via different behavioral strategies [Emlen and Oring 1977], then some elements of sex-typed behavior will be adaptive. But *which* elements of sex-typed behavior are not? Understanding the proximate processes that shape the development of adult sex-typical behaviors from a comparative perspective can shed light on this question.

Non-human primates are the most useful model taxon for investigating the proximate and ultimate causes of human sex-typed behavioral development for a number of reasons—like humans, they are behaviorally complex as adults; like humans, they are behaviorally diverse as a taxon; they are relatively easy to observe compared to other behaviorally complex and diverse taxa; they have extraordinarily protracted developmental periods; and they are our closest relatives, most likely to share with us developmental processes due both to homology and convergence. The complexity of and wide range of variation in adult behavior across the primate order

4
is probably underwritten by equally complex and varied interactive developmental processes. Therefore, broad investigation of developmental processes across primates maximizes our potential to identify meaningful regularity in the interactions of developmental processes and their outcomes. Identifying these patterns allows for the construction of logically supported inferences about their developmental causation. Compared to many other vertebrates, the environmental factors—such as resource availability and social interactions—likely to shape the development of behavioral diversity are relatively easy for humans to observe in primates, as none fly, and most do not hide their young away from sight in dens. Because of their protracted developmental periods, researchers may be more readily able to observe, measure, and tease apart the contributions of different proximate mechanisms to behavioral development in primates than in taxa that mature more quickly. And because they are our closest relatives, knowledge about developmental process derived from non-human primates is more likely to be directly applicable to humans than similar data from non-primate taxa.

Studying the proximate mechanisms of sex-typed behavioral development in primates will contribute importantly to understanding the evolution of sex-typed behavior in humans—a topic that is both highly contentious and analytically intractable when studied in isolation. It is logistically challenging (but not impossible) to amass data from numbers of carefully observed human groups sufficient to capture the range of variation humans exhibit in their adult sex-typed behavior. However, it is infeasible to carefully observe individuals from these groups during all of their waking hours over their entire developmental periods. For this reason, most work on the evolution of human gender roles either remains largely

theoretical and unencumbered by data or consists of *post hoc* explanations of the *status* quo.

The objective of this study is to investigate whether and how socialization is involved in the production of adult sex-typed behavior in a non-human primate taxon, *Lemur catta*. In doing so, this study articulates with other developmental research and adds to our understanding of how one proximate cause (socialization) shapes the development of sex-typed behavior in primates. It also contributes to the comparative primate developmental knowledge base needed to eventually answer questions about adaptation in and evolution of human gendered behavior in general, and to begin to clarify whether the process of sex-typed socialization, itself, may have been a target of selection during primate evolutionary history.

CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

EVOLUTION OF HUMAN GENDER

The topic of human gender evolution is hotly debated within and across academic disciplines of anthropology, sociology, and psychology. The degree to which human gender differences represent evolutionary adaptation is a point of great contention [Wood and Eagly 2002; Worthman 1995]. Perspectives on this topic break down into three major scholarly camps—social constructivism, evolutionary psychology, and proponents of the biosocial model [reviewed in Wood and Eagly 2002].

Social constructionists assume that there are no universal laws underlying human behavior and begin inquiry into the mechanisms underlying human gender development with the assumption that cultural relativism is a necessary and sufficient explanation of human gendered behavior [Wood and Eagly 2002]. From this perspective, socialization is entirely responsible for the development of gendered behavior of the individual, and human gender differences do not represent longterm, evolutionary adaptations that characterize *Homo sapiens* as a species. Children's gendered behavior is either chosen for them or chosen by them, but is not an expression of innate, sexually differentiated qualities. Implicit in this position is the idea that the process of socialization, itself, cannot be a target of natural selection, and that behavior and biology are neatly separable.

On the other end of the spectrum, some evolutionary psychologists explicitly assume that all or very nearly all adult sexually differentiated human behavior is the product of natural or sexual selection during the Pleistocene in particular [Cosmides et al. 1992; Tooby and Cosmides 1990b], and that the underlying psychological and physiological profiles that motivate behavior result from sexual selection for those behaviors [Budaev 1999; Eals and Silverman 1994; Gangestad and Simpson 2000; Geary 1995; Joseph 2000; Luxen 2007; MacDonald 1995]. From this perspective, socialization is not responsible for the existence of sex differences, and is only important in determining their specific exhibition within an individual—perhaps only acting as a railroad switch operator sending individuals down a few, sex-typed psychological and behavioral paths [Tooby and Cosmides 1990a; Wilson 1994]. The phenomenon of human gender difference itself represents a long-term, evolutionary adaptation that characterizes (and has characterized) *Homo sapiens* as a species. This position views behavioral sex differences as the ineluctable products of a fundamentally sexually dimorphic human nature [Byrd-Craven and Geary 2007; Geary 1995; Tooby and Cosmides 1990a] and views children's gendered behavior as a necessary, adaptive, developmental precursor to "the" adult sex roles that have characterized *Homo sapiens* throughout its evolution [Byrd-Craven and Geary 2007; Gredlein and Bjorklund 2005; MacDonald 1995]. It has been used by some to explain the persistence of social phenomena such as inequality in the modern workplace [Browne 2006].

The biosocial model of human sex differences has been more recently proposed against the backdrop of the historical dichotomy between social constructivism and evolutionary psychology and seems to be an attempt to minimize the weaknesses and maximize the strengths of each of the other approaches. The biosocial model makes a somewhat more complicated, multi-step assumption about the evolution of human gender than either of its predecessors. It assumes that social structures placing males and females in different social roles within groups

necessarily arise in order to best take advantage (at the group level) of evolved differences in male and female body size and reproductive biology, and that once those social roles are established, sex differences in endocrinology secondarily arise that create sex differences in psychology and canalize the sex roles [Wood and Eagly 2002]. Whether these secondary biological sex differences emerge from the practice of sexually differentiated behavior or are selected for in order to ensure the maintenance of sexually differentiated behavior (or both) is unclear. From this perspective, gendered behavioral development of the individual is socialized but may also be mediated by underlying, evolved psychological or hormonal mechanisms; human gender differences, on the whole, represent the results of an evolutionary feedback loop between individuals' biology and their social environments that was initiated with social responses only to biological differences in body size and strength and sexually differentiated reproductive behavior (but not to anything else) [Wood and Eagly 2002]. Children's gendered behavior, like that of adults, is driven by a complex amalgam of social and biological factors. Some elements of gendered behavior are evolutionary adaptations, and some are simply short-term, socialized responses to particular social environments.

All of these approaches share a common flaw—each makes a foundational assumption about the origination of gendered behavior that it never seeks to test. Social constructivism assumes that individual biology and social behavior are completely independent, that biology does not influence social behavior; and that social modulation of behavioral development cannot be a target of selection. It seeks to understand only the ways in which gendered behavior is socially mediated and to contextualize available data largely from this singular perspective. Evolutionary

psychology assumes that most gendered behavior is substantially mediated by individual biology; it seeks to amass data that support this position and to contextualize available data on sexually differentiated development largely from this singular perspective. The biosocial model acknowledges the demonstrated importance of individual biology, socialization, and the interaction between them in the development of gendered behavior, but assumes that sexual dimorphism in body size and reproductive function controls the formation of social structure, and that biological sex differences that are not directly related to dimorphism or reproduction evolved secondarily, in direct response to social constraints.

Counter to the foundational assumption of social constructivism, a number of lines of evidence suggest that somatically motivated behavioral sex differences in humans do exist. First, non-human experimental models provide clear evidence of a few somatically based behavioral sex differences that might also exist in humans. In rodents in particular, the linkages between sexually differentiated endocrinology, neural structure and function, and mating behaviors have been explicated [Kelly et al. 1999]. While I do not assert that hormones control human behavior entirely, work on these mammalian models suggests that sex differences in physiology and anatomy may be important for shaping sexually differentiated human behavior. Second, clinical research suggests that some human behavioral sex differences may be motivated by somatic variation between the sexes. Girls with classical congenital adrenal hyperplasia, which results in elevated prenatal levels of testosterone, exhibit male-typical toy preferences and play styles compared to their unaffected sisters [Pasterski et al. 2005]. Third, some behavioral sex differences in adult humans are echoed in non-human species, suggesting that some behavioral sex differences may

always have characterized the human lineage. Male superiority in spatial skills has been documented in both humans and rats [Kelly et al. 1999], and earlier development of vocal proficiency has been documented for both human [Bornstein et al. 2000; McGuiness 1981; Roulstone et al. 2002] and non-human primate females [Gouzoules and Gouzoules 1989]. And fourth, both experimental and correlational studies in humans suggest that naturally occurring endocrinological variation may underlie temperamental and behavioral variation. Naturally occurring individual morning testosterone levels were positively correlated with the daily profit margins of 17 British male stock traders [Coates and Herbert 2008]. Experimentally administered doses of testosterone decrease "trusting behaviors" in women who are inclined to be very trusting [Bos et al. 2010], and increase aggressive behavior in men [Kouri et al. 1995].

Counter to the foundational assumption of evolutionary psychology, a number of lines of evidence suggest that socialization is an important driver of behavioral sex differences in humans. First, the comparative research conclusively demonstrates that sexually differentiated social experiences are critical drivers of some elements of behavioral sex differentiation in non-human animals. In rodents, mothers anogenitally groom male pups more than female pups. This stimulation is important for the development of elimination in both sexes and for the eventual development of male sexual behavior. But maternal anogenital grooming also dampens hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal reactions to stress in both sexes, and the sex difference in maternal anogenital grooming results in the sexually differentiated stress responses of male and female offspring [Kelly et al. 1999]. Second, some sex differences in treatment of children by others have been documented, but this varies

across populations. In studies of American and Dutch pre-school teachers, American teachers positively reinforced "female-typical" play activities for both girls and boys, while Dutch teachers positively reinforced "sex-typical" play behaviors [Fagot 1977b]; in a study of American pre-school children, boys were criticized by peers for cross-gender play while girls were not [Fagot 1977a]; and a study of American parent-child interactions found that parents treat boys and girls differently even when they are not conscious of gender stereotyping [Fagot 1978]. Sexdifferential treatment of children by others provides one opportunity for the social acquisition of gendered behavior. Third, children respond to at least some of their perceptions about gender expectations. Sex differences in children's toy preferences are greater for children who report a caretaker, sibling, or peer who thinks poorly of cross-gender play than for children who believe that their caretakers, siblings, and peers have a neutral position on cross-gender play [Raag 1999]. Fourth, some children adjust their gendered behavior in the presence of an observer. A study of Israeli kindergarteners found that children with less gender-stereotyped toy preferences made more strongly gender-stereotyped toy choices in the presence of an adult observer than when alone [Wilansky-Traynor and Lobel 2008].

The foundational assumption of the biosocial model of sex difference is less straightforward but problematic on several counts. First, there is no theoretically sound reason to assume that the selective pressures that produced or maintained body size dimorphism in humans did not simultaneously act on other elements of the human body, such as the brain or the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, in ways that would produce sexually differentiated behavior. Why natural selection would be initially constrained to act on specific aspects of the soma but not others is neither

explained by the biosocial model nor a necessary expectation of evolutionary theory. Indeed, there are multiple ways in which the heteromorphic sex chromosomes of sexually reproducing species produce sex differences in brain and other organ system tissues [Arnold 2004]. This argues against the idea that selection would have first acted *only* on body size and reproductive biology but not on other systems. Perhaps more importantly, it is unclear whether the assumptions of the biosocial model are even falsifiable. First, it is unclear whether its adherents suppose that the proposed relationships among body size dimorphism and mammalian sex differences in reproduction, the resultant emergence of particular social systems, and the secondary evolution of other behavioral sex differences hold across all taxa or whether they apply only to the origins of human behavioral sex differences. Hence, it is unclear where one should start to think about how to falsify the assumption. Second, it is not immediately apparent which particular sex dimorphic behaviors can be sorted into the category of "having to do with dimorphism and/or reproduction" and which belong in the "all else" bin, making it difficult to falsify the assumption. Third, even if the particular behaviors belonging in each category are clearly identified, if these proposed relationships are supposed to apply only to the origins of human behavioral sex differences, it may be impossible to falsify the assumption that behaviors related to dimorphism and reproduction evolved first, and that all others evolved later (depending on the amount of variation in trait covariation across modern human populations and the temporal resolution possible to achieve with intraspecific comparative methods).

A better approach to addressing whether human gendered behavior represents evolutionary adaptation, whether it emerges from short-term social pressures, or some combination of the two, is to think of these questions as hypotheses to be tested rather than as position statements to be buttressed—an approach supported by authors who have called for "the application of stricter scientific standards to arguments about the evolution of sex differentiated human behaviors" [p. 233, Fausto-Sterling 1997].

ADVANTAGES OF COMPARATIVE RESEARCH

Given that males and females across the animal kingdom are subject to different selective pressures [Emlen and Oring 1977; Nunn et al. 2009; Trivers 1972], there is no logical basis for many of the aforementioned assumptions. Some individual sex-typed behaviors may have emerged prior to others in evolutionary history, some may be physiologically mediated and/or socially mediated to varying degrees, and some may be adaptive, while others may not be physiologically motivated, socially motivated, or adaptive. To what degree particular human sextyped behaviors are physiologically and/or socially mediated is an empirical question that can be appropriately investigated using the types of correlative and experimental studies of humans that are undertaken by both social constructivists and evolutionary psychologists and that can be further elucidated by comparative study in several ways. To what degree particular human sex-typed behaviors are adaptations is an empirical question that can be addressed by comparative study.

First, the extent to which experimental manipulation of humans is feasible is extremely limited; as such, experimental studies in a non-human model system may simply be required to answer some questions about the proximate drivers of sextyped behavioral development. Fortunately, non-human primates have been shown to make good models for understanding some selectively important phenomena in humans already—such as the nature and workings of the infant attachment system [Bowlby 1969] and the influence of hormones on parental behavior [Maestripieri 1999]—and, due to their close phylogenetic relationships to humans, they are likely to share many other homologous and analogous behavioral and psychological traits (and trait functions) [Maestripieri 2005b].

Second, since non-human primates are good model systems for understanding human behavior, naturalistic comparative studies of non-human primate sex-typed behavior can also contribute substantially to a better understanding of the proximate drivers of human gendered behavior. An understanding of intraspecific variation in non-human primate sex-typed behavior and its covariates—e.g., ecology, social organization, social interaction—will pinpoint probable proximate drivers of sex-typed behavior that may be either overlooked by the narrow focus of experimental work or that may not be amenable to study in experimental settings. Comparisons of sex-typed behavior across captive and wild settings may also be very instructive for identifying its proximate causes. Sex-typed behaviors that are invariant across captive and wild settings, for example, are apparently not driven by ecological variation, which is at its extreme in such comparisons. Despite the ready availability of captive populations of many species of non-human primates, this type of comparison has only rarely been leveraged for understanding the proximate causes of naturally occurring intraspecific variation [but see Altmann and Alberts 1987; Altmann and Alberts 2005; Altmann and Altmann 1981; Borries et al. 2011; Johnson 2003; Panger 1998; Rangel-Negrín et al. 2009; Yamamoto et al. 2008].

Third and most importantly, questions regarding the evolution of sex-typed behavior require a comparative framework to answer [Nunn 2011]. Knowing the evolutionary timing of particular human sex-typed behaviors-an integral part of arguments from both evolutionary psychology and the biosocial model—requires pinpointing when in primate evolution they first appeared. Whether particular sextyped behaviors are apomorphic or plesiomorphic for humans cannot be assumed a priori. Unfortunately, all three of the dominant perspectives on the evolution of human gender make *a priori* assumptions about the timing of the appearance of gendered behavior. The social constructivist perspective assumes that all gendered behavior is very recent in origin—as recent as the culture in which it is situated. The dominant narrative of evolutionary psychology about the Pleistocene as *the* human environment of evolutionary adaptedness (EEA) [Tooby and Cosmides], the selective pressures of a sexual division of labor on the human mind [Joseph 2000], and the behavioral dimorphism that results seems to assume that human sex-typed behaviors are apomorphic. But nonhuman data are used as support for particular evolutionary arguments (such as for the adaptive function of spatial superiority in human males and verbal superiority in females [Joseph 2000]), simultaneously implying that at least some sexually dimorphic behaviors are plesiomorphic for the hominin clade. The biosocial model, like the social constructivist perspective, seems to assume that human behavioral sex differences are apomorphic, although this assumption does not follow logically from the model itself, given that the presumed evolutionary basis of human behavioral sex differences are rooted in sexual dimorphism in body size and the sex-specific constraints of mammalian reproductive biology, which are not unique to humans [sexual dimorphism, e.g., Leigh 1992].

Being able to make data-based inferences about the evolutionary origins of particular human sex-typed behaviors would go a long way toward critically assessing the assumptions and suppositions of all three dominant perspectives on human gender evolution as well as toward understanding the adaptive nature (or not) of human gender. If some human sex-typed behaviors are shared with the other primates, cultural relativism alone is insufficient to explain their emergence and maintenance (although it would not preclude the potential importance of socialization as a driver). Plesiomorphic human sex-typed behaviors cannot be argued to derive from selective pressures associated with a Pleistocene division of labor. And only interspecific comparison can document the temporal relationships among the evolution of body size dimorphism, social structure, and behavioral sex differences.

Identifying the evolutionary origins of particular sex-typed behaviors through interspecific comparative work will tell us which elements of human gendered behavior we share with other taxa and which are uniquely human. This knowledge, while it does not identify adaptation *per se*, is critical to the formation of informed hypotheses of behavioral adaptation. For example, sex-typed behaviors with deep evolutionary histories that have been conserved across many lineages are likely to be adaptive, as they have apparently been maintained over long periods of time by stabilizing selection. In contrast, sex-typed behaviors unique to modern humans are much more likely to be the result of ephemeral, non-adaptive social pressures.

Identifying Adaptation

An adaptation can be defined as a derived trait that arose at a particular time in a lineage as a result of selection for a particular derived function [Coddington 1994]. Comparative knowledge of sex-typed primate behavior is prerequisite to the endeavor of inferring sex-typed behavioral adaptation, because testing hypotheses of adaptation requires knowledge of the historical origination or originations, respectively, of a hypothesized adaption and its purported function. This is because adaptational hypotheses must link observed patterns of trait variation to observed patterns of variation in specific purported causes [Coddington 1994]. Proposed causes of particular trait originations must precede or be temporally coincident with them [Coddington 1994; Kay and Cartmill 1977], regardless of whether one is using the homology or homoplasy approach to identifying adaptation [Coddington 1994].

Most evolutionary biologists prefer the homoplasy approach to inferring adaptation [e.g., Kay and Cartmill 1977; Pagel 1994], because it allows for a statistical assessment of the degree of covariance between or among traits that are hypothesized to be causally linked [Nunn 2011]. The ability to map trait originations onto a well-resolved phylogeny is crucial to the homoplasy approach to inferring adaptation, because it allows for the identification of independent and nonindependent occurrences of trait/function covariation and thereby allows for inferences about the historical evolutionary processes that may or cannot have produced current patterns of trait diversity [Pagel 1997]. For the homoplasy approach, only independent instances of trait/hypothesized function correlation are of interest—instances of trait/function correlation due to shared ancestry are not considered. Selection will necessarily result in significant correlation between the

adaptive trait and the function for which it is adapted, such that multiple, independent instances of trait/function covariation across a large sample are suggestive of a causal relationship between the two, but significantly correlated evolution should not inevitably be interpreted as adaptation [Coddington 1994]. The adaptive trait should also be shown to perform the function for which it is hypothesized to be an adapation [Kay and Cartmill 1977]. With respect to sex-typed behaviors, the hypothesized function is usually simply increased reproductive success [Buss et al. 1998], although intermediate functions which supposedly lead to increased reproductive success are sometimes proposed (e.g., sexually dimorphic spatial skills as a result of selection on men for better hunting capabilities and women for better foraging capabilities [Joseph 2000]). Whatever the adaptive hypothesis, effort should be made to demonstrate that the supposed adaptive trait has a performance advantage over either the primitive condition that preceded it or over less pronounced expressions of the supposed adaptive trait with respect to the function it is supposed to fulfill.

While the homoplasy approach to comparative analysis of trait covariation is often thought of as an interspecific comparative endeavor, it need not necessarily be. Detailed, cross-cultural comparative work within humans has successfully been applied to understanding the evolution of behavioral characteristics such as language [Pagel 2009], and may have great utility in clarifying the evolutionary relationships among ecology, social organization, and sex-typed behavior for *Homo sapiens*. However, cross-cultural comparative work faces special challenges. Like interspecific comparison, cross-cultural comparison is always challenged by the problem that not all instances of cultures with the same trait relationships can be

regarded as independent of each other, because some cultures share those trait relationships due to common ancestry. Additionally, cross-cultural comparisons are plagued by the fact that not all social characters are transmitted vertically undoubtedly, some transmission of social characters occurs horizontally, creating non-independence even among cultures without shared ancestry [Mace et al. 1994]. Researchers are making substantial progress in dealing with these difficulties [Mace et al. 1994; Nunn 2006], such that cross-cultural comparative work has increasing potential to reveal the recent history of human gendered behavior and the social and ecological factors that may drive them. Work on intraspecific variation in nonhuman primates, once population histories can be accurately assessed, may have similar potential to reveal the short-term selective pressures that shape sex-typed behavioral expression in primates generally.

Despite its potential, intraspecific comparative work has some limitations: it can only reveal the very recent history of sex-typed behavior and has no ability to illuminate the deeper evolutionary history of sex-typed behaviors—indeed, it cannot even assess whether particular behaviors are plesiomorphic or apomorphic for a species; it cannot address the selective factors that were involved in the production of plesiomorphic behaviors; and it cannot reveal any useful information about behaviors that are invariant within species. Interspecific comparative work on primate sex-typed behaviors can do all of these things, and is unlikely to be complicated by non-independence due to horizontal transmission of trait covariation; therefore, it has great potential to clarify the evolutionary history and adaptive nature of human gendered behavior.

But what if interspecific comparative studies identify some patterns of gendered behavior that really are found only in humans? The adaptive significance of ubiquitous, uniquely human sex-typed behaviors cannot be assessed using the homoplasy approach. While singular historical events are less analytically tractable than repeated ones, they can still be studied using the homology approach. The homology approach to identifying adaptation looks at all instances of evolutionary change as singular historical events with unique historical explanations. It considers a number of competing hypotheses—all of which must be falsifiable, and of which adaptation is only one of many-to explain the origin of the trait of interest [Coddington 1994]. Inferring adaptation using the homology approach requires that multiple, carefully considered, independent deductions have been tested against the observed data. As the narrative scenario surrounding the emergence of a unique adaptation is elaborated, it should be further tested against available data. In testing hypotheses of singular adaptation, it is especially important to recall that proposed adaptations should be shown to increase fitness in the derived context relative to the primitive condition [Coddington 1994], as this is one of the few ways to falsify a hypothesis of adaptation using the homology approach. It is also important that competing adaptive and non-adaptive hypotheses be simultaneously considered and weighed against the data, lest an adaptive hypothesis "persist by monopoly rather than competitive merit" [p. 66, Coddington 1994].

It should be acknowledged that not all traits originally evolved as adaptations will necessarily have retained their original, adaptive functions to the present day—a trait lacking current utility may still represent an adaptation, but will no longer have a performance advantage [Coddington 1994]. Furthermore, traits that confer a current 21

fitness advantage but which were not actually derived to perform their current function are exaptations, not adaptations—just because a trait has current utility in performing a particular function does not mean it originally evolved to perform that function [Gould and Vrba 1982]. Lastly, some traits may be simply non-adaptive, having derived from some other process besides selection and offering no current utility [Gould and Lewontin 1979].

In cases where an adaptation has lost its original function due to subsequent environmental change, failure to find a performance advantage associated with the trait is not adequate cause to reject a hypothesis of adaptation [Coddington 1994]. Importantly for identifying adaptation in human gender, adaptations that have lost their original function are likely to be most common in cases where lineages have experienced dramatic environmental change since the origin of the adaptation [Maestripieri and Roney 2006]. *Homo sapiens* has undergone recent environmental change so dramatic that evolutionary psychologists assume we are no longer living in the selective environments that produced most of the underlying physiological and psychological mechanisms motivating our behavior, and, therefore, make no effort to demonstrate fitness effects for the traits they suppose are human adaptations [Maestripieri and Roney 2006].

In fact, they explicitly reject the demonstration of current utility as a necessary or informative endeavor in identifying adaptation [Cosmides et al. 1992; Tooby and Cosmides 1990a; Tooby and Cosmides 1990b] and assert, instead, that evidence of "special design" is sufficient evidence for claims of adaptation [Tooby and Cosmides 1990a]. Natural selection is given primacy as a shaper of variation; non-adaptive evolutionary processes, though formally acknowledged, are considered "weak" and only suitable as secondary explanations after a concerted attempt to find the adaptive features of a character has failed [Tooby and Cosmides 1990a]. If a feature or set of features is complex and is improbably closely coordinated with the adaptive problem presented by the environment of evolutionary adaptedness, this is taken as sufficient evidence of adaptation [Tooby and Cosmides 1990b].

Yet, there are no clear methods by which even to accomplish the limited goals of this adaptationist [Tooby and Cosmides 1990b] approach to identifying adaptation. There are no guidelines about how much correspondence between an evolutionary problem and its purported adaptive solution qualifies as "improbable," or even any explanation of how to measure "correspondence." Worse, evolutionary psychologists accept as tenets that the environment of evolutionary adaptedness for almost all human psychology (and the behaviors motivated by it) is limited to the Pleistocene (between approximately 2.5 million and 12 thousand years ago) and that modern humans' environments are dramatically different from "the" human environments of evolutionary adaptedness [Tooby and Cosmides 1990b]. If the human environment of evolutionary adaptedness bears no similarity with the present, how are researchers to divine the evolutionary problems that were faced by Homo sapiens over a period of more than 2 million years? That is, how is it possible to "meet the conceptual and evidentiary standards for invoking function" [p. 542, Buss et al. 1998] if one has no way of knowing if the proposed function actually existed? This problem is circumvented by yet another assumption—that the environment of human evolutionary adaptedness looks sufficiently like the environments of modern day hunting and gathering societies that we can use them as stand-ins for *Homo sapiens* during the period critical to the evolution of the human sexually dimorphic human nature [Cosmides et al. 1992].

Unfortunately, this Panglossian approach [Gould and Lewontin 1979] cannot distinguish adaptation from exaptation from evolutionary "spandrel" [Maestripieri and Roney 2006]. Just because a particular trait is well-suited to the solution of a particular problem does not mean that the problem preceded the trait and selected for it, and it does not even mean that problem existed in evolutionary history at all (e.g., a nosebridge is a complex structure well-suited to the problem of holding up eyeglasses, but the problem of where to place eyeglasses is not one with an evolutionary history [Kay and Cartmill 1977]). This is not a minor point. When adaptive hypotheses rely on untestable assumptions, they relinquish their status as hypotheses and become unfalsifiable conjectures, thereby ceasing to be scientific, [Sewell 2004], and ultimately boiling down to little more than "stories" [Gould and Lewontin 1979].

Plausible stories of adaptation can always be conjured, but "the key to historical research lies in devising criteria to identify proper explanations among the substantial set of plausible pathways to any modern result" [p. 588, Gould and Lewontin 1979]. Hypotheses regarding current utility (selective maintenance but not selective origin) are both interesting and biologically meaningful in the context of human gendered behavior, and are straightforwardly addressed using the homology approach because they must only be falsifiable with regard to the current traitfunction relationship. They may also be falsified using the homoplasy approach. But because hypotheses of adaptation specifically address the cause of trait origination, they must be falsifiable either with regard to the temporal relationship

between the trait of interest and the function that selected for it or with regard to the historical trait-function relationship. In the most straightforward adaptive hypotheses, where the historical trait-function relationship is supposed to be coincident with the current trait-function relationship, the validity of the proposed historical trait-function relationship can be tested simply by testing for current utility. But if the historical trait-function relationship is supposed to be obsolete, then tests should be devised both to rigorously assess whether the trait would have offered a performance advantage over the primitive trait and whether the origination of the trait and function have the appropriate temporal relationship for an adaptive scenario. It may be possible to devise tests of historical performance advantage from the homology approach using modeling. But a simpler way of testing the validity of a proposed historical trait-function relationship is through the homoplasy approach (by seeking out other, extant examples and counter-examples of the relationship), and tests of the temporal relationship between trait and function rely wholly on comparative analyses.

Given ideal datasets, the homoplasy approach to identifying adaptation has much greater utility than the homology approach (and can also uncover general evolutionary patterns); but the two methods are complementary, and the most convincing examples of adaptation will be those which have withstood testing by both approaches [Coddington 1994]. In reality, the homoplasy approach may not always be feasible. First, it is simply unsuited for truly unique historical events. Second, whether comparative analyses are inter- or intraspecific, sampling completeness is crucially important for the homoplasy approach, as incomplete sampling may lead to biased results [Coddington 1994]. As a result, the homoplasy approach may be infeasible in the early days of research on a particular topic, and until sampling resolution is sufficiently high, inferences about adaptation based on the homoplasy approach should be viewed cautiously. Unfortunately, amassing the necessary comparative data to achieve sampling resolution sufficient to utilize the major strengths of the homoplasy approach takes time. Realistically, progress toward understanding the adaptive and non-adaptive elements of human gender will require a combination of both the homoplasy and homology approaches. This is partly because interspecific comparative work is likely to reveal that some elements of human gender are unique to humans and are suited only to study via the homology approach, while others are shared with other species and are amenable to study via the homoplasy approach. It is also because work on the adaptive nature of human gender (using the homology approach) should not wait until primatologists and other field biologists have compiled sufficient comparative data on sufficient numbers of taxa to assess which aspects of human gendered behavior are shared with other taxa (either due to homology or homoplasy) and which are uniquely human.

WHY STUDY DEVELOPMENT?

All of the methods outlined above can be used to identify probable proximate causation and adaptation in adult sex-typed behavior; but focusing on the ontogeny of adult sex-roles will yield a more complete, mechanistic understanding of the causes underlying adult sex-typed behaviors, which can further elucidate their evolutionary history by revealing the factors that drive and/or constrain their development at the proximate level [Beaupre et al. 1998; Duvall and Beaupre 1998; Janson and van Schaik 1993]. Among primates, newborns exhibit very little physical activity and social interaction [Bentley-Condit 2003], such that development will be an important part of almost all of their adult behaviors (sex-typed or otherwise), and the advantages afforded by developmental study can likely be leveraged for most primate sex-typed behaviors. Furthermore, all of the advantages of comparative research outlined above for understanding the proximate and ultimate causes of adult sex-typed behaviors can also be leveraged for understanding the proximate causes underlying sex-typed *development*. Thus, comparative study of sex-typed development is the most incisive method by which to gain insight into the proximate and ultimate causation of human sex-typed behavior.

PREVIOUS RESEARCH ON SEX-TYPED DEVELOPMENT

The proximate causes mediating behavioral development have been a topic of concerted investigation in humans and non-human primates for decades, forming a vast "nature vs. nurture" literature. Especially since endocrinological research has become more logistically feasible, the development of sex-typed behavior, in particular, has received increasing attention, and the overwhelming evidence is that for all primates, normal, sex-typical behavioral development results from complex interactions between and among social, ecological, and somatic factors [Kelly et al. 1999; Wallen 1996; Wallen and Zehr 2004]. Important somatic factors that influence sex-differential development are internal physiological states, including hormones governed by the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis [e.g., Beehner et al. 2005; MacLusky et al. 1997; Pereira 1993a; Wallen 2005] genetic [e.g., Agate et al. 2003; Arnold et al. 2003; Arnold 2004; Barske and Capel 2010] and neuronal factors [MacLusky et al. 1997; Sisk and Foster 2004]. Important social factors influencing sex-differential development and behavioral expression are individuals' social interactions with mother and others [Alberts and Altmann 1995a; Drea 1998]. Important ecological factors influencing sex-differential development are sexually differentiated nutritional needs [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005; Alberts and Altmann 1995a; Grassi 2002]. However, the relative importance of the social environment, ecological environment, and individual physiology in the development of specific sex-typed behaviors is almost entirely unknown for most primate species, and it is especially unclear how any of these factors function in natural environments to produce behavioral phenotypes [but see Alberts and Altmann 1995b].

Human Gender Development

Social causes of behavioral sex differentiation

Previous research suggests that both social and somatic factors are important in shaping the development of human sex-typed behavior. Because experimentation on humans is unethical, it is challenging to unequivocally establish the causal roles of either, but both enjoy considerable support. Research on the social factors that influence human gendered behavior involves both observational and experimental work. Research on the "biological" bases of human gendered behavior is primarily represented by clinical studies, correlational studies, and psychological experiments on infants.

That social factors are likely to be important in shaping the expression of human sex-typed behavior is well-evidenced. In western cultures, it is clearly documented that male and female children are regularly treated differently by others, and children respond to their perceptions of what is apparently expected of them in their performance of sex-typed behavior. Additionally, among different human cultures, there are different views on what constitutes appropriate sex-typed behavior, and in some cultures, these definitions have changed a great deal over short spans of time.

Children are treated in sex-differential ways by their parents, by non-parental adults, and by their peers. A number of studies of children from the 1960s to the 1980s (in western cultures) indicate that parents and teachers of children react to them in sex-differentiated ways prior to the age at which children exhibit sexually differentiated behavior of their own. Within 24 hours of birth, parents describe their infants in sex-stereotyped ways [Rubin et al. 1974]. Mothers exhibit more strongly affective vocal expression when talking to their infant sons [Roe et al. 1985] and engage in more physical contact with them than with infant daughters [Moss 1966], but look at and talk to their infant daughters more than their infant sons [Lewis 1972]. Higher rates of looking at and talking to infant daughters continues through the age of two, while the pattern of sex-differential contact time reverses at the age of 6 months, after which time mothers spend more time in contact with their daughters than their sons [Lewis 1972]. By five months of age, the physical environments of male and female infants are sexually differentiated by parent choices in clothing color, toy color, and toy type [Pomerleau et al. 1990]. Parents and teachers of toddlers 18 months or younger have been found to respond more positively to girls' attempts to communicate than boys', to pay more attention to boys' negative/assertive behaviors than girls', [Fagot and Hagan 1991; Fagot et al. 1985], and to respond more positively to children when they were engaged in sextyped play behaviors and less positively to them when they were engaged in cross-sex play behaviors [Fagot 1977a; Fagot 1978; Fagot and Hagan 1991]. Parents more often respond negatively to girls' manipulations of objects than to boys', more often

respond negatively to girls' gross motor activities (e.g., running, jumping, etc.) than to boys', and more often respond positively to girls' solicitations for help and negatively to boys' solicitations for help [Fagot 1978]. For two year old children, who have begun to exhibit sex differentiated activity preferences, teachers more often respond negatively to boys in general and especially more often negatively to boys engaged in female typical behavior (even though negative responses to children are rare at this age). Peers of two year old children begin to differentiate their responses to other children by sex: girls respond more positively to other girls than to boys, regardless of whether play is sex-typed or not, while boys respond more positively to other boys than to girls, but much more positively to boys engaged in male-typed behavior than to boys engaged in female-typed behavior [Fagot 1985]. At later ages, once sexually differentiated behavior is well-established, gender-typing and sex-differential treatment of children by others continues. Parents, teachers, and peers of three and to five year-old children reinforce sex-typed behavior by responding positively to gender-typed behavior and by ignoring or punishing crossgendered behavior, with boys, but not girls, receiving harsh criticism for crossgender behavior from peers, teachers [Fagot 1977a], and fathers [Langlois and Downs 1980]. Sex differential treatment by parents may be attenuated by the age of five [Fagot and Hagan 1991], but teachers are still more likely to attend to boys' attempts to communicate than girls' [Fagot et al. 1985]. Instances of sex-typed socialization across a these studies had small effect sizes and large variances, such that particular socialization effects were not statistically significant in all samples [Fagot and Hagan 1991]; but still, the socialization of sex-typed toy play in children up to four years old is particularly robust across studies and through time [Fagot

1977a; Fagot and Hagan 1991], as is the presence of the general phenomenon of sextyped interaction with adults and peers. Interestingly, the ways in which adults respond to children in sexually differentiated ways does not always correspond to their ideas about gender-typed behaviors—for example, parents did not consider "asking for help" a sex-typed behavior, but did respond to this behavior differently based on the child's sex. This suggests that even when there is no intention to socialize children in gender dichotomous ways, it occurs anyway [Fagot 1978].

While it could be argued that sex-differential treatment of children by others is actually a response to innate sex differences in the children themselves (and while some of it may actually be, particularly mother-infant interaction), a series of "Baby X" experiments has shown that, at least with some characteristics of adult-infant interaction, adult perception of a child's sex strongly influences the ways in which they interact with children from three to fourteen months of age and swamps any effect that might be due to the actual sex of the child [Seavey et al. 1975; Sidorowicz and Lunney 1980]. The original "Baby X" experiment [Seavey et al. 1975] introduced a three month old female dressed in yellow to unfamiliar graduate students (with no children of their own) as a either a boy, a girl, or without giving a gender identification, and observed which toys adults used to play with the infant. If the baby had been introduced as a girl, both men and women chose a sexstereotyped toy for the infant. If the baby had been introduced as a boy, this effect was not found, but the authors posit that this was probably because the malestereotypical toy provided—a football—was not age appropriate [Seavey et al. 1975]. For the gender unknown condition, adults guessed the infant's gender and justified their guesses using sex stereotyped behavioral and physical characteristics-i.e.,

softness for "girl" and strength for "boy" [Seavey et al. 1975]. A repetition of this study using infants of both sexes aged three to eleven months found a similar (but stronger) pattern of sex-typed toy choices according to the infants' perceived sex by undergraduate men and women. A third experiment on law students and their spouses (who were, themselves, parents) using toddlers of both sexes aged 13 to 14 months also found that adults play with unfamiliar children in gender-stereotyped ways according to their perception of the child's sex, but not according to its actual sex [Frisch 1977]. A fourth experiment on parents of young children found that they direct more verbal attention, more interaction without eye contact, and use more neutral facial expressions with a perceived girl and more often look directly at a perceived boy. This sex differential treatment of the infant was despite the fact that most of the parents did not believe that children are sexually differentiated at six months, or that it was important for them to be so [Culp et al. 1983], and suggests that even when not intended, gender dichotomous social signals are continuously sent to children.

Given how early and repeatedly children receive cues from others about their own gender, it is reasonable to think, as social constructionists do, that they would tend to respond to those gendered behavioral expectations. Given that children are almost certainly active agents of their own gender construction [McIntyre and Edwards 2009], it is difficult to say how much of their gender construction or performance is in response to external social pressures rather than expressions of their own innate tendencies. But some research clearly demonstrates that children's perceptions of gender expectations can constrain their behavioral expression. In an experimental setting in which more and less stereotypically gendered five year old children were observed playing with a choice of gender typical and atypical toys, the presence of an adult observer significantly changed the toy choices of less stereotypically gendered boys (but not those of less stereotypical girls)—less masculine boys chose more masculine toys when they knew they were being observed than when they thought they were not being observed [Wilansky-Traynor and Lobel 2008]. Four year old children have also been found to play less with opposite-sex toys when peers are present than when alone [Serbin et al. 1979]. These data suggest that external social factors do influence children's behavioral expression with respect to gender.

Another line of evidence that suggests external social factors are an important cause of sex-typed behavioral expression in humans is the existence of variation in the particulars of that expression across modern human cultures. While behavioral differences that are associated with each biological sex may be ubiquitous across societies [Whiting and Edwards 1973] many of the particular expressions of those behavioral differences are not. In some cultures, it is considered inappropriate for women to operate motor vehicles, but this certainly does not represent expectations of women everywhere. In present-day Mahafaly culture in rural Madagascar, it is acceptable for a man to wear a hot pink, floppy gardening hat but not for a woman to have short hair (personal observation); in present-day American culture it is acceptable for a woman to have short hair, but a boy with pink nail polish causes a media flap [Netburn 2011]. Furthermore, the particular behaviors considered appropriate for each gender can change rapidly within a culture through time [Tallichet and Willits 1986]. A thorough treatment of cross-cultural and temporal variation in sex-typed human behavioral expression is beyond the scope of

this study, but its existence suggests that external social factors are strongly at play in the development and maintenance of human gender roles.

"Biological" causes of behavioral sex differentiation

There are well-documented differences in western men and women in spatial skills and attention; since this is an area less obviously subject to socialization than many other adult human sex differences, they have often been assumed to represent innate, biological human sex differences. Without any instruction or specific training, men tend to focus on the "geometrical positions of objects in space" while women concentrate on "the position of objects relative to one another" [Ecuyer-Dab and Robert 2004]. This sex difference in attention to object location is manifest in the ways men and women spontaneously attend to maps and directions—men use Euclidean, geometrical features and women use more landmarks [Ecuyer-Dab and Robert 2004]. Similarly, several studies have demonstrated female superiority in object and object location memory [Duff and Hampson 2001; Eals and Silverman 1994; Silverman and Eals 1992], but female advantage disappears when specific instructions are given to note object locations [Silverman and Eals 1994], suggesting a sex difference in attention to particular object features. However, some sex differences in visual skill are not due to simply to sex differences in attention. When test subjects are asked specifically to recall object location, females still outperform men, but only for objects are located on the right side of the field of vision [Alexander et al. 2002]. That these sex differences in visual processing habits are spontaneous and are not actively constrained by social factors in any obvious way has been taken to suggest that they result, at least partly, from innate differences between males and females as opposed to entirely from experiential factors. But still,

they may result from sex differential experience with certain kinds of activities (possibly socialized ones) that demand particular kinds of visual processing and attention, much like feline visual capability depends on the nature of post-natal visual input [Blakemore 1976].

A more convincing set of data for the importance of biological motivators of behavioral sex differences comes from clinical research on medical conditions that disrupt sex-typical hormone function. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) is caused by mutations in the CYP21A2 gene that causes a defect in the 21-hydroxylase enzyme, which is needed for the synthesis of cortisol. The resultant cortisol deficiency ultimately results in downstream overproduction of adrenal testosterone during gestation [Minutolo et al. 2011]. Girls with CAH are usually characterized by masculinized genitalia and male-typical play behaviors [Pasterski et al. 2005] and toy preferences [Berenbaum and Hines 1992]. Boys with CAH seem to be exposed to slightly lower than normal levels of gestational testosterone, as they exhibit sextypical toy preferences but less than typical rough play [Hines and Kaufman 1994]. (It has been proposed that the increased adrenal testosterone production somehow "clamps" the normal production of gonadal testosterone in the fetus, resulting in lower than average gestational testosterone exposure [Wallen 2005].)

Correlative studies have attempted to follow up on the role of nonpathogenic variation in prenatal testosterone exposure on childhood behavioral tendencies. A study of the circulating testosterone of nearly 14,000 pregnant British women and their children's behavioral tendencies at three and a half years of age found that girls of mothers with high levels of circulating gestational testosterone exhibited more male-typical play while girls of mothers with low levels of circulating

gestational testosterone exhibited more female-typical play; there was no relationship between boys' play styles and maternal gestational testosterone, possibly due to the swamping effects of the amount of testosterone produced by male fetuses [Hines and Golombok 2002]. These studies suggest that fetal physiology and the fetal hormone environment organize innate behavioral tendencies of children, and given that the particular fetal physiological peculiarities of CAH also effect genital masculinization in girls to varying degrees, it is not unreasonable to attribute the behavioral tendencies of this group of children to fetal physiology, even if there is not a one-to-one causal relationship between the two. Still, these types of studies of older children cannot control for the possibilities that behavioral tendencies of their subjects are instead produced through unconscious socialization or genetic similarity between parents and daughters, mothers in particular [Cohen-Bendahan et al. 2005].

In an effort to minimize the influence of socialization and to pinpoint more definitively innate sex differences in human children, some studies have attempted to focus on the youngest infants possible. Numerous studies have sought to establish whether or not infant boys are more physically active than infant girls [Campbell and Eaton 1999; Cossette et al. 1991], but results are inconclusive. Researchers have attempted to determine whether the well-established sex difference in children's toy preference is rooted in innate sex differences in object preference [Alexander et al. 2009; Connellan et al. 2000]. This research has found a neonatal sex difference with small effect size in visual preference when given a choice between a human face and a complex picture comprising mixed up fragments of a human face (girls tend to look preferentially at the face while boys tend to look preferentially at the complex picture), and that a sex-typed preference for red versus blue does not exist for

toddlers', as has often been proposed (in fact, both sexes prefer pink and red over blues) [Alexander et al. 2009]. Alexander [2003] suggests that the slight, innate sexual bias in visual preference apparently demonstrated by Connellan et al. [2000] leads male infants to selectively attend to male-typed objects, and through their increased exposure to them, to develop their visual processing skills for male-typed objects and *viæ versa*—a feedback loop between preference for and experience with certain types of visual cues, an idea supported by a previous finding that boys' visual-spatial ability is correlated with sex-typed activity preferences [Connor and Serbin 1977]. But critics reject the interpretation of the sex differences in these studies as innate because the Connellan et al. [2000] study did not control for whether the infant was being held or was in a bassinette during experimentation, and it is well-documented that western adults handle and interact with children in sex-differential ways based on their belief about the child's sex, and even with day-old infants, the opportunity for sex-differential handling by adults has arisen (K. Clancy, personal communication).

Distinguishing the roles of "nature" and "nurture" in sex-typed development

Sorting out how much of human sex-typed behavior derives from innate motivations, how much is experientially motivated or constrained, and how much of an interaction there is between the two is quite a challenge. The methodological constraints of research on humans are greater than for any other species. A number of tools that might yield more insight into this puzzle are unethical (i.e., experimental manipulation of prenatal hormone concentrations) [McIntyre and Edwards 2009] while others are simply infeasible (i.e., observing all of a subject's social interactions or establishing the reproductive success of individuals who adopt different

behavioral strategies). Furthermore, because this is such an emotionally charged topic, interpretations of even the same data tend to be polemical. For example, a number of elements of adult treatment of infants have been found to vary according to sex, but many have not, and the effect size of sex-differential treatment by others is usually small (the effect size of sex differences in infant behavior are fewer and smaller). Although all researchers today admit the importance of complex biocultural interactions in human sex-typed development [McIntyre and Edwards 2009, discerning the weight of the importance of each type of causal factor is open to interpretation. Researchers with a social constructionist bent tend to highlight the presence of adult sex-differential treatment of infants, downplay the behavioral sex differences of infants, and point out small differences in treatment by adults are potentially more important than is belied by their initial size due to the ways in which they can be elaborated through cumulative experience and response by children [Sidorowicz and Lunney 1980]. In contrast, researchers with a biological bent will highlight the small effect size of adult treatment of infants, emphasize the potential importance of the role of infant sex differences in temperament in an interaction feedback loop between infants and adults, thereby downplaying the importance of external pressures in the process of sex-typed development [McIntyre and Edwards 2009]. Social constructionists will interpret the dramatic and very consistent results of the Baby X experiments as evidence that adults rely heavily on children's gender in order to structure interactions with them [Sidorowicz and Lunney 1980], while researchers with a biological perspective on human gender will point out that in the experimental paradigm, with no previous familiarity with the individual preferences of the child, adults have nothing other than stereotypes to rely on to structure their

interactions with the child [McIntyre and Edwards 2009]. Thus, even when contextualizing the same data, social constructionists tend to give the impression that sex-typed treatment of children by others is likely the most important driving force in sex role development and researchers with a biological focus tend to give the impression that children's expression of innate sex differences is probably the most important driving force in sex role development. One way around this problem may be to study these questions in non-human model taxa for which most researchers probably have less investment in a particular result versus another.

Captive non-human primate sex-typed development

With regard to the causes of behavioral sex differentiation, the common rat, mouse, and rabbit models are not likely to be entirely applicable to more precocial taxa such as primates [Wallen 2005]; non-human primate models are much more likely to be of use in attempting to explain human sexual differentiation and other complex, human biobehavioral phenomena [Carroll and Maestripieri 1998; Maestripieri 1999; Maestripieri 2005b; Maestripieri and Carroll 1998; Plant 2001]. Like humans, non-human primates have an extended period of infancy and juvenility during which their behavioral phenotypes fully develop [Altmann and Pereira 1985]. But most non-human primate species develop much faster than humans, are more experimentally tractable than humans, and are therefore valuable as a model for inquiry into the causes of human sexual differentiation [Altmann and Pereira 1985; Curry 2001; Maestripieri 2005b; Wallen 2005]. Like humans, there is convincing evidence that behavioral development in non-human primates is driven both by social and somatic factors. Social influences on the normal development of sextyped behaviors, in particular, have not been subject to such intense scrutiny as in

humans, but a great deal of experimental work on the behavioral effects of early social experience suggests that social factors are likely to be important in normative sex-typed development. Somatic influences on sex-typed behavioral development, on the other hand, have been and continue to be much more thoroughly investigated than is possible in research on humans.

Social causes of behavioral sex differentiation

Decades of captive research on the proximate mechanisms of primate social development have unequivocally demonstrated that the social environment is fundamentally important to the development of later behavior. A number of studies involving manipulation of the early social environment have demonstrated that complex social environments result in more normative infant and juvenile behavior, while socially deprived environments generally lead to poor behavioral outcomes [Harlow and Harlow 1962a; Harlow and Harlow 1962b; Ruppenthal et al. 1976; Wallen 2005]. Macaques reared in more socially complex or less stressful environments exhibit less fear and fewer fear-related behaviors [Capitanio 1984; Champoux et al. 1991], less agonism [Capitanio 1984; Champoux et al. 1991], more dominant social behavior [Capitanio 1984], more social play [Champoux et al. 1991], less self-directed behavior [Champoux et al. 1991], and develop the ability to discriminate between strangers and their mothers earlier in life [Rosenblum 1987]. Chimpanzee infants reared alone exhibit suppressed levels of distress vocalizations when exposed to stressors [Randolph and Mason 1969]. Even when subjected to rearing differences during only the first 30 days of life, chimpanzee infants reared in an enriched environment are happier, more alert, more able to quiet themselves, are less fussy, less fearful, more cooperative, have greater attention spans, are more
persistent, exhibit less object attachment, and are less tense during testing for the first year of life [Bard and Gardner 1996]. This suggests that behavior may be sensitive to early, brief periods of social stress. While much of this research has not focused on the development of sex-typed behaviors, *per se*, the importance of the social environment for normal behavioral development in general suggests that it is almost certainly influential for normal sex-typed behavioral development in particular. Where investigation has focused on rearing effects of sex-typed behavioral development, results echo those on species-typical behavioral development: more socially complex environments promote the development of more proficient sexual behavior [Capitanio 1984; Champoux et al. 1991; Goldfoot 1977; Goy and Wallen 1979; Harlow 1965; Mason 1978; Wallen 1996; Wallen et al. 1977; Wallen et al. 1981] more sex-typical play behaviors [Spijkerman et al. 1995; Wallen 1996; Wallen 2005], and more species-typical behavioral sex differentiation [Meredith and Fritz 2005; Spijkerman et al. 1996; Spijkerman et al. 1997]

Despite the paucity of data on social development in strepsirrhines [Gould 1990], some data indicate that species-typical socialization is also important for their normative development. Though the Duke University Primate Center has had much success in breeding aye-ayes using wild-caught males, captive bred males have failed to breed successfully on their own. The first successful breeding by a captive-born male was only achieved after two years of behavioral coaching by Primate Center staff. Due to husbandry constraints, upon the birth of a younger sibling, older offspring were historically removed from their mothers and housed with an opposite-sex peer. The Primate Center now introduces younger males to animals of all ages and reproductive states, because they suspect that social learning plays an

important role in the development of mating behavior (Gibson D., pers. comm.). Together, these data indicate that relationships with conspecifics may be important to the development of sex- and species-typical social behavior in all primates, not just in anthropoids [Nash 1993; Nash 2004], a point which deserves much increased attention and research.

Most of the aforementioned manipulations of early social and/or hormonal environments are far outside the normal range of variation a primate experiences under natural conditions and are therefore of questionable utility in determining whether normal social interactions with group members influence behavioral development under normal circumstances. But a few captive studies have shown that even "normal" variation in early social environment can produce short and longterm effects on behavioral development.

Non-manipulative studies suggest that normally occurring variation in particular elements of the social environment influence developmental outcomes. For example, in many cercopithecoid taxa, infant play patterns are correlated with maternal rank—offspring of higher ranked mothers play more, use more dominant behaviors in their play, and are more independent [Fedigan 1972; Gard and Meier 1977; Norikoshi 1974; Tartabini and Dienske 1979]. Dominant mothers are usually more relaxed in their mothering style, so that infants are in contact with them less, which allows them to play more [Altmann 1978; French 1981; White and Hinde 1975]. But even in cases where maternal rank is uncorrelated with maternal style, maternal style is still correlated with infant play patterns and later adult behavior early maternal rejection within normal limits seems to promote less anxiety and more independence, and this effect is long-lasting [Hemelrijk and Dekogel 1989;

Schino et al. 2001]. In free-ranging rhesus macaques, infants exhibit patterns of social interaction that mimic their relatives'. Infants in high-ranking lineages spend more time with their relatives than infants in low-ranking lineages, irrespective of differences in mother-infant relationships [Berman 1983].

Although these studies lend strong circumstantial evidence that the nature of the mother-infant relationship or social environment influences the behavior of offspring, they cannot control for the possibility that the correspondence of maternal style and infant behavior are due to the genetic relatedness of mothers and infants.

Rosenblum and colleagues [Andrews and Rosenblum 1991; Rosenblum and Paully 1984] convincingly demonstrated that the social milieu during rearing, specifically, can strongly affect infants' later behavior. They changed the foraging demands placed on social groups of bonnet macaque mothers and infants without changing the amount of food actually available to the animals [Andrews and Rosenblum 1991; Rosenblum and Paully 1984]. Groups were subjected to low foraging demand, high foraging demand (food was hidden and animals had to forage longer to find food), and variable foraging demand (foraging demand protocol oscillated randomly between high and low demand). These changed foraging demands affected both female-female relationships and mother-infant relationships. Females subjected to low foraging demand (LFD) were least aggressive and most affiliative; variable foraging demand (VFD) females were most aggressive; high foraging demand (HFD) females were intermediate. Mother-infant dyads that experienced VFD were more often in contact, spent less time out of visual contact, and made and broke contact more often than dyads in the other groups. Infants reared in the VFD environment exhibited reduced social behavior, less object

exploration, less play, and eventually showed signs of depression—long bouts of sitting hunched over with closed eyes, often self-clinging. Previous to this study, depression had only been recorded when infants were separated from their mothers [Rosenblum 1987]. VFD infants were also more subordinate to LFD infants [Andrews and Rosenblum 1991; Rosenblum and Paully 1984]. Because these individuals were reared identically other than the foraging demands placed on their mothers, these long-term effects must have arisen from changes in the social environment borne of changes in foraging demand.

Maestripieri [2005a] demonstrated that a month's exposure to an abusive foster mother resulted in dramatically increased odds of a female becoming an abusive mother herself. This pattern was uncorrelated with genetic relatedness none of the biological daughters of abusive mothers fostered by non-abusive mothers grew up to be abusive mothers—and suggests that the transmission of patterns of maternal behavior from generation to generation can be mediated experientially. Other cross-fostering studies have also shown that the mother-infant relationship affects infant behavior. Infants cared for by punitive females spend less time in ventral contact with them and exhibit more self-directed disturbance behaviors than infants cared for by nurturant females, and these effects are independent of genetic relatedness or individual physiology (which could be inherited, or a result of prenatal experience) [Suomi 1987].

These experimental data demonstrate unequivocally that some aspects of the early social environment can affect later social behavior. The particular elements of the social environment that mediate normal behavioral development are still unclear, as is how the early social environment shapes sex-typed behavioral development in particular. But another important line of evidence supporting the importance of the social environment in normative primate sex-typed behavioral development is that not all manipulations of rearing environment affect males and females in the same way. Sackett [1972] tested the exploratory behavior of rhesus monkeys from 5 variously complex rearing environments. Complexity of rearing situation was positively correlated with motor activity, exploration, and responsiveness to complex visual stimuli, but females were more robust to the effects of deprivation rearing than males. Males and females also respond differently to different combinations of rearing and post-rearing environments. In highly aggressive environments, female rhesus present to others more than males do, irrespective of rearing experience. In low-aggression environments, there is no sex difference in presenting, except if infants were reared in isosexual groups, in which case males present more than females [Wallen 1996]. On Cayo Santiago, free-ranging rhesus macaque infants apparently do not differ by sex in grooming and play behavior until their mothers resume sexual behavior. But at this point, male infants increase the amount of time they spend playing [Berman et al. 1994] while females decrease the amount of time they spend playing, and increase the amount of time they spend grooming nonmaternal group members [Berman et al. 1994]. After a sibling birth, males spend more time farther from their mothers [Devinney et al. 2001]; females spend more time in close proximity to their mothers, approach their mothers more, and groom their mothers more than males do [Devinney et al. 2001]. This represents a sex difference in social response to a normal but probably stressful life event, and implies that the birth of a sibling (or not), and the sex of the yearling partly determine the resultant yearling behavioral phenotype. These cases illustrate that the

two sexes may be affected differently by their early social environment, and that their pattern of responses to later social environments may also differ by sex. Such sex differences in response to environment could serve as one mechanism of sexual differentiation in behavioral development.

Biological causes of behavioral sex differentiation

Identification of somatic causes of behavioral sex differentiation has been one of the greatest contributions of captive, experimental research in this area. A large body of work beginning with the search for the underlying causes of human hormonal disorders [Wallen 2005] and based on testing and further exploring the mammalian model of sexual differentiation [Jost et al. 1970] has revealed much about the biological motivators of sexually differentiated behavior in non-human primates.

A number of studies suggest that some non-human primate behavioral sex differentiation may be innate, but does not identify the proximate drivers involved. For example, sex-typed toy preferences common in humans are also found in vervet and rhesus monkeys presented with novel toys [Alexander and Hines 2002; Hassett et al. 2008]. Both studies suggest that there is some degree of innate sex difference in object preference, because neither species of monkeys had previous familiarity with these toys, so they did not have sex differential experience with them. Male superiority in spatial memory in captive rhesus macaques is another sex difference with no obvious environmental cause, social or otherwise, suggesting the presence of innate sex differences for this trait in this species [Lacreuse et al. 1999].

Many experimental studies have been able to isolate the effects of particular hormonal factors on specific sex-typed behaviors. Experimental manipulation of the prenatal androgenic environment in macaques has clearly demonstrated that prenatal hormones affect later sexual differentiation in play behavior and sexual behavior in both males and females, but that not all behaviors respond similarly to a given androgenic manipulation regime [Goy et al. 1988]. For example, levels of prenatal androgen sufficient to produce masculinized mounting behavior in female Japanese macaques do not masculinize rough and tumble play [Eaton et al. 1990] and levels sufficient to induce male-typical mounting and play behaviors in female rhesus are insufficient to suppress female-typical infant interest [Herman et al. 2003]. Additionally, the timing of androgen exposure during gestation is important in determining its effects on later behavior. The behavioral effects of androgen manipulation during late gestation are usually more pronounced than those in early gestation [Wallen 2005]. For example, rhesus juvenile mounting behavior seems to be particularly sensitive to androgen manipulation in late gestation even though it can also be affected by early gestational hormone manipulation [Goy et al. 1988]. This phenomenon may result from the importance of androgen influence on sexual differentiation of the mammalian brain, which occurs perinatally, and which depends on the presence of gonadal testosterone for the development of a number of male brain traits related to adult sexual behavior [Hines 2003; McCarthy et al. 2003]. Within this overall pattern of increasing androgen sensitivity as gestation progresses, though, different behaviors still have their own unique timing of peak sensitivity to androgens [Hines 2003]. Female rhesus macaques who experience elevated levels of prenatal testosterone early in gestation exhibit masculinized mounting behavior, but no increased frequencies of rough play; females who experience elevated levels of prenatal testosterone late in gestation exhibit both more mounting and rough play than unmanipulated females [Goy et al. 1988]. This indicates that different behaviors 47

have different schedules of sensitivity to androgens, which makes sense in light of the fact that neurological development is protracted in primates [Wallen 2005].

Some gestational androgenic effects on behavior have been less clear. The administration of flutamide (an androgen blocker) and androgens to rhesus macaque fetuses at different times in gestation produced a suite of results that did not coincide with expectations derived from previous studies [Wallen 2005]. In particular, flutamide did not produce de-masculinization effects consistent with androgen suppression, which it should have. However, one clear and important result from this study was that the effects of variation in the prenatal hormonal environment on behavior may sometimes be latent, rather than immediate. Increased androgenic exposure did not increase females' rates of rough play during the first year of life as expected, but did so in the second year of life [Wallen 2005].

Available data indicate that some aspects of juvenile social behavior might be sensitive to neonatal hormones, but that, in general, the developmental component of primate behavioral sex differentiation is not strongly driven by neonatal hormones, because sex-typical behavior does not appear to be strongly affected by neonatal castration or pharmaceutical suppression of the neonatal testosterone surge. In rhesus macaques, infant and juvenile sexually dimorphic play and mounting behaviors are unaffected by experimental manipulation of neonatal hormones [Brown and Dixson 1999; Wallen et al. 1995] and by gonadectomization at birth [Goy and Phoenix 1971; Wallen 2005]. However, suppression of neonatal testosterone does affect adult male sexual behavior; adult males who experienced neonatal testosterone suppression masturbate and copulate less with receptive females than control males [Eisler et al. 1993]. These data suggest that sexual

differentiation of social behavior through juvenility is relatively independent of postnatal circulating hormones [Goy and Phoenix 1971], but that ". . . hormonal influences during the neonatal period elaborate predispositions that are organized prenatally" [Wallen 2005, p.11].

There is evidence that puberty involves increased structural changes in the brain [Sisk and Foster 2004], but it is unknown whether this is due to increased sensitivity to the organizing effects of androgens during this developmental time. It is also unknown whether puberty affects post-pubertal androgen sensitivity or how pubertal androgens influence the development of fully adult mating behavior [Wallen 2005]. Regardless of the precise mechanisms of influence, pubertal hormones are important drivers of sexual differentiation. Male and female rhesus monkeys exhibit differences in the ages at which they can perform visual discrimination tasks, which can be altered by manipulation of peripubertal hormone concentrations [Bachevalier and Hagger 1991; Hagger and Bachevalier 1991]. And it is clear that some sextypical juvenile behaviors that are independent of post-natal hormonal influence during juvenility come under hormonal control (or at least influence) in adulthood. For example, in rhesus macaques, adult male mounting behavior is dramatically decreased when testosterone is artificially suppressed [Wallen 2001; Wallen et al. 1991], and in pig-tail macaques, adult female interest in infants is increased by estrogen treatment [Maestripieri and Zehr 1998]. By adulthood, then, some sexdifferential behaviors are at least partially controlled by the presence of sexdifferential gonadal hormones.

Though non-human primates are probably the best models of human sexual differentiation, two caveats bear consideration. First, the traditional mammalian

⁴⁹

model of androgenic sex differentiation [Jost et al. 1970] has been found to be an oversimplification; sexual differentiation also relies on hormonal feminization processes [Fitch and Denenberg 1998] and other, non-hormonal processes, such as Y chromosome presence and X-gene dosage effects on the brain [Arnold et al. 2003]. Second, not all primates are alike in how hormones affect their behavior. In rhesus macaques, male sex-typical mounting and play behavior is mostly determined by prenatal hormones [Brown and Dixson 1999; Brown et al. 1999], but neonatally castrated marmosets and tamarins display no later mounting behavior even when testosterone is artificially administered, indicating that neonatal hormones are more important for sexual differentiation of behavior in these taxa [Dixson 1993; Epple et al. 1990]. Developmental endocrinology studies on primates have all been done in captivity, and have therefore largely been limited to macaques, mangabeys, and callitrichids [Brown and Dixson 1999]. Little is known about the normative developmental endocrinology of other primate taxa or its effects on sexual differentiation of behavior, and it should not be assumed that other taxa conform to known patterns.

Social/somatic interaction

Another strength of captive research has been its ability to document the interaction between social and hormonal causes of behavioral development in general, if not sexual differentiation in particular. Captive research has clearly shown that the early social environment can create variation in individuals' brains and physiology. In a study of 29 male rhesus monkeys, nursery reared monkeys had smaller midsagittal corpus callosum areas associated with a decrease in white matter volume and performed poorly in cognitive testing compared to monkeys reared with

their mothers in a naturalistic setting [Sanchez et al. 1998]. Insufficient tactile stimulation experienced by isolate-reared rhesus monkeys alters later hormone secretion patterns [Champoux et al. 1989]. Pigtail macaques separated from their mothers and subsequently provided with a juvenile allomother experience significant immunosuppressive effects from the separation, but not if they have an already established attachment to their allomother [Boccia et al. 1994]. And animals reared in variable foraging demand environments have highly reactive stress hormone profiles compared to those reared in low foraging demand environments at 3 and 4 years of age [Suomi 1997]. Because an individual's brain and physiology influence its later behavior, the effects of early social environment on the brain and physiology could serve as a mechanism by which early social environment influences behavioral development. The importance of this phenomenon should not be underestimated; for example, in the wild, highly reactive female macaques often exhibit inadequate maternal care, and highly reactive males often emigrate late and enter new groups with low rank [Suomi 1997].

Individuals' brains and physiologies may also prime them to react in different ways to the same environmental stimuli [Ellis et al. 2011]. For example, highly reactive macaques, which in most circumstances suffer deficits compared to their less reactive peers, do very well if reared by the "right" kind of mother. Suomi [1997] selected highly-reactive and normally reactive infant rhesus and cross-fostered them with either normal or especially nurturant mothers. Extra nurturing had no effect on normal monkeys, but had drastically ameliorative effects for highly reactive monkeys. Instead of suffering all of their typical behavioral deficits, highly reactive monkeys reared by especially nurturant mothers became behaviorally precocious. Later in life,

they became adept at recruiting and maintaining allies in response to agonistic encounters, rose to high rank, and stayed there. Furthermore, when these females had their own offspring, they exhibited the highly nurturant maternal style of their foster mothers, not the inadequate care of their biological mothers that contributed to their reactive stress physiology in the first place [Suomi 1997].

Given that males and females do differ in some aspects of their physiology and anatomy, these differences may prime the sexes to have different outcomes from their interactions with the same environmental stimuli. In some cases, males and females do indeed have different phenotypic responses to the same environmental stimulus. Female peer-reared rhesus macaques have higher stress hormone levels in response to alcohol infusion than mother-reared animals of either sex. Male stress hormone response to alcohol, though, is unaffected by rearing condition, suggesting that the function of the neuroendocrine stress axis responds differently to early stressors in each sex [Barr et al. 2004]. Sex-differential responses to similar environmental stimuli could serve as one mechanism by which social environment could shape sexual differentiation in behavior.

The idea that individual phenotypes result from complex interactions between an individual's innate characteristics and its experience with characteristics of its social and physical environment is not a new one [Capitanio 1984; Capitanio 1985; Deputte and Quris 1996; Galef and Wright 1995; Lewis and Cherry 1977; Pasterski et al. 2005; Pereira 1995]. Primates, especially, are born into complex social environments and maturity takes years to achieve. In that time, an individual must navigate its changing social environment so as to survive and eventually reproduce. The adult behavioral phenotype is the result of a long period of maturation, and it

would be unreasonable to think that such a protracted process would not be affected by the environment in which it occurs.

Wild non-human primate sex-typed development

Non-manipulative research in the wild cannot establish with as much certainty either the environmental or somatic causes of sex-typed development as manipulative research in captivity. As a result, naturalistic research in this area lags substantially behind manipulative and non-manipulative captive work, and it is difficult to neatly separate research on external factors that motivate behavioral sex differentiation from research on innate factors. Despite its challenges, naturalistic research on the causes of behavioral sex differentiation has a number of strengths. Naturalistic studies are valuable because an important potential environmental motivator of sexual differentiation—realistic ecological variation and/or sexually differentiated responses to the natural environment—can only be investigated in the wild. Additionally, animals are not artificially constrained in their association patterns and may therefore exhibit sex differential behavior in the wild that is made impossible for them in captive settings—e.g., dispersal behavior. As a result, the findings of research conducted on naturally occurring populations may be more valid than captive research for understanding development as it occurs in natural populations [Borries et al. 2011].

Social and ecological causes of behavioral sex differentiation

Wherever adult sex differences in diet and foraging behavior are present, those sex differences must develop during the postnatal period, as primates are not strongly sexually differentiated in either social [Barthold et al. 2009; Förster and Cords 2005; Nash 1978] or dietary behavior at birth. Sex differences in adult social behavior are numerous and varied—adults differ by sex in levels of aggressive behavior [Cords et al. 2010], dominance, in how overtly sociable they are [Clarke 1990; Cords et al. 2010; Strier 2002], in how diversified their social networks are [Clarke 1990], and in their three-dimensional spacing relative to other individuals [Ekernas and Cords 2007; Robinson 1981]. Given that social factors have been shown to influence the course of behavioral development in captivity, it is reasonable to suppose that any sex-differential treatment by others during the developmental period may contribute to behavioral sex differentiation.

In general, few sex differences in treatment by other group members have been found at early ages in wild primates. No sex differences have been found in treatment of infants by others in blue monkeys [Förster and Cords 2005] until the age of six months, when mothers begin grooming female infants much more than male infants, and when male infants dramatically increase their rates of approaching and leaving their mothers [Förster and Cords 2002]. No sex differences have found in treatment of infants by others in red-fronted brown lemurs [Barthold et al. 2009], ring-tailed lemurs [Gould 1990], or olive baboons [Nash 1978]. But some sex differences have been observed in some species. Female-female pairs of common marmoset twins are carried more by fathers than male-male or male-female pairs [Yamamoto et al. 2008]. And in yellow baboons, infant maternal rank influences the suckling time of female but not male infants, and experienced mothers initiate contact more with male infants than with female infants [Nguyen et al. 2010]. While sex differences in treatment by others are few and subtle compared to those documented at later ages (below), Nguyen et al. [2010] suggest that adult behavioral sex differentiation might be rooted in very early sex differences in social interactions. By juvenility, behavioral sex differences are typically more numerous and more pronounced. Females typically show more interest in infants than their male peers [Cheney 1978; Clarke et al. 1998; Cords et al. 2010; Crockett and Pope 2002; Förster and Cords 2005], when sex differences in play are found, males typically play more frequently and more intensely than females, and juveniles often preferentially associate and interact with like-sex partners in both foraging and non-foraging contexts [Cheney 1978; Crockett and Pope 2002; Milton 2002; Pereira 1988; van Noordwijk et al. 1993], although the intensity of those social associations varies by species [Clarke et al. 2007] and this pattern is not ubiquitous [Cords 2000; Nikolei and Borries 1997; Strier 2002]. By juvenility, though, it is very challenging to sort out which parts of sex differential social interaction are internally motivated versus externally motivated or constrained, at least until detailed studies with fine temporal resolution of behavioral sampling and large sample sizes are available.

Studies focusing on the development of sex-typed foraging behavior in the wild are few, but have generated intriguing results regarding the proximate mechanisms that might be involved. Agostini and Visalberghi [2005a] found a number of sex differences in the foraging behavior of both adult and juvenile tufted capuchins. They also found that juvenile males (but not juvenile females) preferentially associated with and directed their food interest toward same-sex adults, and that the amount of time juvenile males spent in association with adult males was positively correlated with their targeting of animal prey, but not with other maletypical foraging characteristics (such as microhabitat foraging preference). The authors suggest that especially complex sex-differential foraging behaviors may require some type of social learning, while simpler ones arise independently. In the

same vein, Lonsdorf [2005] convincingly demonstrated that juvenile female chimpanzees imitate their mothers' termite-fishing techniques—a very complex foraging behavior that takes years of practice to perfect. Juvenile males, in contrast, learn termite-fishing only through goal emulation (and are less proficient than females, in the end), but both sexes rely on some degree of social learning for the development of this foraging behavior. Studies of wedge-capped capuchins [Robinson 1981] and long-tailed macaques [van Noordwijk et al. 1993], have demonstrated that juveniles of these species exhibit some elements of adult, sextyped foraging behaviors, and that they also associate preferentially with like-sexed individuals over opposite-sexed individuals. While particular types of social learning in these species have yet to be identified, social learning of any type [Lonsdorf 2005], if present, would be facilitated by sex-segregated spacing during foraging.

While these studies suggest that the development of some sex differences in foraging behavior might rely on factors such as interaction with same-sex social models, this may not be the case for all species or for all behaviors. In some species, such as white-faced capuchins and common marmosets, juveniles are proficient foragers at young ages [MacKinnon 2006; Schiel et al. 2010]. Additionally, the development of species-typical sex-typed dietary behavior can sometimes develop without role models, as occurred in the population of black-handed spider monkeys who survived initial release onto Barro Colorado Island as subadults and went on to develop species-typical diets and sex-typical association patterns and behaviors on their own [Milton 2002]. Additionally, in some species, such as vervet monkeys, the sex differences in adult diet and foraging schedules are not found in juveniles at all [Harrison 1983]. The variation in developmental schedules of particular sexually

differentiated elements of foraging behavior suggests that they are canalized by different proximate mechanisms in different species, and that some may rely on social or environmental factors for their development, while some may result from internally motivated differences in interaction with the same environmental cues. *Biological causes of behavioral sex differentiation*

Although primate infants are not strongly sexually differentiated in their behavior at young ages, some infant sex differences have been noted. The earlier a behavioral sex difference appears, the more likely it is to be innate rather than environmentally motivated. As in captivity, sex differences in play behavior have been noted for wild infant blue monkeys and olive baboons, in which males play longer and rougher than females [Förster and Cords 2005; Owens 1975]. And mantled howling monkey infant females react more positively to social interactions initiated by non-maternal group members and engage in social interactions with more group members than male infants [Clarke 1990].

Very little is known about endocrinological development among wild primates [Gesquiere et al. 2005], making it difficult to assess how endocrinological factors might motivate behavioral sex differentiation in natural settings. In yellow baboons, Gesquiere et al. [2005] found that infant males were characterized by high and rapidly declining levels of fecal testosterone, which remained low through juvenility and increased again during the months just before testicular enlargement; female infants were characterized by a similar rapid decline of fecal estrogen, which then increased again as females approached menarche. Testosterone levels also increase in male chimpanzees [Seraphin et al. 2008] and vervet monkeys [Whitten and Turner 2009] as they approach sexual maturity. Notably, the increase in

testosterone and estrogen in male and female yellow baboons, respectively, as they approached sexual maturation occurred prior to the unequivocal development of secondary sexual characteristics. Therefore, the use of somatic indicators of sexual maturation may overestimate the age at which hormonal maturation begins and should be used as proxies for sexual maturation with due caution.

Social/biological interaction

Overall, data from the wild are still insufficient to draw conclusions about environmental or biological motivators of sexual differentiation or their interactions across primates as a whole. Even at their best, as previously acknowledged, nonexperimental studies in the wild cannot conclusively identify causal factors that motivate sexual differentiation in social behavior. But these studies can reject specific hypotheses of causation, and, where multiple lines of developmental data are available, particular factors likely to be influential in the development of particular sex-typed behaviors can be identified by revealing their correlational relationships [Fragaszy and Perry 2003].

One example of the potential of this approach to understanding the complex causes of behavioral sex differentiation comes from the large body of work on the population of yellow baboons at Amboseli, Kenya. The development of sex differences has been at least a partial focus of many studies on the Amboseli baboons, from a number of perspectives, and from before birth to the end of the reproductive lifespan.

A number of maternal effects on aspects of life history that are closely tied to reproductive success have been noted in this population. For offspring of both sexes, maternal dominance rank is positively correlated with the pace of offspring

maturation—the offspring of high ranking females reach maturational milestones earlier. For daughters, maternal dominance rank influences both the age at first menarche and the age at first birth [Altmann et al. 1988]. For sons, maternal dominance rank influences the age at testicular enlargement (a signal of pubertal onset) and the age at which adult rank is achieved [Alberts and Altmann 1995b]. This is partly due to the fact that offspring of high-ranking mothers grow faster, but maternal rank has an independent positive effect on the attainment of reproductive maturational milestones, even after controlling for growth rates [Altmann and Alberts 2005]. For daughters, these benefits of a high-ranking mother translate directly into increased reproductive success. For sons, the age of first consortship is dependent on a number of additional factors, not least of which is the number of reproductively available females, but age at adult rank achievement and age at first consortship are positively correlated [Alberts and Altmann 1995a]. The proximate mechanisms that underlie these maternal effects on maturational schedule are not vet clear, but the Amboseli data provide a number of interesting possibilities, discussed below.

First, maternal dominance rank during pregnancy and shortly after birth may influence the development of offspring endocrine profiles. In wild snowshoe hares, predation pressure has been shown to increase maternal stress hormone levels, and offspring conceived in high-predation environments also have increased stress hormone levels as adults. It has been suggested that this phenomenon may be responsible for the enigmatic persistence of suppressed population-level reproductive rates even after population-level predation pressure has decreased [Sheriff et al. 2010]. The evidence for similar mechanisms operating in baboon

development is not entirely clear. Early maturing baboon males consistently have higher fecal glucocorticoid and testosterone levels than late maturing males, but in a study of a large sample of males, this effect was not statistically significant across the lifespan [Gesquiere et al. 2005]. Given, though, that a number of other factors influence circulating glucocorticoid and testosterone levels in both males and their mothers—such as rainfall, temperature [Beehner et al. 2005; Gesquiere et al. 2005; Gesquiere et al. 2008; Gesquiere et al. 2010], variation in the social environment, and individual variation in hormone response [Sapolsky 1991; Sapolsky 1985]-the lack of statistical significance here may not indicate a lack of biological significance. Regardless, maternal rank at the time of a male's conception was found to be unrelated to hormone levels for either sex across the subadult period [Gesquiere et al. 2005], suggesting that this is not the pathway by which maternal dominance rank regulates sons' maturational schedules. On the other hand, another study on the same population found that maternal dominance rank at the time of a male's conception accounted for 42% of the variance in adolescent male fecal glucocorticoid concentrations in the 20 months prior to their natal dispersal-sons of high-ranking mothers had lower fecal glucocorticoid levels than sons of lowranking mothers [Onyango et al. 2008]. Onyango et al. [2008] suggest that this could be of selective importance because chronically elevated levels of glucocorticoids are associated with stress-related disease pathology. Perhaps the maternal effects on sons' stress physiology are only detectable during the developmental stage when sons are gearing up for what will likely be their most costly life event—natal dispersal [Alberts and Altmann 1995a]; perhaps, over the subadult period in general, underlying maternal effects on sons' stress physiology are attenuated by the effects of

other factors. While these results have not yet clarified exactly how maternal rank is related to offspring endocrine development, they do suggest that *something* about maternal rank is an important proximate factor.

Second, maternal physiology may modulate mothers' behavioral responses toward their offspring. Late gestational fecal glucocorticoids are positively correlated with maternal responsiveness to infants [Nguyen et al. 2008], suggesting that hormonal modulation of some characteristics of the mother-infant relationship does occur in baboons. Late gestational fecal estrogen and testosterone concentrations in multiparous females are significantly higher when the fetus is male versus when the fetus is female [Altmann et al. 2004], suggesting that fetal sex may influence maternal hormone profiles in different ways, which may in turn influence maternal behavior toward infants in ways that vary according to infant sex. Prenatal fecal estrogen concentrations are negatively correlated with suckling time in infant daughters, but even though prenatal estrogen levels are higher when carrying sons, they do not influence suckling time in sons [Nguyen et al. 2010], suggesting (unsurprisingly) that the relationships among fetal sex, maternal gestational physiology, and maternalinfant interaction are complex.

Even though the physiological (or other) causes of variation in maternal behavior toward infants are not yet well-understood, it is clear that the mother-infant relationship sometimes varies according to offspring sex in potentially important ways. Experienced mothers initiate changes in infant contact more than less experienced mothers, but this effect is more pronounced with male infants [Nguyen et al. 2010]. High ranking mothers carry their infants the least, and this effect is stronger with male infants than with female infants [Samuels and Altmann 1992]. And high maternal dominance rank is negatively correlated with suckling time in infant daughters, but not in infant sons [Nguyen et al. 2008]. Decreased rates of infant carrying and more changes in infant contact may both promote infant independence, which may in turn promote the earlier acquisition of social and ecological competence. This would be an important effect, as foraging efficacy in yearling females (with respect to protein and energy intake) has been shown to reliably predict the probability of surviving to adulthood, female fertility, and female reproductive lifespan [Altmann 1991]. The apparent maternal bias toward encouraging the independence of sons more than daughters and the apparent maintenance of suckling rates for sons despite the action of maternal hormone physiology that reduces them in daughters could reflect the much greater potential impact that increased caloric intake has on subadult male growth rates and maturation as compared to those of subadult females [Altmann and Alberts 2005].

Mothers, of course, are not the only individuals who can influence subadult developmental trajectories; indeed, in baboons, fathers also influence the maturational schedules of their offspring. Fathers selectively support their juvenile offspring in agonistic encounters [Buchan et al. 2003], and paternal presence in the group is associated with reduced time to maturation for daughters. Paternal presence is also associated with reduced time to maturation for sons, but only for fathers of high rank at the time of their sons' births [Charpentier et al. 2008].

Certainly, subadults, themselves, are expected to be active participants in shaping their developmental trajectories, as they, above all others, have the most to gain from their own development. Nguyen et al. [Nguyen et al. 2010] suggest that this effort may begin in the womb, with fetuses producing glucocorticoids that induce maternal responsiveness. Postnatally, yellow baboons, like those of many other species, exhibit sexually differentiated choices of social partners and social interactions. Juvenile males put more effort into maintaining proximity to adult males than do juvenile females, while juvenile females put more effort into maintaining proximity to unrelated adult females than do juvenile males [Pereira 1988]. Among unrelated adult female social partners, juvenile females preferred lactating females and those from high-ranking matrilines, while juvenile males preferred cycling females and showed no preference for female rank [Pereira 1988]. These types of juvenile social preferences seem to correspond well with the expectation that juveniles will tailor their social associations in ways that will facilitate the acquisition of current and/or future benefit [Pereira 1988]. Male coalitionary support is an important factor in the acquisition of and maintenance of male dominance and/or access to females [van Schaik et al. 2004], which is closely tied to male reproductive success [Schülke et al. 2010]. Since yellow baboons are female philopatric, resident females (but not males) will be the lifelong social partners for juvenile females. Relationships with lactating females provide the possibility of access to interaction with their infants, which are attractive to females of most species, possibly because female primates have long been under selection to be responsive to infants, as it makes them better mothers (thereby increasing their reproductive fitness) [Silk 1999]. Relationships with higher ranking females are likely to be of more current and future benefit than relationships with lower ranking ones. Males, though, rise above all females in dominance rank as they surpass them in physical size [Pereira 1995], so the rank of their female social partners is likely to be much less important than the reproductive status of those partners. Lastly, juveniles

may structure their social relationships so as to help them modulate the negative effects of stressors, as seen in adult female chacma baboons [Wittig et al. 2008].

The available data on sexually differentiated development from Amboseli is beginning to shed light on the workings of the complex and interactive system of social, ecological, and endocrinological factors that together underpin the differentiated life histories and social relationships of male and female baboons. It illustrates the promise of work that seeks to understand linkages between maternal physiology and offspring physiology, maternal physiology and behavior, and offspring physiology and behavior in naturally living primates.

SHORTCOMINGS OF PREVIOUS RESEARCH

The false dichotomy of social versus biological, and environmental versus innate

All available data indicate that the social environment shapes individual biology in selectively important ways (e.g., human life history schedule [Ellis et al. 1999; Kuzawa et al. 2010] or modulation of hormonal effects on primate aggression [Zumpe and Michael 1996]), which then shapes how individuals interact further with their social environments. Sometimes, even, historical environments that individuals themselves did not experience affect their biology via environmental effects on the biology of their forbears [Sheriff et al. 2010], and this could be true of social environments as well. All researchers of sex-typed development in humans and nonhumans probably now acknowledge that the social environment and individual biology are so interactive that they really do not stand alone: "We should not be tempted to think that even the bodies of infants are, so to speak, all biology and no culture" [p. 90, McIntyre and Edwards 2009]. But still, the tendency to dichotomize and oppose social and biological causes of behavioral development persists, especially in the arena of human sex-typed development. Granted, it is possible to use a dichotomy as a heuristic while still recognizing and seeking to understand the variation within/around it [Worthman 1995]. But often it seems as if some researchers consider biologically motivated behavioral sex differences to be immutable, natural, adaptive, and therefore desirable, while socially motivated sex differences are considered easily changed, separate from the natural world, nonadaptive, and therefore of questionable value.

How, though, in studies of mammals, can the social be considered nonbiological? If the social interactions of infant rats effect sexually differentiated physiological change that results in sexually differentiated behavior, is this a biological or a non-biological process? Insofar as all mammalian biology has in common a single, defining feature that is simultaneously somatic and social-infant nourishment by mother's milk-nurture is an integral part of successful mammalian nature, and there was never really any good reason to conceive of the two as separable. It is for this reason that I distinguish between motivators of behavior that are intrinsic versus extrinsic to the individual. Intrinsic motivators of sexual differentiation stem from within an individual; extrinsic motivators of sexual differentiation are external to the individual. Intrinsic factors can be social, psychological, somatic, hormonal, genetic, etc., depending on the research question. Extrinsic factors are ecological and social. Both intrinsic and extrinsic behavioral motivators may have been previously shaped by each other. There is no claim that intrinsic factors are "innate" and, by implication, independent of previous influence by extrinsic factors.

The implications of a continued reliance on a false social/biological dichotomy in research on sex-typed behavior are not insignificant. Often built on this shody foundation is the implicit (and sometimes explicit), incorrect assertion that elements of human gendered behavior that are shared with non-human animals must be somatically rather than socially mediated [Joseph 2000]. But this assumption is unfounded. Instead, the fact that some elements of behavioral sex differentiation in non-human animals are socially mediated suggests that some human socially motivated behavioral sex differences may have been selected for throughout human evolutionary history. Some socially mediated behavioral characteristics may be adaptive. Additionally, some sex-typed social/physiological/psychological feedback loops may be self-perpetuating and stable over long periods of time, but that does not necessarily mean that they are immutable, intrinsic properties of the biological sexes [contra Browne 2006; Byrd-Craven and Geary 2007; Joseph 2000]. This point is most clearly illustrated by Sapolsky's "pacific" baboons, a troop that developed atypically affiliative patterns of social interaction among males and between males and females after the most aggressive and dominant males in the group died of tuberculosis. Not only did the original low-ranking surviving males have unusually friendly interactions for baboons, but so did later immigrant males [Sapolsky and Share 2004].

Although the assumption of many that sex differences that are found across mammals can be assumed to be "biological" or "ecological" in nature and not "socialized" is unfounded, it is an empirical question that can be tested. Additionally, the best way to tease apart which socialized human sex differences can reasonably be considered adaptive, and which cannot, is through comparative analysis of socialized sex differences in non-human primates.

Shortcomings of non-human primate data for understanding adaptation in sex-typed development

Unfortunately, this type of comparative analysis is not yet possible, [Förster and Cords 2005], because studies that have investigated the development of sex differences in behavior in unprovisioned, wild primate populations remain too few [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005; Altmann 1980; Altmann and Pereira 1985; Clarke et al. 2007; Förster and Cords 2002a; Förster and Cords 2005; Gould 1990; Hashimoto and Furuichi 1994; Hiarawa-Hasegawa 1989; Pereira 1988; Zucker and Clarke 1992]. Most of our knowledge of primate sex-typed biobehavioral development derives from captive research on catarrhines—specifically, common chimpanzees [Anestis 2005; Anestis 2006; Bard 1994; Bard and Gardner 1996; Davenport et al. 1973; Fritz et al. 1992; Howell et al. 2006; Maki et al. 1993; Randolph and Mason 1969; Spijkerman et al. 1995; Spijkerman et al. 1996; Spijkerman et al. 1997; Turner et al. 1969] and cercopithecine monkeys [Andrews and Rosenblum 1991; Andrews and Rosenblum 1994; Bachevalier and Hagger 1991; Boccia et al. 1991; Boccia et al. 1994; Brown and Dixon 2000; Chamove et al. 1967; Champoux et al. 1989; Chism 1986; Clarke and Snipes 1998; de Waal and Johanowicz 1993; Deputte and Quris 1996; Deputte and Goy 1991; Drago and Thierry 2000; Eaton et al. 1986; Fairbanks and McGuire 1988; Goy et al. 1988; Gust 1995; Harlow 1962; Maestripieri 1994; Maestripieri 2001; Maestripieri 2004; Maestripieri 2005a; Maestripieri and Megna 2000; Maestripieri and Ross 2004; Parker et al. 2006; Preston et al. 1970; Richards et al. 2009; Rosenblum 1987; Rosenblum and Paully 1984; Rowell and Chism 1986;

Ruppenthal et al. 1976; Ruppenthal et al. 1974; Ruppenthal et al. 1991; Sackett 1972; Sackett et al. 2002; Sanchez et al. 2010; Schino et al. 2001; Seay et al. 1972; Setchell and Dixson 2002; Setchell et al. 2001; Suomi 1997; Suomi et al. 1983; Suomi 1987; Tartabini and Dienske 1979; Thornton and Goy 1986; Tomaszycki et al. 2001; Tomaszycki et al. 2005; Toscano et al. 2009; Wallen 1996; Wallen 2005; Wallen et al. 1977; Wallen et al. 1981; Wallen et al. 1995; Wallen and Zehr 2004; Worlein and Sackett 1997]. Important contributions on other taxa can be found in the literature on captive primates [Birnie et al. 2011; Byrne and Suomi 1998; Dixson 1993; Epple et al. 1990; Mayeaux et al. 2002; Mayeaux 2008; Nash 1991; Nash 2003; Palagi et al. 2002; Paukner and Suomi 2008; Pereira 2002; Pereira 1995], and some of this work is on free-ranging captive animals living in species-typical social settings that may mirror developmental environments in the wild [Berman 1980; Berman 1992; Berman 1997; Devinney et al. 2001; Fedigan and Zohar 1997; Pereira 1995]. But nutritional constraints are usually relaxed in captivity, often accelerating some aspects of development [e.g., Altmann and Alberts 1987], and altering the social milieu in ways that can impact social development [Rosenblum and Paully 1984] and intrinsic physiology [Rangel-Negrín et al. 2009]. As a result, studies of wild populations are needed to validate extrapolation from captive studies to wild populations, to discover evolutionarily significant processes of behavioral sex differentiation that do not occur in captivity, and to identify developmental processes that are appropriate for further investigation in captivity.

Overall, captive work has demonstrated that the social environment drives social development, but has shed less light on *which* particular elements of the social

environment are causally linked to the development of later behaviors, especially in natural environments. This body of research details the behavioral components necessary for the socialization of sex-typed behavior in non-human primates, but has yet to clarify whether, which, or how particular patterns of social interaction shape particular elements of primate sex-typical social development in complex socioecological settings. Comparative study performed on developmental systems in the wild will generate data that are unquestionably applicable to understanding the functioning of those systems in natural environments as well as to the evolution of developmental system components.

RESEARCH GOALS

The overall goal of this study is to increase scientific understanding of the intrinsic and extrinsic social factors likely to be involved in the development of adult sex-typical primate behavior in order to help clarify the evolutionary history of the intrinsic and extrinsic social factors thought to be important in human sex-typed gender socialization. Because causation of developmental sex differentiation is complex and the social factors involved in normative sex-typed development remain poorly understood, further investigation is best focused on simple, fast-developing primate models. Knowledge gained from these models can be applied to and will help focus future investigations of more complex, slower-developing taxa. Captive research has shown that gonadal hormones in most species are quiescent after infancy and prior to adolescence, and that in general, primate prepubescent behavior is largely unaffected by gonadal hormones [Wallen 2005]. In order to isolate social causes and limit, as much as possible, the confounding influences of sexual differentiation due to gonadal hormone production and ecological niche

differentiation and, study will focus on the prepubescent developmental stages of a gregarious, monomorphic species.

This study will compare male and female social development from birth to just prior to sexual maturity in wild ring-tailed lemurs in order to identify social factors likely to be important for sex-typed development in this species. Ring-tailed lemurs were chosen as a study taxon for a number of reasons.

First, ring-tailed lemurs are among the most primitive of the gregarious primates. Because strepsirrhines have not received much attention in studies of sexual differentiation compared to the haplorhines, this study will help to fill out our understanding of primate sex-typed development and ameliorate one of the major shortcomings of previous developmental research. Second, infant Lemur catta have substantial opportunity for social interaction at early ages. Infants first break contact with their mothers in the second week of life and engage in dyadic social play as early as the third [Gould 1990]. Additionally, mother-infant pairs are the objects of intense affiliative contact initiated by other group members during infants' first weeks of life, providing opportunity for interaction between infants and non-maternal group members while infants cling to their mothers [Nakamichi and Koyama 2000]. Third, ring-tailed lemurs develop relatively quickly and have a relatively simple demographic structure (annual age cohorts) resulting from their strict seasonality. They have a one-year inter-birth interval, and reach sexual maturity in two years in captivity (and sometimes in free-ranging food-supplemented populations) [Gould et al. 2003; Overdorff et al. 1999]. As a result, and in contrast to species with slower life histories, all group members occupy discrete, easily identifiable age/sex classes, and it is feasible to examine the entire (or nearly so) prepubescent period over the course

of one year using mixed longitudinal sampling of infants and juveniles. Fourth, they live in relatively large multi-male, multi-female social groups (*L. catta*, 5-30 individuals [Gould et al. 2003] but have relatively small home ranges [Sussman 1974; Sussman 1991], such that 6-8 large social groups typically provide sufficient numbers of infants and juveniles for study by a single researcher (in contrast to most other lemur species that live in smaller groups). Lastly, they are not strongly size-dimorphic [Kappeler 1990], minimizing, as much as possible for species with multi-male multifemale social organization, the contribution of sex differences in ecology and life history schedule to the development of sex-typed behavior.

Study of sex-typed development in ring-tailed lemurs will also maximize opportunities for more immediate comparative study in several ways. Because of their phylogenetic distance from the better-studied cercopithecoids and their particular combination of social similarities to and differences from the baboons in particular—multi-male, multi-female social structure, promiscuous mating, stable dominance relationships, and matrilocality in common [Pereira 1993b] but body size monomorphism and female dominance in contrast [Pereira and Kappeler 1997] ring-tailed lemurs make a good comparative taxon to those that have already been well-studied. Furthermore, study focusing on the social causes of behavioral sex differentiation in ring-tailed lemurs dovetails with previous and ongoing work by the Lemur Biology Project at Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve and its associates on ringtailed lemur ecology [Sauther et al. 1999], health [Sauther et al. 2002], life history [Gould et al. 2003], social behavior [Gould 1997], endocrinology [Gould and Ziegler 2007; O'Mara 2008], and ecological and endocrinological development.

Theoretical Model and Hypotheses

Whenever adult social roles differ between the sexes, as long as infants are less sexually differentiated than adults, infants' developmental trajectories (and the processes that drive them) will also differ between the sexes [Hemelrijk and Dekogel 1989] (Figure 2-1). In such cases, if socialization plays a driving role in the development of sex-typical behavior, sex differences in extrinsic and/or intrinsic subadult social behavior must be present.



Fig. 2-1. Schematic of hypothetical behavioral developmental trajectories when infants are born differentiated by sex versus undifferentiated.

This study aims to test, specifically, whether extrinsic sexually differentiated social interactions are important for the development of intrinsic behavioral sex difference. This approach should definitively identify extrinsic social factors that are not important in sex-differential socialization, preventing them from obfuscating relationships among those that are, both in this and future work. Furthermore, it will identify extrinsic social factors likely to be influential in the development of particular sex-differential intrinsic social behaviors by revealing their correlational relationships [Fragaszy and Perry 2003]. Socialization can be intrinsically driven just as it can be extrinsically driven—recall that individuals may have sex-typed responses to the same stimulus. However, because this study does not address variation in prenatal, neonatal, and postnatal physiological experience, it is impossible to assess whether the intrinsic subadult behavioral sex differences identified in this study represent sex-differential responses to the same social stimulus or intrinsically motivated sex-differential behavior unrelated to extrinsic social factors. Therefore, this study will be limited to investigating the importance of extrinsic processes of socialization involved in sex-typed behavioral development in this species.

Identifying which adult sex-differential behaviors are candidates for socialization is pre-requisite to identifying potential extrinsic socialization processes. In order for sex-typical behaviors to be shaped by patterns of subadult social interaction, they must have an ontogenetic component. They cannot be strongly present at birth, and cannot arise suddenly upon sexual maturity, when gonadal hormones become active and start to play a significant role in driving sex-differential behavior [Wallen 2005] (Figure 2-2). If infants are adult-like in their degree of behavioral sexual differentiation, then no developmental explanation is needed to account for adult sex-typical behavior (Figure 2-1).





Intrinsic adult sex-typed social behaviors that were candidates for socialization during the subadult period were identified by testing for:

1) Quantifiable sex difference in intrinsic social behavior in adulthood and

2) demonstrable ontogenetic components of those sex-typed behaviors prior to sexual maturation (adult levels of sex difference cannot be present at infancy and sex difference must be apparent before sexual maturity).

Tests for quantifiable adult behavioral sex differences in patterns of aggression, dominance, submission, affiliation, proximity, infant interest, responsibility for proximity maintenance, and scent marking are explicated in chapter 4. Tests for the ontogenetic components of documented intrinsic adult sex-typed social behaviors are explicated in chapter 5.

After adult sex-typed social behaviors with a subadult developmental component were identified, patterns of extrinsic social interaction with group members that might play a causal role in shaping the development of species-typical sex differences in intrinsic adult behavior were isolated by identifying: 3) sex differential treatment of subadults by other group members specifically, sex differences in receipt of agonism and affiliation from, and proximity patterns to and responsibility for proximity maintenance to mother and others.

Once sex differences in subadult treatment by others were identified, I qualitatively assessed:

4) whether the appearance of those sex differences in extrinsic social interactions preceded or coincided with the development of particular intrinsic sex differential behaviors (e.g., increased receipt of aggression by infant males compared to infant females might precede the development of spatial segregation by sex).

Extrinsic social interactions that do not differ by sex, and that do not precede or coincide with sexual divergence in a given intrinsic social behavior cannot be responsible for sexual differentiation of that social behavior.

Although the present study focuses on discovering social factors responsible for shaping the development of sex-differential behavior, it is probable that the development of sex differences in ecology also causes sex differences behavior. In that case, sexual differentiation in behavior is expected to coincide with sexual differentiation in ecology (Figure 2-3). Behavioral sex differentiation that occurs prior to the onset of sex differences in ecology, though, cannot be explained by these factors. Tests for extrinsic sexually differentiated social and ecological factors and qualitative assessments of their importance in the development of intrinsic sex-typed social behavior are presented in chapter 6.



Fig. 2-3. Schematic of hypothetical behavioral sex differentiation caused only by ecological sex differentiation.
CHAPTER 3: METHODS

FIELD SITE

Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve (BMSR) is situated in a dry forest in southwestern Madagascar [Sauther et al. 2002] at 23° 30' S latitude and 44° 40' E longitude [Loudon 2006] (Figure 3-1). The reserve comprises two parcels of land situated within a larger tract of continuous forest. Parcel 1 contains 80 ha of riverine gallery forest [Sauther et al. 1999]. Due to a recent park expansion, Parcel 2 now contains approximately 4,000ha of didierea spiny forest. This study was carried out in and around Parcel 1. Forest to the west and south of Parcel 1 is relatively degraded as a result of firewood collection and grazing by local livestock. Parcel 1 is bordered in the east by the Sakamena River, which forms a water barrier in the rainy season but not the dry season, when the riverbed is completely dry. East of the river and at the river's western edge south of Parcel 1, land has been cleared for cultivation of crops (Figure 3-1). As of this writing, the reserve operates under the auspices of Madagascar National Parks. There is no hunting of lemurs in this area, and Parcel 1 is fenced to prevent incursion by cows and goats from surrounding villages. The fence does not entirely prevent forest use for grazing purposes, but Parcel 1 is substantially more vegetated than the surrounding forest [Sauther and Cuozzo 2009].



Fig. 3-1. Map of Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve [Sussman and Ratsirarson 2006].

INDIVIDUAL IDENTIFICATION

The ring-tailed lemurs in Parcel 1of BMSR have been studied for decades [Sauther et al. 1999] and are well-habituated to the presence of human observers. Most individuals of ≥ 2 years of age from nine social groups were individually marked with collars and tags prior to the beginning of behavioral data collection in September, 2008. A few adults and all juveniles and infants were not marked with collars and tags at the onset of data collection. To facilitate quick, reliable individual identification, some of these individuals were dye-marked. Six adults, six juveniles, and eight infants were marked with Nyanzol-D, a long-lasting, non-toxic dye [Honess and MacDonald 2003]. Using a solution of Nyanzol-D, isopropyl alcohol, and hydrogen peroxide according to Honess & MacDonald [Honess and MacDonald 2003], I squirted target individuals from a distance of 1.5m-3m using a hypodermic syringe with a needle, making sure that the individuals were not looking at me when they were squirted. This was so that dye did not accidentally reach their eyes, noses, and/or mouths, and to ensure that they did not learn to associate human observers with being squirted with liquid. After the successful application of dye, I followed the individuals to ensure that they did not groom the dye before it was dry. If they tried to groom the dye, I distracted them by making noises or following them closely enough that they kept moving until they lost interest in grooming the dye. Usually, I marked individuals while they were foraging, and most of them returned to foraging within a minute of dye application. I marked young infants when they were clinging to their mothers to avoid getting dye on their faces. I did not dye infants less than 2 months old, as their regular association with their mothers prior to that time made them easy to identify. Dye re-application was necessary for some individuals after a period of 3-4 months. After my initial stock of isopropyl alcohol was exhausted, I used locally distilled rum in its place, which was equally effective, much less costly, and reliably available. It should be noted that before I was able to acquire hypodermic needles in Tulear, I attempted dye-marking with only an open syringe, but this made aim rather poor, and when I did succeed in "hitting" animals, too much dye was applied by this method, such that the dye did not dry quickly, and it

was a challenge to prevent animals from ingesting it. I therefore strongly discourage the use of any application method that results in a relatively large stream of Nyanzol-D hitting an animal (water gun, syringe without a needle-like applicator, etc.).

BEHAVIORAL SAMPLING

Behavioral data were collected from a mixed longitudinal, cross-sectional sample of infant (0-1 years old), juvenile (1-2 years old), and adult (>2 years old) *Lemur catta* from September 2008 to August 2009 using focal individual sampling [Altmann 1974]. Behavioral data collection began during the September 2008 birth season. Thus, the 2008 infant cohort was newborn at the onset of data collection and approximately 1 year old at the termination of data collection, while the 2007 cohort (juvenile, in this study) was approximately 1 year old at the onset of data collection and 2 years old at the termination of data collection. All adult females in the sample were non-maternal during data collection—they did not have infant offspring. All adult males and most adult females in the adult dataset were \geq 3 years old during data collection, but in order to maintain a sufficient sample size of adult females without infants, a few 2-3 year old females were sampled. Each age class was evenly divided by sex to the extent possible given availability of individuals across the nine individually marked, habituated study groups.

Adult females without dependent offspring were chosen to represent the adult behavioral trajectories to which infants and juveniles would be compared because the sex-typed behavior of adult females with dependent infants would be overlain by the constraints and motivations of motherhood. Adult females without infants should provide a better estimate of baseline adult sex-typed behavior and because infants, juveniles, and adult males cannot have dependent infants, adult females without infants are a better comparator against which to assess the development of baseline sex-typed social behavior in subadults. Adult females with dependent infants were still considered "adult females" when they were the social partners of subjects.

Sampling of groups rotated through a set group order. Data collection for a given group continued until each study subject in the group had been sampled for one to two hours. Completion of a sampling cycle for one group could take anywhere from one to four days, depending on the number of individuals sampled in the group and observation success. Completion of the entire group rotation took an average of 10 days, such that each group, and thus each subject, was usually sampled twice per calendar month. The target was 2-4 hours of focal data per subject per month.

Data were collected 6 days per week from just after dawn until just before dusk with a daily lunch break that commenced upon the onset of the individuals' mid-day rest period. The observation day was divided evenly into 4 temporal segments: early morning, late morning, early afternoon, and late afternoon. Within groups, individual sampling order was random, except that it was balanced across the day during a single group observation cycle as much as possible. Focal individual follows were 30 minutes in duration to ensure that each subject could be sampled at multiple times of day within each group sampling cycle. Focal individual follows included a combination of continuous data collection of social interactions with the focal individual and instantaneous data collection for other behavioral measures at three-minute intervals (detailed below). If an individual was out of sight on the interval, the behavior exhibited closest to the interval within \pm 15 seconds of the

interval was recorded. If the focal individual was not seen within ± 15 seconds of the interval, it was designated "out of sight." Focal observations with more than two "out of sight" scans were discarded. If a focal observation was discarded, I attempted to relocate the focal individual. If the individual could be located within 10 minutes, I re-started focal observation of the same individual. If the individual could not be found (or seen due to visibility constraints) within 10 minutes, I moved on to observation of the next visible individual in the sampling order.

Behaviors were recorded using a detailed ethogram that was designed to be as comparable as possible to those used in other studies of lemur social behavior (Table 3-1) [e.g., Pereira and Kappeler 1997]. Focal individual activity (Table 3-1), distance from the nearest neighbor within 5m, identities of all neighbors in contact, within reach ($0m > x \ge 0.3m$) and within $3m (0.3m > x \ge 3m)$, position within group (Figure 3-2), canopy position (Figure 3-3), and group activity state were recorded at three-minute intervals [Altmann 1974]. Not all behaviors in the ethogram were used in instantaneous sampling; those that were are marked as "scan" or "both" in Table 3-1.



Fig. 3-2. Position within group. During linear group progressions, focal individuals were designated as leading, middle, or lagging. All other times, focal individuals were

designated as "in" or "out." When designated "out," distance from the nearest group member was recorded in 5m increments.





All social interactions with the focal individuals and the direction of those behaviors (*i.e.*, groom other versus groomed by other) were recorded continuously on a handheld Raon micro-PC using JWatcher V1.0 [Blumstein et al. 2000]. Behaviors recorded are marked as "continuous" or "both" in Table 3-1. Time spent passively in contact with and within reach of a nearest neighbor were recorded during continuous data collection, but all overt social interactions that occurred while in contact with or within reach of another were recorded preferentially over passive contact and passive time within reach. Similarly, though the occurrences of all social interactions were recorded, the JWatcher software can only record the elapsed time of a single behavior. Multiple behaviors cannot be simultaneously timed. Therefore, for cases in which simultaneous social interactions occurred, I recorded the occurrence of all behaviors in order to preserve the sequence of events associated with approaches to and leaves from the focal, but then preferentially recorded the time of the behavior that was more active on the part of the focal individual (e.g., the time the focal groomed another over the time the focal was groomed by a third). As a result, I do not have accurate bout counts for behaviors like grooming—they are inflated.

Scent marking events were recorded during continuous data collection as social interactions because they are social communications. Vocalizations, although they are rightly considered social interactions, were not recorded during continuous data collection for two reasons. First, the number of social interactions that could be recorded during continuous data collection was limited by the JWatcher software, and the number of distinct *Lemur catta* vocalizations catalogued by Pereira & Kappeler [1997] were too numerous to include. Second, the recording equipment and analytical software necessary for a rigorous bioacoustical analysis of vocalizations was not available to me, and such an analysis was beyond the scope of this study.

During instantaneous sampling, only one behavior was assigned for each time interval [Martin and Bateson 1986]. However, the behaviors in the ethogram used during instantaneous sampling are not all mutually exclusive. Therefore, if two behaviors occurred simultaneously on an interval (e.g., avoidance of another individual during travel), priority was given to social behaviors over non-social behaviors. Similarly, more than one social behavior can occur simultaneously (e.g., cling to mother and groom). In such cases, priority was given to the more overt social interaction of the two, or the social interaction that is more active on the part of the focal individual (groom supercedes cling, and cuff supercedes receipt of

grooming). If an individual was engaged in overt social interaction with more than one individual (e.g., the focal could be grooming one individual and groomed by another), the behavior directed by the focal individual toward another was given preference.

Nearest neighbor designation can be similarly ambiguous. Here, nearest neighbor designation was always preferentially assigned to individuals with whom the focal was engaged in overt social interaction. Rarely, an individual was engaged in overt social interaction with an individual that was not its physically closest conspecific (e.g., an individual can engage in the agonistic "look away" with another, physically distant individual for long periods of time while other individuals are in closer proximity to the focal). More often, an individual was equidistant to more than one individual without being engaged in social interaction with any of them. For non-contact proximity decisions of these types, if the focal individual was equidistant to more than one individual on an interval, the individual that the focal individual was facing was designated the nearest neighbor. If the focal individual was in contact with more than one individual on an interval, the individual with whom the focal had the most body contact was designated as the nearest neighbor. If the focal individual had the same amount of body contact with more than one individual, the neighbor that the focal individual was facing was designated as the nearest neighbor. In the very few cases where a nearest neighbor could not be assigned using the above decision rules, I chose the nearest neighbor based on my subjective assessment of which of the individuals in question was more often the focal individual's nearest neighbor. On the rare occasions in which this last decision rule was employed, it biased nearest neighbor assignments in the direction of

offspring and mothers associating preferentially—a bias which should be rendered insignificant by the strong real preferential associations of those individuals.

SAMPLES

The aforementioned sampling regime resulted in just over 1000 hours of behavioral data: 375 hours of focal data on infants, 148 hours on juvenile females, 157 hours on juvenile males, 168 hours on adult females, and 170 hours on adult males. These samples averaged 14 hours of observation/month for each age/sex class. Age/sex class membership changed throughout the year when individuals disappeared from the study population, but infants who were observed from birth to study termination were observed for an average of 39.6 hours each, juveniles observed for the entire 12-month study period were observed for an average of 39 hours each, and adults observed for the entire study period were observed for an average of 34 hours each. These samples are comparable to published developmental studies both in captivity [e.g., 1 hour/week per mother-infant dyad, Maestripieri 2003] and in the wild [e.g., 38.5 hours/subject, total, Förster and Cords 2005]. See Table 3-2 for timing and observation time of all individuals sampled.

During data collection, individuals who left the dataset due to disappearance were replaced by other individuals in the same age/sex category, if available, in order to maintain a sample size of as close to five individuals per age/sex category as possible. Sample sizes could not be maintained throughout the study at n=5 for all age/sex classes (Figure 3-4) due to lack of availability of individuals in those age/sex classes throughout the entire collared BMSR population. This was especially true for male infants as a result of high mortality rates in the 2008 cohort.

SEASONS

During data collection in 2008-2009, the rainy season began in mid-October and ended in late March. Infants of the 2008 cohort were fully weaned by their 7th month of age, in March or April. All infants in the sample were still nursing at low rates in March, but only half of the, nursed in April. No nursing was observed in May. Mating pulses were late April to mid-May and mid-June to mid-July, 2009.



Fig. 3-4 Individuals sampled per month for each age/sex class.

ANALYTICAL METHODS

Counts of behavioral events and summations of time spent in behavioral states were extracted from JWatcher .txt files using a custom-written program in SAS 9.2. Individual monthly mean rates (# event occurrences per hour) were calculated for behavioral events that were included in analyses performed and individual monthly mean times were calculated for behavioral states that were included in analyses. These were derived from continuous data. Individual monthly mean distances from and proportions of time spent in proximity to nearest neighbors were calculated from scan data. Group size varied across study subjects and through time, providing subjects with different numbers of individuals at which to direct behaviors or from which to receive them. When appropriate, rates of and time spent engaged in behaviors were therefore corrected for partner availability before analysis. For analyses involving overall rates of or time engaged in interaction with others, this was accomplished by dividing by the number of group members available to the focal individual and multiplying by a constant (in this case, the overall average group size) to bring values back to their original scale. This correction allows for testing of the null hypothesis that individuals direct their social behavior toward others at uniform rates based on probability of encounter, and assumes a Brownian motion model of higher probability of inter-individual encounter in larger groups than in smaller ones. For analyses involving rates of or time engaged in interaction with particular age/sex classes, correcting for partner availability was accomplished by calculating deviations from rates/times of interaction with each age/sex class expected if the focal individual distributed those interactions randomly across all available group members. This controls for inter-individual differences in overall

rates/times of interaction (tested in the analyses described above), allows for testing of the null hypothesis that individuals distribute their behavior randomly toward group members of each age/sex class based on probability of encounter, and assumes a Brownian motion model of higher probability of encounter of age/sex classes that have more members.

Even though the actual dates of behavioral collection each month were not the same for every individual, generating monthly mean behavioral measurements for all individuals created a balanced longitudinal dataset—one in which all individual share the same measurement occasions. This is advantageous because the methods available for analysis of unbalanced longitudinal data due to mistimed measurement occasions are comparatively limited [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. Individual monthly mean measurements were used as units of analysis in two types of regression models for correlated responses. These classes of regression models appropriately account for the dependence and correlation in the data due to repeated measurements on the same individuals [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004].

Linear mixed effects models (LMEMs), which model the mean response as a combination of fixed effects—those assumed to be shared by all individuals—and random effects—those unique to particular individuals [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004; Singer and Willett 2003] were used whenever possible. These analyses model group response profiles through time while accounting for individual differences that underlie natural heterogeneity within the groups [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. These very flexible models impose minimum restrictions on individual and group responses through time [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. In these analyses, when addressing questions about sex differences, individual ID was assigned as a random effect with sex and

time (in months) as predictor variables. When addressing questions about age differences, individual ID was assigned as a random effect with cohort and/or time (in months) as predictor variables.

After the model-fitting protocol outlined in Singer and Willett [2003], individual response profiles were first qualitatively examined in order to determine whether they should be modeled as linear or quadratic responses, but sample sizes were rarely sufficient to model quadratic individual response profiles and linear individual response profiles were usually used. In most circumstances, the most complex LMEMs that could be fit were linear individual response profiles and linear group responses profiles. In some cases, it was not even possible to estimate individual slopes, and the LMEM was simplified to address only individual and group intercepts, effectively reducing analysis to a test of sex differences, but one which appropriately handles repeated measurements and uneven sampling due to missing data for some individuals.

Because LMEMs could not always be fit, response profiles of group means were also fit. These are conceptually straightforward analyses that characterize patterns of temporal change in the mean response in each group and determine whether they differ from each other [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. These analyses are well-suited to questions about a single covariate (e.g., sex) when the pattern of differences between groups is not known *a priori* [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004] (as in these data, in which the yearly temporal patterning of specific behaviors is unknown). Response profiles analyses impose minimal structural restrictions on the mean response through time and the covariance among repeated measurements, allowing arbitrary patterns of variation in both. As a result, they are relatively robust to bias

resulting from model misspecification of the mean and covariance [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. Because these analyses summarize the data by the estimated group mean response at each measurement occasion, they require that the data are balanced with respect to timing of repeated measurements [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004], a requirement satisfied by using monthly mean individual values. In some cases in which sample size was very low, the model was reduced to test only for yearly mean sex differences. All models were fit using restricted maximum likelihood estimation, which is usually less biased in small samples of correlated data than traditional maximum likelihood methods of estimation [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004].

Both types of models can appropriately cope with unbalanced samples due to missing data on specific individuals (a problem common in longitudinal studies) without simply discarding those individuals from the analysis, as long as the data are "missing completely at random" or "missing at random" [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004; Singer and Willett 2003]. If the missing data mechanism—the reason underlying the missingness—is non-random with respect to the variable of interest, missing data may introduce bias [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004].

When data are "missing completely at random," the reason they are missing is unrelated both to the specific responses that, in principle, would have been observed but for the missingness of the individual, as well as to the responses that were observed. In such cases, the missing data do not complicate analysis [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. Here, the observed data represent a random sample of the complete data, which, themselves, should be a random sample of the population data.

Data are considered "missing at random" when they are unrelated to the specific responses that, in principle, would have been observed but for the missingness of the individual, but *are* related to the set of observed responses [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. For example, if individuals who are most aggressive leave the sample more often as a result of death due to higher incidence of fatal fights, the data are "missing at random." An analysis of rates of aggression that does not correct for this will be biased (in this case, underestimating mean population rates of aggression). Incidentally, in such cases, analyses such a rmANOVA that are restricted to individuals with data at all measurement occasions will also be biased in exactly this way [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]—eliminating these individuals from the analysis does not solve the problem. To deal with this, the sample can be stratified by socalled "completers" and "non-completers," and non-completers' values are modeled based on their own observed values [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. When data are "missing at random," the likelihood-based methods used by LMEM and response profile analysis are still capable of providing unbiased estimates of the mean response though time as long as the model for the mean response and the withinsubject correlation (random effects structure and covariance, respectively) are correctly specified [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004].

Regardless of the missing data mechanism, missing data will result in a reduction in the precision of estimation of the mean response, and the more missing data, the less precise the estimation [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004], which may be important to consider when comparing groups with different degrees of missingness. In this sample, missingness was a problem of varying severity for each cohort. Model fitting was performed using PROC MIXED in SAS 9.2 according to the methods outlined in Singer and Willett for LMEMs [Singer and Willett 2003] and according to the methods in Fitzmaurice et al. [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004] for analysis of response profiles. For all models, the best model and the best fit variance structure were chosen using Akaike Information Criterion for small samples (AICc) [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004; Singer and Willett 2003]. The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) measures the amount of information in the data that is lost by fitting a given model, providing a relative measure of how well a given model fits the data compared to other models. The AIC is only a relative measure of fit and does not provide information about whether a model is a good or poor fit to the data. The AICc provides a correction for small sample sizes and was, therefore, used here. The advantage of the AICc over likelihood-ratio tests of model fit is that it can be used to compare models that are not nested—i.e., that are not subsets of one another [Singer and Willett 2003].

In order to assess the assumptions of fit LMEMs, the functional form assumptions, normality, and homoscedasticity were qualitatively examined after the protocol of Singer and Willett [2003]. The functional form assumptions for individual-level change were examined using ordinary least squares (OLS) estimated individual trajectories of change plotted against the individual data. The functional form assumptions for group-level change were examined using ordinary least squares estimates of individual growth parameters plotted against the predictors. Normal probability plots of the raw residuals were examined for substantial departures from normality, which is rather difficult to assess at such small sample sizes. The assumption of homoscedasticity was assessed by plotting raw residual values against the predictors.

In order to assess the assumptions of the fit response profile models, residual analysis and diagnostics were performed using Cholesky transformed residuals after the protocol outlined in Fitzmaurice et al. [2004]. The Cholesky decomposition transforms the residuals such that they have constant variance and zero correlation [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. The fit of the model for the mean response and the assumption of constant variance were tested by examining a scatterplot of transformed residuals versus the transformed predicted vales. If time was modeled, the model for the mean response was tested by examining a scatterplot of transformed residuals versus transformed time. The normality assumption was tested using normal probability plots of the transformed residuals. The fit of the model for variance was tested by examining a scatterplot of the transformed residuals versus the transformed predicted values. The fit of the model for variance was tested by examining a scatterplot of the transformed residuals versus transformed time. The normality assumption was tested using normal probability plots of the transformed residuals. The fit of the model for variance was tested by examining a scatterplot of the absolute values of the transformed residuals versus the transformed predicted values and versus transformed time. The Cholesky transformed residuals were output using the VCIRY option in PROC MIXED.

It should be noted that for most tests, the model assumptions were not wellmet, and the models were not particularly well-fitting. The residuals were rarely normally distributed and were usually skewed due to the high number of real zeros recorded for many behaviors (*e.g.*, rates of adult male aggression directed at adult females), as well being characterized by a "floor effect" of zero for behaviors that occur at low rates. Several transformations of the data for a number of variables were attempted, but had little ameliorative effect; due to the poor outcomes of attempted transformations and the large number of behavioral variables, the data

were left untransformed. Due to small sample sizes, it was not possible to fit more complex models that might have better described the temporal patterns of some variables. Therefore, the results of individual analyses should be considered cautiously. The specific models used to generate each result (and my confidence in them) are explicated with each result in the sections that follow.

Because LMEMs account for inter-individual variation, they should yield more precise estimates of group mean responses than RP models. Therefore, whenever an LMEM could be fit, its results are discussed. When the LMEM is not the best-fitting model according to the AICc, its results are discussed in conjunction with the results of the best fitting mean response profile model.

In some cases, the most complex LMEM that could be fit was one that allowed random individual intercepts (yearly means) but did not incorporate individual or group slopes. In other words, a test of sex differences in response across the year while accounting for inter-individual variation only in the starting value, but not accounting for individual variation in slope. I will refer to this type of model as the random intercepts LMEM. I will refer to LMEMs that incorporate both random individual intercepts and random individual slopes as linear LMEMs. Similarly, in some cases, the best fit response profile model was a simple model of group sex differences in mean response across the year, assuming no systematic change through time. This is equivalent to a single summary measure analysis in which the summary measures are the yearly group means (with a slope of zero), but appropriately accounts for correlation between repeated measurements on the same individuals, which summary measure analysis cannot do when the data are unbalanced due to missingness, as they are here [Fitzmaurice et al. 2004]. I will refer response profile models that assume no systematic change through time as mean RP models and those that characterize systematic change through time as linear (or quadratic) RP models.

In some cases, LMEMs could not be fit. This might occur for a number of reasons. LMEMs are more complex models than RP models because they are multilevel models (modeling both individual and group change through time) and because they are fit using a more complex variance structure (unstructured). In some cases, there may not have been enough observations to fit such a complex model. In other cases, there may have been too little interindividual or temporal variation to specify a non-zero variance or covariance model. In other cases, there may have too much intraindividual variation to fit a variance or covariance model. In these cases, I used the less complex RP models to interpret the data.

In these analyses, no particular outlying observations were thought to be due to an observation or recording error. The types of outliers usually seen were instances of high rates of behavior or high numbers of social partners compared to other individuals in a given month. Because these variables were calculated by summing individual events and records of specific individuals in proximity to a focal individual, these types of outlying observations could not derive from a single, random observational or data entry error. In investigating outliers, special attention was paid to the data from "non-completers." If an outlying individual was also a non-completer, careful consideration was given to whether the individual's values might be related to the reason it left the sample. Two adult males left the sample early in the observation year because they emigrated from their groups. Two adult females left the sample because they gave birth to infants. Many infants and one

juvenile left the sample due to death. If the two adult males were outliers, consideration was given to whether their values for the behavior under consideration may have been related to the process of emigration. If the two adult females were outliers, consideration was given to whether their values for the behavior under consideration may have been related to their nearing parturition. In the case of infants, so many of them were "non-completers" that the unusual individuals in the sample were really the "completers." In no case were there sufficient data to stratify the model by completers and non-completers. As previously discussed, removing individuals from analysis who are only "missing at random" does not solve the problem of bias in the analysis. Therefore, when "non-completers" were outlying in ways that were likely to bias analysis, this issue was explicitly discussed.

exhibited by the focal inc	lividual.			-unceutional demaylors are only
Behavior	Sampling type	Directionality	Behavior type	Definition
Alarm	scan	-inu	state	a state of extreme arousal and tense attention in response to perceived danger, immediately after alarm calling
Alarm call	scan	-inni-	state	yaps, barks, and/or shrieks [Pereira and Kappeler 1997] given to arboreal and terrestrial predators
Contact call	scan	-iuni-	event	tonal, mew-like monosyllable used in attempts to locate other individuals, or to respond to contact calls of others (includes "moan," "inflected moan," and "peep" of Pereira and Kappeler [1997]
Cry	scan	-inu	state	insistent, repeated contact calls used by infants when unaware of their mothers' locations
Defecate	scan	uni-	event	eliminate feces
Drink	scan	uni-	state	consume water
Feed/forage	scan	-inu	state	search for food, manipulate food, consumption of food, locomote within one tree crown while intermittently feeding or manipulating food objects, does not apply to nursing
Howl (bugle)	scan	-inu	event	loud long call issued by males that usually begins with a 'hiccup'

TABLE 3-1. Ethogram of behaviors used in continuous and scan sampling. Bi-directional behaviors can be directed by or toward the focal individual. Uni-directional behaviors are only

TABLE 3-1. Continued.				
Locomotor practice	scan	-inu	state	walking, jumping, standing, reaching, etc. without changing location by more than 1m
Mouth	scan	bi-	state	chew object within ingesting it, chew body parts (other than the nipple) of another individual
Move	scan	-inu	state	movement within a tree crown in a non-foraging context
Object play	scan	uni-	state	solitary play using an object, such as a leaf
Positional behavior	scan	-inu	state	non-resting, static positional behaviors such as stand, cling, bipedal stand, hang, etc.
Rest	scan	uni-	state	sitting or lying down with eyes open or closed
Scratch	scan	-inu	event	raking the nails or grooming claws repeatedly over the fur
Self-groom	scan	uni-	state	use tooth comb to repeatedly stroke fur of self
Solitary play	scan	-inu	state	play alone, involves jumping, climbing, hanging, rolling, etc.
Stare	scan	bi-	state	agonistic, steady, focused gaze at partner
Sun	scan	-inu	state	sit with ventral surface exposed to direction of sun
Thermoregulate	scan	uni-	state	repeatedly lick and salivate over hands
Travel	scan	-iun	state	movement between tree crowns or a longer distance than the diameter of an average tree crown; can involve multiple positional behaviors such as climbing, running, jumping, walking, etc.
Urinate	scan	uni-	event	excrete urine

Allogroom both Ano-genital mark both Anoint tail both	1			
Ano-genital mark both Anoint tail both		-10	state	use tooth comb to repeatedly stroke fur of another, often involves holding onto partner with hands
Anoint tail both	1 1	uni-	event	rub an object with the ano-genital region
		uni-	event	drag tail repeatedly between forearms, even if ante-brachial glands are not yet mature, 1 bout ≤ 5s
Attend to both		-inui	state	direct visual attention to for > 3 seconds; may be directed toward an individual, an object, or something unidentifiable by observer in distance
Avoid both		-iq	event	move around an individual, usually while attending to it, when passing it would be a more direct path; may also involve changing original direction upon seeing another individual
Bite both	ĺ	bi-	event	sudden motion involving oral contact, can be soft or hard
Charge both		bi-	event	sudden, aggressive burst of running toward an individual that ends abruptly as soon as the recipient runs away
Chase both	ι	bi-	event	running toward an individual that is simultaneously running away, aggressive
Cling both	ĺ	bi-	state	to be carried ventrally or remain in ventral carrying position without nipple contact
Cower both	ſ	bi-	event	lower the body in response to proximity of or threat by another individual, submissive submissive

_		-
1	C	
	Ā	
	ų	
	-	
	Ξ	
	2	
•	÷	
	÷.	
	è	
	٠.	
	С	
		,
C		
1		
		1
`	Ì	l
C	۴	1
1		ľ
r	+	
F	-	
		•
Þ		
,	~	•
L		
		RIF 3_1 Continued

TABLE 3-1. Continued.				
Cuff	both	bi-	event	use hand to aggressively swat or grab another individual (includes cuff-push of Pereira and Kappeler [1997])
Feint to cuff	both	bi-	event	raise hand aggressively toward another individual without making contact
Flee	both	bi-	event	run away from another individual, usually as a result of being charged or chased
Follow	both	bi-	state	walk behind an individual that has just walked away, maintaining proximity of <1m
Greet	both	bi-	event	groom partner for < 5s immediately after an approach to within reach
Huddle	both	bi-	state	postural behavior involving sitting in contact with another (or multiple) individual(s) who is (are) also sitting, involves a large amount of body contact, often ventral-dorsal contact; in young infants, distinguished from cling and ride in that the infant's body weight is largely supported by the substrate.
Jump fight	both	-inni-	event	aggressive encounter involving simultaneous vertical jumping
Jump play	both	-inu	event	simultaneous, stereotyped vertical jumping in the context of a play bout
Lick	both	bi-	state	repeatedly touch with tongue, may be directed toward another, self, or inanimate object

Look away/glance	both	bi-	state	look repeatedly toward and away from social partner; often accompanied by a chewing motion, agonistic
Lunge	both	bi-	event	sudden aggressive movement toward another individual with the front of the body while the hindlimbs maintain their position on the substrate
Mount	both	bi-	event	cling with hands and touch ventral surface of pelvis against another individual
Mount-thrust	both	bi-	event	mount another individual, followed by pelvic thrusting
Mutual groom	both	-inu	state	simultaneous allogrooming between two individuals
Nurse/nipple	both	bi-	state	resting with mouth on another's nipple; suckling motion may or may not be visible
Play chase	both	bi-	state	running after another individual that is running away during play for $\geq 3s$
Ride	both	bi-	state	to be carried dorsally by another individual as it moves, or to remain in a jockey position on another individual while it rests
Sniff	both	bi-	event	place nose ≤ 3 cm of an individual or object with apparent attention for ≥ 1 s and without subsequent foraging; can be directed toward objects, others' scent marks, other individuals, other's ano-genital regions

TABLE 3-1. Continued.				
Social play	both	-iun	state	play with another individual, involves rapid sequence changes of grappling, jumping, short play charges, etc. that are too short in duration to qualify as a more specific play type
Stink fight	both	-inu	event	simultaneous tail-marking and tail waving between two males, 1 bout $\leq 5s$
Supplant	both	bi-	event	approach another individual and immediately take its resting or feeding position, dominance
Tail play	both	-iun	event	anoint tail or tail wave in the context of a play bout, 1 bout $\leq 5s$
Tail wave	both	bi-	event	quiver tail over head toward another individual, 1 bout $\leq 5s$
Take food	both	bi-	event	remove food from another individual's hand or mouth
Threat	both	bi-	event	sharp, short aggressive vocalization toward another individual which results in submissive behavior by the target
Wrestle	both	uni-	state	grappling during play for $\geq 5s$
Wrist mark	both	-iuni	event	grasping a branch with a sterotyped, hyperflexed wrist posture, followed by a forceful rotation of wrist around the branch; results in scarring of branch is carpal spur is present
Wrist to pit	both	uni-	event	rub wrist against axillary region
Approach	continuous	bi-	event	move toward another individual to a distance ≤ 1 meter

ıed.
ntinu
Col
Ţ.
3-1.
LE 3-1.
ABLE 3-1.

Break contact	continuous	bi-	event	move out of contact with an individual while remaining within 1 meter
Leave	continuous	bi-	event	move > 1m from an individual who was previously < 1m away
Make contact	continuous	bi-	event	move from within proximity to physical contact with another individual, apparently unintentional tail contact excluded
Pass	continuous	bi-	event	move toward another individual to within proximity (or closer) and immediately move out of proximity without any overt social interaction
Passive contact	continuous	NA	state	describes two individuals whose bodies or limbs are in physical contact but are not engaged in overt social interaction, used when it is unclear which individual initiated contact, unintentional tail contact is not included
Passive within reach	continuous	NA	state	describes two individuals whose heads or bodies (but not tails or extended limbs) are $\leq 0.3m$ from each other, without other overt social interaction
Reject	continuous	bi-	event	push another away from a nursing or riding attempt, may involve a soft bite, vocalization, or a move away from infant without leaving the infant

Continued.	
ABLE 3-1 .	
H	

Observation			
month (adults			
and juveniles)			time
/ Age	ID	A /0	observed
(infants)	ID	Age/Sex	(hours)
0	ADF185	AD♀	1.5
0	ADF23	AD♀	0.5
0	ADF276	AD♀	2
0	ADM175	AD♂	3
0	ADM192	AD♂	1.5
0	ADM263	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	1
0	08F(154)	INF♀	5.5
0	08F(171)	INF♀	5.5
0	08F(176)	INF♀	3
0	08F(185)	INF♀	3.5
0	08F(214)	INF♀	5
0	08F(23)	INF♀	2
0	08F(268)	INF♀	1.5
0	08F(300)	INF♀	2.5
0	08F(328)	INF♀	6
0	08F(334)	INF♀	5.5
0	08F(364)	INF♀	4.5
0	08M(167)	INF	3.5
0	08M(172)	INF♂	2.5
0	08M(181)	INF♂	3.5
0	08M(183)	INF♂	6
0	08M(184)	INF♂	4
0	08M(321)	INF♂	5.5
0	08M(338)	INF♂	5.5
0	08M(368)	INF♂	4
0	08M(9)	INF♂	4.5
0	07F(9)	IUV♀	2.5
0	07F326	JUV♀	1.5
0	07F329	IUVΫ́	1.5
0	07F336	IUVS	3
0	07M(44)	IUVa	2
0	07M331	JUVa	1.5
		5 0	

TABLE 3-2. Individual samples by observation month for adults and juvenilesand by real age for infants.

0	07M335	JUV∂	1.5
1	06F325	AD♀	2
1	ADF167	AD♀	1
1	ADF207	AD♀	2
1	ADF23	AD♀	2
1	ADF235	AD♀	2.5
1	ADF276	AD♀	3
1	ADF334	AD♀	2
1	ADM175	AD^{\wedge}	2
1	ADM245	AD	3.5
1	ADM263	AD	4
1	ADM3/0P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	4
1	ADM4/0P	AD^{\wedge}	4
1	08F(137)	INF♀	3.5
1	08F(154)	INF♀	4
1	08F(171)	INF♀	3.5
1	08F(176)	INF♀	3.5
1	08F(185)	INF♀	3
1	08F(214)	INF♀	4
1	08F(217)	INF♀	0.5
1	08F(297)	INF♀	3
1	08F(297o)	INF♀	2
1	08F(300)	INF♀	4.5
1	08F(328)	INF♀	4
1	08F(364)	INF♀	3
1	08F(44)	INF♀	1.5
1	08M(167)	INF♂	4.5
1	08M(172)	INF♂	1.5
1	08M(181)	INF♂	3
1	08M(183)	INF♂	2
1	08M(184)	INF♂	2
1	08M(227)	INF♂	2
1	08M(234)	INF♂	1.5
1	08M(246)	INF♂	2.5
1	08M(319)	INF♂	3
1	08M(321)	INF♂	1.5
1	08M(9)	INF♂	5.5
1	07F(9)	JUV♀	3

1	07F 32 6	JUV♀	5.5
1	07F329	JUV♀	5
1	07F336	JUV♀	3.5
1	07M331	JUV∂	6
1	07M335	JUV♂	3.5
1	07M337	JUV∂	6.5
1	07M340	JUV♂	6.5
2	06F325	AD♀	4
2	ADF207	AD♀	3
2	ADF23	AD♀	3.5
2	ADF235	AD♀	4
2	ADF276	AD♀	3.5
2	ADM175	AD^{\uparrow}_{O}	4
2	ADM245	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	4
2	ADM263	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	3.5
2	ADM3/0P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	1
2	ADM4/0P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	0.5
2	ADM5/2P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	2.5
2	ADM7/1P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	1.5
2	08F(154)	INF♀	4
2	08F(171)	INF♀	4
2	08F(176)	INF♀	2
2	08F(185)	INF♀	2
2	08F(214)	INF♀	3
2	08F(300)	INF♀	5
2	08F(328)	INF♀	3
2	08F(44)	INF♀	3.5
2	08M(155)	INF♂	5
2	08M(234)	INF♂	3.5
2	08M(319)	INF♂	0.5
2	08M(9)	INF♂	3.5
2	07F(9)	JUV♀	4
2	07F326	JUV♀	3
2	07F329	JUV♀	4
2	07F336	JUV♀	4
2	07M331	JUV♂	3.5
2	07M335	JUV♂	4
2	07M337	JUV♂	4

2	07M340	JUV∂	4
3	06F305	AD♀	3
3	06F325	AD♀	2
3	ADF207	AD♀	2
3	ADF231	AD♀	0.5
3	ADF235	AD♀	3
3	ADF276	AD♀	3
3	ADM175	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	3.5
3	ADM245	AD	1.5
3	ADM263	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	3
3	ADM5/2P	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	2.5
3	ADM7/1P	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	2
3	08F(154)	INF♀	1.5
3	08F(214)	INF♀	2.5
3	08F(300)	INF♀	1
3	08F(328)	INF♀	2
3	08F(44)	INF♀	3
3	08M(234)	INF♂	2
3	08M(9)	INF♂	3.5
3	07F(9)	JUV♀	3
3	07F326	JUV♀	4.5
3	07F329	JUV♀	4
3	07F336	JUV♀	3
3	07M331	JUV∂	4.5
3	07M335	JUV♂	3
3	07M337	JUV∂	2
3	07M340	JUV∂	3
4	06F305	AD♀	3
4	06F325	AD♀	3
4	ADF207	AD♀	3.5
4	ADF235	AD♀	2.5
4	ADF276	AD♀	1.5
4	ADM175	AD	2.5
4	ADM245	AD	2.5
4	ADM263	AD	1.5
4	ADM5/2P	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	3
4	ADM7/1P	AD	3
4	08F(154)	INF♀	3.5

4	08F(214)	INF♀	3
4	08F(300)	INF♀	3
4	08F(328)	INF♀	4.5
4	08F(44)	INF♀	5
4	08M(155)	INF♂	4
4	08M(234)	INF♂	5
4	08M(9)	INF♂	4
4	07F(9)	JUV♀	3.5
4	07F 32 6	JUV♀	1.5
4	07F329	JUV♀	1.5
4	07F336	JUV♀	3.5
4	07M331	JUV♂	1.5
4	07M335	JUV∂	3.5
4	07M337	JUV♂	3.5
4	07M340	JUV♂	3
5	06F305	AD♀	4
5	06F325	AD♀	3.5
5	ADF207	AD♀	3
5	ADF235	AD♀	3.5
5	ADF276	AD♀	4.5
5	ADM175	AD	4
5	ADM245	AD	4.5
5	ADM263	AD	4.5
5	ADM5/2P	AD	3
5	ADM7/1P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	3
5	08F(154)	INF♀	3.5
5	08F(214)	INF♀	4.5
5	08F(300)	INF♀	5
5	08F(328)	INF♀	3
5	08F(44)	INF♀	1.5
5	08M(155)	INF♂	5
5	08M(234)	INF♂	1.5
5	08M(9)	INF♂	3
5	07F(9)	JUV♀	5.5
5	07F326	JUV♀	5
5	07F329	JUV♀	5
5	07F336	JUV♀	5.5

5	07M331	JUV♂	5
5	07M335	JUV♂	5
5	07M337	JUV♂	3.5
5	07M340	JUV♂	3
6	06F305	AD♀	1.5
6	06F325	AD♀	3
6	ADF207	AD♀	3
6	ADF235	AD♀	1
6	ADF276	AD♀	2
6	ADM175	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	1.5
6	ADM245	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	1.5
6	ADM263	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	2
6	ADM5/2P	AD	3
6	ADM7/1P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	3
6	08F(154)	INF♀	3.5
6	08F(300)	INF♀	4.5
6	08F(328)	INF♀	3.5
6	08F(44)	INF♀	4.5
6	08M(155)	INF♂	2
6	08M(234)	INF♂	4.5
6	08M(9)	INF♂	3
6	07F(9)	JUV♀	1.5
6	07F 32 6	JUV♀	2
6	07F329	JUV♀	2
6	07F336	JUV♀	1.5
6	07M331	JUV♂	2
6	07M335	JUV♂	1.5
6	07M337	JUV♂	3
6	07M340	JUV♂	3
7	06F305	AD♀	2.5
7	06F325	AD♀	3
7	ADF207	AD♀	2.5
7	ADF235	AD♀	3
7	ADF276	AD♀	4.5
7	ADM175	AD^{\checkmark}_{O}	2.5
7	ADM245	AD^{\checkmark}_{O}	3
7	ADM263	ADS	4.5

7	ADM5/2P	AD_{O}^{\uparrow}	3
7	ADM7/1P	AD	3
7	08F(154)	INF♀	3
7	08F(300)	INF♀	3
7	08F(328)	INF♀	3.5
7	08F(44)	INF♀	4
7	08M(155)	INF♂	4
7	08M(234)	INF♂	4
7	08M(9)	INF♂	4.5
7	07F(9)	JUV♀	3
7	07F326	JUV♀	4
7	07F329	JUV♀	4.5
7	07F336	JUV♀	3
7	07M331	JUV∂	4
7	07M335	JUV∂	3
7	07M337	JUV∂	3
7	07M340	JUV♂	3.5
8	06F305	AD♀	4.5
8	06F325	AD♀	2.5
8	ADF207	AD♀	3
8	ADF235	AD♀	4
8	ADF276	AD♀	3.5
8	ADM175	AD	4
8	ADM245	AD	4
8	ADM263	AD♂	3
8	ADM5/2P	AD	3
8	ADM7/1P	AD	3.5
8	08F(154)	INF♀	3.5
8	08F(300)	INF♀	3.5
8	08F(328)	INF♀	3.5
8	08F(44)	INF♀	5.5
8	08M(155)	INF♂	4
8	08M(9)	INF♂	2
8	07F(9)	JUV♀	1.5
8	07F326	JUV♀	3
8	07F329	JUV♀	3
8	07F336	JUV♀	4.5
TABLE 3-2. Continued.

8	07M331	JUV♂	3
8	07M335	JUV♂	4.5
8	07M337	JUV♂	4.5
8	07M340	JUV♂	3.5
9	06F305	AD♀	3
9	ADF207	AD♀	2.5
9	ADF235	AD♀	4
9	ADF276	AD♀	3
9	ADF334	AD♀	3.5
9	ADM175	AD♂	3.5
9	ADM245	AD♂	3
9	ADM263	AD♂	3
9	ADM5/2P	AD	2.5
9	ADM7/1P	AD♂	3
9	08F(154)	INF♀	4
9	08F(300)	INF♀	3
9	08F(328)	INF♀	5.5
9	08F(44)	INF♀	4
9	08M(155)	INF♂	5.5
9	08M(9)	INF♂	2
9	07F326	JUV♀	3.5
9	07F329	JUV♀	3.5
9	07F336	JUV♀	4
9	07M331	JUV♂	3.5
9	07M335	JUV∂	4
9	07M337	JUV♂	2
9	07M340	JUV∂	2.5
10	06F305	AD♀	3
10	ADF207	AD♀	5
10	ADF235	AD♀	3
10	ADF276	AD♀	3.5
10	ADF334	AD♀	4.5
10	ADM175	AD♂	3.5
10	ADM245	AD♂	3
10	ADM263	AD♂	3.5
10	ADM5/2P	AD♂	4
10	ADM7/1P	AD♂	4.5

TABLE 3-2. Continued.

10	0.8E(154)	INFO	35
10	00F(104)	INT +	J.J 4 F
10	08F(300)	INF¥ DIDO	4.5
10	08F(328)	INF♀	1.5
10	08M(155)	INFŐ	2
10	07F326	JUV♀	4
10	07F329	JUV♀	4.5
10	07F336	JUV♀	3.5
10	07M331	JUV♂	3.5
10	07M335	JUV∂	3.5
10	07M337	JUV♂	5
10	07M340	JUV∂	4.5
11	06F305	AD♀	1.5
11	ADF207	AD♀	1.5
11	ADF235	AD♀	1.5
11	ADF276	AD♀	1.5
11	ADF334	AD♀	1.5
11	ADM175	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	1.5
11	ADM245	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	1.5
11	ADM263	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	1.5
11	ADM5/2P	AD^{\wedge}	1.5
11	ADM7/1P	AD^{\wedge}_{O}	1.5
11	07F326	JUV♀	1.5
11	07F329	JUV♀	1.5
11	07F336	JUV♀	2
11	07M331	JUV∂	1.5
11	07M335	JUV♂	2
11	07M337	JUV♂	1.5
11	07M340	JUVŐ	1.5

CHAPTER 4: ADULT SEX DIFFERENCES

In this study, the behavior of individuals toward others is considered intrinsic to the individual and the behavior of others toward individuals is considered extrinsic to the individual. The purpose of this study is to pinpoint differences in extrinsic social factors that may be responsible for shaping the development of intrinsic adult behavioral sex differences. Achieving this goal requires several foundational steps. First, intrinsic adult behavioral sex differences must be identified. Second, in order to identify social factors that may drive the development of those adult sex-typed behaviors, the presence of sexual differentiation in those behaviors must be identified in subadults. This is because once gonadal maturation has occurred, it is presently impossible to determine, in a non-experimental setting, whether hormones or social interactions are more likely the cause of sexual differentiation, but before sexual maturation, gonadal hormone activation can be excluded as a confound. Third, extrinsic sex differences must be identified for subadults. Fourth, the temporal relationships between extrinsic and intrinsic sex differences in subadults must be qualitatively examined, and any extrinsic sex differences that postdate the development of intrinsic sex differences can be excluded as causal to intrinsic sex differences. This chapter presents results on tests of sex differences in adult patterns of agonism and affiliation toward others, patterns of proximity to others, expressions of interest in infants, and scent marking behavior.

Adult ring-tailed lemurs are female-dominant; females enjoy priority of access to food and resting places and are able to supplant adult males at will. They are more aggressive than males and are, on average, more spatially cohesive than males [Pereira 2002]. While adult behavioral sex differences in *Lemur catta* are

generally well-understood, quantifying them in this population allowed me to control for differences in detectable effect size that might be due to temporal variation, intraspecific variation, or statistical power and creates an appropriate benchmark against which to compare juvenile behavioral development in the present sample.

As mentioned in Chapter 3, when LMEMs were the best fitting models, only those results are presented. When they were not, the results of the best fitting RP model is also presented. In many cases, the results of the best fitting LMEM and RP models agree. When they did not, the data were explored qualitatively to make a decision about which results seemed most reasonable; my decision-making process is explained in those instances. Scatterplots of the data are provided to allow for visualization of the temporal trends and amount of variation present. Results of fit models are presented in tabular format for each variable including: model type, effect parameter estimates (intercept, time, sex, sex*time, etc.), standard errors, degrees of freedom, t-statistics, and p-values. P-values of <0.05 are considered significant and those between 0.10 and 0.05 are discussed as "tendencies." Throughout, positive parameter estimates for the effect of sex indicate that female values exceed male values, and negative parameter estimates for the effect of sex indicate that male values exceed female values.

AGONISM

Agonism subsumes aggressive, fearful, dominant, and submissive interactions. The agonistic behavioral events recorded in this study were: avoid, bite, charge, chase, cuff, feint to cuff, flee, jump fight, look away/glance, lunge, reject, stink fight, supplant, take food, and threat. Because "take food" was sometimes an expression of dominance and was at other times a behavior that mothers tolerated from their infants, this behavior was excluded from all analyses. "Reject" is an agonistic behavior that is mostly directed by mothers, who were not study subjects, toward infants, and is therefore not considered in the following analyses of adults. The following analyses investigate adult sex differences in the four types of intrinsic adult expressions of agonism in order to identify those that are quantifiably sexually differentiated: 1) aggression directed toward others, 2) fear of others, 3) nonaggressive dominance of others, and 4) submission to others. The individual behaviors that each type of agonism comprises are summarized in Table 4-1 and are listed at the beginning of each of the following subsections.

Aggression	Dominance	Submission	Fear
bite	supplant	avoid	flee
charge			
chase			
cuff			
feint to cuff			
jump fight			
look away/glance			
lunge			
stink fight			
threat			

 TABLE 4-1. Individual component behaviors of the four types of agonism.

 AGONISM

Aggression

Aggressive behaviors are the subset of agonistic behaviors that are active and overtly interactive. They are more energetically costly than less overtly aggressive forms of agonism, and they have more potential for aggressive escalation than less overtly aggressive forms of agonism. In this study, aggressive behaviors are: bite, charge, chase, cuff, feint to cuff, jump fight, look away/glance, lunge, stink fight, and threat. Analyses of aggression toward others were performed on monthly mean hourly rates of aggressive events.

Rates of Aggression toward others

An LMEM could not be fit. The best mean RP model indicates that females have significantly higher rates of aggression than males (Table 4-2). Qualitatively, it appears that adult female rates of aggression increase during the later part of the observation year, but given that the best fit model is a mean model and not a linear one, this temporal trend was not statistically significant.

 TABLE 4-2. RP model parameter estimates for rates of aggression in adult males and females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Aggression	mean RP	INT	0.22	0.09	16	2.39	0.03*
		SEX	0.30	0.13	16	2.34	0.03*

INT = α , the regression intercept.; when the parameter estimate for SEX is positive, $\mathcal{Q} > \mathcal{J}$, and vice versa; * p ≤ 0.05 . All tables follow these conventions.



Fig. 4-1. Adult rates of aggression toward others. Circle size and line thickness are weighted by number of repeated values. All figures of this type follow these conventions.

Considering aggression toward all others may obscure patterns of aggressive behavior toward specific age/sex classes. It is possible that adult males and females target different age/sex classes with their aggressive behavior. Therefore, adult sex differences in rates of aggression directed toward particular age/sex classes was also examined.

Aggression toward Adult Females

Because adult females exhibit higher rates of aggression overall than adult males, if both sexes exhibit their aggression toward others at random, adult females will exhibit higher rates of aggression toward particular age/sex classes as an artifact of their higher rates of aggression overall. Therefore, expected rates of aggression toward each age/sex class were calculated based on individual rates of aggression and the availability of members of each age/sex class. Deviations (abbreviated Dev in Tables) from those expectations were then calculated and used in analyses of aggression toward each age/sex class. Focal animals were all non-maternal adult females, but they could express aggression toward any adult female. The identities of the mothers of adults were unknown in this sample. Therefore, adult females to whom adult female subjects exhibited aggression could have been their mothers, sisters, aunts, etc., and may or may not have been carrying dependent offspring.

In these models, an intercept of zero indicates no bias either toward or away from exhibiting aggression to particular age/sex classes at the beginning of the observation year. A positive intercept indicates more aggression toward a particular age/sex class than expected at random, and a negative intercept indicates less than expected at random. In models that do not include a time effect, the intercept represents yearly mean values.

The best fit mean random intercept LMEM and mean RP models for the deviations from rates of aggression toward adult females expected if individuals randomly distributed their aggressive behavior across all group members reveals that the sexes do not differ from each other in their bias of aggression toward adult females. Rather, both sexes tend to exhibit slightly less aggression toward adult females than expected if their distribution of aggression were random (Table 4-3, Figure 4-2).

120

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Aggression to	random int.	INT	-0.09	0.05	16	-1.67	0.11
AF	LMEM	SEX	-0.04	0.08	103	-0.56	0.58
Dev Aggression to	mean RP	INT	-0.06	0.03	16	-1.94	0.07
AF		SEX	-0.06	0.04	16	-1.53	0.14

TABLE 4-3. Model parameter estimates for deviations of rates of aggressiontoward adult females.

AF = adult females; all tables follow this convention.



Fig. 4-2. Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward adult females.

It is surprising to see aggression by adult males toward adult females at all. Further investigation reveals that there were only eight observed instances of aggression directed by adult males toward adult females, and half of those instances were committed by a single male (263 from orange group). These aggressive events were not disproportionately directed at young females, but they were disproportionately directed at females who had not yet had an infant, which has been documented previously [Sauther et al. 1999]. It is possible that the three aggressive events directed at parous females by males were recording errors. Indicating "receipt" of a behavior by the focal individual required an extra keystroke, and it is possible that some of these data points represent a failure to register that keystroke—essentially, a typo. However, I do not think that this explains every aggressive event exhibited by adult males toward adult females, as I recall being surprised (rarely, but on more than one occasion) by witnessing aggression by male 263 toward group females. Nevertheless, this behavior was rare.

Aggression toward Adult Males

An LMEM could not be fit, but the best fit mean RP model indicates no sex difference in the deviations from rates of aggression toward adult males expected at random, and no evidence of bias of adult aggression either toward or away from adult males (Table 4-4, Figure 4-3).

 TABLE 4-4. RP model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of aggression toward adult males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Aggression	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.02	16	0.19	0.85
to AM		SEX	-0.05	0.03	16	-1.66	0.12

AM = adult males; all tables follow this convention.



Fig. 4-3. Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward adult males.

Aggression toward Juvenile Females

Juveniles are those in the cohort that were 12-23 months old during this study. An LMEM could not be fit, but according to the best fit mean RP model, there is no sex difference in the deviations from rates of aggression toward juvenile females expected at random, and no evidence of bias of adult aggression either toward or away from juvenile females (Table 4-5, Figure 4-4.).

 TABLE 4-5. RP model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of aggression toward juvenile females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Aggression	mean RP	INT	-0.01	0.00	16	-1.33	0.20
to JF		SEX	-0.01	0.01	16	-1.42	0.18

JF = juvenile females; all tables follow this convention.



Fig. 4-4. Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward juvenile females.

Aggression toward Juvenile Males

There is no sex difference in bias of aggression toward juvenile males

according to either the best fit random intercept LMEM or means RP models, and

no evidence that adults bias their aggression either toward or away from juvenile

males (Table 4-6, Figure 4-5).

TABLE 4-6. LMEM model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of aggression toward juvenile males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Aggression	random	INT	-0.01	0.03	16	-0.45	0.66
to JM	ınt. LMEM	SEX	0.02	0.04	103	0.66	0.51

JM = juvenile males; all tables follow this convention.



Fig. 4-5. Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward juvenile males.

Aggression toward Infants

Infants were the cohort individuals that were 0-11 months old during this study. Aggression toward this cohort was not analyzed separately according to sex because, after the first few months of study, the infant mortality pattern across study groups resulted in several female infants, but only a single male infant, being available to focal adults for social interaction. There is no sex difference in the deviations from rates of aggression toward infants expected at random according to either the best fit random intercepts LMEM or the mean RP models, and no evidence of bias of adult aggression either toward or away from infants (Table 4-7, Figure 4-6).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	random int.	INT	-0.02	0.03	16	-0.68	0.50
	LMEM	SEX	0.03	0.04	103	0.85	0.40
to INFs	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.01	16	-1.40	0.18
		SEX	-0.02	0.02	16	-1.40	0.18

 TABLE 4-7. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of aggression toward infants.

INFs= infants; all tables follow this convention.



Fig. 4-6. Deviations from expected rates of aggression toward infants.

Non-aggressive dominance

Non-aggressive dominance in this study is the behavior "supplant". This is not an overtly aggressive behavior and requires no physical contact, but, like taking priority of access to food while subordinate animals wait, it is an overt expression of dominance.

Rates of supplanting others

According to the best fit LMEM, there is a significant sex difference in mean rates of supplants, with adult females supplanting others more often than do adult males. The best fit mean RP model indicates a trend toward higher rates of supplants by adult females (Table 4-8, Figure 4-7).

 TABLE 4-8. Model parameter estimates for rates of supplanting others.

 Variable
 Madel

 Effect
 SE

 DE
 table

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	0.18	0.06	16	2.88	0.01*
Supplant	LMEM	SEX	0.20	0.09	103	2.37	0.02*
	mean RP	INT	0.16	0.04	16	3.81	0.002*
		SEX	0.11	0.06	16	1.78	0.09^{+}
* < 0.05 1		10					

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-7. Adult rates of supplanting others.

As with aggressive behavior, considering supplants toward all others may obscure patterns of supplanting of specific age/sex classes. Given female dominance in this species, it is probable that adult males and females target different age/sex classes with their expression of dominance. Therefore, adult sex deviations from rates of supplants expected if adults directed their supplants randomly across all available group members were also examined.

Supplanting Adult Females

An LMEM could not be fit. According to the best fit mean RP model, there is no sex difference in the deviations from rates of supplanting adult females expected at random, but a significant bias against supplanting adult females by both sexes (Table 4-9, Figure 4-8).

 TABLE 4-9. RP model parameter estimates for deviations from expected rates of supplanting adult females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.05	0.02	16	-3.20	0.006*
Supplant AF		SEX	0.03	0.02	16	1.64	0.12

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-8. Deviations from expected rates of supplants of adult females.

Supplanting Adult Males

An LMEM could not be fit. According the best fit mean RP model, adults differ significantly in their deviations from expected rates of supplanting adult males, with adult males biasing their expression of supplants more heavily toward adult males than adult females do. This significant sex difference justifies investigating the bias in rates of supplanting adult males for each sex independently. The best fit mean RP models indicate that adult males supplant adult males significantly more often than expected at random, but that adult females tend to supplant adult males less often than expected at random (Table 4-10, Figure 4-9).

			0				
Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Supplant	mean RP	INT	0.07	0.02	16	3.54	0.003*
AM		SEX	-0.06	0.03	16	-2.39	0.03*
AF (only) Dev Supplant AM	mean RP	INT	-0.03	0.02	9	-1.80	0.10†
AM (only) Dev Supplant AM	mean RP	INT	0.10	0.02	7	4.05	0.005*

 TABLE 4-10. RP model parameters estimates of deviations from expected rates of supplanting adult males.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-9. Deviations from expected rates of supplanting adult males.

Supplanting Juvenile Females

Adults were only observed to supplant juvenile females on three occasions. All were exhibited by adult females, but the rarity of this behavior obviates the possibility of a significant sex difference. An LMEM could not be fit. As expected, according the best fit mean RP model, there is no sex difference in the deviations from rates of supplanting juvenile females expected at random, but both sexes supplant juvenile females significantly less often than expected (Table 4-11, Figure 4-10).

 TABLE 4-11. RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of supplanting juvenile females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.01	0.00	16	-2.93	0.01*
Supplant JF		SEX	0.01	0.01	16	1.32	0.21
* $p \le 0.05; \dagger$	0.05	0.10					



Fig. 4-10. Deviations from expected rates of supplants of juvenile females. 131

Supplanting Juvenile Males

According the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP model, there is no sex difference in the deviations from rates of supplanting juvenile males expected at random, and no evidence for a bias either toward or away from supplanting juvenile males (Table 4-12, Figure 4-11).

 TABLE 4-12. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of supplants of juvenile males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Supplant · JM	random int.	INT	-0.01	0.01	16	-1.02	0.32
	LMEM	SEX	0.01	0.01	103	0.59	0.56
	mean RP	INT	-0.01	0.01	16	-1.65	0.12
		SEX	-0.01	0.01	16	-1.31	0.21



Fig. 4-11. Deviations from expected rates of supplants of juvenile males.

Supplanting Infants

According the best fit mean RP model, there is no sex difference in the deviations from rates of supplanting infants expected at random, but adults supplant infants less often than expected at random (Table 4-13, Figure 4-12).

TABLE 4-13. RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expectedrates of supplants of infants.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.00	16	-3.40	0.004*
Supplant INFs		SEX	0.00	0.01	16	-0.70	0.50
* $p \le 0.05$							



Fig. 4-12. Deviations from expected rates of supplants of infants.

Avoidance

Avoidance is a low-intensity submissive behavior in which a subordinate individual changes position in order to preclude interaction with a dominant individual. In that regard, "avoid" is a submissive behavior intrinsic to the focal individual rather than a response to an extrinsic behavior directed at the focal individual, as is the act of being supplanted by another individual.

Rates of Avoidance of Others

According to the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models, there is no significant difference between adult male and adult female rates of avoidance of others overall (Table 4-14, Figure 4-13).

	1						
Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Avoidance	random int.	INT	0.32	0.08	16	3.88	0.001*
	LMEM	SEX	-0.09	0.12	103	-0.79	0.43
	mean RP	INT	0.03	0.04	16	0.59	0.57
		SEX	0.04	0.06	16	0.72	0.48

TABLE 4-14. Model parameter estimates of rates of avoidance of others.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-13. Adult rates of avoidance of others.

Adult deviations from rates of avoidance of adult females expected at random

There is no sex difference in adult deviations from expected rates of avoidance of adult females at random according to the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models, and no evidence that adults avoid adult females more or less than expected at random (Table 4-15, Figure 4-14).

TABLE 4-15. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of avoidance of adult females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	0.03	0.06	16	0.53	0.60
Dev	LMEM	SEX	0.11	0.08	103	1.36	0.18
Avoid AF	mean RP	INT	-0.01	0.03	16	-0.51	0.61
		SEX	0.05	0.04	16	1.34	0.20



Fig. 4-14. Deviations from expected rates of avoidance of adult females.

Adult deviations from rates of avoidance of adult males expected at random

The best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models indicate no sex difference in the deviations from rates of avoidance of adult males expected at random, and no evidence that adults avoid adult males at non-random rates (Table 4-16, Figure 4-15).

TABLE 4-16. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates ofavoidance of adult males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Avoid AM	random int.	INT	0.03	0.05	16	0.54	0.59
	LMEM	SEX	-0.10	0.07	103	-1.57	0.12
	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.02	16	-1.50	0.15
		SEX	-0.02	0.02	16	-0.87	0.40



Fig. 4-15. Deviations from expected rates of avoidance of adult males.

Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile females



Adults were never observed to avoid juvenile females (Figure 4-16).

Fig. 4-16. Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile females.

Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile males

Only one adult male was ever observed to avoid a juvenile male. Both occasions of this behavior involved the same adult male/juvenile male dyad. The rarity of this behavior precludes the possibility of a statistically significant sex difference (Figure 4-17).



Fig. 4-17. Adult rates of avoidance of juvenile males.

Adult rates of avoidance of infants

One adult male was observed to avoid one infant female on one occasion when the infant female was nearly a year old. The infant female involved was a particularly precocious infant of the dominant female in the group who had learned early on that if she persistently, vocally protested her treatment by other individuals, her mother or another high ranking female would eventually come to her aid. The rarity of this behavior precludes the possibility of a statistically significant sex difference (Figure 4-18).



Fig. 4-18. Adult rates of avoidance of infants.

Fear

Fear is represented by the behavior "flee", which is a much more extreme and energetically costly form of submission than all others.

Rates of Fear of Others

While the boxplots of adult rates of fear of others suggest an increase through time, the scatterplots of individual data points do not suggest such a pattern. The best fit LMEM and RP models are a random intercepts model and mean model, respectively. They indicate no significant sex difference in the expression of fear of others (Table 4-17, Figure 4-19).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Fear	random int.	INT	0.41	0.11	16	3.60	0.002*
	LMEM	SEX	-0.10	0.16	103	-0.64	0.53
	mean RP	INT	0.15	0.04	16	3.72	0.002*
		SEX	-0.09	0.06	16	-1.57	0.14

TABLE 4-17. Model parameter estimates of rates of fear of others.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-19. Adult rates of fear of others.

As with all other agonistic behaviors, sex differences in the expression of fear toward specific age/sex classes may be present.

Fear of Adult Females

The best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models indicate no sex difference in the deviations from rates of fear of adult females expected at random. But according to the best fit random intercepts LMEM, adults of both sexes fear adult females more often than expected at random. In contrast, the best fit mean RP model indicates that both sexes express fear of adult females as expected at random (Table 4-18, Figure 4-20). A qualitative examination of individual ordinary least-squares (OLS) regressions suggest that most individuals tend to express fear of adult females a bit more than expected at random, but the effect does not seem to be very strong (Figure 4-21). I therefore accept a conservative interpretation that adults of both sexes express fear of adult females as expected at random.

Note that the individual OLS regressions do not include samples from individuals who were sampled for only one month, and therefore under-represent the data that are actually used by the LMEM and RP models. They do not appropriately account for within-subject correlation, and they are not used in any of the analyses presented herein. LMEM uses maximum-likelihood methods to estimate individual slopes and intercepts, and RP models do not consider individual slopes and intercepts. Individual OLS regressions are only used here as a way to qualitatively assess and visualize individual longitudinal trends, as suggested by Singer and Willett [2003].

	ical of addit females.							
Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р	
Dev Fear of AF	random int.	INT	0.16	0.07	16	2.14	0.05*	
	LMEM	SEX	0.02	0.10	103	0.19	0.85	
	mean RP	INT	0.03	0.03	16	1.06	0.31	
		SEX	0.00	0.04	16	-0.06	0.95	
* $p \le 0.05$								

 TABLE 4-18. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of fear of adult females.



Fig. 4-20. Deviations from expected rates of fear of adult females.



Fig. 4-21. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected rates of fear of adult females.

Fear of Adult Males

Both the best fit random intercepts LMEM and RP model indicate no sex difference in deviations from expected rates of fear of adult males at random, but that adults of both sexes fear adult males less often than expected at random (Table 4-19, Figure 4-22).

TABLE 4-19. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates offear of adult males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	-0.10	0.04	16	-2.46	0.03*
Dev Fear	LMEM	SEX	-0.01	0.06	103	-0.11	0.91
of AM	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.01	16	-2.91	0.01*
		SEX	0.01	0.02	16	0.75	0.46

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-22. Deviations from expected rates of fear of adult males.

Fear of Juvenile Females, Juvenile Males, and Infants

Adults were never observed to fear juvenile females, juvenile males, or infants.

Discussion – Agonism

The following tables summarize tests of adult sex differences in agonistic behavior, and tests of adult patterns of bias in their agonistic behavior toward particular age/sex classes. Only statistically significant results are presented; empty cells represent results of no statistical significance. In general, adults exhibit few sex differences in their expression of agonistic behavior (Table 4-20). They are limited to: adult females exhibiting more aggression (Table 4-21), adult females supplanting others more often (Table 4-21), and males concentrating their supplanting behavior on other adult males while females did not (Table 4-21). These results are consistent with expectations for a female dominant species, as are other results (that are not sex-typed), such as both sexes exhibiting more fear of adult females, fewer supplants of adult females, and less fear of adult males than expected at random. It should be noted that although females are more aggressive than males on average, there is a great deal of overlap and a high degree of inter- and intra-individual variation in both overall rates of agonism and overt aggression throughout the year.

Qualitatively, it appears that there may be a tendency for female aggression to increase at the end of the observation year (Figure 4-1). If so, this could be due to the fact that the rainy season has ended by that time and resource availability during that season declines (Figure 4-23). Increased intra-group aggression during times of resource uncertainty is consistent with data from captive experimentation [Rosenblum 1987].

TABLE 4-20. Summary of sex differences in overall rates of agonism.

Intrinsic			
Agonistic	Sex		
Behavior	Difference	Time ef	ffects
Aggression	♀ +	•	•
Supplant	♀ +	•	•
Avoid		•	•
Fear	•	•	•

For Sex Difference:

+ indicates significantly more than the opposite sex;

· indicates no significant difference.

For Time effects:

· indicates no temporal effect.

Intrinsic	Partner	Sex-ty	ped				
Agonistic Bias	type	bias	bias		Time effects		
Aggression	AF	•	•	•	•		
Aggression	AM	•	•	•			
Aggression	JF	•	•	•			
Aggression	JM	•	•	•			
Aggression	INFs	•	•	•			
Supplant	AF	Ŷ -	8 –	•			
Supplant	AM	•	3 +	•			
Supplant	JF	Ŷ -	3 –	•			
Supplant	JM	•	•	•			
Supplant	INFs	Ŷ -	3 –	•			
Avoid	AF	•	•	•			
Avoid	AM	•	•	•			
Fear	AF	Q +	3 +	•			
Fear	AM	Ŷ -	8 -	•	•		

TABLE 4-21. Summary of sex differences in bias of agonism toward each partner age/sex class.

For Sex-typed bias:

+ indicates significantly more than expected at random;

- indicates significantly less than expected at random;

 \cdot indicates no significant difference from that expected at random.

For Time effects:

· indicates no temporal effect.



Fig. 4-23. Annual resource availability and precipitation at Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve [Sauther and Cuozzo 2009].

AFFILIATION

Grooming

Grooming is the only overt form of affiliation in *Lemur catta* besides play, of which adults engage in very little. The amount of time spent grooming another individual includes the amount of time spent allogrooming and mutual grooming with that individual.

Time spent grooming

The best fit random intercepts LMEM indicates a significant sex difference in the amount of time adults spend engaged in grooming others, but the best fit mean intercept response profile model does not (Table 4-22, Figure 4-24). Plots of individual OLS regressions are somewhat suggestive that, on average, adult females may spend more time grooming than adult males (Fig. 4-25). Plots of individual yearly means are clearly suggestive that, as a group, adult females spend more time on average over the course of the year grooming others (Fig. 4-26). Taken together,
these results suggest that adult females spend more time grooming others than adult males, but remain inconclusive. Because I generally prefer the results of LMEMs to RP models, I tentatively accept the interpretation that adult females spend more time grooming others than adult males, but not that there is a great deal of variation in grooming times as well as overlap between the sexes.

There is one non-completer male and one non-completer female that have very unusual individual OLS regressions, suggesting that they are outliers (Figure 4-27). But the individual values at each month belonging to those individuals are not outlying and they should not, therefore, unduly influence either type of analysis (the random intercepts LMEM does not consider inter-individual variation in slopes).

TABLE 4-22. Model parameter estimates of time spent grooming others.VariableModelEffectestSEDFtp

vallable	Model	Ence	Col	512	$D\Gamma$	ι	Р
Grooming	random int.	INT	0.84	0.18	16	4.57	0.0003*
	LMEM	SEX	0.53	0.26	103	2.03	0.05*
	mean RP	INT	0.56	0.14	16	4.09	0.0009*
		SEX	0.11	0.19	16	0.60	0.56



Fig. 4-24. Adult time spent grooming others.



Fig. 4-25. Ordinary least squares regressions of individual time spent grooming others.



Fig. 4-26. Individual annual means of time spent grooming others. Dots represent individual monthly means; lines represent individual annual means. All figures of this type follow these conventions.



Fig. 4-27. Individual adult time spent grooming: males (upper left); male outlier (upper right); females (lower left); female outlier (lower right).

Grooming Adult Females

According to the best fit random intercepts LMEM and RP models, there is no significant sex difference in the deviations from time spent grooming adult females expected if individuals' grooming were randomly distributed across all available group members and no indication that adults bias their grooming time toward or away from adult females (Table 4-23, Figure 4-28). In order to control for any differences in overall time spent grooming, the following analyses of grooming time are of deviations from expectations of grooming time per age/sex class if an

individual's grooming were distributed randomly across all group members.

 TABLE 4-23. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming adult females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
D	random int.	INT	0.05	0.06	16	0.74	0.47
Dev	LMEM	SEX	0.07	0.09	103	0.74	0.46
AF	mean RP	INT	0.04	0.07	16	0.65	0.52
		SEX	0.06	0.10	16	0.64	0.53



Fig. 4-28. Deviations from expected time spent grooming adult females.

Grooming Adult Males

According to both the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP model, there is a significant sex difference in the deviations from time spent grooming adult males expected at random, in which adult females bias their grooming time away from adult males more than adult males do (Table 4-24, Figure 4-29). When analyzed separately by sex, both the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP model indicate that adult females spend significantly less time grooming adult males than expected at random, while the best fit RP model indicates that adult males groom adult males as expected at random (Table 4-24).

 TABLE 4-24. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
D	random int.	INT	0.02	0.07	16	0.26	0.80
Dev	LMEM	SEX	-0.38	0.10	103	-3.76	0.0003*
AM	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.04	16	-0.98	0.34
		SEX	-0.20	0.06	16	-3.28	0.005*
AF Dev	random int.	INT	-0.36	0.08	9	-4.46	0.002*
Groom	LMEM						
AM	mean RP	INT	-0.23	0.04	9	-6.21	0.0002*
AM Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.01	7	-1.60	0.15
Groom							
AM							
* $p \le 0.05$							



Fig. 4-29. Deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males.

Grooming Juvenile Females

There is no significant sex difference in deviations from grooming time focused on juvenile females expected at random according to the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models (Table 4-25, Figure 4-30). The best fit mean RP model indicates that adults spend less time grooming juvenile females than expected at random, but the best fit random intercepts LMEM finds no difference from random expectation (Table 4-25).

 TABLE 4-25. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	-0.04	0.03	16	-1.40	0.18
Dev	LMEM	SEX	-0.02	0.04	103	-0.43	0.67
Groom JF	mean RP	INT	-0.03	0.01	16	-2.37	0.03*
		SEX	0.01	0.02	16	0.93	0.37



Fig. 4-30. Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females.

Grooming Juvenile Males

An LMEM could not be fit. As with adult grooming of juvenile females, there is no significant sex difference in deviations from expected at random in time spent grooming juvenile males according to the best fit RP model, but both sexes of adults spend less time grooming juvenile males than expected at random (Table 4-26, Figure 4-31).

 TABLE 4-26. RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of grooming juvenile males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Groom	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.01	16	-2.47	0.03*
JM		SEX	-0.01	0.01	16	-0.97	0.35



Fig. 4-31. Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males.

Grooming Infants

Recall that adult females are those without dependent infants, such that these analyses are of adult females grooming infants not their own. Analyses of the deviations from time spent grooming infants expected at random are unclear. An LMEM could not be fit. The best fitting mean and linear RP models indicate no sex difference in deviations from time spent grooming infants expected at random, but the less well-fitting quadratic RP model indicates a significant sex difference, a significant time² effect, and significant sex*time interaction and sex*time² interaction (Table 4-27, Figure 4-32). In this model, females bias their grooming more toward infants than males, but their grooming bias toward infants decreases with time and increases very slightly with time².

Separate analyses by sex do not clarify the issue (Table 4-27). According to the best fit random intercepts LMEM, adult males do not bias their grooming toward or away from infants, but according to the best fit mean RP model, they groom infants significantly less than expected at random. According to the best fit mean RP model, adult females groom infants significantly less than expected at random, although very slightly. An examination of the individual OLS regressions and individual yearly means does not support the interpretation that females, on average, groom infants less than expected at random (Figure 4-33). Indeed, the scatterplots of deviations from expected values at random (Figure 4-32), the plots of individual OLS regressions (Figure 4-33), and the yearly mean values of those deviations (Figure 4-34) all suggest that adult males and adult females do have different patterns of deviations from values of grooming infants expected at random. At least some adult females appear to strongly biasing their grooming time toward infants in the first half of the year, but return to levels expected at random during the second half. Perhaps a better model to describe the underlying pattern present here would be some sort of discontinuous change model, but such models are too complex to fit to these particular data.

Variable	Model	Effort	ing in	CE	DE	+	~
Vallable	Model	Effect	est	3E	DF	ι	р
Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.02	16	-2.51	0.02*
Groom		SEX	0.00	0.02	16	0.06	0.95
INFs	linear RP	INT	-0.04	0.06	16	-0.62	0.54
		SEX	0.04	0.09	16	0.47	0.64
		TIME	0.00	0.01	101	-0.02	0.98
		SEX*TIME	0.00	0.01	101	-0.47	0.64
	quad RP	INT	0.02	0.12	16	0.18	0.86
		SEX	0.38	0.17	16	2.21	0.04*
		TIME	-0.02	0.03	99	-0.67	0.50
		SEX*TIME	-0.10	0.05	99	-2.24	0.03*
		$TIME^2$	0.00	0.00	99	0.73	0.47
		SEX*TIME ²	0.01	0.00	99	2.13	0.04*
AM Dev	random int. LMEM	INT	-0.02	0.03	7	-0.87	0.41
Groom INFs	mean RP	INT	-0.03	0.01	7	-3.17	0.02*
AF Dev Groom INFs	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.01	9	-2.78	0.02*

 TABLE 4-27. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming infants.



Fig. 4-32. Deviations from expected time spent grooming infants.



Fig. 4-33. Ordinary least squares regressions of individual time spent grooming infants.



Individual adult female deviations from time spent Grooming Infants expected at random



Fig. 4-34. Individual annual mean values of deviations from expected time spent grooming infants.

In cases where overall time engaged in a behavior differs between the sexes, it is not useful to examine raw time engaged in that behavior with particular age/sex classes, because those times are not controlled in any way for overall sex differences. Here, because the results of some grooming analyses are unclear (including overall time grooming), analyses of raw time spent grooming particular age/sex classes may help to clarify grooming biases. According to all best fit analyses of absolute time spent grooming others (rather than deviations from expectations at random), there are no sex differences in absolute grooming time directed toward particular age sex/classes except with respect to infants. Adult females groom non-filial infants significantly more than adult males do, but less as infants age (Table 4-28). In fact, many adult females spend no time grooming infants from January onward (Figure 4-35).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
/ T '	random int.	INT	0.40	0.11	16	3.50	0.003*
Time	LMEM	SEX	0.18	0.16	103	1.13	0.26
AF	mean RP	INT	0.15	0.07	16	2.18	0.04*
		SEX	-0.02	0.09	16	-0.19	0.85
F=1	random int.	INT	0.27	0.07	16	4.10	0.0008*
Time	LMEM	SEX	-0.14	0.09	103	-1.52	0.13
AM	mean RP	INT	0.28	0.07	16	3.79	0.002*
		SEX	-0.15	0.10	16	-1.44	0.17
Time	mean RP	INT	0.02	0.02	16	1.27	0.22
Groom JF		SEX	0.02	0.03	16	0.71	0.49
Time	mean RP	INT	0.07	0.04	16	1.87	0.08^{+}
Groom IM		SEX	0.03	0.05	16	0.57	0.57
<u></u>	linear RP	INT	0.14	0.11	16	1.29	0.22
Time		SEX	1.02	0.16	16	6.55	<.0001*
Groom INFs		TIME	-0.02	0.01	101	-1.32	0.19
		SEX*TIME	-0.12	0.02	101	-6.44	<.0001*

 TABLE 4-28. Model parameter estimates of absolute time spent grooming others, by age/sex class.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-35. Adult absolute time spent grooming infants.

Summary and Discussion – Grooming

The following tables summarize tests of adult sex differences in affiliative behavior, and tests of adult patterns of bias in their affiliative behavior toward particular age/sex classes. Only statistically significant results are presented; empty cells represent results of no statistical significance. Equivocal results are indicated with a question mark (?).

Some analyses indicate that adult females groom more than adult males overall (Table 4-29). What is clear is that adult females bias their grooming away from adult males and toward infants (but only toward infants when infants are young), while adult males do not. These results, combined with the uncertainty about whether adult females groom more than adult males overall, suggests that any sex difference in overall time spent grooming is probably driven mostly by higher time spent grooming infants by adult females. Interestingly, other than a female preference for young infants, adults of both sexes groom subadults very little, and adult females groom members of the infant cohort very little after they are 5-6 months old (Table 4-30). Although I refer to them here as "infants" for clarity (because analyses were performed on the cohort across the entire year), members of the infant cohort are technically no longer infants after approximately 6 months old, when they are weaned and transition to juvenility. In other words, only actual infants are of interest to non-maternal adult females. Adult females exhibit no particular interest in grooming non-filial juveniles of any age, regardless of whether they are young (members of that year's infant cohort) or old (members of the previous year's infant cohort).

It is possible that individual females preferred particular infants as grooming partners, that those particular infants left the sample due to disappearance, and that this explains the temporal pattern apparent in adult female grooming of non-filial infants. Further testing of this dataset may be able to address this alternative explanation. However, previous research indicates that mother-infant pairs are of great interest to other group members, more so than either infants or mothers alone [Nakamichi and Koyama 2000], so I suspect that the real effect captured here is that adult females lose interest in infants once they are fully independent.

TADIT	4 00	0	c	1100	•	11	. •		•	
	/I '70	Summany	OT COV	dittoroncoc	111	OVATA	timo	cnont	aroomin.	\mathbf{r}
IADLE		Summary	UI SUA	unicicicus	111	UVCIAII		SUCHU	PIOUIIII	Υ.
									A	- T

Intrinsic affiliative	Sex	Time					
behavior	Difference	effects					
Grooming overall	♀ + ?	•	•				
Sex difference: + significantly greater							
? ea	quivocal resul	t					
· no	o difference						
Time effects: • no	effect						

TABLE 4-30. Summary of sex differences in bias of grooming of each partner age/sex class.

Intrinsic									
Affiliative Bias	Partner type	Sex-typ	oed bias	Time ef	fects				
Grooming	AF	•	•	•	•				
Grooming	AM	Ŷ -	•	•	•				
Grooming	JF	•	•		•				
Grooming	JM	•	•	•	•				
Grooming	INFs	Q +	•	Ŷ -	•				
Sex-typed bias:	+ significantly mo	re than e	expected a	t random					
	- significantly less	s than ex	pected at	random					
	· no difference fr	om expe	ected at ra	ndom					
Time effects: –	Time effects: – decrease with time								
	no effect								

PROXIMITY PATTERNS

One way in which adults have been suggested to differ by sex is in their proximity patterns [Pereira 2002]. It is uncertain whether proximity patterns can fairly be considered intrinsic patterns of association, given that proximity is at least theoretically determined by all individuals' spacing choices. However, it is also not clear that it should be considered extrinsic to the individual, as the individual should be at least partially in control of its proximity to others. Global measures of proximity are investigated here with the acknowledgement that they may not be fully intrinsically determined. If important sex differences are found, future work can focus on disentangling responsibility for those sex-typed patterns.

Proximity patterns here are quantified along two dimensions—average number of individuals in proximity per scan and average time (number of scans) spent in proximity. These measures are derived from instantaneous data in which proximity to all group members within 3 meters was recorded. These measures are irrespective of activity and reflect only spatial relationships to others.

Number of neighbors in proximity

Neighbors in Contact

An LMEM could not be fit. A qualitative examination of the boxplots and scatterplots of the data suggests that there are some interesting temporal trends within each sex, but the best fit RP model according the AICc is a mean RP model, and independent analyses by sex also are best fit by random intercepts and mean models (Table 4-31). Regardless, both the best fit mean RP model and the next best-fitting linear RP model indicate a significant sex difference in the average number of neighbors in contact per scan, with females having more neighbors in contact per scan, with females having more neighbors in contact per scan than males (Table 4-31, Figure 4-36). Additionally, the linear RP model finds a significant sex*time interaction effect, in which the sex difference decreases through time (Table 4-31). An investigation of the individual OLS regressions for this variable indicates an outlying non-completer female (#23) who has high numbers of neighbors in contact per scan but who left the dataset due to having an infant (Figure 4-37). It is possible that this individual's values are high due to her pregnant condition and that she does not well-represent non-maternal females' patterns of proximity at this time. But this female was not removed from this or subsequent

analyses for several reasons. First, only the second of her three monthly values was outlying (Figure 4-38), and several other females who did not have unusually high numbers of neighbors also left the sample due to having an infant, suggesting that there is nothing about the pre-parturient state that induced her high numbers of neighbors in one month. Second, removing her from the analysis does not change the results (Table 4-32), indicating that she, alone, is not responsible for the significant sex difference here.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
# neighbors	mean RP	INT	0.06	0.01	16	4.28	0.0006*
in contact		SEX	0.05	0.02	16	2.71	0.02*
# neighbors	linear RP	INT	0.03	0.03	16	0.92	0.37
in contact		TIME	0.01	0.00	101	1.36	0.18
		SEX	0.14	0.04	16	3.27	0.005*
		SEX*TIME	-0.02	0.01	101	-2.22	0.03*
# neighbors	random int.	INT	0.22	0	9.00	4.42	0.002*
in contact	LMEM						
AF	mean RP	INT	0.05	0	9.00	4.54	0.001*
# neighbors	mean RP	INT	0.03	0	7.00	5.14	0.001*
in contact							
AM							

 TABLE 4-31. Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in contact.



Fig. 4-36. Adult average number of neighbors in contact per scan.



Fig. 4-37. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of number of neighbors in contact per scan.





Average number of neighbors in contact per scan - ADF23



Fig. 4-38. Adult female average number of neighbors in contact per scan (top) and values from an outlying female (below).

 TABLE 4-32. RP model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in contact with adults with individual ADF23 removed from the analysis.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
# neighbors	mean RP	INT	0.06	0.01	16	4.28	0.0006*
in contact		SEX	0.05	0.02	16	2.71	0.02*
# neighbors	mean RP	INT	0.06	0.01	15	4.07	0.001*
in contact -		SEX	0.06	0.02	15	2.88	0.01*
ADF23							

Neighbors within Reach

The best fit random intercepts LMEM indicates a significant sex difference in the average number of neighbors within reach, with females having more neighbors within reach than males (Table 4-33, Figure 4-39). The best fitting mean RP model indicates no sex difference. As in most instances of disagreement between the LMEM and RP models, I preferentially accept the LMEM results because this type of analysis at least partially accounts for inter-individual differences.

 TABLE 4-33. Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in reach.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	0.10	0.16	16	0.61	0.55
# neighbors	LMEM	SEX	0.52	0.22	103	2.37	0.02*
in reach	mean RP	INT	0.08	0.03	16	3.05	0.008*
		SEX	-0.06	0.04	16	-1.68	0.11



Fig. 4-39. Average number of neighbors within reach.

Neighbors in 3m

Both the best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models indicate a significant sex difference in the average number of neighbors within 3m, in which adult females, on average, have more neighbors within 3m than adult males (Table 4-34, Figure 4-40).

TABLE 4-34. Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors within 3meters.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	1.73	0.14	16	12.19	<.0001*
# neighbors	LMEM	SEX	0.72	0.20	103	3.63	0.0004*
in 3m	mean RP	INT	1.50	0.10	16	14.78	<.0001*
		SEX	0.50	0.14	16	3.51	0.003*



Fig. 4-40. Average number of neighbors within 3 meters.

Time in proximity

Time in Contact with Others

An LMEM could not be fit. The best fit linear RP model indicates a significant sex difference in the number of scans per hour spent in contact, with females spending more time in contact with others than males, as well as a significant sex*time interaction in which this sex difference decreases through time (Table 4-35). Analyses by sex indicate that this is due to an increase in contact time for adult males as the year progresses. Qualitatively, it appears that there are complex temporal patterns of time spent in contact for adult females that are not well-captured by these analyses (Figure 4-41).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Time in	linear RP	INT	0.44	0.43	16	1.01	0.33
contact		SEX	2.63	0.61	16	4.28	0.0006*
		TIME	0.14	0.07	101	1.89	0.06†
		TIME*SEX	-0.32	0.11	101	-3.03	0.003*
AF Time in	mean RP	INT	1.50	0.20	9	7.35	<.0001*
contact							
AM Time in	linear RP	INT	0.16	0.11	7	1.44	0.19
contact		TIME	0.15	0.03	51	4.59	<.0001*

 TABLE 4-35. Model parameter estimates of time in contact with others.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-41. Average time in contact with others.

Time within Reach of Others

The most complex LMEM that could be fit was a random intercepts LMEM, which indicates a significant sex difference in time spent within reach of others, with females spending more time within reach of others than males (Table 4-36). The best fit linear RP model also indicates a significant sex difference with females spending more time within reach of others overall, and a significant sex*time interaction (Table 4-36). Analyses by sex indicate that this is because adult females spend a great deal more time within reach of others at the beginning of the observation year, but less as the observation year progresses, while males exhibit no temporal change (Table 4-36, Figure 4-42).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	1.54	1.20	16	1.29	0.22
	LMEM	SEX	4.39	1.62	103	2.72	0.008*
Time in	linear RP	INT	1.72	0.58	16	2.96	0.009*
reach		SEX	4.10	0.84	16	4.88	0.0002*
		TIME	0.00	0.07	101	0.00	1.00
		TIME*SEX	-0.43	0.10	101	-4.46	<.0001*
AF	linear LMEM	INT	7.35	1.43	9	5.14	0.0006*
Time in		TIME	-0.31	0.10	50	-3.05	0.004*
reach	linear RP	INT	6.06	0.61	9	10.00	<.0001*
		TIME	-0.47	0.08	50	-6.15	<.0001*
AM	random int.	INT	1.62	0.28	7	5.70	0.0007*
Time in	LMEM						
reach	mean RP	INT	1.61	0.31	7	5.26	0.001*

 TABLE 4-36. Model parameter estimates of time spent in reach of others.

* p ≤ 0.05 ; † 0.05 \leq 0.10



Fig. 4-42. Average time within reach of others.

Time within 3m of Others

The best fit quadratic LMEM indicates that females tend to spend more time within 3m of others than males (Table 4-37). There is also a tendency for both sexes to spend more time within 3m of others as the observation year progressed. These results were confirmed by the best fit linear RP model, which indicated significant positive effects of sex (females) and time on the amount of time spent within 3m of others (Table 4-37, Figure 4-43).

		01 011	1015.				
Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	quad LMEM	INT	11.87	1.58	16	7.50	<.0001*
		SEX	3.82	2.18	87	1.75	0.08^{+}
		TIME	-0.48	0.47	12	-1.02	0.33
Time in		SEX*TIME	-0.08	0.67	87	-0.12	0.91
		$TIME^2$	0.07	0.04	87	1.87	0.07†
3m		SEX*TIME ²	-0.01	0.06	87	-0.10	0.92
	linear RP	INT	10.34	1.18	16	8.73	<.0001*
		SEX	4.00	1.63	16	2.45	0.03*
		TIME	0.35	0.12	101	2.89	0.005*
		TIME*SEX	-0.10	0.17	101	-0.58	0.56

 TABLE 4-37. Model parameter estimates of number of time within 3 meters of others.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-43. Average time within 3 meters of others.

Time within 5m of others (inclusive)

This measure is all-inclusive. If an individual had no neighbors within 5m, it was considered not to have any neighbors at all. Both the best fit linear LMEM and RP models indicate that females spend significantly more time than males within 5m of others, and that both sexes spend significantly more time within 5m of others as the observation year progressed (Table 4-38). In other words, adult males spend significantly more time alone than adult females, and both sexes spend less time alone as the observation year progresses (Figure 4-44).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
linear LMEM	linear	INT	12.94	1.53	16	8.48	<.0001*
	LMEM	SEX	4.86	2.08	89	2.34	0.02*
	TIME	0.62	0.12	12	5.24	0.0002*	
Time in		SEX*TIME	-0.24	0.17	89	-1.42	0.16
5m	linear RP	INT	12.90	1.60	16	8.07	<.0001*
		SEX	4.89	2.17	16	2.25	0.04*
		TIME	0.64	0.11	101	6.02	<.0001*
		TIME*SEX	-0.23	0.15	101	-1.50	0.14

 TABLE 4-38. Model parameter estimates of number of time within 5 meters of others.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-44. Average time within 5 meters of others.

Deviations from random proximity to other age/sex classes

Given that females had more neighbors than males at all distances and spent more of their time in proximity to others at all distances, females were also more likely to be more often and in closer proximity to each age/sex class. To assess whether adults exhibited a bias toward or away from proximity to particular age sex classes, I calculated deviations from rates of proximity with each age/sex class expected at random given the amount of time an individual spent in proximity to others and conducted tests of sex differences in those deviations.

Contact with Adult Females

The best fit random intercepts LMEM indicates no sex difference in the deviations from rates of contact with adult females expected at random, but the best fit mean RP model indicates a significant sex difference, with females biasing their time more heavily toward contact with other females than do males (Table 4-39). Qualitatively, it appears that adult males and females have reversed patterning of bias toward contact time with adult females, with adult females showing a bias toward contact time with them at the beginning of the observation year that decreases with time and adult males showing a bias toward contact time with adult females at the end of the observation year (Figure 4-45). Analyses by sex bear this out—the best fit models for adult females indicate either that adult females bias their contact time toward adult females or that they bias their time toward adult females but that they do so less as time progresses, while adult males tend to bias their contact time slightly away from adult females overall (Table 4-39). Because a qualitative examination of the scatterplots and the analyses by sex are in concordance with the mean RP model, in this case I tentatively accept the results of the mean RP model that females spend significantly more of their contact time with adult females than adult males do.

178

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	random int. LMEM	INT	0.56	0.43	17	1.32	0.20
Time in		TIME	-0.01	0.06	13	-0.09	0.93
contact	mean RP	INT	-0.08	0.10	16	-0.76	0.46
AF		SEX	0.34	0.14	16	2.40	0.03*
AF Dev	linear LMEM	INT	1.46	0.58	9	2.50	0.03*
Time in		TIME	-0.06	0.04	50	-1.68	0.10†
contact AF	mean RP	INT	0.31	0.10	9	3.08	0.01*
AM Dev							
Time in	mean RP	INT	-0.07	0.03	7	-213	$0.07 \pm$
contact	incan Ri	11 1 1	-0.07	0.05	1	-2.15	0.071
AF							

 TABLE 4-39. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time in contact with adult females.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-45. Deviations from expected time spent in contact with adult females.

Within Reach of Adult Females

An LMEM could not be fit. The best fit mean RP model indicates no sex difference in bias toward or away from time spent within reach of adult females (Table 4-40). And, since the intercept is not significantly different from zero, there is also no evidence of bias exhibited toward or away from time spent within reach of adult females by either sex (Table 4-40, Figure 4-46).

 TABLE 4-40. RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in reach of adult females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Time in	mean RP	INT	-0.11	0.09	16	-1.24	0.23
reach AF		SEX	0.20	0.13	16	1.56	0.14



Fig. 4-46. Deviations from expected time spent in reach of adult females.

Within 3m of Adult Females

The best fit linear LMEM indicates that adult females bias their time within 3m of others significantly more heavily toward other females than do adult males (Table 4-41). The best fit linear RP model suggests that adult females tend to bias their time within 3m of others more heavily toward other females than do adult males. Both models indicate a sex*time interaction effect, with females biasing their time within 3m of others less heavily toward adult females as the study year progressed. Analyses by sex indicate that adult females spend significantly more time than expected at random within 3m of other adult females at the beginning of the observation year, but that the effect decreases significantly through time, whereas males spend time within 3m of adult females as expected at random (Table 4-41, Figure 4-47).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	linear	INT	0.37	1.33	16	0.28	0.78
	LMEM	SEX	4.05	1.84	89	2.21	0.03*
		TIME	0.11	0.17	12	0.66	0.52
Dev		SEX*TIME	-0.51	0.24	89	-2.14	0.04*
3m AF	linear RP	INT	0.20	0.97	16	0.20	0.84
5111711		SEX	2.68	1.36	16	1.96	0.07†
		TIME	-0.02	0.11	101	-0.21	0.83
		TIME*SEX	-0.39	0.16	101	-2.44	0.02*
	linear	INT	4.79	1.13	9	4.24	0.002*
AF Dev Time in	LMEM	TIME	-0.42	0.17	50	-2.52	0.02*
3m AF	linear RP	INT	4.68	1.18	9	3.97	0.003*
5111711		TIME	-0.42	0.17	50	-2.49	0.02*
AM Dev	random int.	INT	0.94	0.92	7	1.03	0.34
Time in	LMEM						
3m AF	mean RP	INT	0.93	0.98	7	0.96	0.37

 TABLE 4-41. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult females.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-47. Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult females. *Contact with Adult Males*

The best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models indicate that adult females bias their time spent in contact much more strongly away from adult males than do adult males (Table 4-42, Figure 4-48). Analyses by sex indicate that adult females spend significantly less time than expected at random in contact with adult males at the beginning of the observation year, but that their contact time with adult males becomes significantly less negatively biased through time, while adult males show the opposite pattern (Table 4-42). According to the best fit linear LMEM for adult males, adult males spend significantly more time in contact with adult males than expected at random at the beginning of the observation year, but this effect decreases significantly through time. The best fit mean RP model yields similar results, with adult males tending to be in contact with adult males more than expected at random at the beginning of the observation year but decreasing their bias toward contact time with adult males as time progressed (Table 4-42).

 TABLE 4-42. Model parameters estimates of deviations from expected time spent in contact with adult males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	random int.	INT	0.00	0.30	16	0.02	0.99
Time in	LMEM	SEX	-1.13	0.41	103	-2.79	0.007*
contact	mean RP	INT	0.06	0.12	16	0.47	0.64
AM		SEX	-0.60	0.17	16	-3.57	0.002*
AF Dev	linear LMEM	INT	-1.76	0.37	9	-4.73	0.001*
Time in		TIME	0.13	0.05	50	2.74	0.009*
AM	mean RP	INT	-0.43	0.11	9	-4.06	0.003*
AM Dev	linear LMEM	INT	0.55	0.24	7	2.34	0.05*
Time in		TIME	-0.11	0.04	51	-3.11	0.003*
contact	linear RP	INT	0.17	0.08	7	2.07	0.08†
AM		TIME	-0.03	0.01	51	-2.72	0.009*

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-48. Deviations from expected time spent in contact with adult males. Within Reach of Adult Males

The best fit random intercepts LMEM and mean RP models indicate a significant sex difference in deviations from time spent within reach of adult males at random (Table 4-43, Figure 4-49), but in opposite directions. The LMEM indicates that females bias their time within reach of others substantially more strongly away from adult males than adult males do, while the best fit mean RP model suggests that females bias their time within reach of others slightly more strongly toward adult males than adult males do. These types of conflicts suggest poor model-fitting. Individual OLS regressions for this variable do not support an interpretation of adult females biasing their time within reach of others more strongly toward adult males than adult males that there is a great deal more variation in this variable among females than there is among males (Figure 4-50). Analyses by sex indicate that
adult males spend time within reach of other adult males as expected at random. For adult females, the best fit linear LMEM indicates that adult females spend less time than expected within reach of adult males at the beginning of the observation year, but tend to spend more time within reach of them as time progresses. In contrast, the best fit mean RP model indicates that adult females spend time within reach of adult males as expected at random, so the female pattern is uncertain. Because the two analyses of sex difference are in direct opposition, I accept the most conservative results suggested by the sex-specific analyses, which indicate no deviations from random expectations in time spent within reach of adult males, but note that, qualitatively, males exhibit hardly any deviation from random expectations with respect to time spent within reach of adult males, while females exhibit a great deal of inter- and intra-individual variation in this variable.

 TABLE 4-43. Model parameter estimates of deviation from expected time spent within reach of adult males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	-0.05	1.26	16	-0.04	0.97
Dev Time	LMEM	SEX	-3.47	1.70	103	-2.04	0.04*
AM	mean RP	INT	-0.20	0.15	16	-1.35	0.20
		SEX	0.42	0.20	16	2.09	0.05*
AF Dev	linear LMEM	INT	-4.22	1.48	9	-2.84	0.02*
Time in		TIME	0.17	0.09	50	1.87	0.07†
reach AM	mean RP	INT	0.21	0.15	9	1.45	0.18
AM Dev	random int.						
Time in reach AM	LMEM	INT	-0.11	0.09	7	-1.19	0.27
	mean RP	INT	-0.06	0.04	7	-1.57	0.16

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-49. Deviations from expected time spent within reach of adult males.



Fig. 4-50. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent within reach of adult males. *Within 3m of Adult Males*

The best fit linear LMEM and RP models both indicate a significant sex difference in which adult females bias their time within 3m of others more heavily away from adult males than do adult males, and the linear RP model indicates an additional time*sex interaction in which this sex difference is attenuated with time (Table 4-44). Analyses by sex indicate that adult females spend significantly and substantially less time than expected at random within 3m of adult males (Table 4-44, Figure 4-51). Analyses of males indicate that, if the main sex difference is attenuated with time, it is because males spend less of their time within 3m of others with adult males as time progresses (Table 4-44, Figure 4-51). Qualitative examination of the individual OLS regressions support that interpretation (Figure 4-52).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	linear	INT	0.01	1.97	16	0.00	1.00
	LMEM	SEX	-7.08	2.71	89	-2.62	0.01*
		TIME	-0.34	0.28	12	-1.24	0.24
Dev Time		SEX*TIME	0.62	0.38	89	1.62	0.11
in 3m AM	linear RP	INT	-0.41	1.45	16	-0.28	0.78
		SEX	-6.64	2.02	16	-3.29	0.005*
		TIME	-0.28	0.18	101	-1.56	0.12
		TIME*SEX	0.61	0.25	101	2.39	0.02*
AF Dev	random int.	INT	-5.82	0.81	9	-7.21	<.0001*
Time in	LMEM						
3m AM							
AM Dev Time in 3m AM	linear	INT	-0.34	1.32	7	-0.26	0.80
	LMEM	TIME	-0.28	0.14	51	-1.99	0.05*
	mean RP	INT	-2.40	0.56	7	-4.30	0.004*

 TABLE 4-44. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult males.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-51. Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult males.



Fig. 4-52. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of adult males.

Contact with Juvenile Females

The best fit LMEM and RP models find no sex difference in bias toward or away from juvenile females in time spent in contact with others (Table 4-45, Figure 4-53). Adults may spend less of their contact time with juvenile females than expected at random, but this is only indicated by the mean RP model and not the random intercepts LMEM, so it is not definitively the case.

 TABLE 4-45. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	random int. LMEM	INT	-0.05	0.35	16	-0.15	0.88
Time in		SEX	0.65	0.48	103	1.37	0.17
contact	mean RP	INT	-0.07	0.03	16	-2.12	0.05*
JF		SEX	-0.07	0.05	16	-1.52	0.15
* - 0.05	-						

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-53. Deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile females.

Within Reach of Juvenile Females

An LMEM could not be fit. The best fit mean RP model indicates no sex difference in bias toward or away from juvenile females in time spent within reach of others, but suggests that adults tend to spend slightly less time within reach of juvenile females than expected at random (Table 4-46, Figure 4-54).

 TABLE 4-46. RP model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within reach of juvenile females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Time in	mean RP	INT	-0.05	0.03	16	-1.79	0.09†
reach JF		SEX	-0.02	0.04	16	-0.54	0.60
+0.05 < n < 100	0.10						

 $\dagger 0.05$



Fig. 4-54. Deviations from expected time spent within reach of juvenile females.

Within 3m of Juvenile Females

Neither the best fit random intercepts LMEM nor RP model suggest any difference from random allocation of time spent within 3m of juvenile females, as there is no sex difference and no difference from an intercept of zero (Table 4-47, Figure 4-55).

TABLE 4-47. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected timespent within 3 meters of juvenile females.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int. LMEM	INT	0.03	0.26	16	0.11	0.91
Dev Time in		SEX	0.59	0.36	103	1.61	0.11
3m IF	mean RP	INT	0.04	0.27	16	0.14	0.89
5111 51		SEX	0.60	0.39	16	1.56	0.14



Fig. 4-55. Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of juvenile females. *Contact with Juvenile Males*

An LMEM could not be fit. The best fit mean RP model indicates a tendency for adult females to spend less of their contact time with juvenile males than do adult males (Table 4-48). Analyses by sex indicate that both adult males and adult females spend less of their contact time with juvenile males than expected, adult females simply spend even less of it with juvenile males than do adult males (Figure 4-56).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev Time in	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.02	16	-1.00	0.33
contact JM		SEX	-0.06	0.03	16	-1.74	0.10†
AF Dev	linear LMEM	INT	-0.28	0.08	9	-3.63	0.006*
Time in		TIME	0.03	0.01	50	2.66	0.01*
contact JM	mean RP	INT	-0.06	0.03	9	-2.05	0.07†
AM Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.01	7	-4.95	0.002*
Time in							
contact JM							

 TABLE 4-48. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile males.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-56. Deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile males.

Within Reach of Juvenile Males

The linear LMEM indicates no significant sex difference, sex*time interaction or deviation from random expectation in bias in time spent within reach of others toward or away from juvenile males (Table 4-49). The best fit RP mean and linear models each suggest that females tend to bias their time within reach of others more strongly away from juvenile males than males do (Table 4-49, Figure 4-57). I preferentially accept the results of the linear LMEM because the LMEM accounts for inter-individual variation in intercepts and slopes, and because an examination of the individual OLS regressions does not support an interpretation of adult females spending less time than expected within reach of juvenile males (Figure 4-58). In general, adults do not bias their time spent within reach of others toward or away from juvenile males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	linear LMEM	INT	0.06	0.34	16	0.18	0.86
Dev		SEX	-0.11	0.47	89	-0.23	0.82
Time in		TIME	0.01	0.04	12	0.26	0.80
reach		SEX*TIME	0.00	0.05	89	0.08	0.93
JM	mean RP	INT	-0.08	0.06	16	-1.18	0.25
		SEX	-0.18	0.09	16	-1.97	0.07†

 TABLE 4-49. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within reach of juvenile males.

 $\dagger 0.05$



Fig. 4-57. Deviations from expected time spent within reach of juvenile males.



Fig. 4-58. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent in contact with juvenile males.

Within 3m of Juvenile Males

The best fit LMEM was a random intercepts model that suggests adult females tend to bias their time within 3m of others more heavily toward juvenile males than do adult males (Table 4-50, Figure 4-59). The best fit linear RP model suggests a significant sex*time interaction, with females biasing their time within 3m of others more heavily toward juvenile males as the observation year progressed, but no significant sex difference or effect of time overall (Table 4-50). An investigation of the individual OLS regressions suggests that all females except one non-completer did spend more time within 3m of juvenile males as the year progressed, and, depending on the degree of this effect, it could appear as a significant effect of sex overall in a random intercepts LMEM that only quantifies overall sex difference and does not address temporal effects (Figure 4-60). Analyses by sex indicate that adult females begin the year within 3m of juvenile males at random rates, but tend to bias their time toward juvenile males as the year progresses, while adult males spend more time than expected within 3m of juvenile males overall. Therefore, in this case, I accept the results of the linear RP model—that adult males and females have different temporal patterns of time expenditure within 3m of juvenile males, if not differences in overall time expenditure with them.

 TABLE 4-50. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of juvenile males.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р		
	random int.	INT	0.59	0.30	16	1.99	0.06†		
_	LMEM	SEX	0.69	0.41	103	1.66	0.10†		
Dev T [·] ···	linear RP	INT	0.34	0.40	16	0.85	0.41		
1 ime in 3m IM		TIME	0.04	0.04	101	1.06	0.29		
JIII JIVI		SEX	-0.19	0.56	16	-0.34	0.74		
		TIME*SEX	0.19	0.06	101	3.33	0.001*		
	linear LMEM	INT	0.47	0.58	9	0.81	0.44		
AF Dev		TIME	0.16	0.08	50	1.91	0.06^{+}		
3 m IM	linear RP	INT	0.47	0.60	9	0.78	0.46		
5111 5111		TIME	0.16	0.08	50	1.94	0.06^{+}		
AM Dev	mean RP	INT	0.60	0.22	7	2.78	0.03*		
Time in									
3m JM									
* < 0.05									

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-59. Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of juvenile males.



Fig. 4-60. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of juvenile males.

Contact with Infants

An LMEM could not be fit. The best fit mean RP model indicates that females bias their time in contact with others significantly more heavily toward infants than do males (Table 4-51). Analyses by sex indicate that adult females actually spend their contact time with infants as expected at random but that adult males spend significantly less time in contact with infants than expected at random (Figure 4-61). In other words, adult males bias their contact time away from infants significantly more heavily than adult females, who show no bias.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	n
, anabie	110401	Lileet	696	011	21	e	Р
Dev Time	mean RP	INT	-0.12	0.02	16	-5.51	<.0001*
in contact		SEX	0.13	0.03	16	4.01	0.001*
INFs							
AF Dev	random	INT	0.03	0.10	9	0.30	0.77
Time in	int. LMEM						
contact	mean RP	INT	-0.07	0.05	9	-1.61	0.14
INFs							
AM Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.11	0.02	7	-5.87	0.0006*
Time in							
contact							
INFs							
* $p \le 0.05$							

 TABLE 4-51. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected rates of contact with infants.



Fig. 4-61. Deviations from expected rates of contact with infants.

Within Reach of Infants

The most complex LMEM that could be fit was a random intercepts model that indicates that adult females bias their time within reach of others more strongly toward infants than adult males (Table 4-52, Figure 4-62). The best fit mean RP model finds no such sex difference. An examination of the OLS regressions for individuals suggests high adult female bias toward being within reach of young infants that tapers toward rates expected at random as infants age (Figure 4-63). Analyses by sex are not elucidatory. The best fit random intercepts LMEM for adult females indicates that they exhibit a bias toward infants in their time within reach of others, while the best fit mean RP model finds that they spend their time within reach of infants as expected at random. Males, also, do not exhibit a bias toward or away from infants with respect to time spent within reach of others. Due to these conflicting results, I accept the conservative conclusion that there is no clear evidence for any bias for adults of either sex toward or away from infants with respect to time spent within reach of others.

	u p		I ICacii (/1 1111a11			
Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Dev	random int.	INT	-0.03	0.85	16	-0.04	0.97
Time in	LMEM	SEX	2.49	1.14	103	2.18	0.03*
reach	mean RP	INT	-0.01	0.07	16	-0.10	0.92
INFs		SEX	-0.09	0.10	16	-0.92	0.37
AF Dev	random int.	INT	2.44	1.03	9	2.37	0.04*
Time in	LMEM						
reach	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.06	9	-0.76	0.46
INFs							
AM Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.01	7	-1.51	0.17
Time in							
reach							
INFs							
* $p \le 0.05$							

 TABLE 4-52. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within reach of infants.



Fig. 4-62. Deviations from expected time spent within reach of infants.



Fig. 4-63. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent within reach of infants.

Within 3m of Infants

The best fit random intercept LMEM and mean RP models indicate no

significant sex difference in bias toward or away from infants in time spent within

3m of others, nor any deviation from random expectation (Table 4-53, Figure 4-64).

 TABLE 4-53. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of infants.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	0.37	0.64	17	0.57	0.57
Dev Time in	LMEM	TIME	0.10	0.09	13	1.05	0.31
3m INFs	mean RP	INT	0.48	0.41	16	1.15	0.27
5111 11 11 15		SEX	0.82	0.58	16	1.43	0.17



Fig. 4-64. Deviations from expected time spent within 3 meters of infants.

Summary and Discussion – Proximity

Tables 4-54 and 4-55 summarize tests of adult sex differences in proximity to others, and tests of adult patterns of bias in their proximity to particular age/sex classes. Only statistically significant results are presented; empty cells represent results of no statistical significance.

In terms of general measures of proximity, adult females are more spatially cohesive than adult males (Table 4-54). Adult females have more neighbors in proximity at all distances than do adult males and spend more time at all levels of proximity to other individuals. But, there are sex differences in the patterning of time in proximity throughout the year. Females decrease their time in very close proximity to others (in contact and within reach) and increase their time within 3m of others, suggesting that they become a bit less cohesive throughout the year. Adult males increase their time in contact and time within 3m of others throughout the year. Both sexes decrease the time they spend alone throughout the year. Additionally, it appears that these results oversimplify what may be more complex patterns of temporal change in proximity. Qualitatively, it appears that adult females have a quadratic changes in proximity through time rather than linear ones, beginning with high number of neighbors and lots of time spent in close proximity (in contact and within reach) at the beginning of the year that rapidly decrease and then gradually increase again toward the end of the year (Figures 4-65, 4-66, 4-67, 4-68).

The two spring mating pulses observed in 2009 are marked on Figures 4-65 through 4-68 by grey bars. It is reasonable to hypothesize that the increase in proximity measures for males late in the observation year stems from males working harder to maintain proximity to females during the mating season. This may also explain apparent (but statistically non-significant) increases in female proximity measures late in the observation year. Another reasonable conjecture regarding increased adult female proximity measures late in the observation year as a result of decreasing resource availability (Figure 4-23). Future work may be able to test these conjectures. Adult, non-maternal female proximity patterns do seem to be strongly coincident with patterns of infant maturation in September through January.

	Sex		
Proximity measure	Difference	Time e	ffects
Total # neighbors in contact	♀ +	•	•
Total # neighbors in reach	♀ +	•	•
Total # neighbors in 3m	♀ +	•	•
Time in contact with others	♀ +	•	3 +
Time in reach of others	♀ +	Ŷ -	•
Time in 3m of others	♀ +	♀ +	3 +
Time in 5m of others	♀ +	♀ +	J +

TABLE 4-54. Summary of sex differences in global proximity measures.

Sex difference: + significantly greater Time effects: + increase with time

- decrease with time

· no effect

	Partner						
Proximity measure	type	Sex-typ	Sex-typed bias		ffect		
Time in contact	AF	♀ +	•	•	•		
Time in reach	AF	•	•	•	•		
Time in 3m	AF	♀ +	•	Ŷ -	•		
Time in contact	AM	Ŷ -	∂ +	♀ +	8 –		
Time in reach	AM	•		•	•		
Time in 3m	AM	Ŷ —	8 –	•	8 -		
Time in contact	JF	•		•	•		
Time in reach	JF	•		•	•		
Time in 3m	JF	•		•	•		
Time in contact	JM	Ŷ —	8 –	•	•		
Time in reach	JM	•		•	•		
Time in 3m	JM	•	3 +	♀ +	•		
Time in contact	INFs	•	8 –	•	•		
Time in reach	INFs	•	•	•	•		
Time in 3m	INFs	•	•	•	•		
Sex-typed bias: + significantly more than expected at random							

TABLE 4-55. Summary of sex differences in bias of proximity to each partner age/sex class.

typ

significantly more than expected at random
 significantly less than expected at random

— significantly less than –
• no difference from expected at random

Time effects: + increase with time

- decrease with time

· no effect



Fig. 4-65. Average numbers of neighbors in contact; grey bars indicate spring mating pulses in 2009.



Fig. 4-66. Average numbers of neighbors in within reach; grey bars indicate spring mating pulses in 2009.



Fig. 4-67. Average amount of time spent in contact with others; grey bars indicate spring mating pulses in 2009.



Fig. 4-68. Average amount of time spent within reach of others; grey bars indicate spring mating pulses in 2009.

In general, adult females spend more time in proximity with adult females and less time proximity to adult males than adult males. In other words, there is an overall pattern of spatial association with same-sex peers. Additionally, adult males do not spend much time in contact with subadults. Either they avoid subadults or subadults avoid them. Future work can address this point.

Adult patterns of time spent in contact with adult males reflects the yearly temporal patterns mentioned above (see Figure 4-42). When infants are young, adult females without infants bias their time in contact away from adult males because they are biasing it toward other adult females. From May through August, adult males begin to avoid other adult males, probably as a result of mating competition, while adult females bias their contact toward them, probably as a result of mating effort on the part of males that is tolerated by females during the mating season, or as a result of mating effort on the part of females. These analyses do not reveal whether focal females are targeting adult females with infants or just adult females in general when infants are young or whether adult males or adult females are responsible for maintaining the increased proximity between opposite-sex adults during the mating season, but future work will investigate these issues. Adult sex differences in patterns of proximity to juveniles are few and are not obviously relatable to temporal patterns of variation in resource availability or reproductive cyclicity. Notably, analyses for proximities of "contact" and "within reach" are not entirely duplicative, indicating that they may reliably reflect proximities that have different "value" to the animals.

INFANT INTEREST

The components of what I consider here as expressions of "infant interest" have already been discussed in other sections, but are revisited here in this section

because sex differences in infant interest, in particular, characterize juvenile and adult primates of many species [*Papio cynocephalus ursinus*: Cheney 1978; *Alouatta palliata*: Clarke et al. 1998; *Cercopithecus mitis*: Cords et al. 2010, Förster and Cords 2005; *Alouatta seniculus*: Crockett and Pope 2002]. Two ways in which infant interest might be expressed are in grooming directed toward them and in maintenance of proximity to them.

Grooming

As previously indicated (Table 4-30), adult females groom infants more than adult males do, but only when infants are young.

Proximity

Adult females without infants of their own do not bias their time in contact with others toward non-filial infants in particular, but adult males bias their contact time away from infants (Table 4-51). Both measures of infant interest indicate that adult females are more interested in infants than adult males are, but it appears that adult males are disinterested in infants rather than that adult females are especially interested in them.

Responsibility for maintenance of proximity as quantified by the Hinde index is a commonly used measure of the nature of the mother-infant relationship [Hinde and Atkinson 1970], and is conceptually well-suited to assessing infant interest. However, it was not used here to assess infant interest (or interest in any other type of relationships between age/sex classes) because it did not lend itself well to being used across different types of dyadic relationships. Different types of dyads engaged in dramatically different rates of proximity changes, and as such, a Hinde index would not have characterized the interaction patterns of all types of dyads equally well. For example, while the average number of proximity changes per adult femaleinfant dyad per month was approximately 11, the average number of proximity changes per adult male-infant dyad per month was only 4.5. First of all, I considered 4.5 proximity changes to be an insufficient number to accurately characterize responsibility for proximity. Secondly, the disparity among the rates of proximity changes that characterized the different types of dyads meant that some types of dyadic relationships would be well-characterized because they had sufficient samples of proximity changes, while others would be prone to biased estimates as a result of small sample sizes, and I did not think comparisons of these types of variably wellcharacterized relationships would be meaningful.

SCENT MARKING

In this study, scent-marking behavioral events recorded were: anogenital marking, brachial marking, ante-brachial marking, anoint tail, tail wave, and tail play. Anogenital scent marking is performed by rubbing the anogenital scent glands [Palagi et al. 2002] on branches. Antebrachial marking involves depositing secretions from the antebrachial glands on a branch using a stereotyped sequence of motions; first the animal grasps a branch with the manus (which usually involves moving to an orthograde posture), then forcefully rotates the manus and forearm around the branch (clockwise when marking with the right forelimb, counterclockwise when marking with the left), gouging the substrate with a keratinous brachial spur and squeezing secretions from the brachial gland [Palagi et al. 2002]. Brachial marking sometimes immediately precedes antebrachial marking. It involves passing the antebrachial scent glands over the ipsilateral brachial scent glands, thereby mixing the secretions of the brachial and antebrachial scent glands prior to their deposition

[Palagi et al. 2002]. Anoint tail involves an individual drawing its tail repeatedly between the antebrachial scent glands, depositing olfactory secretions onto the tail, usually just prior to waving the tail over the back toward another individual in a "tail wave" [Kappeler 1998]. Tail play involves drawing the tail repeatedly through the forearms in the context of play [Pereira and Kappeler 1997] and is included here because it may serve as a precursor to or a developmental component of the scent marking behaviors of anoint tail and tail wave. The following analyses investigate adult sex differences in: hourly rates of anogenital marking, brachial marking and ante-brachial marking, anoint tail and tail wave, and tail play. Both sexes have anogenital scent glands and engage in anogenital scent marking [Palagi et al. 2002]. Typically, only males have antebrachial and brachial scent glands and antebrachial spurs [Palagi et al. 2002; Sauther and Cuozzo 2008], so brachial and antebrachial scent marking is largely limited to males, as is tail anointing, tail waving, and tail play [Pereira 2002].

Ano-genital marking (A-G mark)

The best fit random intercepts LMEM indicates no significant sex difference in rates of anogenital marking, while the best fit mean RP model indicates a trend toward a sex difference in rates of anogenital marking. Qualitatively, a means model does not appear to fit the male data particularly well, but neither the best fit linear nor quadratic RP models detect significant sex differences or any sex*time interactions (Table 4-56, Figure 4-69).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	1.62	0.54	16	3.02	0.008*
A-G mark	LMEM	SEX	-0.76	0.73	103	-1.04	0.30
	mean RP	INT	0.45	0.17	16	2.61	0.02*
		SEX	0.42	0.24	16	1.75	0.10†

TABLE 4-56. Model parameter estimates of rates of ano-genital marking.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 4-69. Rates of ano-genital marking among adults.

Antebrachial and brachial marking

The best fit random intercepts LMEM indicates a significant sex difference in rates of antebrachial marking, with females wrist-marking significantly less often than males. A linear LMEM could not be fit, but the best fit RP model is a linear model that indicates a significant sex difference as well as a significant sex*time interaction, with adult females wrist-marking significantly less than adult males and with adult males wrist-marking less as the observation year progressed (Table 4-57). Indeed, focal females were never observed to wrist-mark, and males wrist-marked more during the first quadrant of the observation year (September-December) and less throughout the rest of the year (Figure 4-70).

The set of							
Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	14.19	4.12	16	3.44	0.003*
Rate	LMEM	SEX	-14.19	5.58	103	-2.54	0.01*
antebrachial	linear RP	INT	3.69	0.73	16	5.03	0.0001*
mark		SEX	-3.69	1.06	16	-3.50	0.003*
		TIME	-0.33	0.07	101	-4.70	<.0001*
		SEX*TIME	0.33	0.10	101	3.26	0.002*

TABLE 4-57. Model parameter estimates of rates of antebrachial marking.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-70. Rates of antebrachial marking among adults.

The results for brachial marking are similar to but not exactly concordant with those for antebrachial marking. The best fit random intercepts LMEM indicates a significant sex difference in rates of antebrachial marking, with females marking less than males. In contrast, the best fit mean RP model does not find a significant sex difference in rates of brachial marking, even though females were never observed to brachial mark (Table 4-58). A qualitative examination of the scatterplot of brachial marking suggests that a linear or quadratic model may better fit the male data (Figure 4-71). More complex LMEMs could not be fit, but the best fit quadratic RP model indicates significant sex*time and sex*time² interactions, with males brachial marking less as time increases and slightly more as time² increases. Here, I conclude that these data do not fit any of these models well, but that adult males brachial-mark significantly more than females and significantly less as the observation year progresses.

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
	random int.	INT	3.28	0.82	16	3.99	0.001*
	LMEM	SEX	-3.28	1.12	103	-2.94	0.004*
	mean RP	INT	0.22	0.10	16	2.08	0.05*
Rate		SEX	-0.22	0.15	16	-1.48	0.16
	quad RP	INT	-0.23	0.25	16	-0.93	0.37
mark		SEX	0.23	0.35	16	0.66	0.52
		TIME	0.57	0.16	99	3.54	0.0006*
		SEX*TIME	-0.57	0.23	99	-2.53	0.01*
		$TIME^{2}$	-0.05	0.01	99	-3.61	0.0005*
		SEX*TIME^2	0.05	0.02	99	2.58	0.01*

 TABLE 4-58. Model parameter estimates of rates of brachial marking.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-71. Rates of brachial marking among adults.

Rates of Anoint Tail and Tail Wave

One focal female was observed to "anoint tail" on one occasion. According to the best fit random intercepts LMEM, males and females differ significantly in their rates of anoint tail, with females anointing less than males, but according to the best fit mean RP model, they do not (Table 4-59). As with brachial and antebrachial marking, a mean model does not appear to be a particularly good fit for the male data (Figure 4-72), but the best fit linear and quadratic RP models also do not find significant sex differences or sex*time interactions. Again, that these data do not fit any of these models well, but adult males anoint their tails significantly more than do adult females.

		-		ι	Р
n int.					
A INT	1.14	0.25	16	4.49	0.0004*
SEX	-1.13	0.35	103	-2.23	0.002*
RP INT	0.02	0.07	16	0.23	0.82
SEX	-0.02	0.10	16	-0.17	0.86
1)	m int. M INT SEX RP INT SEX	m int. M INT 1.14 SEX -1.13 RP INT 0.02 SEX -0.02	m int. M INT 1.14 0.25 SEX -1.13 0.35 RP INT 0.02 0.07 SEX -0.02 0.10	m int. M INT 1.14 0.25 16 <u>SEX</u> -1.13 0.35 103 RP INT 0.02 0.07 16 <u>SEX</u> -0.02 0.10 16	m int. M INT 1.14 0.25 16 4.49 <u>SEX</u> -1.13 0.35 103 -2.23 RP INT 0.02 0.07 16 0.23 <u>SEX</u> -0.02 0.10 16 -0.17

TABLE 4-59. Model parameter estimates of rates of anoint tail.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 4-72. Rates of anoint tail among adults.

Focal females were never observed to tail wave. An LMEM could not be fit, but the best fit RP model indicates a significant sex difference in rates of tail waving, with males tail waving more than females (Table 4-60, Figure 4-73).

Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
Tail	mean RP	INT	0.39	0.05	16	7.18	<.0001*
wave		SEX	-0.39	0.08	16	-5.04	0.0001*
* $p \le 0.05$	5						

TABLE 4-60. Model parameter estimates of rates of tail wave.



Fig. 4-73. Rates of tail wave among adults.

Rates of Tail Play

Adult males were never observed to anoint their tails in the context of play. One focal adult female was observed to "anoint" her tail during play on two occasions (Figure 4-74). This female was a member of the 2-3 year old cohort.



Fig. 4-74. Rates of tail play among adults.

Summary and Discussion – Scent marking

There are no sex differences in rates of ano-genital marking, but as expected, adult males antebrachial and brachial mark, anoint tail, and tail wave significantly more often than adult females (Table 4-61). Male brachial and antebrachial marking behavior is characterized by strong temporal patterns of high rates of marking just after infants are born, but no other clear peaks of scent marking activity. Even though there is no significant effect of time on ano-genital marking, male ano-genital marking appears to share the temporal patterning of brachial and antebrachial marking. In other words, male scent marking behavior "jumps" from baseline in October to December.
	Sex	
Scent marking	Difference	Time effects
Ano-genital		•
Antebrachial	3 +	ð –
Brachial	3 +	ð –
Anoint tail	\$ +	•
Tail wave	∂ +	•
Sex difference: + sig	gnificantly grea	ter
• no	difference	
Time effects: - decr	ease with time	
· no	effect	

 TABLE 4-61. Summary of results of tests for sex differences in scent marking behaviors.

It could be argued that this male marking behavior serves to "defend" territories or core areas in the service of protection of infants and/or resources for use by lactating females. However, males are not typically involved in inter-group aggressive encounters in *Lemur catta* [Sauther et al. 1999], suggesting that they are not especially motivated to defend resources. On the other hand, this period of time coincided with a number of male emigrations. In fact, I lost two male focal individuals from one group during the month of November because three adult males emigrated from that group. I know their disappearance was not due to death, because after their emigration from my study group, I regularly found them together in the range of a neighboring group. They eventually immigrated into this group, but it took some months for them to do so. During the time leading up to that emigration, these males would make periodic forays so far away from their group that I terminated their focal observations if they were more than 50m away from the group for fear that I would lose the group for the rest of the day. Emigrations occurred in another group during this time, as well, and those males were also not

predated because they rejoined the group many months later, and one of my group was shadowed regularly enough by an extra-group male during this time that I dyemarked him. He did not eventually join the group. Therefore, it seems that the peak in male scent marking during this time is probably related to male migration events.

However, this was not the only period of male emigration during the year. Each of my study groups gained two immigrant males in February and one gained an immigrant male in June. Yet, there is no spike in scent marking behavior during this time, nor during the mating season. Perhaps, then, elevations in male marking behavior are a function of particular males and their own impending moves. Given my sample sizes, it may not be possible to know, but it could be that males who are going to emigrate are responsible for the spike in marking behavior. Or, it could be that male migration events are more threatening when infants are young, and males are more inclined to "defend" their core areas against potential immigrants during this time.

SUMMARY – ADULT SEX DIFFERENCES

This chapter has investigated and quantified intrinsic adult behavioral sex differences in agonism, affiliation, proximity, infant interest, and scent marking. Twenty-three statistically significant behavioral sex differences were identified (Tables 4-62 and 4-63).

	Sex		
Intrinsic behavior	Difference	Time ef	ffects
Aggression	♀ +	•	·
Supplant	♀ +	•	•
Total # neighbors in contact	♀ +	•	•
Total # neighbors in reach	♀ +	•	•
Total # neighbors in 3m	♀ +	•	•
Time in contact with others	♀ +	•	3 +
Time in reach of others	♀ +	Ŷ -	•
Time in 3m of others	♀ +	♀ +	3 +
Time in 5m of others	♀ +	♀ +	3 +
Antebrachial mark	∂ +	8 -	
Brachial mark		8 -	
Anoint tail		•	
Tail wave		•	
Sex difference: + significantly	oreater		

TABLE 4-62. Summary of sex differences in adult intrinsic behaviors.

Sex difference: + significantly greater

Time effects: + increase with time

- decrease with time

· no effect

Intrinsic behavior	Partner type	Sex-typed bi		Time e	ffect		
Supplant	AM	•	∂+	•	•		
Grooming	AM	Ŷ -	•	•	•		
Grooming	INFs	♀ +	•	Ŷ -	•		
Time in contact	AF	♀ +	•	•	•		
Time in 3m	AF	♀ +	•	Q –	•		
Time in contact	AM	Q –	3 +	♀ +	3-		
Time in 3m	AM	Ŷ —	8 -	•	8-		
Time in contact	JM	Ŷ —	8 -	•	•		
Time in 3m	JM	•	∂ +	♀ +	•		
Time in contact	INFs	•	8 -	•	•		
Sex-typed bias: + si	gnificantly more	than exp	pected at 1	andom			
— si	gnificantly less th	ian expe	cted at rai	ndom			
— si	gnificantly less th	nan —					
• no difference from expected at random							
Time effects: + incr	ease with time						

TABLE 4-63. Summary of sex differences in bias in intrinsic behaviors toward each partner age/sex class.

- decrease with time

· no effect

For a female dominant species, there are surprisingly few quantifiable sex differences in agonistic behavior, but sex differences in patterns of proximity to others are quite marked. Adult females are generally more agonistic toward others than adult males, but are also more spatially cohesive than adult males. Whether higher rates of agonism partially result from greater cohesion is a question for future research. Greater cohesion does not result in higher rates of affiliative interaction (grooming) overall. Instead, adult females bias their grooming toward young infants and away from adult males. Adult males are either constrained to or motivated to focus most of their supplanting behavior on other adult males. The following chapter will investigate which of these adult sex-typed behaviors become sexually

differentiated in the subadult period and are therefore reasonable candidates for behaviors that might rely on the social environment for their development.

CHAPTER 5: INTRINSIC SUBADULT SEX DIFFERENCES

This chapter will investigate the development of adult sex-typed behaviors documented in the previous chapter. By limiting my investigation of juvenile sex differences to behaviors known to differ by sex in adults, it may seem that I assume that juvenile sex differences function only in preparation for adult behavioral roles. This is not the case. I recognize that some juvenile behaviors may function as preparatory for adult roles while other juvenile behaviors may serve to promote behavioral competence specific to life as a juvenile, and that the latter may also be sex-typed. I limit my investigation here to the investigation of the developmental components of adult sex-typed behaviors because I am interested, ultimately, in understanding how adult sex-typed behaviors develop and how selection acts on the developmental processes that produce adult sex-typed behavior.

AGONISM

As in the adult analyses, LMEMs are presented alone when they are the best fitting model according to AICc. When LMEMs are not the best-fitting model, their results are presented in conjunction with the best fit RP model. If an LMEM could not be fit, only the best fit RP model is presented.

Aggression

Rates of Aggression toward others

While adult females exhibit higher rates of overtly aggressive behavior than do adult males, there is no evidence of such a sex difference in either infants or juveniles (Table 5-1). Infants were only overtly aggressive on six occasions. While six aggressive events were directed by infant females at other infants (Figure 5-1), closer examination reveals that a single infant—08F(154)—was responsible for five of 226 them. Qualitatively, three infants were noted to be generally more aggressive to their single infant groupmates and all of these were female, but they were also all of mothers of higher rank than the groupmate to which they were aggressive. The high rates of infant mortality in this sample, and the fact that infants only direct aggression toward other infants combined to create a low rate of occurrence of infant aggression from which no real conclusions about sex differences can be drawn. Juveniles also show no sex difference in rates of overt aggression (Table 5-1, Figure 5-2), and this is not an artifact of poor sampling.

TABLE 5-1. Model parameter estimates of overall rates of aggression directedby subadults.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Aggression	random int	INT	0.00	0.02	26	0.00	1.00
_		LMEM	SEX	0.02	0.02	78	1.22	0.23
JUV	Aggression	mean RP	INT	0.14	0.05	7	3.13	0.02*
			SEX	0.12	0.07	7	1.78	0.12

INF = infant cohort; JUV = juvenile cohort; * $p \le 0.05$. All tables follow these conventions.



Fig. 5-1. Overall rates of aggression directed by infants toward others.



Fig. 5-2. Overall rates of aggression directed by juveniles toward others.

Non-aggressive dominance

Rates of supplanting others

While adult females supplant others more often than adult males do, neither infants nor juveniles exhibit this sex difference (Table 5-2, Figure 5-3, Figure 5-4). As with overt aggression, all seven instances of supplanting others were exhibited by female infants. In contrast to overt aggression, four different female infants supplanted others. Unfortunately, the pattern of surviving infants across groups left male infants in the sample with fewer age-mates than the female infants in the sample. Therefore, given that infants only supplant infants, a comparison of male and female infants may not be a fair one in this case. The juvenile analysis is not confounded by these sampling problems, but juveniles show no sex difference in rates of supplanting others (Table 5-2, Figure 5-4).

 TABLE 5-2. Model parameter estimates of rates of supplanting others by subadults.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Supplant	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.02	26	0.00	1.00
			SEX	0.04	0.02	26	1.62	0.12
JUV	Supplant	random int	INT	0.08	0.03	7	2.75	0.03*
		LMEM	SEX	0.03	0.04	83	0.78	0.44

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 5-3. Overall rates of supplants of others by infants.



Fig. 5-4. Overall rates of supplants of others by juveniles.

Deviations from rates of supplanting juvenile females expected at random

While adult males supplant same-sex agemates more often than expected and adult females supplant opposite-sex agemates less often than expected, there is no evidence of subadult bias in distribution of supplanting behavior. However, these results are strongly constrained by the lack of choice in objects of subadult supplanting behavior. For infants, the particular distribution of surviving infants across groups resulted in their having no opportunity to choose the sex of the infant they supplanted, so analyses by sex were not performed. Juvenile females were in groups that offered them a choice between male and female age-mates, but juvenile males had no choice in the sex of juveniles available to them for supplanting (or any other behavioral interactions)-two males had only female peers available to them and the other two had only male peers. Given that juveniles do not supplant adults, choices of social partners available as targets of supplanting behavior were limited for juvenile males. In other words, the exhibition of a sex-bias on the part of juvenile males is constrained—the only way for juvenile males to exhibit a bias toward or away from supplanting peers would have been for them to bias their supplants away from or toward infants—to exhibit a cross age-group bias rather than just a within age-group sex bias. Nevertheless, juvenile females were not constrained thusly, and juveniles exhibited no sex differences the rates at which they biased their supplanting of juvenile females, juvenile males, or infants (Table 5-3).

		11 07						
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Dev	random int	INT	0.02	0.02	7	0.85	0.42
	Supplant JF	LMEM	SEX	0.02	0.03	83	0.69	0.49
JUV	Dev	random int	INT	0.01	0.01	7	1.01	0.35
5	Supplant JM	LMEM	SEX	0.01	0.02	83	0.31	0.76
JUV	Dev	random int	INT	0.03	0.02	7	1.64	0.15
5	Supplant INFs	LMEM	SEX	0.00	0.02	83	-0.09	0.93

 TABLE 5-3. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected juvenile rates of supplanting juveniles and infants.

SUMMARY – AGONISM

There are no sex differences in intrinsic agonism before 24 months of age (Tables 5-4 and 5-5.). There are hints that female infants might be more agonistic toward other infants than infant males—a pattern very similar to that found by Gould [1990] at Berenty—but at present, the most reasonable conclusion is that these patterns are artifacts of small sample sizes of agonistic behaviors and are due more to individual differences than to sex differences. Juveniles exhibit no sex differences in agonism (Tables 5-4 and 5-5). In short, adult sex-differential patterns of agonism do not appear to have a subadult developmental component.

 TABLE 5-4. Summary of sex differences in overall rates of agonism in subadults.

Age	Intrinsic Agonism	Sex Difference	Time effects		
INF	Aggression	•	•	•	
INF	Supplant		•	•	
JUV	Aggression		•	•	
JUV	Supplant		•	•	

Sex Difference: • no significant difference Time effects: • no effect

	1	0.			
Age	Intrinsic Agonism bias	Partner type	Sex-typed bias	Time effect	
INF	Supplant bias	JF	n/a		
INF	Supplant bias	JM	n/a		
INF	Supplant bias	INFs	n/a		
JUV	Supplant bias	JF			
JUV	Supplant bias	JM			
JUV	Supplant bias	INFs			

TABLE 5-5. Summary of sex differences in bias of agonism toward each partner age/sex class in subadults.

For Sex-typed bias: • no significant difference from that expected at random For Time effects: • no effect

AFFILIATION

Grooming

Adult females bias their grooming time away from adult males. Since it is unclear whether a similar pattern in subadults would involve adult males or male peers, both were investigated.

Subadult deviations from time spent grooming adult males expected at random

Infants do not bias their grooming away from adult males, although the best fit linear RP model indicates that there is a time*sex interaction, with infant females spending less of their grooming time on adult males as the observation year progresses (Table 5-6, Figure 5-5). However, by the end of the observation year, there was only one surviving infant male (Figures 5-3 and 5-4), so sex differences that are related to the timing of behavior throughout the year in this cohort are unreliable and should not be seriously considered.

Juveniles, on the other hand, show a clear sex difference in the distribution of their grooming time of adult males, with both fit models indicating that juvenile females bias their grooming away from adult males significantly more than juvenile males do (Table 5-6, Figure 5-6).

This sex difference justifies investigating juvenile patterns of grooming adult males by sex. Results from LMEM and RP models for each sex are not in complete agreement (Table 5-6). The random intercept LMEMs indicate that juvenile females groom adult males significantly less than expected at random but that juvenile males groom adult males at expected rates. In contrast, mean RP models suggest that juvenile females only tend to groom adult males less than expected at random, but that juvenile males groom adult males significantly less than expected random (Table 5-6). As usual with conflicting results between the LMEM and RP models, I preferentially accept the LMEM results, because these analyses account for interindividual variation. Furthermore, a visual examination of the individual OLS regressions (Figure 5-7) supports the interpretation that, on average, juvenile females spend less time than expected grooming adult males but that juvenile males groom adult males as expected at random.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	linear RP	INT	-0.02	0.01	28	-1.69	0.10†
	Groom		TIME	0.00	0.01	77	0.33	0.74
	AM		SEX	0.01	0.02	28	0.77	0.45
			TIME*SEX	-0.05	0.01	77	-5.39	<.0001*
JUV	Dev	random int	INT	-0.05	0.08	7	-0.64	0.54
	Groom AM	LMEM	SEX	-0.40	0.12	83	-3.41	0.001*
		mean RP	INT	-0.17	0.04	7	-3.94	0.006*
			SEX	-0.25	0.06	7	-4.05	0.005*
	JF Dev	random int.	INT	-0.45	0.09	3	-5.27	0.01*
	Groom	LMEM						
	AM	mean RP	INT	-0.09	0.03	3	-2.78	0.07†
	JM Dev	random int.	INT	-0.05	0.08	4	-0.61	0.57
	Groom	LMEM						
	AM	mean RP	INT	-0.10	0.02	4	-5.12	0.007*

 TABLE 5-6. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males by subadults.

* p ≤ 0.05 ; † 0.05 \leq 0.10



Fig. 5-5. Deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males by infants.



Fig. 5-6. Deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males by juveniles.



Fig. 5-7. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent grooming adult males by juveniles.

Subadult deviations from time spent grooming juvenile females expected at random

Infants do not bias their grooming toward or away from juvenile females (Table 5-7, Figure 5-8), but juvenile females bias their grooming away from other juveniles females significantly more than juvenile males do (Table 5-7, Figure 5-9). This sex difference justifies investigating patterns of grooming juvenile females by sex. According to analyses by sex, juvenile females bias their grooming significantly away from juvenile females while juvenile males tend to bias their grooming away from juvenile females at the beginning of the observation year but tend to do less so as the observation year progresses (Table 5-7). It is important to note that although these analyses find statistically significant sex difference for this variable, the amount of bias found here is very, very small compared to the degree of negative grooming bias juvenile females exhibit toward adult males. In fact, they are comparable to the deviations from expected found in the following analysis of grooming juvenile males (Table 5-8), in which no significant differences were found.

	spen	t grooning juv		naics D	y suba	uuno	•	
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	random int.	INT	-0.01	0.03	28	-0.50	0.62
	Groom JF	LMEM	SEX	0.04	0.04	79	1.20	0.24
INF	Dev	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.00	28	-0.49	0.63
	Groom JF		SEX	0.00	0.00	28	0.18	0.86
JUV	Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.01	7	-2.07	0.08^{+}
	Groom JF		SEX	-0.03	0.01	7	-3.22	0.01*
	JF Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.00	3	-3.35	0.04*
	Groom JF							
	JM Dev	linear LMEM	INT	-0.06	0.02	4	-2.46	0.07†
	Groom JF		TIME	0.01	0.00	41	1.71	0.09†

 TABLE 5-7. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females by subadults.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 5-8. Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females by infants.



Fig. 5-9. Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile females by other juveniles.

Subadult deviations from time spent grooming juvenile males expected at random

Infants show no significant sex difference in their bias in grooming juvenile males (Table 5-8, Figure 5-10). According to the best fit random intercept model, juveniles also show no significant sex difference in their bias in grooming juvenile males, but according to the best fit mean RP model, juvenile females more strongly bias their grooming away from juvenile males than juvenile males do (Table 5-8, Figure 5-11). As with most instances of disagreement between the LMEM and RP models, I preferentially accept the results of the LMEM because it partially accounts for inter-individual variation. An investigation of the individual OLS regressions for this variable (Figure 5-12) also does not support an interpretation that juvenile females, as a group, bias their grooming away from juvenile males more strongly than do juvenile males.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.00	28	-2.23	0.03*
	Groom		SEX	0.00	0.00	28	1.70	0.10†
	JM							I
JUV	Dev	random int.	INT	-0.04	0.03	7	-1.27	0.24
	Groom	LMEM	SEX	0.01	0.04	83	0.26	0.80
	JM	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.01	7	-0.36	0.73
			SEX	-0.02	0.01	7	-3.40	0.01*

 TABLE 5-8. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males by subadults.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 5-10. Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males by infants.



Fig. 5-11. Deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males by other juveniles.



Fig. 5-12. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of deviations from expected time spent grooming juvenile males by other juveniles.

Subadult deviations from time spent grooming infants expected at random

Adult females bias their grooming toward infants of young ages while adult males show no such bias. Infants show no clear sex difference in biasing their grooming toward or away from infants (Table 5-9, Figure 5-13). Juveniles exhibit a sex difference similar to the adult sex difference, with juvenile females biasing their grooming much more strongly toward infants than juvenile males do (Table 5-9, Figure 5-14). Analyses by sex indicate that juvenile females bias their grooming significantly toward infants while juvenile males bias their grooming time significantly away from infants (Table 5-9).

		1 0		J				
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.00	28	0.28	0.78
	Groom		SEX	-0.01	0.00	28	-1.64	0.11
	INFs							
JUV	Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.05	0.03	7	-1.69	0.14
	Groom		SEX	0.10	0.04	7	2.50	0.04*
	INFs							
	JF Dev	mean RP	INT	0.22	0.03	3	7.01	0.006*
	Groom							
	INFs							
	JM Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.01	4	-2.78	0.05*
	Groom							
	INFs							
+ /	0.05							

 TABLE 5-9. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent grooming infants by subadults.

* $p \le 0.05$



Fig. 5-13. Deviations from expected time spent grooming infants by other infants.



Fig. 5-14. Deviations from expected time spent grooming infants by juveniles. **Summary – Affiliation**

Infants do not exhibit any clear sex differences in the rates at which they groom others (Tables 5-10, 5-11). It is important to recall that, due to exceptionally high mortality in the infant cohort, these results are effectively derived primarily from a robust cross-sectional sample of infants from ages 0-2 months and a small longitudinal sample of infants from 3-11 months, of which only 3 were male. One of these males was unusual because his mother was very ill, she had weaned him completely by 3 months of age, and, at times, she tended not even to maintain contact with him or to allow him to maintain contact with her. As a result, these data cannot be relied upon to accurately characterize the sex-typed behavior of infants at later ages. Therefore, any significant sex*time interactions in the infant cohort are not considered. Juveniles, on the other hand, exhibit clear sex differences in grooming behavior that echo those seen in adults. Like adult females, juvenile females spend less time than expected at random grooming adult males and more time than expected grooming infants, with no other strong or clear biases in grooming behavior toward or away from other age/sex classes (Tables 5-10, 5-11). Also as in adults, whether or not juveniles exhibit a sex difference in overall time spent grooming is unclear (Table 5-12, Figure 5-15), but any sex difference in total time spent grooming is probably driven largely by the sex difference in time spent grooming infants.

 TABLE 5-10. Summary of sex differences in overall rates of affiliation in subadults.

	Intrinsic affiliative	Sex				
Age	behavior	Difference	Time e	Time effects		
INF	Grooming overall	•	•	•		
JUV	Grooming overall	♀+?	•	•		
Sex diffe	erence: + significantly g	reater				
	? equivocal resu	lt				
	· no difference					
Time eff	fects: · no effect					

Intrinsic affiliative bias	Age	Partner type	Sex-type	ed bias	Time effect			
		AM	•	•	Ŷ -	?		
	INE	JF	•	•	•	•		
Crooming	11.01	JM	•	•	•	•		
Grooming		INFs	•	•	•	•		
	ШW	AM	Ŷ -	•	•	•		
	JUV	INFs	♀ +	ð –	•	•		
Sex-typed bias: + significantly more than expected at random								

TABLE 5-11. Summary of sex differences in bias of affiliation toward each partner age/sex class in subadults.

significantly less than expected at random
no difference from expected at random

Time effects: – decrease with time

? equivocal result

· no effect

TABLE 5-12. Model parameter estimates of total time spent grooming by juveniles.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Groom	random int.	INT	0.96	0.23	7	4.12	0.004*
		LMEM	SEX	0.56	0.33	83	1.67	0.10†
		mean RP	INT	0.42	0.13	7	3.29	0.01*
			SEX	0.42	0.18	7	2.35	0.05*

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 5-15. Overall time spent grooming by juveniles.

PROXIMITY

Average number of neighbors in proximity – contact, within reach, and within 3m

Adult females have more neighbors in proximity per scan at all distances than adult males do. Additionally, adult females spent less time in contact with and within reach of others and more time within 3m of others throughout the observation year. In contrast, no pattern of overall sex-differential space use is found in subadults.

There are no significant sex differences or significant sex*time interactions in overall proximity patterns for infants or juveniles, and only a tendency for juvenile females to have more individuals within reach than juvenile males (Table 5-13, Figures 5-16 - 5-22). As in other analyses, time*sex interactions for infants are not considered, because the infant male sample is so small after the first quadrant of the observation year.

Infant proximity patterns are strongly marked by temporal trends related to maturation in which infants have fewer neighbors in contact and within reach (but not within 3m) as time progresses, but slightly more, again, in contact toward the end of the observation year. In other words, infants become less cohesive through time overall, as one would expect, and resembling the temporal pattern of reduced cohesion exhibited by adult females throughout the observation year.

Juvenile contact patterns are also marked by temporal trends in which juveniles seem to have more neighbors in contact at the beginning of the observation year, fewer in the middle, and more at the end of the observation year, but there are no significant temporal trends in the number of neighbors at other proximities (Table 5-13).

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
		random	INT	0.71	0.09	25	8.34	<.0001*
		int. LMEM	SEX	-0.10	0.12	78	-0.87	0.39
	++	quadratic	INT	1.08	0.07	25	15.20	<.0001*
INF	# neighbors	RP	SEX	-0.12	0.09	25	-1.27	0.21
11 11	in contact		TIME	-0.30	0.05	74	-6.32	<.0001*
			$TIME^2$	0.03	0.01	74	4.83	<.0001*
			SEX*TIME	0.07	0.06	74	1.17	0.24
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.01	0.01	74	-1.47	0.15
		quadratic	INT	0.36	0.08	7	4.77	0.002*
		LMEM	SEX	0.13	0.11	73	1.25	0.22
			TIME	-0.09	0.03	6	-3.57	0.01*
	#		$TIME^2$	0.01	0.00	73	3.46	0.0009*
JUV	neighbors		SEX*TIME	-0.02	0.04	73	-0.50	0.62
	in contact		SEX*TIME ²	0.00	0.00	73	0.63	0.53
		mean RP	INT	0.06	0.03	7	2.09	0.08^{+}
			SEX	-0.02	0.04	7	-0.45	0.66
	# neighbors in reach	random	INT	0.61	0.08	25	7.73	<.0001*
		int. LMEM	SEX	-0.15	0.11	78	-1.38	0.17
INF		linear RP	INT	0.62	0.09	25	7.23	<.0001*
			TIME	-0.06	0.01	76	-4.69	<.0001*
			SEX	-0.15	0.11	25	-1.36	0.19
			TIME*SEX	0.03	0.02	76	1.70	0.09†
		random	INT	0.21	0.04	7	5.78	0.0007*
IUV	# neighbors	int. LMEM	SEX	0.09	0.05	83	1.78	0.08^{+}
<i>J</i> = .	in reach	mean RP	INT	0.06	0.02	7	2.59	0.04*
			SEX	0.05	0.03	7	1.71	0.13
	#	mean RP	INT	2.76	0.18	25	15.48	<.0001*
INF	neighbors in 3m		SEX	-0.03	0.23	25	-0.14	0.89
		random	INT	2.49	0.17	7	14.32	<.0001*
IUV	# neighbors	int. LMEM	SEX	0.13	0.25	83	0.54	0.59
J U V	in 3m	mean RP	INT	1.28	0.26	7	4.86	0.002*
			SEX	-0.11	0.38	7	-0.29	0.78

TABLE 5-13. Model parameter estimates of number of neighbors in proximityto subadults.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 5-16. Average number of neighbors in contact with infants per scan.



Fig. 5-17. Average number of neighbors in contact with juveniles per scan.



Fig. 5-18. Average number of neighbors within reach of infants per scan.



Fig. 5-19. Average number of neighbors within reach of juveniles per scan.



Fig. 5-20. Individual ordinary least squares regressions of number of individuals within reach of juveniles per scan.



Fig. 5-21. Average number of neighbors within 3 meters of infants per scan.



Fig. 5-22. Average number of neighbors within 3 meters of juveniles per scan. Average number of scans per hour in proximity – contact, within reach, within 3m, within 5m

Adult females spend more time in proximity to other individuals than adult males at all distances. In addition, adult females spend more time in contact with and within reach to other individuals early in the year and less as the year progresses, while males increase their contact time throughout the year and remain fairly constant in their time within reach of others.

In contrast, there are no sex differences in the number of scans spent in contact with others, within reach of others, within 3m of others, or within 5m of others for infants or juveniles (Table 5-14; Figures 5-23 through 5-30). There is only a tendency for juvenile females to spend more time in contact with others than juvenile males. As with other analyses, infant time*sex interactions are not considered due to problems with sample sizes after the first quarter of the observation year. As with the number of neighbors at different proximity levels, above, there are significant temporal trends in the amount of time spent in proximity to others. As the observation year progresses, infants spend significantly less time in proximity to others at all distances, and juveniles spend significantly less time in contact with, within reach of, and within 3m of others. These patterns in infants and juveniles resemble adult female temporal proximity patterns and not those of adult males.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Time in	random	INT	12.79	1.58	25	8.11	<.0001*
	contact	int. LMEM	SEX	-0.76	2.15	78	-0.35	0.72
		quadratic	INT	19.05	0.41	25	46.41	<.0001*
		RP	SEX	0.54	0.54	25	0.99	0.33
			TIME	-4.71	0.41	74	-11.59	<.0001*
			$TIME^2$	0.34	0.04	74	8.37	<.0001*
			SEX*TIME	-0.50	0.52	74	-0.95	0.34
			SEX*TIME ²	0.02	0.05	74	0.38	0.70
JUV	Time in	random	INT	2.84	0.51	7	5.54	0.0009*
	contact	int. LMEM	SEX	1.35	0.73	83	1.84	0.07†
		quadratic	INT	5.81	0.99	7	5.88	0.0006*
		RP	SEX	1.55	1.38	7	1.12	0.30
			TIME	-1.46	0.36	79	-4.01	0.0001*
			$TIME^2$	0.12	0.03	79	3.88	0.0002*
			SEX*TIME	-0.02	0.50	79	-0.03	0.97
			SEX*TIME ²	0.00	0.04	79	-0.06	0.96
INF	Time in	quadratic	INT	8.87	0.76	25	11.74	<.0001*
	reach	LMEM	SEX	-0.87	1.02	58	-0.86	0.39
			TIME	-1.91	0.38	16	-4.97	0.0001*
			$TIME^2$	0.13	0.04	58	3.21	0.002*
			SEX*TIME	0.91	0.47	58	1.95	0.06†
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.08	0.05	58	-1.57	0.12
		linear RP	INT	8.07	0.72	25	11.26	<.0001*
			TIME	-0.73	0.18	76	-4.07	0.0001*
			SEX	-0.58	0.97	25	-0.60	0.56
			TIME*SEX	0.25	0.23	76	1.09	0.28
JUV	Time in	linear RP	INT	4.77	0.51	7	9.40	<.0001*
	reach		TIME	-0.32	0.06	81	-5.13	<.0001*
			SEX	0.84	0.72	7	1.17	0.28
			TIME*SEX	0.02	0.09	81	0.28	0.78

 TABLE 5-14. Model parameter estimates of time in proximity to others for subadults.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$

TABLE 5-14. Continued.

Age	Variab	ole Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Time i	n random	INT	15.35	0.32	25	48.28	<.0001*
	3m	int.	SEX	0.78	0.41	78	1.92	0.06^{+}
		LMEM						
		mean RP	INT	15.36	0.40	25	37.94	<.0001*
			SEX	0.83	0.53	25	1.56	0.13
JUV	Time i	n linear RP	INT	15.73	0.40	7	39.02	<.0001*
	3m		SEX	0.48	0.58	7	0.84	0.43
INF	Time	random int.	INT	19.63	0.16	25	120.80	<.0001*
	in L	LMEM	SEX	0.04	0.22	78	0.19	0.85
	5m	linear RP	INT	19.98	0.18	25	114.06	<.0001*
			TIME	-0.15	0.04	76	-3.55	0.0007*
			SEX	-0.01	0.23	25	-0.06	0.95
			TIME*SEX	0.05	0.05	76	0.91	0.37
JUV	Time	random int.	INT	18.52	0.22	7	83.03	<.0001*
	in	LMEM	SEX	0.28	0.32	83	0.87	0.39
	5m	linear RP	INT	18.96	0.18	7	105.82	<.0001*
_			SEX	0.04	0.26	7	0.15	0.88

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$


Fig. 5-23. Average infant time in contact with others.



Fig. 5-24. Average juvenile time in contact with others.



Fig. 5-25. Average infant time within reach of others.



Fig. 5-26. Average juvenile time within reach of others.



Fig. 5-27. Average infant time within 3m of others.



Fig. 5-28. Average juvenile time within 3m of others.



Fig. 5-29. Average infant time within 5m of others.



Fig. 5-30. Average juvenile time within 5m of others.

Subadult deviations from time spent in proximity to other age/sex classes expected at random

In general, where adults show sex differences in biases of time spent in proximity to peers, they show a bias toward proximity with same-sex peers at the beginning of the observation year and less bias toward same-sex peers as the year progresses. With regard to juveniles and infants, adult females bias their contact time more strongly away from juvenile males than adult males do, and adult males spend more time within 3m of juvenile males than expected at random throughout the year, while adult females show a temporal trend of increasing allocation of their time within 3m of others to juvenile males as time progresses. Adult males also significantly bias their contact time strongly away from infants while adult females do not.

Among infants, there are very few sex differences in proximity biases. The best fit RP model suggests that infant females spend less of their contact time with adult females than infants males do (Table 5-15), and this is supported by a qualitative examination of the scatterplot of the infant data at early ages (Figure 5-31). However, the best fit random intercepts LMEM does not find a significant sex difference (Table 5-15), perhaps because, at later ages, infant females appear to spend more of their contact time with adult females than infant males do (Fig. 5-31). Infant females may also tend to spend more of their time within 3m of others with adult females than infant males do (Table 5-15, Figure 5-32), and individual OLS regressions indicate that this effect is not only due to the one unusual male infant (Fig. 5-33). Infants exhibit no sex difference in the amount of their time in proximity to others spent with any other age/sex class at any distance (Tables 5-16 through 5-19). It is worth noting that infants are less in control of their own proximity at early ages as they are at later ones. Infants do not begin feeding on their own until at least 6 weeks of age. Given the sampling issues in this cohort and the changes this cohort undergoes in controlling its use of space, it may be more appropriate, in future, to analyze 0-2 month old infants and 3-11 month old infants separately. In general, though, there is almost no evidence for infant sex differences in proximity to other age/sex classes, and all potential sex differences are limited to proximity to adult females.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	random	INT	-2.84	0.45	25	-6.37	<.0001*
	Time in	int.	SEX	-0.42	0.60	78	-0.69	0.49
	contact	LMEM						
	AF	quadratic	INT	-4.20	0.35	25	-12.15	<.0001*
		RP	SEX	-1.16	0.46	25	-2.54	0.02*
			TIME	1.16	0.23	74	5.05	<.0001*
			$TIME^2$	-0.10	0.03	74	-3.70	0.0004*
			SEX*TIME	0.10	0.29	74	0.35	0.73
			SEX*TIME ²	0.02	0.03	74	0.53	0.60
INF	Dev	random	INT	0.52	0.36	25	1.44	0.16
	Time in reach	int. I MEM	SEX	-0.33	0.49	78	-0.68	0.50
	AE	lipeer RD	INIT	1 1 /	0.43	25	2.64	0.01*
	111	iiiteai Ki		0.04	0.43	23	2.04	0.01
			TIME	-0.26	0.11	/6	-2.41	0.02*
			SEX	-0.78	0.58	25	-1.33	0.20
			TIME*SEX	0.24	0.14	76	1.75	0.08^{+}
INF	Dev	random	INT	4.40	0.55	25	8.06	<.0001*
	Time in	int.	SEX	1.36	0.70	78	1.94	0.06^{+}
	3m AF	LMEM						
		linear RP	INT	5.77	0.86	25	6.74	<.0001*
			TIME	-0.41	0.20	76	-2.05	0.04*
			SEX	-0.19	1.13	25	-0.17	0.87
			TIME*SEX	0.46	0.25	76	1.85	0.07†

 TABLE 5-15. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to adult females by infants.



Fig. 5-31. Deviations from expected time in contact with adult females by infants.



Fig. 5-32. Deviations from expected time in 3m of adult females by infants.



Fig. 5-33. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time in 3m of adult females by infants.

Age	Var.	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	quad.	INT	-7.33	0.47	25	-15.58	<.0001*
	Time in	LMEM	SEX	-0.29	0.63	58	-0.46	0.64
	contact AM		TIME	2.15	0.25	16	8.62	<.0001*
	AM		$TIME^2$	-0.18	0.03	58	-6.18	<.0001*
			SEX*TIME	-0.09	0.31	58	-0.31	0.76
			SEX*TIME	0.03	0.03	58	0.89	0.37
INF	Dev	random	INT	-3.59	0.72	25	-4.96	<.0001*
	Time in reach	int. LMEM	SEX	0.49	0.99	78	0.49	0.62
	AM	linear	INT	-2.52	0.51	25	-4.96	<.0001*
		RP	TIME	0.36	0.07	76	4.93	<.0001*
			SEX	0.67	0.64	25	1.05	0.30
			TIME*SEX	-0.28	0.09	76	-3.10	0.003*
INF	Dev	random	INT	-9.36	1.23	25	-7.60	<.0001*
	Time in 3m AM	int. I MEM	SEX	0.00	1.67	78	0.00	1.00
		linear	INT	-10.29	1.35	25	-7.64	<.0001*
		RP	TIME	0.45	0.29	76	1.57	0.12
			SEX	2.11	1.81	25	1.17	0.25
			TIME*SEX	-0.90	0.35	76	-2.61	0.01*

 TABLE 5-16. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time in proximity to adult males by infants.

* $p \le 0.05$

Age	Var	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	quad.	INT	-0.64	0.24	25	-2.65	0.01*
	Time in contact JF	LMEM	SEX	-0.09	0.33	58	-0.28	0.78
			TIME	0.17	0.10	16	1.62	0.13
J	JF		$TIME^2$	-0.01	0.01	58	-1.00	0.32
			SEX*TIME	0.10	0.13	58	0.80	0.43
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.01	0.01	58	-0.70	0.49
INF	Dev	random	INT	0.46	0.22	25	2.08	0.05*
	Time in reach JF	int. LMEM	SEX	-0.24	0.30	78	-0.80	0.43
	2	mean RP	INT	0.14	0.11	25	1.18	0.25
			SEX	-0.14	0.15	25	-0.95	0.35
INF	Dev	random	INT	0.98	0.48	25	2.05	0.05*
	Time in	int.	SEX	-0.28	0.65	78	-0.44	0.66
	3m JF	LMEM						
		mean RP	INT	0.69	0.42	25	1.65	0.11
			SEX	-0.63	0.56	25	-1.12	0.27

 TABLE 5-17. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to juvenile females by infants.

* $p \le 0.05$

 TABLE 5-18. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to juvenile males by infants.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev	random	INT	-0.42	0.15	25	-2.73	0.01*
	Time in contact	int. LMEM	SEX	-0.07	0.21	78	-0.32	0.75
	JM	linear RP	INT	-0.60	0.19	25	-3.21	0.004*
			TIME	0.07	0.05	76	1.60	0.11
			SEX	-0.19	0.26	25	-0.72	0.48
			TIME*SEX	0.03	0.06	76	0.48	0.63
INF	Dev	random	INT	-0.19	0.08	25	-2.37	0.03*
	Time in	int.	SEX	0.08	0.11	78	0.72	0.47
	reach	LMEM						
	JM	mean RP	INT	-0.10	0.06	25	-1.71	0.10^{+}
			SEX	0.02	0.07	25	0.30	0.77
INF	Dev	mean RP	INT	0.32	0.32	25	0.99	0.33
	Time in 3m IM		SEX	0.35	0.41	25	0.85	0.41
	5111 5111							

Age	Var.	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF Dev	Dev	random	INT	-1.96	0.39	25	-5.01	<.0001*
Time	Time	int.	SEX	0.82	0.53	78	1.53	0.13
	in	LMEM						
contact	mean	INT	-0.04	0.05	25	-0.71	0.49	
	Infants	RP	SEX	-0.01	0.07	25	-0.16	0.88
INF	Dev	random	INT	2.19	0.77	25	2.86	0.009*
	Time in	int. LMEM	SEX	0.09	1.06	78	0.08	0.93
	reach	mean	INT	0.00	0.04	25	0.05	0.96
	Infants	RP	SEX	0.06	0.05	25	1.13	0.27
INF	Dev	quad.	INT	4.84	1.13	25	4.28	0.0002*
	Time	LMEM n ts	SEX	-0.83	1.55	58	-0.53	0.60
	in 3m		TIME	-0.62	0.39	16	-1.59	0.13
	mants		$TIME^2$	0.02	0.04	58	0.38	0.70
			SEX*TIME	-0.21	0.47	58	-0.44	0.66
			SEX*TIME ²	0.04	0.05	58	0.83	0.41
		quad.	INT	4.38	0.90	25	4.89	<.0001*
		RP	SEX	-1.50	1.19	25	-1.26	0.22
			TIME	-1.17	0.31	74	-3.75	0.0004*
			$TIME^2$	0.08	0.03	74	2.72	0.008*
			SEX*TIME	0.34	0.39	74	0.86	0.39
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.02	0.04	74	-0.60	0.55

 TABLE 5-19. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to infants by infants.

* $p \le 0.05$

In contrast, juveniles exhibit a number of sex differences in how they allocate their time in proximity to others. Juvenile females tend to spend more of their time within 3m of others with adult females than do juvenile males (Table 5-20). Analyses by sex indicate that both sexes significantly bias their time spent within 3m of others toward adult females, but that juvenile females simply allocate more of their time within 3m of others to adult females than juvenile males do (Table 5-20). Additionally, according to the best fit models by sex, juvenile females spend significantly less of their time within 3m of others toward adult females as the

observation year progresses (or at the very least, they tend to) while juvenile males show no change through time (Table 5-20, Figure 5-34).

	spent in proximity to adult females by juveniles.								
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р	
JUV	Dev	random	INT	-0.48	0.20	7	-2.42	0.05*	
	Time in contact	int. LMEM	SEX	0.11	0.28	83	0.38	0.70	
	AF	mean RP	INT	-0.43	0.15	7	-2.94	0.02*	
			SEX	0.11	0.21	7	0.50	0.63	
JUV	Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.29	0.12	7	-2.39	0.05*	
	Time in reach AF		SEX	0.14	0.17	7	0.84	0.43	
JUV	Dev	random	INT	3.20	0.79	7	4.03	0.005*	
2	Time in 3m AF	int. LMEM	SEX	2.07	1.14	83	1.81	0.07†	
		linear RP	INT	3.32	1.26	7	2.64	0.03*	
			TIME	0.00	0.19	81	-0.01	0.99	
			SEX	3.74	1.78	7	2.10	0.07^{+}	
			TIME*SEX	-0.36	0.27	81	-1.30	0.20	
	JF Dev	linear	INT	7.33	1.24	3	5.91	0.01*	
	Time in	LMEM	TIME	-0.40	0.14	40	-2.81	0.008*	
	3m AF	linear RP	INT	6.93	1.47	3	4.70	0.02*	
			TIME	-0.33	0.23	40	-1.45	0.15	
	JM Dev	random	INT	3.25	0.51	4	6.42	0.003*	
	Time in 3m AF	int. LMEM							
		mean RP	INT	3.29	0.57	4	5.73	0.005*	

 TABLE 5-20. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to adult females by juveniles.



Fig. 5-34. Deviations from time expected within 3m of adult females for juveniles

Furthermore, juveniles exhibit consistent sex differences in the amount of their proximity time spent with adult males. Juvenile females spend less of their time in proximity to others with adult males than juvenile males do at all distances (Table 5-21, Figures 5-35 through 5-37). Analyses by sex indicate that juvenile females bias their contact time away from adult males while juvenile males probably do not—the best fit random intercept LMEM finds no difference from time expected in contact with adult males than expected at random, while the best fit mean RP model finds that juvenile males bias their contact time slightly away from adult males (Table 5-21). Both sexes bias their time spent in reach of others away from adult males (but juvenile females show a stronger negative bias), and both allot more of their time in reach of others to adult males as the observation year progresses (Table 5-21). Both sexes also bias their time spent within 3m of others away from adult males, and females, but not males, allot more of their time within 3m of others to adult males as the observation year progresses (Table 5-21).

Age	Var.	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Dev	random	INT	-0.23	0.34	7	-0.69	0.51
	Time in	int.	SEX	-1.29	0.48	83	-2.68	0.009*
	contact	LMEM						
	AM	mean RP	INT	-0.53	0.24	7	-2.27	0.06^{+}
			SEX	-0.09	0.33	7	-0.27	0.80
	JF Dev	random	INT	-1.52	0.40	3	-3.78	0.03*
	Time in	int.						
	contact	LMEM						
	AM	mean RP	INT	-1.53	0.47	3	-3.26	0.05*
	JM Dev	random	INT	-0.23	0.27	4	-0.85	0.45
	Time in	int.						
	contact	LMEM						
	AM	mean RP	INT	-0.53	0.09	4	-5.60	0.005*
JUV	Dev	random	INT	-0.39	0.29	7	-1.35	0.22
	Time in	int.	SEX	-1.14	0.41	83	-2.77	0.007*
	reach	LMEM						
	AM	linear RP	INT	-0.59	0.43	7	-1.36	0.22
			TIME	0.05	0.05	81	1.03	0.30
			SEX	-1.72	0.61	7	-2.79	0.03*
			TIME*SEX	0.11	0.07	81	1.53	0.13
	JF Dev	random	INT	-2.68	0.47	3	-5.70	0.01*
	Time in	int.	TIME	0.23	0.07	40	3.29	0.002*
	reach	LMEM						
	AM	linear RP	INT	-0.41	0.19	4	-2.15	0.10^{+}
	JM Dev	random	INT	-0.86	0.30	4	-2.84	0.05*
	Time in	int.	TIME	0.09	0.04	41	2.02	0.05*
	reach	LMEM						
	AM	linear RP	INT	-2.69	0.58	3	-4.64	0.02*
			TIME	0.24	0.09	40	2.60	0.01*

TABLE 5-21. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expect	ed
time spent in proximity to adult males by juveniles.	

JUV	Dev	random	INT	-6.62	1.05	7	-6.32	0.0004*
	Time in	int. LMEM	SEX	-4.16	1.50	83	-2.77	0.007*
	3m AM	linear RP	INT	-5.30	1.63	7	-3.26	0.01*
			TIME	-0.23	0.21	81	-1.13	0.26
			SEX	-7.46	2.31	7	-3.22	0.01*
			TIME*SEX	0.62	0.30	81	2.07	0.04*
	JF Dev	random	INT	-	1.82	3	-7.02	0.006*
	Time in	int. LMEM		12.75				
	3M AM		TIME	0.38	0.22	40	1.70	0.10^{+}
		linear RP	INT	-	1.99	3	-6.40	0.008*
				12.75				
			TIME	0.38	0.23	40	1.66	0.10†
	JM Dev	linear RP	INT	-5.24	1.47	4	-3.58	0.02*
	Time in 3M AM		TIME	-0.25	0.22	41	-1.12	0.27

TABLE 5-21. Continued



Fig. 5-35. Deviations from expected time in contact with adult males for juveniles.



Fig. 5-36. Deviations from expected time within reach of adult males for juveniles.



Fig. 5-37. Deviations from expected time within 3m of adult males for juveniles.

There are no sex differences in how much of their contact time or time within 3m juveniles spend with infants, but the best fit random intercepts LMEM suggests that juvenile females bias the time they spend within reach of others more strongly toward infants than do juvenile males (Table 5-22, Figure 5-38). In contrast, the best fit mean RP model finds no sex difference (Table 5-22). A qualitative examination of the individual OLS regressions suggests that, on average, juvenile females do spend more of their time within reach of others with infants than juvenile males do (Fig. 5-39). Analyses by sex find that juvenile males spend time within reach of infants expected at random (Table 5-22). The best fit linear LMEM finds that juvenile females spend more time than expected at random in reach of infants at the beginning of the year, but less as the year progresses, but the best fit mean RP model finds no difference from random expectation (Table 5-22). Therefore, I conclude that if juvenile females bias their time in proximity to others toward infants, it is limited to the distance of being within reach.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Dev	random int.	INT	-0.12	0.22	7	-0.54	0.61
	Time in	LMEM	SEX	0.33	0.32	83	1.03	0.31
cont Infa	contact	mean RP	INT	-0.06	0.07	7	-0.86	0.42
	111121115		SEX	-0.10	0.11	7	-0.92	0.39
JUV	Dev	random int.	INT	0.17	0.30	7	0.56	0.59
	Time in	LMEM	SEX	1.03	0.43	83	2.43	0.02*
	reach	mean RP	INT	-0.11	0.06	7	-1.87	0.10†
	Infants		SEX	0.08	0.09	7	0.83	0.44
	JF Dev Time in reach Infants	linear	INT	2.01	0.47	3	4.32	0.02*
		LMEM	TIME	-0.16	0.06	40	-2.47	0.02*
		mean RP	INT	-0.14	0.08	3	-1.78	0.17
	JM Dev	random int.	INT	0.16	0.21	4	0.77	0.49
	lime in	LMEM						
	Infants	mean RP	INT	0.15	0.23	4	0.65	0.55
JUV	Dev	random int.	INT	1.48	0.46	7	3.19	0.02*
	Time in	LMEM	SEX	0.82	0.67	83	1.23	0.22
	3m Infonto	mean RP	INT	1.54	0.40	7	3.85	0.006*
	Infants		SEX	0.03	0.58	7	0.04	0.97

 TABLE 5-22. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to infants by juveniles.



Fig. 5-38. Deviations from expected time within reach of infants for juveniles.



Fig. 5-39. Individuals OLS regressions of deviations from expected time within reach of infants for juveniles.

With respect to juvenile peers, the picture is even less clear, due to sampling issues. Due to the particular distribution of juveniles across study groups, only two juvenile males had access to juvenile females as social partners. Furthermore, in the fourth quarter of the observation year, only two juvenile females had access to another juvenile female. Similarly, only two juvenile males had access to another juvenile male throughout the year. As a result, any trends and significant differences in time spent in proximity to other juveniles are based on extremely small samples.

That said, with respect to time spent in proximity to juvenile females, the best fit quadratic LMEM suggests that there may be sex-differential tendencies in time spent in proximity to juvenile females in which juvenile females spend less of their contact time with juvenile females than juvenile males do, but more of it as time progresses (Table 5-23, Figure 5-40). However, the best fit mean RP model finds no overall difference across the year. With respect to time spent in proximity to juvenile males, the best fit LMEMs (which, in these cases, were the best fitting models overall) suggest that juvenile females bias their contact time away from juvenile males more than juvenile males do (Table 5-23, Figure 5-41) and but bias their time within 3m of others toward juvenile males than juvenile males do (Table 5-23, Figure 5-42). Notably, the effect sizes for these findings of trends and significant sex differences are smaller than those for measures of proximity to both infants and adults (Tables 5-22 through 5-21), and much smaller than measures of proximity to adults (Tables 5-20 and 5-21). Therefore, because the apparent sex differences are slight and are based on very small samples, I conclude that there is no strong evidence for sexdifferential patterns of proximity to juveniles among other juveniles. There are no

unequivocal temporal patterns in the allocation of time in proximity to other juveniles throughout the observation year.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Dev	quadratic	INT	0.59	0.29	7	2.06	0.08^{+}
	Time in	LMEM	SEX	-0.80	0.41	73	-1.94	0.06^{+}
	contact		TIME	-0.25	0.10	6	-2.61	0.04*
	JI		$TIME^2$	0.02	0.01	73	2.77	0.007*
			SEX*TIME	0.22	0.13	73	1.66	0.10†
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.01	0.01	73	-1.15	0.26
		mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.05	7	-0.33	0.75
			SEX	0.01	0.08	7	0.12	0.91
JUV	Dev	mean RP	INT	-0.04	0.03	7	-1.36	0.22
	Time in		SEX	-0.09	0.05	7	-1.82	0.11
	reach IF							
JUV	Dev	random	INT	0.65	0.31	7	2.08	0.08†
	Time in 3m JF	int. LMEM	SEX	0.46	0.45	83	1.03	0.31
	5	mean RP	INT	0.64	0.36	7	1.79	0.12
			SEX	0.47	0.51	7	0.93	0.38
JUV	Dev	quadratic	INT	0.09	0.16	7	0.58	0.58
	Time in	LMEM	SEX	-0.46	0.22	73	-2.07	0.04*
	contact		TIME	0.00	0.05	6	0.03	0.98
	JM		$TIME^2$	0.00	0.00	73	-0.65	0.52
			SEX*TIME	0.10	0.07	73	1.38	0.17
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.01	0.01	73	-1.05	0.30
JUV	Dev	random	INT	0.09	0.08	7	1.06	0.32
	Time in reach	int. LMEM	SEX	-0.18	0.12	83	-1.55	0.13
	JM	mean RP	INT	-0.02	0.04	7	-0.35	0.74
			SEX	-0.09	0.06	7	-1.43	0.20
JUV	Dev	random	INT	0.48	0.27	7	1.77	0.12
	Time in	int.	SEX	0.82	0.39	83	2.09	0.04*
	3m JM	LMEM	INT	0.29	0.22	7	1.32	0.23
			SEX	0.25	0.31	7	0.79	0.46

TABLE 5-23. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time spent in proximity to juveniles by juveniles.



Fig. 5-40. Deviations from expected time in contact with juvenile females for juveniles.



Fig. 5-41. Deviations from expected time in contact with juvenile males for juveniles.



Figure 5-42. Deviations from expected time in contact with juvenile males for juveniles.

Summary – Proximity Patterns

Subadults do not exhibit sex differences in any global measures of proximity

(Table 5-24).

		Sex		
Age	Intrinsic affiliation	Difference	Time et	ffects
	Total # neighbors in contact	•	₽ ₽	5 ?
fINF	Total # neighbors in reach	•	Ŷ -	8 -
	Total # neighbors in 3m	•	•	•
	Time in contact with others	•	₽ ₽	3 ?
	Time in reach of others	•	₽ ₽	3 ?
	Time in 3m of others	•	•	•
	Time in 5m of others	•	Ŷ -	8 -
	Total # neighbors in contact	•	₽ ₽	3 ?
	Total # neighbors in reach	•	•	•
	Total # neighbors in 3m			
JUV	Time in contact with others		₽ ?	√ ?
	Time in reach of others		Ŷ -	8 –
	Time in 3m of others			
	Time in 5m of others			
~				

TABLE 5-24. Summary of sex differences in global proximity measures insubadults.

C

Sex difference: • no difference Time effects: – decrease with time

2 quadratic effect (decrease with time, increase with time²)

• no effect

Infants exhibit no convincing sex differences in their proximity patterns to particular age/sex classes at these sample sizes (Table 5-25). In contrast, some sex differences in proximity patterns to particular age/sex classes are well-established by the ages of 12-13 months (Table 5-25).

Juvenile sex differences are largely limited to patterns of proximity to adults in which each sex biases its time in proximity to others more strongly toward samesex adults than the other. Both sexes of juveniles bias their time within 3m of others toward adult females, but juvenile females tend to do so more strongly (Table 5-25). Furthermore, the pattern of bias toward adult females is attenuated through time for juvenile females but remains constant for juvenile males. This is similar to the adult sex-differential pattern in which adult females bias their time within 3m of others toward adult females at the beginning of the observation year, but less so as the year progresses while adult males show no temporal change. It is dissimilar to the adult pattern in that juveniles of both sexes bias their time within 3m of others more heavily toward adult females than do adults (Fig. 5-43), such that even though juvenile males spend less of their time within 3m of adult females than juvenile females do, they still spend more of it with adult females than expected at random, while adult males spend time within 3m of adult females as expected at random.

The juvenile pattern is also dissimilar to the adult pattern in that juvenile females do not spend more of their time in contact to adult females than do juvenile males. The matrilineal relationships of adults older than four years of age in this sample are not well-known. As such, it is possible that adult females who were spending more time in contact with other adult females were actually spending time in contact with their own mothers, and that this pattern might be present in analyses of juvenile time in proximity to their mothers. However, no clear sex differences in juvenile proximity to their mothers were found (Table 5-26).

		Proximity				
Age	Partner type	level	Sex-typed bias		Time effect	
		contact	♀—?	⟨ – ?	♀∩	<i>∆</i> ∩
	AF	reach		•	Ŷ -	8 -
		3m	•	•	Ŷ -	8 -
		contact		•	♀∩	<i>∆</i> ∩
	AM	reach		•	♀ +	3 +
		3m	•	•	•	•
		contact	•	•	•	•
INF	JF	reach	•	•	•	•
		3m	•	•	•	•
		contact	•	•	•	•
	JM	reach	•	•	•	•
		3m	•	•	•	•
		contact	•	•	•	•
	INFs	reach	•	•	•	•
		3m	•	•	•	•
		contact	•	•	•	•
	AF	reach	•	•	•	•
		3m	♀++	ð +	•	•
		contact	Ŷ -	•	•	•
	AM	reach	Ŷ —	5 -	♀ ++	3 +
		3m	Ŷ —	5 -		
		contact	•	•	•	•
JUV	JF	reach	•	•	•	•
		3m	•	•	•	•
		contact	•	•	•	•
	JM	reach	•	•	•	•
		3m	•	•	•	•
		contact	•	•	•	•
	INFs	reach	♀+?	•	♀-?	•
		3m	•	•	•	•

 TABLE 5-25. Summary of sex differences in bias of proximity to each partner age/sex class in subadults.

TABLE 5-25. Continued.

Sex-typed bias: + significantly more than expected at random
++ significantly more than +;
- significantly less than expected at random;
— significantly less than –;
? equivocal result
• no difference from expected at random
Time effects: + increase with time
– decrease with time
\square quadratic effect (– with time, + with time ²);
\square quadratic effect (+ with time, – with time ²);
P equivocal result

· no effect



Figure 5-43. Deviations from expected time in within 3m of adult females for adults and juveniles.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Dev Time in	random int.	INT	0.76	0.47	7	1.61	0.15
	contact	LMEM	SEX	1.19	0.68	83	1.75	0.08^{+}
	MOM	mean RP	INT	-0.08	0.14	7	-0.60	0.57
			SEX	0.32	0.19	7	1.63	0.15
JUV	Dev Time in	mean RP	INT	0.51	0.12	7	4.26	0.004*
	reach MOM		SEX	-0.07	0.17	7	-0.38	0.72
JUV	Dev Time in	random int.	INT	0.81	0.45	7	1.79	0.12
3	3m MOM	LMEM	SEX	0.00	0.65	83	0.00	1.00
		mean RP	INT	0.80	0.51	7	1.57	0.16
			SEX	0.00	0.73	7	0.00	1.00

 TABLE 5-26. Model parameter estimates of deviations from expected time in contact with mother by juveniles.

MOM = the focal individual's mother; * p \leq 0.05; † 0.05 \leq 0.10. All tables follow these conventions.

The most marked sex difference in proximity patterns among juveniles are in proximity to adult males. Juvenile females bias their time in proximity to others away from adult males at all distances, and more strongly than juvenile males do at all distances (Table 5-25). This is similar to the adult pattern in which adult females bias their time in contact with and within 3m of others more strongly away from adult males than adult males do. It is different from the adult pattern in that adult females exhibit significantly less bias away from proximity to males as the observation year progresses, while juvenile females exhibit no temporal change in contact bias, but do tend to be less biased against spending time within reach and within 3m of adult males as the observation year progresses.

The juvenile male pattern also does not match the adult male pattern of proximity to adult males. Adult males spend less of their contact time and time within 3m of others on adult males as time progresses, while juvenile males exhibit no temporal change in the amount of contact time or time within 3m of others they spend with adult males, and increase the amount of time within reach of others they spend with adult males (Table 5-25). For juveniles, there is no strong evidence of sex differences in proximity bias toward other juveniles and infants.

INFANT INTEREST

In terms of behaviors that can be interpreted as measures of infant interest, adult females bias their grooming toward infants while males do not, and adult females spend more time in contact with infants than males do (although less time than expected at random). Like adults, juvenile females bias their grooming time toward infants (Table 5-11), while juvenile males bias them slightly away from infants (Table 5-11). But unlike adults, there is no sex difference in bias toward time spent in contact with infants (Table 5-25), and instead juvenile females may exhibit a bias toward spending more of their time within reach of others with infants when infants are young (Table 5-25), while adult females show no such bias. The lack of a sex-difference in contact time bias with respect to infants does not lie with juvenile females, but with juvenile males. Unlike adult males, who spend significantly less time in contact with infants than expected at random, juvenile males do not bias their contact time toward or away from infants (Table 5-25), just like juvenile and adult females do not.

The juvenile female bias in time within reach of others toward infants when infants are young could indicate a stronger desire on the part of juvenile females to be near infants than adult females, or it could be a sampling artifact of juvenile proximity maintenance to their mothers, who tended to have dependent infants. The juvenile bias toward proximity within 3m of infants is probably due simply to their spending more time in proximity to their mothers and/or adult females than juvenile males do.

SCENT MARKING

In adults, males antebrachial and brachial mark, anoint tail, and tail wave significantly more often than adult females, but there is no sex difference in rates of anogenital marking, and adults were almost never observed to tail play.

Infants

Infants were never observed to anogenital mark, anoint tail, or tail wave. One infant male was observed to brachial "mark" on one occasion and to antebrachial "mark" on two occasions. The same infant was observed to tail play on three occasions.

Juveniles

Juveniles were never observed to anogenital mark, anoint tail, or tail wave. Juveniles of both sexes were observed to tail play, but juvenile males exhibited significantly higher rates of tail play than juvenile females (Table 5-27, Figure 5-44). Juvenile males also exhibited significantly higher rates of brachial and antebrachial marking (Table 5-27, Figures 5-45 and 5-46); like adult females, juvenile females were never observed to engage in these behaviors. It seems that juvenile males are developing sex-typed scent marking behavior, and exhibit tail play in place of anointing their tails (which involves the identical motor pattern) and tail waving.

beliavior by juvelines.								
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	Rates of tail	mean RP	INT	0.67	0.15	7	4.36	0.003*
	play		SEX	-0.62	0.22	7	-2.82	0.03*
	Rates of	mean RP	INT	0.63	0.13	7	4.67	0.002*
	antebrachial mark		SEX	-0.63	0.19	7	-3.26	0.01*
	Rates of	mean RP	INT	0.13	0.03	7	5.09	0.001*
	brachial mark		SEX	-0.13	0.04	7	-3.56	0.01*

 TABLE 5-27. Model parameter estimates for rates of scent-marking related behavior by juveniles.

* p ≤ 0.05



Fig. 5-44. Juvenile rates of tail play.



Fig. 5-45. Juvenile rates of antebrachial mark.



Fig. 5-46. Juvenile rates of brachial mark.

SUMMARY – SUBADULT DEVELOPMENT OF ADULT SEX-TYPED BEHAVIORS

Adult sex-typed patterns of agonism do not have a subadult developmental component. Higher rates of overall aggression and supplanting by adult females are not mirrored by the subadult cohorts (Table 5-28). Nor to subadults exhibit any agonistic bias toward any particular age/sex class as is found in adults (Table 5-29), even when adjustments are made to consider age-mates rather than adult partners. Global adult sex-typed proximity patterns are also not found in subadults; females subadults are not more cohesive than males (or males less so) as in adults (Table 5-28).

However, juveniles do show some similarities to adults in terms of their affiliation with and proximity to particular age/sex classes. Juvenile females bias their grooming away from adult males and toward infants, just as adult females do (Table 5-29). Additionally, adult sex-typed patterns of proximity bias with respect to adult males and females are partially exhibited by juveniles—juvenile females bias their contact time away from adult males and more strongly toward adult females than their male peers (Table 5-29).

Juvenile males also exhibit behavioral patterns that resemble those of samesex adults. Juvenile males exhibit significantly more brachial and antebrachial marking than do females, even if they do not exhibit the temporal patterns in their marking behavior found in adult males (Table 5-30).

		Sex					
Intrinsic behavior	Age	Difference	Time	effects			
	AD	♀ +	•	•			
Aggression	JUV	•	•	•			
	INF		•	•			
	AD	♀ +	•	•			
Supplant	JUV	•	•				
	INF		•				
	AD	♀ +	•	•			
I otal # neighbors in	JUV		₽ ?	3 ₽			
contact	INF		Ŷ ?	3 ₽			
	AD	Q +	•	•			
Total # neighbors in	JUV	•	•				
Icacii	INF		Ŷ –	8 -			
	AD	♀ +	•	•			
Total # neighbors in 3m	JUV	•	•	•			
	INF		•	•			
	AD	Q +	•	ð +			
Time in contact with	JUV		$\begin{array}{c} \bigcirc \end{array}$	3 ₽			
oulers	INF		$\begin{array}{c} \bigcirc \end{array}$	3 ₽			
	AD	Q +	Ŷ-	•			
Time in reach of others	JUV	•	Q –	8 -			
	INF		$\stackrel{\bigcirc}{=} \mathbf{P}$	₹?			
	AD	♀ +	♀ +	ð +			
Time in 3m of others	JUV	•	•	•			
	INF	•	•	•			
	AD	♀ +	♀+	ð +			
Time in 5m of others	JUV	•	•	•			
	INF	•	<u> </u>	ð <u>–</u>			
Sex difference: + significantly greater							
• no difference							
lime effects: + increase with time							
- decrease with time $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{$							
l quadratic	ettect (-	- with time, +	with tim	ne⁻)			
· no effect							

TABLE 5-28. Summary of sex differences in adult sex-typed global agonism and proximity measures across age classes.

Intrinsic	Partner	Sex-typed					
behavior	type	Age	bias		Time effect		
		AD	•	♂+	•	•	
	AM	JUV	n/a				
Supplant		INF	n/a				
		JUV	•	•			
	JM	INF	n/a				
		AD	Ŷ -	•	•	•	
	AM	JUV	Ŷ –	•			
Contraction		INF	•	•	Ŷ -	?	
Grooming		AD	¥ +	•	Ŷ -	•	
	INFs	JUV	♀ +	8-			
		INF	•	•			
		AD	¥ +	•	•	•	
Lime in	AF	JUV		•	•	•	
contact		INF	Ŷ —	8-	♀∩	<i></i> ∂∩	
		AD	¥ +	•	Ŷ -	•	
Time in 3m	AF	JUV	♀++	∂ +	•	•	
		INF		•	Q —	8 –	
T'''		AD	Q -	\$ +	♀ +	8 –	
lime in	AM	JUV	Ŷ -	•	•	•	
contact		INF	•	•	₽∩	∂ ∩	
		AD	Ŷ —	ð –	•	5 -	
Time in 3m	AM	JUV	Ŷ —	ð –	•	•	
		INF	•	•	•	•	
Time		AD	Ŷ —	8-	•	•	
	JM	JUV	•	•	•	•	
contact		INF	•	•	•	•	
		AD	•	\$ +	♀ +	•	
Time in 3m	JM	JUV	•	•	•	•	
		INF	•	•	•	•	
Time		AD	•	8-	•	•	
1 ime in	INFs	JUV	•	•	•	•	
		INF	•	•	•	•	

TABLE 5-29. Summary of sex differences in adult sex-typed agonism to,
grooming of, and proximity to each partner age/sex class in subadults.IntrinsicPartnerSex-typed
TABLE 5-29. Continued.
Sex-typed bias: + significantly more than expected at random
++ significantly more than +;
 significantly less than expected at random;
— significantly less than –;
• no difference from expected at random
Time effects: + increase with time
– decrease with time
\square quadratic effect (+ with time, – with time ²);
· no effect

TABLE 5-30. Summary of sex differences in adult sex-typed scent marking across all age classes.

Intrinsic		Sex					
behavior	Age	Difference	Time effe	ects			
Antohraphial	AD	\$ +	ð –	•			
mark	JUV	\$ +	•	•			
	INF	n/a	•	•			
Brachial mark	AD	\$ +	ð –				
	JUV	\$ +	•	•			
	INF	n/a	•	•			
	AD	\$ +	•				
Anoint tail	JUV	n/a	•	•			
	INF	n/a	•				
	AD						
Tail wave	JUV	n/a	•	•			
	INF	n/a	•				

Sex difference: + significantly greater Time effect: - decrease with time

• no effect

Infants do not exhibit any sex differences in any adult sex-typed behaviors (Tables 5-28 through 5-30); adult-like behavioral sex differences are only found in juveniles. Due to the sampling issues in the infant cohort, I cannot exclude the possibility that juvenile sex-differences begin to develop before one year of age, but I can clearly conclude that some adult sex-differences develop during the subadult period, between 12 and 23 months at the latest.

Additionally, these juvenile sex differences almost certainly develop before gonadal maturation. These juveniles were captured during the months of June and July, and they were still smaller in body size than adults, with no indication of the development of secondary sexual characteristics (personal obs.). Furthermore, the juvenile cohort was never seen to anogenital mark, a behavior which is thought to be a behavioral marker of sexual maturation.

The behavioral sex differences exhibited by juveniles are not always entirely concordant with those seen in adults. However, this does not indicate that the juvenile sex differences found do not represent subadult developmental developmental trajectories of eventual adult sex-typed patterns. Developmental components of adult sex-typed behaviors are not expected to exactly match the fully developed adult manifestations of those behaviors. Furthermore, generalized or baseline sex-typed behavioral tendencies will be overlain and influenced by factors that will differ by age class. Baseline proximity patterns, for example, will be further shaped by the adult need to mate during the mating season, which will not influence juvenile proximity patterns, and by the juvenile tendency to maintain proximity to their mothers, which will not constrain the association patterns of non-natal adult males. The adult sex-typed behaviors that appear to have a subadult developmental component that, therefore, might be influenced by subadult social interactions are: sex-typed patterns of grooming of adult males and infants, sex-typed patterns of proximity bias with respect to adult females and adult males, sex-typed patterns of infant interest (represented by grooming and proximity bias), and sex-typed patterns of scent marking (Table 5-31).

	Partner		Sex
Intrinsic behavior	type	Age	difference
	Adult of	AD	♀-
Creaming		JUV	♀ —
Grooning	Infants	AD	Q +
	mants	JUV	₽ +
Time in 3m	Adult O	AD	¥ +
	mun +	JUV	Q +
Time in contact	Adult of	AD	♀-
		JUV	Ŷ -
Time in 3m	Adult A	AD	♀ -
		JUV	♀ —
Time in close	Infants	AD	Q +
proximity	mants	JUV	₽ +
Antebrachial mark	n/a	AD	₹ +
	11/ a	JUV	3 +
Brachial mark	n/a	AD	3 +
	11/ a	JUV	

TABLE 5-31. Summary of adult sex-typed behaviors possessing a subadult developmental component.

Sex difference: + significantly greater - significantly less

As discussed in Chapter 4, expression of adult social behavior (sexually differentiated and otherwise) appears to be strongly driven by seasonal variation—in particular, by the birth season and the mating season. This is to be expected, as most adult females will be directly involved in the social activities and pressures unique to the birth season as a result of caring for a dependent infant, most males will be involved in the social activities and pressures unique to one of dispersal "seasons" that loosely corresponds with the birth season, and adults of both sexes will be directly involved in the social activities and pressures unique to the mating season. It is less obvious whether or how patterns of subadult social behavior will be affected by these seasonal variations, but given that adult social patterns are changing, subadult social patterns may undergo concomitant change, even if only due to constraint resulting from changes in adult interaction patterns.

CHAPTER 6: POTENTIAL EXTRINSIC MOTIVATORS OF INTRINSIC SEXUAL DIFFERENTIATION

The adult sex-typed behaviors that appear to have a subadult developmental component are: sex-typed patterns of grooming of adult males and infants, sex-typed patterns of proximity bias with respect to adult females and adult males, sex-typed patterns of infant interest, and sex-typed patterns of scent marking. Because these behaviors have a developmental component that appears before gonadal maturation, they must be dependent on pre-maturational inputs for their development—either prenatal processes, and/or postnatal but prematurational hormonal and/or social processes or ecological constraints. Unfortunately, the effects of prenatal processes on subadult behavior are beyond the scope of this study and will not be considered further. Postnatal, prematurational hormone effects will be investigated in future work. The present study will be limited only to a consideration of social and gross ecological processes that may shape the development of subadult behavioral sex differences. There are two main types of behavioral interactions that might shape the development of behavioral sex differences-other individuals may be either differentially agonistic or affiliative toward subadults of each sex. Due to the particular distributions of juveniles and infants across groups in this sample, it is difficult to characterize the sex-typed interactions of juveniles with other juveniles and impossible to characterize those of infants with other infants. Therefore, only the behavior of older age cohorts toward infants and juveniles will be considered here.

AFFILIATION (GROOMING) FROM OTHERS

Infants

Although there were no clear intrinsic behavioral sex differences among infants, a number of intrinsic behavioral sex differences were found among juveniles. While the presence of sex-differential treatment by others toward infants apparently did not motivate the immediate development of sex-differential behavior in those individuals, sex-differential treatment of infants could be important for shaping later behavioral sex differences. Therefore, despite the lack of intrinsic behavioral sex differentiation in infants found in this sample, sex-differential treatment of infants by older cohorts was still investigated.

There is no clear evidence of sex-differential receipt of grooming in total, or from particular age/sex classes except from adult males (Table 6-1). The best fit linear RP model suggests that infant females tend to receive less overall grooming than infant males (Fig. 6-1), but that this difference tends to decrease over time. Still, neither effect on overall grooming rates received reaches statistical significance. There are also no significant sex differences in the amount of grooming received from mothers, non-maternal adult females, juvenile females, or juvenile males (Table 6-1).

In contrast, the best fit mean RP model indicates that infant females receive significantly less grooming from adult males than infant males do (Table 6-1). Analyses of grooming received by adult males for each sex indicate that infant males receive slightly more grooming from adult males than infant females do and there is no temporal change in receipt of grooming for infant males, but that infant females receive less grooming from adult males through time (Table 6-1, Fig. 6-2).

299

Qualitative examination of individual OLS regressions (Fig. 6-3) illustrates that this result is due to an unusual pattern of grooming received by only one infant male (08M234), in which his grooming by adult males increased through time. This particular infant male had an ill mother who weaned him early and who, after that time, groomed him little. He may have been seeking out grooming from whence he was most likely to receive it and least likely to receive aggression. This pattern also mirrors the trends seen in overall rates of receipt of grooming, begging the question of whether this one infant male's receipt of grooming is driving the sex differential trends in overall rates of grooming received, but an examination of individual infant OLS regressions of time groomed per hour (Fig. 6-4) shows that this infant's grooming patterns do not account for those trends. Considering these results all together, I conclude that there is no good evidence that infants experience sex-differential grooming by adult males or that they experience sex-differential rates of grooming overall, although the latter may merit further research.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Groomed	linear	INT	2.91	0.35	27	8.23	<.0001*
	total	RP	TIME	-0.33	0.06	77	-5.65	<.0001*
			SEX	-0.80	0.46	27	-1.73	0.09†
			TIME*SEX	0.14	0.08	77	1.81	0.07†
INF	Groomed	random	INT	0.84	0.17	27	4.89	<.0001*
	by MOM	int. LMEM	SEX	0.00	0.24	79	0.00	1.00
		linear	INT	0.71	0.16	27	4.34	0.0002*
		RP	TIME	-0.09	0.02	77	-3.66	0.0005*
			SEX	0.06	0.21	27	0.28	0.78
			TIME*SEX	0.02	0.03	77	0.71	0.48
INF	Groomed	quad.	INT	1.58	0.29	27	5.36	<.0001*
by AF	LMEM	SEX	-0.38	0.40	58	-0.95	0.34	
			TIME	-0.50	0.18	17	-2.83	0.01*
			$TIME^2$	0.04	0.02	58	2.04	0.05*
			SEX*TIME	0.03	0.22	58	0.14	0.89
			$SEX*TIME^2$	0.01	0.02	58	0.35	0.73
		mean	INT	0.05	0.09	27	0.53	0.60
		RP	SEX	0.13	0.11	27	1.20	0.24
INF	Groomed	mean	INT	0.40	0.07	27	5.45	<.0001*
	by AM	RP	SEX	-0.23	0.10	27	-2.36	0.03*
	Male	mean	INT	0.40	0.09	13	4.33	0.0008*
	groomed by AM	RP						
	Female	linear	INT	0.34	0.06	14	5.57	<.0001*
	groomed by AM	RP	TIME	-0.04	0.01	49	-3.33	0.002*
INF	Groomed	random	INT	0.12	0.05	27	2.48	0.02*
	by JF	int. LMEM	SEX	-0.06	0.06	79	-0.92	0.36
INF	Groomed	mean	INT	0.01	0.02	27	0.73	0.47
	by JM	RP	SEX	0.03	0.02	27	1.15	0.26

 TABLE 6-1. Model parameter estimates for time groomed by others for infants.

* p ≤ 0.05 ; † 0.05 \leq 0.10



Fig. 6-1. Average time groomed by others for infants.



Fig. 6-2. Average time groomed by adult males for infants.



Fig. 6-3. Individual OLS regressions for average time groomed by adult males for infants.



Fig. 6-4. Individual OLS regressions for average time groomed by others for infants.

Juveniles

There is no evidence that juveniles differ by sex in the rates at which they receive grooming—either overall, or from particular age/sex classes (Table 6-2).

	juveniles.										
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р			
JUV	Groomed	random int.	INT	0.84	0.22	7	3.87	0.006*			
	TOT	LMEM	SEX	0.17	0.31	83	0.55	0.58			
		mean RP	INT	0.18	0.06	7	2.81	0.03*			
			SEX	-0.06	0.09	7	-0.62	0.56			
JUV	UV Groomed 1 by MOM 1	random int.	INT	0.16	0.13	7	1.28	0.24			
		LMEM	SEX	0.24	0.18	83	1.34	0.18			
		mean RP	INT	0.00	0.03	7	0.02	0.99			
			SEX	0.01	0.04	7	0.38	0.71			
JUV	Groomed	mean RP	INT	0.03	0.03	7	0.78	0.46			
	by AF		SEX	0.01	0.04	7	0.21	0.84			
JUV	Groomed	random int.	INT	0.57	0.24	7	2.34	0.05*			
by AM	by AM	LMEM	SEX	-0.48	0.36	83	-1.34	0.18			
	mean RP	INT	0.01	0.01	7	0.92	0.39				
			SEX	-0.01	0.01	7	-1.08	0.32			

 TABLE 6-2. Model parameter estimates for time groomed by others for iuveniles.

TOT = total; * $p \le 0.05$. All tables follow these conventions.

AGGRESSION AND SUPPLANTS RECEIVED FROM OTHERS

Infants

There is no evidence that infants received sex-differential expressions of

overt aggression—either overall, or from particular age/sex classes (Table 6-3).

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	TOT	random int.	INT	0.74	0.18	27	4.15	0.0003*
	Aggression	LMEM	SEX	-0.10	0.24	79	-0.44	0.66
	received	mean RP	INT	0.30	0.12	27	2.57	0.02*
			SEX	-0.15	0.15	27	-0.96	0.34
INF	Aggression	random int.	INT	0.14	0.08	27	1.67	0.11
	from	LMEM	SEX	0.07	0.11	79	0.67	0.51
	MOM	mean RP	INT	0.14	0.08	27	1.61	0.12
			SEX	0.07	0.11	27	0.66	0.51
INF	Aggression	mean RP	INT	0.1635	0.06	27	2.65	0.01*
	from AF		SEX	-0.066	0.08	27	-0.83	0.42
INF	Aggression	mean RP	INT	0.06	0.02	27	3.38	0.002*
	from AM		SEX	-0.03	0.02	27	-1.49	0.15
INF	Aggression	random int.	INT	0.02	0.02	27	0.92	0.37
	from JF	LMEM	SEX	0.00	0.03	79	0.11	0.91
INF	Aggression	random int.	INT	0.0074	0.04	27	0.18	0.85
	from JM	LMEM	SEX	0.0628	0.05	79	1.17	0.25
		mean RP	INT	0.01	0.04	27	0.17	0.87
			SEX	0.06	0.06	27	1.04	0.31

 TABLE 6-3. Model parameter estimates for rates of aggression received from others for infants.

* $p \le 0.05$

Infants do not experience sex differences in overall rates of being supplanted, or in being supplanted by any age/sex class except for in being supplanted by adult females (Table 6-4). Infant females are supplanted by adult females significantly more often than infant males are (Fig. 6-5). However, infants were never supplanted until the age of 2 months, and there were only three infant males in the sample older than 2 months of age, such that this result should be regarded cautiously. I think that this result accurately describes what happened in this sample and results from real differences in how often the males and females in this particular infant sample were supplanted. Qualitatively, my impression is that males of the infant cohort kept themselves out of situations in which they would be supplanted and that they were largely ignored by adults compared to females of the infant cohort. However, I feel less certain as to whether the few male infants in this sample accurately represent male infants more broadly.

		U	ullers by	mants.				
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	TOT	random	INT	0.13	0.07	27	1.89	0.07†
	Supplants	int. I MEM	SEX	0.04	0.09	79	0.46	0.65
	itterveu							
INF	Supplants	random	INT	0.03	0.02	27	1.90	0.07†
	from	int.	SEX	-0.03	0.02	79	-1.18	0.24
	MOM	LMEM						
INF	Supplants	mean RP	INT	0.02	0.02	27	0.88	0.39
	from AF		SEX	0.06	0.02	27	2.59	0.02*
INF	Supplants	random	INT	0.03	0.02	27	1.74	0.09†
	from AM	int.	SEX	-0.01	0.02	79	-0.44	0.66
		LMEM						
INF	Supplants	N/A	BEHA	VIOR N	OT SE	EN		
	from JF							
INF	Supplants	random	INT	0.00	0.03	27	0.00	1.00
	from JM	int. I MEM	SEX	0.04	0.04	79	1.25	0.22
		1/1/11/1/1						

 TABLE 6-4. Model parameter estimates for rates of supplants received from others by infants.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 6-5. Average rates of being supplanted by adult females for infants.

Juveniles

There are no juvenile sex differences in overall rates of overt aggression received, or in rates of aggression received from adult males and females. However, juvenile females receive significantly more aggression from their mothers than do juvenile males (Table 6-5, Fig. 6-6).

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
JUV	TOT	random int.	INT	0.40	0.12	7	3.43	0.01*
	Aggression	LMEM	SEX	0.23	0.16	83	1.39	0.17
received	mean RP	INT	0.34	0.09	7	3.83	0.006*	
			SEX	0.09	0.13	7	0.75	0.48
JUV	Aggression	random int.	INT	0.03	0.03	7	1.00	0.35
	from MOM	LMEM	SEX	0.13	0.05	83	2.74	0.007*
		mean RP	INT	0.04	0.04	7	0.92	0.39
			SEX	0.12	0.06	7	2.08	0.08^{+}
JUV	Aggression	random int.	INT	0.25	0.10	7	2.56	0.04*
	from AF	LMEM	SEX	0.09	0.14	83	0.63	0.53
		mean RP	INT	0.22	0.06	7	3.37	0.01*
			SEX	0.06	0.09	7	0.60	0.57
JUV	Aggression	mean RP	INT	0.08	0.03	7	2.79	0.03*
	from AM		SEX	-0.01	0.04	7	-0.14	0.89

 TABLE 6-5. Model parameter estimates for rates of aggression received from others for juveniles.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 6-6. Average rates of receiving aggression from mother for juveniles.

There are no juvenile sex differences in rates of being supplanted, either overall, or by adults of different sex classes (Table 6-6).

	others for javennes.									
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р		
JUV	TOT	random int.	INT	0.83	0.31	7	2.69	0.03*		
	Supplants	LMEM	SEX	-0.50	0.46	83	-1.08	0.28		
	received	mean RP	INT	0.35	0.07	7	4.92	0.002*		
			SEX	-0.03	0.10	7	-0.31	0.76		
JUV	Supplants	random int.	INT	0.04	0.02	7	1.76	0.12		
	from MOM	LMEM	SEX	-0.01	0.03	83	-0.19	0.85		
		mean RP	INT	0.04	0.03	7	1.18	0.28		
			SEX	0.01	0.04	7	0.27	0.79		
JUV	Supplants	mean RP	INT	0.13	0.03	7	4.09	0.005*		
	from AF		SEX	0.03	0.05	7	0.71	0.50		
JUV	Supplants	mean RP	INT	0.10	0.02	7	4.16	0.004*		
	from AM		SEX	-0.05	0.03	7	-1.41	0.20		

 TABLE 6-6. Model parameter estimates for rates of supplants received from others for juveniles.

* $p \le 0.05$

EXTRINSIC SOCIAL INTERACTIONS - SUMMARY

There is little evidence that extrinsic, sexually differentiation social interactions are important in the development of adult sex-typed behavior in *Lemur catta*, because there is very little evidence that extrinsic, sexually differentiated social interactions occur. Infants are not treated in sex-differential ways by others except for the possibility that infant females are supplanted more often by adult females than infant males are (Table 6-7). Similarly, juveniles do not experience sex differential treatment by adults except in that juvenile females receive more aggression from their mothers than do juvenile males (Table 6-8). These patterns of interaction are not simply the result of sex differences in proximity patterns to adult

females and mothers, however, because infant females are not significantly more often in proximity to adult females than infant males (Table 5-26) and juvenile females are not significantly more often in proximity to their mothers than juvenile males (Table 5-27). Thus, these sex differential interactions with mothers and nonmaternal adult females may represent real sex differences in treatment by other group members of potential import for the development of later behavior.

		Partner	Sex difference		
Age	Extrinsic behavior	type	or bias	Time	effect
	Groomed overall	n/a	•	Ŷ -	8-
		MOM		Ŷ -	8 -
		Adult \mathcal{Q}		\bigcirc ?	?
	Groomed	Adult $\vec{\bigcirc}$		Ŷ -	•
		Juvenile Q			•
		Juvenile 👌			•
	Overt aggression overall	n/a			•
		MOM		•	•
INF		Adult \mathcal{Q}		•	•
11 11	Overt aggression	Adult δ		•	•
		Juvenile \bigcirc		•	•
		Juvenile 👌	· ·	•	•
	Supplants overall	n/a		•	•
		MOM		•	•
		Adult Q	\downarrow + ·	•	•
	Supplants	Adult $\stackrel{?}{\lhd}$		•	•
_		Juvenile Q	n/a		
		Juvenile 👌	· ·	•	•
Sex-typ	ed bias: + significantly more	than opposite	sex or than expec	ted at ra	ndom

TABLE 6-7. Summary of sex differences in extrinsic social behavior receivedby infants.

Sex-typed bias: + significantly more than opposite sex or than expected at random

no difference from opposite sex or from expected at random

Time effects: - decrease with time

Quadratic effect (- with time, + with time²);

· no effect

		Partner	Sex differen	ce or		
Age	e Extrinsic behavior type		bias	5	Time effect	
	Groomed overall	n/a	•		•	•
		MOM	•	•	•	•
	Groomed	Adult \mathcal{Q}		•	•	•
		Adult δ	•	•		
	Overt aggression overall	n/a			•	•
JUV		MOM	♀ +	•		
	Overt aggression	Adult \mathcal{Q}	•	•		
		Adult δ		•		•
		MOM		•	•	•
	Supplants	Adult \mathcal{Q}		•	•	•
		Adult δ		•		

 TABLE 6-8. Summary of sex differences in extrinsic social behavior received by juveniles.

Sex difference: + significantly greater

Time effects: • no effect

SEX DIFFERENTIAL ECOLOGY

An animal's ecological needs will determine where it should be in space and time, and as such, will affect the number, sex, and ages of the conspecifics with which that individual can or must interact [Altmann 1980]. Whenever males and females are foraging at different times, in different places, or are focusing on different resources, they will necessarily have access to a different set of social partners, and they may face different constraints on their interactions with those social partners. In such cases, sex-differential social behavior may be an artifact of sex-differential niche use. Further complicating the issue, some authors [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005] have proposed that the initial development of ecological niche divergence may sometimes stem from social causes, rather than the reverse. The simplest way to control for the effects of sex differences in ecology on sex-differential social behavior is to examine behavior that occurs before sexual differentiation in ecology. However, many juvenile primates exhibit sex-typical resource use patterns prior to sexual maturation [Grassi 2002], and mothers of some species might even base their own foraging choices on the sex of their dependent infant [Bercovitch 2002]. Detailed studies of diet at early ages should reveal whether young animals that are foraging in different places among different social partners actually differ in their diets. If not, such patterns would suggest that diverging dietary needs are not responsible for motivating sex-differential foraging behavior even if they are associated with time engaged in foraging.

Unfortunately, the developmental timeline of sexual differentiation in feeding ecology of *Lemur catta* is still unknown, and if it were generally known, yearly seasonal variation would call for a documentation of early dietary shifts in this particular sample in order to fully address this issue. A detailed investigation of the diets of the particular subadults sampled here was beyond the scope of this project. However, it is only the effects of dietary divergence on social divergence that is of interest here, and not dietary divergence, *per se.* Therefore, I have investigated subadult sex differences in social proximity during foraging. If sex differences in social proximity during foraging are present, they cannot reliably be attributed to either dietary or social sex differentiation by this study. But, if there are no sex differences in social proximity during foraging, dietary divergence is probably not driving sex differences in intrinsic social behavior.

Feeding time

While sex differences in amount of time spent feeding will not necessarily influence the set of social partners available to subadults in sex differential ways, it would affect the amount of time subadults have to express intrinsic behavioral sex differences. However, neither infants nor juveniles exhibit sex differences in the amount of time they spend feeding (Table 6-9).

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Time	random	INT	2.73	0.80	25	3.41	0.002*
	feeding	int.	SEX	0.36	1.09	78	0.33	0.74
		LMEM						
		quad. RP	INT	0.22	0.17	25	1.32	0.20
			SEX	-0.24	0.22	25	-1.11	0.28
			TIME	1.77	0.27	74	6.58	<.0001*
			$TIME^2$	-0.11	0.03	74	-3.43	0.001*
			SEX*TIME	0.35	0.34	74	1.02	0.31
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.04	0.04	74	-1.13	0.26
JUV	Time	random	INT	6.03	0.40	7	14.93	<.0001*
	feeding	int.		-0.95	0.58	83	-1.64	0.11
		LMEM	SEX					
		mean RP	INT	6.03	0.46	7	13.09	<.0001*
			SEX	-0.94	0.66	7	-1.43	0.20

TABLE 6-9. Model parameter estimates for time spent feeding by subadults.

* $p \le 0.05$

SEX DIFFERENCES IN PROXIMITY DURING FEEDING/FORAGING

Dietary sex divergence can occur in at least two ways—either through modeling of same-sex others or as a result of an intrinsic need to utilize sex-typed resources. This study cannot distinguish between them, but in either case, sex differences, if present, should be reflected in individuals' nearest neighbor distributions during feeding. If subadults are achieving dietary sexual differentiation through same-sex modeling, they should be closer to and more overtly attentive to same-sex adults. If they are simply driven to dietary sex differentiation by an underlying need to consume sexually differentiated food resources, they should find themselves in close proximity to other same-sex individuals who have the same underlying dietary needs. Therefore, to assess whether gross dietary sex differentiation is an important potential cause underlying the intrinsic subadult sex differences in social behavior documented in this study, the only measure of proximity during feeding and foraging investigated here was nearest neighbor identity.

Infants

There is no evidence of an infant sex difference in foraging time spent with adult females as nearest neighbors, but patterns of nearest neighbor association with mother and adult males during feeding are less clear (Table 6-10). The most complex LMEMs that could be fit were random intercepts models. Those indicate that there is no sex difference in foraging time spent with mother as a nearest neighbor, but an overall tendency for infant females to spend less foraging time with adult males as nearest neighbors than infant males do. In contrast, the best fit RP models are quadratic and account for temporal changes throughout the year. These suggest that there is a sex*time interaction with regard to foraging time spent with mother as a nearest neighbor in which females spend more of their foraging time with mother as a nearest neighbor as the observation year progresses, and that there is no sex difference with regard to foraging time spent with adult males as nearest neighbors. Examination of the scatterplots and individual OLS plots reveal that there is little reason to conclude that infant females are spending significantly more of their foraging time with mother as a nearest neighbors as time progresses (Figures 6-7, 6-8) and that there may be good reason to conclude that infant females, on average, tend to spend less of their foraging time with adult males than infant males do (Figures 6-9, 6-10). Because the LMEMs partially account for inter-individual variation and because their results are supported by a qualitative examination of the individual OLS regressions, I conclude that there is no sex difference in terms of infant feeding time spent with mother as a nearest neighbor but a tendency for infant females to spend less of their foraging time with adult males than infant males do. Incidentally, one of the three infant males for which good longitudinal data are available exhibits a different pattern from all other infants with regard to how much of his foraging time he spent as a nearest neighbor of adult males (08M155). This was not the infant whose mother was ill, so I have no reason to think that his unusual spatial patterning resulted from pathological processes.

Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	INF Dev feed rando		INT	0.84	0.22	25	3.87	0.0007*
nearest int.			0.09	0.29	78	0.33	0.75	
	MOM	LMEM	SEX					
		quad. RP	INT	0.26	0.14	25	1.87	0.07^{+}
			SEX	-0.20	0.18	25	-1.11	0.28
			TIME	0.22	0.12	74	1.92	0.06^{+}
			$TIME^2$	-0.02	0.01	74	-1.76	0.08^{+}
			SEX*TIME	0.32	0.14	74	2.28	0.03*
			SEX*TIME ²	-0.03	0.02	74	-1.88	0.06^{+}
INF	Dev feed	random	INT	-0.40	0.14	25	-2.79	0.01*
	nearest AF	int. LMEM	_	-0.04	0.19	78	-0.22	0.83
			SEX					
		linear RP	INT	-0.11	0.06	25	-1.85	0.08^{+}
			TIME	-0.11	0.03	76	-3.55	0.0007*
			SEX	0.07	0.08	25	0.88	0.39
			TIME*SEX	0.02	0.04	76	0.48	0.63
INF	Dev feed nearest AM	random int. LMEM	INT	-0.64	0.14	25	-4.60	0.0001*
				-0.32	0.18	78	-1.80	0.08^{+}
			SEX					
		quad. RP	INT	-0.08	0.05	25	-1.82	0.08^{+}
			SEX	0.09	0.06	25	1.51	0.14
			TIME	-0.39	0.07	74	-5.46	<.0001*
			TIME^2	0.04	0.01	74	3.73	0.0004*
			SEX*TIME	-0.12	0.09	74	-1.32	0.19
			SEX*TIME ²	0.00	0.01	74	0.00	1.00

TABLE 6-10. Model parameter estimates for deviations from expected time spent feeding with nearest neighbors at random for infants by adult partner type.

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$

Dev indicates deviation from time expected at random



Fig. 6-7. Deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for infants.



Fig. 6-8. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for infants.



Fig. 6-9. Deviations from expected time foraging with adult males as nearest neighbors at random for infants.



Fig. 6-10. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for infants.

There are no infant sex differences in foraging time spent with juveniles or

other infants as nearest neighbors (Table 6-11).

partner type.								
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р
INF	Dev feed	random int.	INT	0.03	0.05	25	0.52	0.61
	nearest JF	LMEM	SEX	0.01	0.07	78	0.15	0.88
INF	Dev feed	mean RP	INT	0.00	0.00	25	-1.70	0.10†
	nearest JM		SEX	0.00	0.00	25	0.91	0.37
INF	Dev feed nearest INFs	random int. LMEM	INT	-0.09	0.07	25	-1.27	0.22
			SEX	0.13	0.10	78	1.28	0.20
		mean RP	INT	-0.045	0.03	25	-1.57	0.13
			SEX	0.0115	0.04	25	0.30	0.77

TABLE 6-11. Model parameter estimates for deviations from expected time spent feeding with nearest neighbors at random for infants by subadult partner type

 $\dagger 0.05$

Juveniles

There are no juvenile sex differences in feeding time spent with adult males and non-maternal adult females as nearest neighbors, but there is some suggestion that juvenile females tend to spend more of their feeding time with their mothers as nearest neighbors than juvenile males do (Table 6-12, Fig. 6-11). Qualitative examination of the individual OLS regressions (Fig. 6-12) indicate that only two of four juvenile males spend less feeding time with their mothers as nearest neighbors than the juvenile female group does. Therefore, I conclude that there is no strong evidence that juveniles exhibit a sex difference in their feeding time spent with their mothers as nearest neighbors, but suggest that this pattern deserves future investigation.

type.									
Age	Variable	Model	Effect	est.	SE	DF	t	р	
JUV	JUV Dev feed nearest MOM	random int. LMEM	INT	-0.07	0.16	7	-0.44	0.68	
			SEX	0.40	0.23	83	1.72	0.09†	
		mean RP	INT	-0.08	0.18	7	-0.42	0.68	
			SEX	0.41	0.26	7	1.54	0.17	
JUV	V Dev feed nearest AF	random int. LMEM	INT	0.28	0.24	7	1.15	0.29	
			SEX	-0.36	0.35	83	-1.04	0.30	
		mean RP	INT	-0.12	0.16	7	-0.71	0.50	
			SEX	0.08	0.23	7	0.34	0.75	
JUV	V Dev feed nearest AM	random int. LMEM	INT	-0.86	0.14	7	-5.96	0.0006*	
			SEX	-0.06	0.21	83	-0.31	0.76	
		mean RP	INT	-0.87	0.16	7	-5.26	0.001*	
_			SEX	-0.06	0.24	7	-0.24	0.82	

TABLE 6-12. Model parameter estimates for deviations from expected time spent feeding with nearest neighbors at random for juveniles by adult partner

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 6-11. Deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for juveniles.



Fig. 6-12. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging with mother as a nearest neighbor at random for juveniles.

As with previous analyses of juvenile-juvenile interactions, the results of analyses of bias in feeding time spent with other juveniles are problematic. There is no evidence of a juvenile sex difference in feeding time spent with juvenile females as a nearest neighbor, but juvenile females apparently spend significantly more feeding time with a juvenile male as a nearest neighbor than juvenile males do (Table 6-13). Recall, though, that only two juvenile males had the opportunity to have a juvenile male nearest neighbor; all juvenile male-juvenile male interactions describe only those of this dyad, and my impression of this dyad was that their relationship was not particularly affiliative. Furthermore, examination of the scatterplot (Fig. 6-13) and individual OLS regressions (Fig. 6-14) show that the significant effect here is due solely to the feeding nearest neighbor patterns of only two of the juvenile females, and only due to feeding proximities late in the year. Therefore, I conclude that there is no good evidence that juveniles exhibit a sex difference in their tendency to feed near other juveniles. There is also no evidence that juveniles exhibit a sex difference in their feeding time spent with infants as nearest neighbors (Table 6-14).

partner type. Variable Model Effect SE DF t Age est. р IUV Dev feed 0.14 0.07 7 1.99 0.09† random INT nearest JF int. 83 -0.77 SEX -0.08 0.10 0.45 LMEM 7 0.30 JUV Dev feed mean RP 0.03 0.03 1.12 INT nearest 7 0.04 2.63 0.03* 0.11 SEX JΜ Dev feed 0.19 7 -3.70 0.008* JUV linear RP -0.70 INT nearest 0.03 2.79 0.09 81 0.007* TIME INFs 7 0.18 0.27 0.64 0.54 SEX -0.05 0.05 81 -0.95 0.34 TIME*SEX

TABLE 6-13. Model parameter estimates for deviations from expected time spent feeding with nearest neighbors at random for juveniles by subadult

* $p \le 0.05$; † 0.05 < $p \le 0.10$



Fig. 6-13. Deviations from expected time foraging with juveniles males as nearest neighbors at random for juveniles.



Fig. 6-14. Individual OLS regressions of deviations from expected time foraging with juveniles males as nearest neighbors at random for juveniles.

Ecological sex differences - Summary

Gross ecological factors do not seem to be key causal motivators of sexual differentiation in subadult intrinsic social behavior because there are no significant subadult sex differences in gross ecological measures (Table 6-14).

		Partner	Sex-typed bias			
Age	Ecological factor	type			Time effect	
	Time spent feeding	n/a	•	•	•	•
		MOM	•	•	•	•
		AF	•	•	•	•
INF	Nearest neighbor when feeding	AM	•	•	•	•
		JF	•	•	•	•
		JM	•	•	•	•
		INFs	•	•	•	•
	Time spent feeding	n/a	•	•	•	•
		MOM	•	•	•	•
		AF	•	•	•	•
JUV	Nearest neighbor when feeding	AM	•	•	•	•
		JF		•		•
		JM	•	•	•	•
		INFs		•		•

 TABLE 6-14. Summary of subadult sex differences in socioecological measures.

Sex-typed bias: • no difference from expected at random Time effects: • no effect

SUMMARY - EXTRINSIC MOTIVATORS OF INTRINSIC SEXUAL

DIFFERENTIATION

In sum, the only potential causal factor of subadult sexually differentiated behavioral development identified in this study is higher rates of aggression by mothers toward their juvenile daughters than toward their juvenile sons. Whether higher rates of maternal aggression toward juvenile daughters is a causal factor motivating juvenile sex differentiation in intrinsic social behavior depends on

whether increased maternal aggression precedes intrinsic sex differences.

Unfortunately, the temporal resolution afforded by the data from this study is insufficient to address this point for several reasons. First, maternal aggression toward juveniles is not very common; second, there were only four juveniles of each sex in the collared population. The combination of these two factors results in poor temporal resolution of the development of this sex difference in the juvenile sample. Third, due to the sampling problems in the infant cohort at later ages, there is no reliable indication of what is happening with maternal aggression toward offspring in the months immediately preceding the data presented here on the juvenile cohort. In other words, unless good resolution on the development of this sex difference is also available for the period of 0-11 months, one cannot be certain that one has captured the onset of this sex difference. Resolution of this issue will have to wait for future study.

CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS SEX-TYPED SOCIALIZATION

This study found essentially no evidence for extrinsic socialization of the development of sex-typed adult behavior in *Lemur catta*. Twenty-two quantifiable sex differential behaviors were identified in adults. As expected, infants were not found to exhibit adult patterns of behavioral sex differentiation for any of those twenty-two behaviors (*contra* Figure 2-1-A). Therefore, infants were not sexually differentiated in any of the adult sex-typed behaviors documented in this study, allowing for the possibility of a pre-pubertal developmental component to each (Figure 2-1-B).

However, only a portion of these adult sex-typed behaviors were found to differ by sex in the juvenile cohort—patterns of grooming of adult males and infants; some elements of patterns of proximity to adult females, adult males, and infants; and male-typical marking behaviors (Table 5-31). The rest presumably develop sometime after the age of 24 months, just prior to, at, or after sexual maturity, as in Figure 2-2. While these late-developing behaviors may depend on social input for their appearance and maintenance, it is difficult to make a case that they are not simply dependent on gonadal hormone input of instead. Therefore, only overall grooming rates and patterns of grooming of adult males and infants, patterns of proximity to adult females, adult males, and infants, and male-typical marking behaviors are considered potential targets of extrinsic socialization.

This study found evidence of sex differential treatment of subadults by others in only two behaviors—infant females are supplanted more often by adult females than infant males are, and juvenile females receive more aggression from their mothers than juvenile males do. Therefore, only two sex differential social 326 interactions (one in infancy and one in juvenility) were potential socialization agents for eight sexually differentiated juvenile behaviors. Unfortunately, this study did not have the resolution necessary to assess the temporal relationships between these extrinsic sex differences and the intrinsic subadult sex differences they might have shaped. As a result, these two types of sex differential treatment by adults cannot be rejected as causal in the development of juvenile sex differences in intrinsic social behavior.

However, it is not immediately obvious how receiving more supplants from adult females and more aggression from one's mother would be expected to result in the particular set of juvenile sex differences found in this study. I cannot imagine a scenario in which being supplanted more often by adult females or receiving more aggression from mother would directly cause decreased proximity to and rates of grooming adult males or increased proximity to and rates of grooming infants on the part of juvenile females, or in increased rates of scent-marking related behavior on the part of juvenile males. An argument could be made that being supplanted more often by adult females or receiving more aggression from mother resulted in juvenile females seeking out allies or other "friends," resulting in their increased rates of overall grooming of others and increased proximity to adult females. However, coalitions are conspicuously absent in ring-tailed lemurs [Pereira 1995; Sauther et al. 1999], and interactions that could be interpreted as triadic averaged only five per month. Furthermore, only four triadic interactions recorded could be interpreted as third-party intervention on behalf of a juvenile. A more fine-grained investigation of this hypothesis might reveal that juvenile females are grooming and maintaining proximity to individuals other than those from whom they are receiving aggression, 327

which would suggest that juvenile females are indeed seeking out "friends" in response to the aggression they receive. Until this investigation can be completed, I tentatively conclude that this study has produced no evidence that sex differential socialization by adults is an important driver of ring-tailed lemur sex-typed social development.

It is important to caution that even though this study found evidence for only two types of sex differential treatment of subadults by others, this does not indicate that other types of sex differential treatment of subadults do not occur. The limited sample sizes in this study only allowed for detection of sex differences with relatively large effect sizes and precluded the identification of subtle sex differences in treatment by others. This was especially true for the infant cohort in months 3-11, but characterized the sample overall. Due to the small sample sizes used here, sex differential treatment by others characterized by small effect sizes are invisible to this study.

This caveat is not just theoretical—relatively subtle sex differences in treatment of infants by others do occur in primates and have been documented in studies of other species with larger sample sizes. In captive rhesus macaques, mothers investigate the genitals of male infants more often than those of female infants [Goy et al. 1988] and are more responsive to male infants' distress calls [Tomaszycki et al. 2001]. In free-ranging Barbary macaques, mothers choose social partners based on their own infants' sex [Timme 1995]. In captive sooty mangabeys, non-maternal group members direct more types of social interaction toward female infants, engage in more types of contact behaviors with female infants, and larger numbers of non-maternal group members interact with female infants than with 328
male infants [Deputte and Quris 1996]. In wild yellow baboons, high-ranking mothers initiate more changes in contact with their sons and nurse their daughters less [Nguyen et al. 2010]. In captive rhesus macaques, milk quality and composition (but not total milk energy available to offspring) differs according to infant sex [Hinde 2009]. None of this work can assess whether these sex differences in motherinfant interactions are driven by mothers or infants, but they illustrate the types of subtle but potentially important early sex-differential interactions that have been documented in studies of other primates but which, if they occur in *Lemur catta*, will have been missed by this one. Future work will investigate sex differences in more detailed aspects of subadult social interactions such as responsibility for proximity maintenance with mothers, responsibility for initiating grooming with particular age/sex classes, and further investigation of the contexts in which juveniles receive aggression from their mothers.

Therefore, despite the fact that this study found no support for the primacy of sex-differential treatment of subadults by adults in behavioral sex differentiation, the potential importance of sex-differential treatment by adults in that process is not negated for this species. Still, this study reveals that sex-typed treatment of subadults by adults is more subtle than the expression of sex-typed behavior on the part of juveniles, which, to me, suggests that juvenile sex differences are more likely dependent on some other proximate factor for their development. The two most likely candidates are sexually differentiated ecological demands and sexually differentiated organizational and activational hormone effects.

ECOLOGICAL CAUSES

I also found no evidence that sexual differentiation in feeding and foraging behavior, specifically, is driving the development of the behavioral sex differences documented in this study. However, my treatment of sexual differentiation in foraging behavior in this study was not sufficiently rigorous to conclusively rule out sex-differential ecology as a driver of pre-pubescent behavioral sex differentiation. A more rigorous investigation of this question would thoroughly investigate the timing of actual dietary sex differentiation, which proved to be beyond the scope of this study due to the impossibility of distinguishing many *Lemur catta* food plants from each other without both botanical training and the assistance of a Malagasy botanist familiar with those plants. Documentation of the timing of actual dietary divergence between males and females relative to sex divergence in other behavioral variables may rule out ecological constraints as a causal factor in behavioral sex differentiation—until there is sexual divergence in diet, ecological constraint cannot be argued to be responsible for sexual divergence in other arenas. Whenever dietary and social sex divergence co-vary, distinguishing causation becomes an intractable problem (just as when behavioral and hormonal sex differences co-occur). Further complicating the issue, just as dietary divergence may drive social sex differentiation, social sex differentiation may drive or facilitate dietary divergence [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005], and covariance between the two does not indicate that ecological constraint is the causal factor underlying both. It is not yet clear whether this is a problem for understanding the casual factors underlying behavioral sex differentiation in *Lemur catta*, as the temporal relationships among particular aspects of ecological and social behavior are still unknown. However, the findings of this

study may support conceptualizing of this problem from an entirely different perspective that solves this conundrum (discussed below).

HORMONAL CAUSES

Impending work on the developmental profiles of total androgens and estradiol will soon address the role of postnatal hormones in the development of sex-typed behavior in this population. Developmental profiles of estradiol and total androgens will be created to test for changes in steroid hormone levels that correspond temporally to the appearance of the juvenile sex-typed behaviors found in this study and that can be inferred to be activating their development.

Some authors have previously suggested that the development of anogenital marking is under direct control of gonadal hormones because it corresponds with sexual maturation in captivity [Palagi et al. 2002; Pereira 2002]. The behavioral data here—no evidence of anogenital marking prior to 24 months of age in a population in which sexual maturation does not occur until at least 26 months of age [Pereira 1995]—are consistent with this hypothesis, and the hormonal data to directly address it will soon be produced by M. Teague O'Mara and myself.

The developmental schedule of other types of marking behavior suggests a potential role for prenatal organization of marking behavior. Despite the accelerated somatic and gonadal maturational schedules that characterize captive settings and that are reflected in the early onset of anogenital marking in captivity compared to the wild, the juvenile onset of brachial and antebrachial marking behavior at 12-13 months of age appears to be invariant across settings (Figure 7-1). This invariance suggests that the juvenile onset of brachial and antebrachial marking is unrelated to somatic growth. It bears resemblance to the onset of male-typical urinary behavior in 331

domestic dogs, which is determined by prenatal and neonatal (but not postnatal) hormones [Ranson and Beach 1985]. Still, juvenile rates of brachial and antebrachial marking do not mirror adult rates, suggesting that juvenile and adult marking behaviors are motivated at least partially by different causal factors. Perhaps they come under the control of gonadal hormones at maturity even though they are not dependent on gonadal control in the juvenile period, as with male mounting behavior and female patterns of infant interest in rhesus and pig-tail macaques, respectively [Maestripieri and Zehr 1998; Wallen et al. 1991].



Fig. 7-1. Developmental timing of scent marking behaviors in captivity (solid symbols) and at Beza Mahafaly (open symbols). Tail play, wrist mark, and brachial mark data are from Palagi et al. [2002], which observed individuals only through the age of 18 months. These behaviors are marked in grey through 24 months because they are unlikely to have ceased between the ages of 18 and 24 months in captivity.

Unfortunately, aside from the inferences made above, investigating the role of prenatal hormones in lemur sex-typed development was well beyond the scope of this particular study and will have to wait for future research. Therefore, regardless of

the outcomes of impending research on postnatal hormonal development, this study will never be able to rule out the hypothesis that juvenile lemur sexual differentiation is hormonally programmed in the womb, and that no kind of social input need be invoked to explain sexual differentiation. Certainly, much experimental work has established the important roles of both prenatal and postnatal hormones in the development of sex-typed behavior, and sexual differentiation does not proceed normally without their appropriate, sex-typed input in other primate species [Deputte and Goy 1991; Eisler et al. 1993; Goy and Phoenix 1971; Goy et al. 1988; Maestripieri and Zehr 1998; Pasterski et al. 2005; Pomerantz et al. 1986; Thornton and Goy 1986; Wallen 2001; Wallen et al. 1991; Wallen and Hassett 2009]. Still, while experimental work has shown that hormonal inputs are crucial to the normative development of sex-typed behavior, it has also shown-across many species and many behaviors—that the acquisition of the adult behavioral phenotype simultaneously relies on social input [Capitanio 1984; Champoux et al. 1992; Champoux et al. 1991; Goldfoot 1977; Harlow 1962; Harlow 1965; Harlow and Harlow 1962a; Harlow and Harlow 1962b; Maestripieri 2005a; Maestripieri et al. 2007; Mason 1978; Ruppenthal et al. 1976; Suomi 1997; Wallen 1996; Wallen 2005; Wallen et al. 1977; Wallen et al. 1981] and that social environment and/or experience can affect the expression of hormones that are typically thought to contribute to the development and expression of sex-typed behavior [e.g., Muller et al. 2009; Wobber et al. 2010]. Therefore, a position that envisions juvenile lemurs as prenatally hormonally programmed automatons is less reasonable than the alternative hypothesis I now put forward.

JUVENILE MODEL-SEEKING

This study conclusively demonstrates that sex-typed treatment of subadults by adults is uncommon (or, at most, subtle) compared to the expression of sex-typed behavior on the part of juveniles, which suggests that juvenile *Lemur catta* are likely the prime movers of their sexual differentiation, not adults. This is not to say that sexually differentiated interactions with adults are unimportant in the development of species typical sex-typed behavior. Even when sexually differentiated social interactions result from juvenile-driven sexually differentiated proximity patterns, those social interactions may be important for further shaping behavioral sex differences. The evidence produced by this study simply suggests that, ultimately, the sexually differentiated developmental process in *Lemur catta* is more "bottom-up" than it is "top-down"—that subadults make the first sexually differentiated moves in their sexually differentiated social feedback loops and, with respect to behaviors that are not due solely to hormonal organization and activation, are largely responsible for driving their own behavioral sex differentiation.

The portion of subadult behavioral sex differentiation that relies on social input may be driven primarily in ring-tailed lemurs by juvenile "model-seeking" [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005; Lonsdorf 2005; Pereira 1988; Schiel and Huber 2006], and the way that juveniles ensure that they have access to sex-appropriate models may be through their proximity maintenance to them [Pereira 1988]. This is not a new idea, but considered from this perspective, the sex-differential treatment of juveniles by mothers is more likely an outcome of patterns of proximity of juveniles to their mothers than a cause of juvenile behavioral sex differentiation, and extrinsically determined (although, granted, others will have some contribution to these patterns).

If juvenile model-seeking via proximity maintenance is important in behavioral sex differentiation, increased aggression by mothers to juvenile females is more likely to be a response to some element of juvenile female proximity to mothers rather than a cause of it. Although this study did not find sex differences in juvenile proximity to mothers in measures derived from scan data, per se, other juvenile female proximity and behavioral tendencies documented in this study likely bring juvenile females in closer proximity to their mothers. For example, compared to male peers, juvenile females are more often in proximity to and spend more time grooming infants. Sometimes, these infants would have been their siblings and would have been in close association with their (shared) mothers. Perhaps juvenile female proximity to and increased interactions with their own siblings made them more likely than juvenile males to attract their mothers' ire. There may be other measures of intrinsic juvenile behavior not yet quantified from these data that will help to assess this hypothesis of juvenile model-seeking via sexual differentiation in proximity, and the narrower (and quite different) focus of this question will direct further investigation of this dataset.

Juvenile seeking of adult behavioral models is to be expected in sexually differentiated systems. This type of bottom-up social learning would seem to be a more effective target of selection than top-down socialization, and a juvenile modelseeking process of behavioral sex differentiation is consistent with the rarity of teaching found in non-human animals [Whiten et al. 2003] but the commonness of social learning by imitation, goal emulation, and other mechanisms in which the 335 responsibility for social learning rests with the learner [Galef and Laland 2005; Hoppitt and Laland 2008; Pike and Laland 2010; Webster and Laland 2008]. Juvenile model-seeking also seems to apply to the acquisition of sex-typed foraging behavior in primates [Agostini and Visalberghi 2005; Lonsdorf 2004; Lonsdorf 2005]. If juveniles acquire all of their socially influenced behavioral sex differences through model-seeking, then sexual differentiation in feeding and foraging behavior need not be considered a confound of sexual differentiation in non-foraging contexts; instead, both may be more appropriately considered parallel manifestations of the same underlying process of behavioral sex differentiation.

REFERENCES

- Agate RJ, Grisham W, Wade J, Mann S, Wingfield J, Schanen C, Palotie A, Arnold AP. 2003. Neural, not gonadal, origin of brain sex differences in a gynandromorphic finch. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100:4873-4878.
- Agostini I, Visalberghi E. 2005. Social influences on the acquisition of sex-typical foraging patterns by juveniles in a group of wild tufted capuchin monkeys (*Cebus nigritus*). American Journal of Primatology 65:335-351.
- Alberts SC, Altmann J. 1995a. Balancing costs and opportunities: dispersal in male baboons. American Naturalist 145:279-306.
- Alberts SC, Altmann J. 1995b. Preparation and activation: determinants of age at reproductive maturity in male baboons. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 36:397-406.
- Alexander G. 2003. An evolutionary perspective of sex-typed toy preferences: pink, blue, and the brain. Archives of Sexual Behavior 32:7-14.
- Alexander G, Hines M. 2002. Sex differences in response to children's toys in nonhuman primates (*Cercopithecus aethiops sabaeus*). Evolution and Human Behavior 23:467-479.
- Alexander G, Packard M, Peterson B. 2002. Sex and spatial position effects on object location memory following intentional learning of object identities. Neuropsychologia 40:1516-1522.
- Alexander GM, Wilcox T, Woods R. 2009. Sex differences in infants' visual interest in toys. Archives of Sexual Behavior 38:427-33.
- Altmann J. 1974. Observational study of behavior sampling methods. Behaviour 49:227-267.
- Altmann J. 1978. Infant independence in yellow baboons. In: Burghardt G, Beckoff M, editors. The development of behavior. New York: Garland Publishing. p 253-277.
- Altmann J. 1980. Baboon mothers and infants. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Altmann J, Alberts S. 1987. Body mass and growth rates in a wild primate population. Oecologia 72:15-20.

- Altmann J, Alberts SC. 2005. Growth rates in a wild primate population: ecological influences and maternal effects. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 57:490-501.
- Altmann J, Altmann S. 1981. Physical maturation and age estimates of yellow baboons, *Papio cynocephalus*, in Amboseli National Park, Kenya. American Journal of Primatology 1:389-399.
- Altmann J, Hausfater G, Altmann SA. 1988. Determinants of reproductive success in savannah baboons *Papio cynocephalus*. In: Clutton-Brock TH, editor. Reproductive Success. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 403-418.
- Altmann J, Lynch JW, Nguyen N, Alberts SC, Gesquiere LR. 2004. Life-history correlates of steroid concentrations in wild peripartum baboons. American Journal of Primatology 64:95-106.
- Altmann J, Pereira M. 1985. Development of social behavior in free-living nonhuman primates. In: Watts E, editor. Nonhuman primate models for human growth and development. New York: Alan R. Liss, Inc. p 217-309.
- Altmann SA. 1991. Diets of yearling female primates (*Papio cynocephalus*) predict lifetime fitness. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88:420-423.
- Andrews M, Rosenblum L. 1991. Security of attachment in infants raised in variableor low-demand environments. Child Development 62:686-693.
- Andrews MW, Rosenblum LA. 1994. The Development of Affiliative and Agonistic Social Patterns in Differentially Reared Monkeys. Child Development 65:1398-1404.
- Anestis SF. 2005. Behavioral style, dominance rank, and urinary cortisol in young chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). Behaviour 142:1245-1268.
- Anestis SF. 2006. Testosterone in juvenile and adolescent male chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*): effects of dominance rank, aggression, and behavioral style. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 130:536-545.
- Arnold A, Rissman E, De Vries G. 2003. Two perspectives on the origin of sex differences in the brain. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1007:176-188.
- Arnold AP. 2004. Sex chromosomes and brain gender. Nature reviews. Neuroscience 5:701-708.

- Bachevalier J, Hagger C. 1991. Sex differences in the development of learning abilities in primates. Psychoneuroendocrinology 16:177-188.
- Bard KA. 1994. Very early social learning: the effect of neonatal environment on chimpanzees' social responsiveness. In: Roeder J, Thierry B, Anderson J, Herrenschmidt N, editors. Current primatology: social development, learning, and behavior. Strasbourg: Universite Louis Pasteur. p 339-346.
- Bard KA, Gardner KH. 1996. Influences on development in infant chimpanzees: enculturation, temperament, and cognition. In: Russon AE, Bard KA, editors. Reaching Into Thought: The Minds of the Great Apes. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 235-256.
- Barr C, Newman T, Lindell S, Becker M, Shannon C, Champoux M, Suomi S, Higley J. 2004. Early experience and sex interact to influence limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-axis function after acute alcohol administration in rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*). Alcoholism-Clinical and Experimental Research 28:1114-1119.
- Barske LA, Capel B. 2010. Sex determination: an avian sexual revolution. Nature 464:171-172.
- Barthold J, Fichtel C, Kappeler P. 2009. What is it going to be? Pattern and potential function of natal coat change in sexually dichromatic redfronted lemurs (*Eulemur fulvus rufus*). American Journal of Physical Anthropology 138:1-10.
- Beaupre S, Duvall D, O'Leile J. 1998. Ontogenetic variation in growth and sexual size dimorphism in a central Arizona population of the western diamondback rattlesnake (*Crotalis atrox*). Copeia 1:40-47.
- Beehner JC, Phillips-Conroy JE, Whitten PL. 2005. Female testosterone, dominance rank, and aggression in an Ethiopian population of hybrid baboons. American Journal of Primatology 67:101-119.
- Bentley-Condit VK. 2003. Sex differences in captive olive baboon behavior during the first fourteen days of life. International Journal of Primatology 24:1093-1112.
- Bercovitch FB. 2002. Sex-biased parental investment in primates. International Journal of Primatology 23:905-921.
- Berenbaum S, Hines M. 1992. Early androgens are related to childhood sex-typed toy preferences. Psychological Science 3:203-206.

- Berman C. 1980. Early agonistic experience and peer rank acquisition among free ranging infant rhesus monkeys. International Journal of Primatology 1:153-170.
- Berman C. 1983. Differences in the mother-infant relationships between socally living and segregated mother-infant dyads. In: Hinde RA, editor. Primate social relationships: an integrated approach. Sunderland, MA: Blackwell Scientific Publications. p 132-134.
- Berman C. 1992. Immature siblings and mother infant relationships among free ranging rhesus on Cayo Santiago. Animal Behaviour 44:247-258.
- Berman C. 1997. Group size, maternal behavior and social networks: A natural experiment with free-ranging monkeys. Animal Behaviour 53:405-421.
- Berman C, Rassmussen K, Suomi S. 1994. Responses of free ranging rhesus monkey infants to a natural form of social separation: Parallels with mother infant separation in captivity. Child Development 65:1028-1041.
- Birnie AK, Smith AS, Nali C, French JA. 2011. Social and developmental influences on urinary androgen levels in young male white-faced marmosets (*Callithrix geoffroyi*). American Journal of Primatology 73:378-385.
- Blakemore C. 1976. The conditions required for the maintenance of binocularity in the kitten's visual cortex. Journal of Phyisiology 261:423-444.
- Bleier R. 1984. Science and Gender. New York: Pergamon.
- Blumstein D, Daniel J, Evans C. 2000. JWatcher Version 1.0.
- Boccia M, Reite M, Laudenslager M. 1991. Early social environment may alter the development of attachment and social support: Two case reports. Infant Behavior and Development 14:253-260.
- Boccia ML, Laudenslager ML, Reite ML. 1994. Intrinsic and extrinsic factors affect infant responses to maternal separation. Psychiatry 57:43-50.
- Bornstein M, Haynes O, Painter K, Genevro J. 2000. Child language with mother and with stranger at home and in the laboratory: a methodological study. Journal of Child Language 27:407-420.
- Borries C. 1993. Ecology of female social relationships: Hanuman langurs (*Presbytis* entellus) and the van Schaik model. Folia Primatologica 60:21-30.

- Borries C, Lu A, Ossi-Lupo K, Larney E, Koenig A. 2011. Primate life histories and dietary adaptations: a comparison of Asian colobines and macaques. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 144:286-299.
- Bos PA, Terburg D, van Honk J. 2010. Testosterone decreases trust in socially naive humans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107:9991-9995.
- Bowlby J. 1969. Attachment and Loss. New York: Basic Books.
- Brown GR, Dixson AF. 1999. Investigation of the role of postnatal testosterone in the expression of sex differences in behavior in infant rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*). Hormones and Behavior 35:186-194.
- Brown GR, Nevison CM, Fraser H, Dixson AF. 1999. Manipulation of postnatal testosterone levels affects phallic and clitoral development in rhesus monkeys. International Journal of Andrology 22:119-128.
- Brown T, Dixon A. 2000. The development of behavioural sex differences in infant rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*). Primates 41:63-77.
- Browne KR. 2006. Evolved sex differences and occupational segregation. Journal of Organizational Behavior 27:143-162.
- Buchan JC, Alberts SC, Silk JB, Altmann J. 2003. True paternal care in a multi-male primate society. Nature 425:179-181.
- Budaev SV. 1999. Sex differences in the Big Five personality factors: Testing an evolutionary hypothesis. Personality and Individual Differences 26:801-813.
- Buss DM, Haselton MG, Shackelford TK, Bleske AL, Wakefield JC. 1998. Adaptations, exaptations, and spandrels. American Psychologist 53:533-548.
- Bussey K, Bandura A. 1999. Social cognitive theory of gender development and differentiation. Psychological Review 106:676-713.
- Byrd-Craven J, Geary DC. 2007. Biological and evolutionary contributions to developmental sex differences. Reproductive BioMedicine Online 15:12-22.
- Byrne G, Suomi SJ. 1998. Relationship of early infant state measures to behavior over the first year of life in the tufted capuchin monkey (*Cebus apella*). American Journal of Primatology 44:43-56.
- Campbell DW, Eaton WO. 1999. Sex differences in the activity level of infants. Infant and Child Development 8:1-17.

- Capitanio J. 1984. Early experience and social processes in rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*): I. Dyadic social interaction. Journal of Comparative Psychology 98:35-44.
- Capitanio J. 1985. Early experience and social processes in Rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*): II. Complex social interaction. Journal of Comparative Psychology 99:133-144.
- Carroll KA, Maestripieri D. 1998. Infant abuse and neglect in monkeys A discussion of definitions, epidemiology, etiology, and implications for child maltreatment: Reply to Cicchetti (1998) and Mason (1998). Psychological Bulletin 123:234-237.
- Chamove A, Harlow HF, Mitchell G. 1967. Sex differences in the infant-directed behavior of preadolescent rhesus monkeys. Child Development 38:329-335.
- Champoux M, Byrne E, DeLizio R, Suomi S. 1992. Motherless mothers revisited: rhesus maternal behavior and rearing history. Primates 33:251-255.
- Champoux M, Coe C, Schanberg S, Kuhn C, Suomi S. 1989. Hormonal effects of early rearing conditions in the infant rhesus monkey. American Journal of Primatology 19:111-117.
- Champoux M, Metz B, Suomi S. 1991. Behavior of nursery/peer-reared and motherreared rhesus monkeys from birth through 2 years of age. Primates 32:509-514.
- Charpentier MJE, Van Horn CR, Altmann J, Alberts SC. 2008. Paternal effects on offspring fitness in a multimale primate society. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:1988-1992.
- Cheney D. 1978. The play partners of immature baboons. Animal Behaviour 26:1038-1050.
- Chism J. 1986. Development and mother-infant relations among captive patas monkeys. International Journal of Primatology 7:49-81.
- Clarke AS, Snipes M. 1998. Early behavioral development and temperamental traits in mother- vs peer-reared rhesus monkeys. Primates 39:433-448.
- Clarke M, Zucker E, Ford R, Harrison R. 2007. Behavior and endocrine concentrations do not distinguish sex in monomorphic juvenile howlers (*Alouatta palliata*). American Journal of Primatology 69:477-484.
- Clarke MR. 1990. Behavioral development and socialization of infants in a freeranging group of howling monkeys. Folia Primatologica 54:1-15.

- Clarke MR, Glander KE, Zucker EL. 1998. Infant-nonmother interactions of freeranging mantled howlers (*Alonatta palliata*) in Costa Rica. International Journal of Primatology 19:451-472.
- Coates JM, Herbert J. 2008. Endogenous steroids and financial risk taking on a London trading floor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:6167-6172.
- Coddington JA. 1994. The roles of homology and convergence in studies of adaptation. In: Eggleton P, Vane-Wright R, editors. Phylogenetics and Ecology. London: The Linnean Society of London. p 53-78.
- Cohen-Bendahan CCC, van de Beek C, Berenbaum SA. 2005. Prenatal sex hormone effects on child and adult sex-typed behavior: methods and findings. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews: Prenatal Programming of Behavior, Physiology and Cognition 29:353-384.
- Connellan J, Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Batki A, Ahluwalia J. 2000. Sex differences in human neonatal social perception. Infant Behavior and Development 23:113-118.
- Connor JM, Serbin LA. 1977. Behaviorally based masculine- and feminine-activitypreference scales for preschoolers: correlates with other classroom Behaviors and cognitive tests. Child Development 48:1411-1416.
- Cords M. 2000. Grooming partners of immature blue monkeys (*Cercopithecus mitis*) in the Kakamega Forest, Kenya. International Journal of Primatology 21:239-254.
- Cords M, Sheehan MJ, Ekernas LS. 2010. Sex and age differences in juvenile social priorities in female philopatric, nondespotic blue monkeys. American Journal of Primatology 72:193-205.
- Cosmides L, Tooby J, Barkow JH. 1992. Introduction: evolutionary psychology and conceptual integration. In: Barkow JH, Cosmides L, Tooby J, editors. The Adapted Mind: Evolutionary Psychology and the Generation of Culture. Oxford: Oxford University Press. p 3-18.
- Cossette L, Malcuit G, Pomerleau A. 1991. Sex differences in motor activity during early infancy. Infant Behavior and Development 14:175-186.
- Crockett CM, Pope TR. 2002. Consequences of sex differences in dispersal for juvenile red howler monkeys. In: Pereira ME, Fairbanks LA, editors. Juvenile Primates. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 104-118.

- Culp RE, Cook AS, Housley PC. 1983. A comparison of observed and reported adult-infant interactions: effects of perceived sex. Sex Roles 9:475-479.
- Curry B. 2001. Animal models used in identifying gender-related differences. International Journal of Toxicology 20:153-160.
- Davenport RK, Rogers CM, Rumbaugh DM. 1973. Long-term cognitive deficits in chimpanzees associatied with early impoverished rearing. Developmental Psychology 9:343-347.
- de Waal FB, Johanowicz DL. 1993. Modification of reconciliation behavior through social experience: an experiment with two macaque species. Child Development 64:897-908.
- Deputte BL, Goy R. 1991. Development of behavioral sexual differences: experimental study of prenatal Diethylstilbestrol (D.E.S.) in female rhesus macaque infants. In: Ehara A, Kimura T, Takenaka O, Iwamoto M, editors. Primatology Today. Amsterdam: Elsevier. p 465-468.
- Deputte BL, Quris R. 1996. Socialization processes in primates: use of multivariate analyses. I. Application to social development of captive mangabeys. Behvioural Processes 36:135-149.
- Devinney BJ, Berman CM, Rasmussen KLR. 2001. Changes in yearling rhesus monkeys' relationships with their mothers after sibling birth. American Journal of Primatology 54:193-210.
- Dixson AF. 1993. Effects of testosterone propionate upon the sexual and aggressive behavior of adult male marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*) castrated as neonates. Hormones and Behavior 27:216-230.
- Drago L, Thierry B. 2000. Effects of six-day maternal separation on tonkean macaque infants. Primates 41:137-145.
- Drea CM. 1998. Social context affects how rhesus monkeys explore their environment. American Journal of Primatology 44:205-214.
- Duff SJ, Hampson E. 2001. A sex difference on a novel spatial working memory task in humans. Brain and Cognition 47:470-493.
- Duvall D, Beaupre S. 1998. Sexual strategy and size dimorphism in rattlesnakes: integrating proximate and ultimate causation. American Zoology 38:152-165.
- Eals M, Silverman I. 1994. The hunter-gatherer theory of spatial sex differences: proximate factors mediating the female advantage in location memory. Ethology and Sociobiology 15:95-105.

- Eaton G, Worlein J, Glick B. 1990. Sex differences in Japanese macaques (*Macaca fuscata*): effects of prenatal testosterone on juvenile social behavior. Hormones and Behavior 24:270-283.
- Eaton GG, Johnson DF, Glick BB, Worlein JM. 1986. Japanese macaque (*Macaca fuscata*) social development: sex differences in juvenile behavior. Primates 27:141-150.
- Ecuyer-Dab I, Robert M. 2004. Have sex differences in spatial ability evolved from male competition for mating and female concern for survival? Cognition 91:221-257.
- Eisler JA, Tannenbaum PL, Mann DR, Wallen K. 1993. Neonatal testicular suppression with a GnRH agonist in rhesus monkeys: Effects on adult endocrine function and behavior. Hormones and Behavior 27:551-567.
- Ekernas L, Cords M. 2007. Social and environmental factors influencing natal dispersal in blue monkeys, *Cercopithecus mitis stuhlmanni*. Animal Behaviour 73:1009-1020.
- Ellis BJ, Boyce WT, Belsky J, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, van Ijzendoorn MH. 2011. Differential susceptibility to the environment: an evolutionary– neurodevelopmental theory. Development and Psychopathology 23:7-28.
- Ellis BJ, McFadyen-Ketchum S, Dodge Ka, Pettit GS, Bates JE. 1999. Quality of early family relationships and individual differences in the timing of pubertal maturation in girls: a longitudinal test of an evolutionary model. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 77:387-401.
- Emlen ST, Oring LW. 1977. Ecology, Sexual Selection, and the Evolution of Mating Systems. Science 197:215-223.
- Epple G, Alveario MC, Belcher AM. 1990. Copulatory behavior of adult tamarins (*Saguinus fuscicollis*) castrated as neonates or juveniles: effect of testosterone treatment. Hormones and Behavior 24:470-483.
- Eswaran M, Kotwal A. 2004. A theory of gender differences in parental altruism. Canadian Journal of Economics-Revue Canadienne D Economique 37:918-950.
- Fagot BI. 1977a. Consequences of moderate cross-gender behavior in preschool children. Child Development 48:902-907.
- Fagot BI. 1977b. Teachers' reinforcement of sex-preferred behaviors in dutch preschools. Psychological Reports 41:1249-1250.

- Fagot BI. 1978. The influence of sex of child on parental reactions to toddler children. Child Development 49:459-465.
- Fagot BI. 1985. Beyond the reinforcement principle: another step toward understanding sex role development. Developmental Psychology 21:1097-1104.
- Fagot BI, Hagan R. 1991. Observations of parent reactions to sex-stereotyped behaviors: age and sex effects. Child Development 62:617-628.
- Fagot BI, Hagan R, Leinbach MD, Kronsberg S. 1985. Differential reactions to assertive and communicative acts of toddler boys and girls. Child Development 56:1499-1505.
- Fairbanks L, McGuire MT. 1988. Long-term effects of early mothering behavior on responsiveness to the environment in vervet monkeys. Developmental Psychobiology 21:711-724.
- Fausto-Sterling A. 1992. Myths of Gender. New York: Basic Books.
- Fausto-Sterling A. 1993. The five sexes: why male and female are not enough. The Sciences March/April:20-24.
- Fausto-Sterling A. 1997. Beyond difference: a biologist's perspective. Journal of Social Issues 53:233-258.
- Fedigan L. 1972. Social and solitary play in a colony of vervet monkeys (*Cercopithecus aethiops*). Primates 13:347-364.
- Fedigan LM, Zohar S. 1997. Sex differences in mortality of Japanese macaques: twenty-one years of data from the Arashiyama West population. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 102:161-175.
- Fitch RH, Denenberg VH. 1998. A role for ovarian hormones in sexual differentiation of the brain. The Behavioral and Brain Sciences 21:311-327.
- Fitzmaurice GM, Laird NM, Ware JH. 2004. Applied Longitudinal Analysis. Balding DJ, Cressie NAC, Fisher NI, Johnstone IM, Kadane JB, Molenberghs G, Ryan LM, Scott DM, Smith AFM, Teugels JL, editors. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Förster S, Cords M. 2002. Development of mother-infant relationships and infant behavior in wild blue monkeys (*Cercopithecus mitis stuhlmanni*). In: Glenn M, Cords M, editors. The guenons: diversity and adaptation in African monkeys. New York: Klewer Academic/Plenum Publishers. p 245-272.

- Förster S, Cords M. 2005. Socialization of infant blue monkeys (*Cercopithecus mitis stuhlmanni*): allomaternal interactions and sex differences. Behaviour 142:869-896.
- Fragaszy D, Perry S. 2003. Towards a biology of traditions. In: Fragaszy D, Perry S, editors. The Biology of Traditions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 1-32.
- French JA. 1981. Individual differences in play in *Macaca fuscata*: the role of maternal status and proximity. International Journal of Primatology 2:237-246.
- Frisch HL. 1977. Sex stereotypes in adult-infant play. Child Development 48:1671-1675.
- Fritz J, Nash LT, Howell SM. 1992. Effects of temporary restricted social housing on later reproductive behavior in adolescent chimpanzees. Lab Animal 21:21-25.
- Galef BG, Laland KN. 2005. Social learning in animals: empirical studies and theoretical models. Bioscience 55:489-489.
- Galef J, Bennett G., Wright TJ. 1995. Groups of naive rats learn to select nutritionally adequate foods faster than do isolated naive rats. Animal Behaviour 49:403-409.
- Gangestad SW, Simpson JA. 2000. The evolution of human mating: trade-offs and strategic pluralism. The Behavioral and Brain Sciences 23:573-587.
- Gard G, Meier G. 1977. Social and contextual factors of play behavior in sub-adult rhesus monkeys. Primates 18:367-377.
- Geary D. 1995. Sexual selection and sex differences in spatial cognition. Learning and Individual Differences 7:289-301.
- Gesquiere LR, Altmann J, Khan MZ, Couret J, Yu JC, Endres CS, Lynch JW, Ogola P, Fox EA, Alberts SC. 2005. Coming of age: steroid hormones of wild immature baboons (*Papio cynocephalus*). American Journal of Primatology 67:83-100.
- Gesquiere LR, Khan M, Shek L, Wango TL, Wango EO, Alberts SC, Altmann J. 2008. Coping with a challenging environment: effects of seasonal variability and reproductive status on glucocorticoid concentrations of female baboons (*Papio cynocephalus*). Hormones and Behavior 54:410-416.
- Gesquiere LR, Onyango PO, Alberts SC, Altmann J. 2010. Endocrinology of yearround reproduction in a highly seasonal habitat: environmental variability in

testosterone and glucocorticoids in baboon males. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 176:169-176.

- Goldfoot DA. 1977. Rearing conditions which support or inhibit later sexual potential of laboratory-born rhesus monkeys: hypotheses and diagnostic behaviors. Laboratory Animal Science 27:548-556.
- Golombok S, Fivush R. 1994. Social learning theory. In: Golombok S, Fivush R, editors. Gender Development. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 75-88.
- Gould L. 1990. The social development of free-ranging infant *Lemur catta* at Berenty Reserve, Madagascar. International Journal of Primatology 11:297-318.
- Gould L. 1997. Affiliative relationships between adult males and immature group members in naturally occurring ringtailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*). American Journal of Physical Anthropology 103:163-171.
- Gould L, Sussman RW, Sauther ML. 2003. Demographic and life-history patterns in a population of ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*) at Beza Mahafaly Reserve, Madagascar: A 15-year perspective. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 120:182-194.
- Gould L, Ziegler TE. 2007. Variation in fecal testosterone levels, inter-male aggression, dominance rank and age during mating and post-mating periods in wild adult male ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*). American Journal of Primatology:1325-1339.
- Gould SJ, Lewontin RC. 1979. Spandrels of San Marco and the panglossian paradigm: a critique of the adaptationist programme. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 205:581-598.
- Gould SJ, Vrba ES. 1982. Exaptation-a missing term in the science of form. Paleobiology 8:4-15.
- Gouzoules H, Gouzoules S. 1989. Sex-differences in the acquisition of communicative competence by pigtail macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*). American Journal of Primatology 19:163-174.
- Goy RW, Bercovitch FB, McBrair MC. 1988. Behavioral masculinization is independent of genital masculinization in prenatally androgenized female rhesus macaques. Hormones and Behavior 22:552-571.
- Goy R, Phoenix C. 1971. The effects of testosterone propionate administered before birth on the development of behavior in genetic female rhesus monkeys. In:

Geist V, Walther F, editors. Steroid Hormones and Brain Function. Berkeley: University of California Press. p 193-201.

- Goy R, Wallen K. 1979. Experiential variables influencing play, foot-clasp mounting and adult sexual competence in male rhesus monkeys. Psychoneuroendocrinology 4:1-12.
- Grassi C. 2002. Sex differences in feeding, height, and space use in *Hapalemur griseus*. International Journal of Primatology 23:677-693.
- Gredlein JM, Bjorklund DF. 2005. Sex differences in young children's use of tools in a problem-solving task. Human Nature 16:211-232.
- Gust DA. 1995. Moving up the dominance hierarchy in young sooty mangabeys. Animal Behaviour 50:15-21.
- Hagger C, Bachevalier J. 1991. Visual habit formation in 3-month-old monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*): reversal of sex difference following neonatal manipulations of androgens. Behavioural Brain Research 45:57-63.
- Haig D. 2004. The inexorable rise of gender and the decline of sex: social change in academic titles, 1945–2001. Archives of Sexual Behavior 33:87-96.
- Harlow HF. 1962. The heterosexual affectional system in monkeys. American Psychology 17:1-19.
- Harlow HF. 1965. Sexual behavior in the rhesus monkeys. In: Beach F, editor. Sex and Behavior. New York: John Wiley and Sons. p 234-265.
- Harlow HF, Harlow M. 1962a. The effect of rearing conditions on behavior. Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic 26:213-224.
- Harlow HF, Harlow M. 1962b. Social deprivation in monkeys. Scientific American.
- Harrison M. 1983. Age and sex differences in the diet and feeding strategies of the green monkey, *Cercopithecus sabaeus*. Animal Behaviour 31:969-977.
- Harvey P, Pagel M. 1991. The Comparative Method in Evolutionary Biology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hashimoto C, Furuichi T. 1994. Social role and development of noncopulatory sexual behavior of wild bonobos. In: Wrangham R, McGrew W, de Waal FBM, Heltne P, editors. Chimpanzee Cultures. Chicago: Chicago Academy of Sciences. p 155-168.

- Hassett JM, Siebert ER, Wallen K. 2008. Sex differences in rhesus monkey toy preferences parallel those of children. Hormones and Behavior 54:359-364.
- Hemelrijk CK, Dekogel CH. 1989. What chimpanzee mothers have more sociable infants. Behaviour 111:305-318.
- Herman R, Measday M, Wallen K. 2003. Sex differences in interest in infants in juvenile rhesus monkeys: relationship to prenatal androgen. Hormones and Behavior 43:573-583.
- Hiarawa-Hasegawa M. 1989. Sex differences in the behavioral development of chimpanzees at Mahale. In: Heltne P, Marquardt LA, editors. Understanding Chimpanzees. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. p 104-115.
- Hinde K. 2009. Richer milk for sons but more milk for daughters: Sex-biased investment during lactation varies with maternal life history in rhesus macaques. American Journal of Human Biology 21:512-519.
- Hinde R, Atkinson S. 1970. Assessing the roles of social partners in maintaining mutual proximity, as exemplified by mother-infant relations in rhesus monkeys. Animal Behaviour 18:169-176.
- Hines M. 2003. Sex steroids and human behavior: prenatal androgen exposure and sex-typical play behavior in children. Steroids and the Nervous System 1007:272-282.
- Hines M, Golombok J. 2002. Testosterone during pregnancy and childhood gender role behavior: a longitudinal population study. Child Development 73:1678-1687.
- Hines M, Kaufman F. 1994. Androgen and the development of human sex-typical behavior: rough-and-tumble play and sex of preferred playmates in children with congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH). Child Development 65:1042-1053.
- Honess P, MacDonald D. 2003. Marking and radio-tracking primates. In: Setchell JM, Curtis D, editors. Field and laboratory methods in primatology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 158-173.
- Hoppitt W, Laland K. 2008. Social Processes Influencing Learning in Animals: A Review of the Evidence. Advances in the Study of Behavior 38:105-165.
- Howell SM, Schwandt M, Fritz J, Marzke MW, Murphy J, Young D. 2006. Effects of early rearing history on growth and behavioral development in captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). In: Sackett GP, Ruppenthal GC, Elias K,

editors. Nursery Rearing of Nonhuman Primates in the 21st Century. New York: Springer. p 313-354.

- Hrdy S, Janson C, van Schaik CP. 1995. Infanticide: let's not throw out the baby with the bathwater. Evolutionary Anthropology 3:151-154.
- Janson C, van Schaik CP. 1993. Ecological risk aversion in juvenile primates: slow and steady wins the race. In: Pereira M, Fairbanks L, editors. Juvenile Primates. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 57-85.
- Johnson SE. 2003. Life history and the competitive environment: trajectories of growth, maturation, and reproductive output among chacma baboons. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 120:83-98.
- Joseph R. 2000. The evolution of sex differences in language, sexuality, and visualspatial skills. Archives of Sexual Behavior 29:35-66.
- Jost A, Price D, Edwards RG, Sciences B. 1970. Hormonal factors in the sex differentiation of the mammalian foetus [and discussion]. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences 259:119-131.
- Kappeler P. 1990. The evolution of sexual size dimorphism in prosimian primates. Folia Primatologica 21:201-214.
- Kappeler PM. 1998. To whom it may concern: the transmission and function of chemical signals in *Lemur catta*. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 42:411-421.
- Kay RF, Cartmill M. 1977. Cranial morphology and adaptation of *Palaechthon nacimienti* and other paromomyidae (Plesiadapoidea, ? Primates), with a description of a new genus and species. Journal Of Human Evolution 6:19-53.
- Kelly SJ, Ostrowski NL, Wilson MA. 1999. Gender differences in brain and behavior: hormonal and neural bases. Pharmacology, biochemistry, and behavior 64:655-664.
- Koenig A. 2000. Competitive regimes in forest-dwelling Hanuman langur females (Semnopithecus entellus). Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 48:93-109.
- Koenig A, Borries C. 2001. Socioecology of Hanuman langurs: The story of their success. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 10:122-137.

- Kouri EM, Lukas SE, Pope Jr HG, Oliva PS. 1995. Increased aggressive responding in male volunteers following the administration of gradually increasing doses of testosterone cypionate. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 40:73-79.
- Kuzawa CW, McDade TW, Adair LS, Lee N. 2010. Rapid weight gain after birth predicts life history and reproductive strategy in Filipino males. PNAS 107:16800-16805.
- Lacreuse A, Herndon JG, Killiany RJ, Rosene DL, Moss MB. 1999. Spatial cognition in rhesus monkeys: male superiority declines with age. Hormones and Behavior 36:70-76.
- Langlois JH, Downs AC. 1980. Mothers, fathers, and peers as socialization agents of sex-typed play behaviors in young children. Child Development 51:1237-1247.
- Leigh SR. 1992. Patterns of variation in the ontogeny of primate body size dimorphism. Journal Of Human Evolution 23:27-50.
- Lewis M. 1972. Parents and Children: Sex-Role Development. The School Review 80:229-240.
- Lewis M, Cherry L. 1977. Social behavior and language acquisition. In: Lewis M, Rosenblum L, editors. Interaction, Conversation, and the Development of Language. New York: Wiley and sons. p 227-245.
- Lonsdorf E. 2004. Sex differences in learning in chimpanzees. Nature 428:715-716.
- Lonsdorf E. 2005. Sex differences in the development of termite-fishing skills in wild chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes schweinfurthit*) of Gombe National Park, Tanzania. Animal Behaviour 70:673-683.
- Loudon J. 2006. One reserve, three primates: applying a holistic approach to understand the interconnections among ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*), Verreaux's sifaka (*Propithecus verreauxi*), and humans (*Homo sapiens*) at Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve, Madagascar. Ecological and Environmental Anthropology 2:54-74.
- Luxen MF. 2007. Sex differences, evolutionary psychology and biosocial theory: biosocial theory is no alternative. Theory & Psychology 17:383-394.
- MacDonald K. 1995. Evolution, the five-factor model, and levels of personality. Journal of Personality 63:525-567.

- Mace R, Pagel M, Bowen JR, Gupta BKD, Otterbein KF, Ridley M, Schweizer T, Voland E. 1994. The comparative method in anthropology [and comments and reply]. Current Anthropology 35:549-564.
- MacKinnon KC. 2006. Food choice by juvenile capuchin monkeys (*Cebus capucinus*) in a tropical dry forest. In: Estrada A, Garber PA, Pavelka MSM, Luecke L, editors. New Perspectives in the Study of Mesoamerican Primates: Springer. p 349-365.
- MacLusky NJ, Bowlby DA, Brown TJ, Peterson RE, Hochberg RB. 1997. Sex and the developing brain: suppression of neuronal estrogen sensitivity by developmental androgen exposure. Neurochemical Research 22:1395-1414.
- Maestripieri D. 1994. Mother-infant relationships in 3 species of macaques (*Macaca mulatta, Macaca nemestrina, Macaca arctoides*) .II. Development of the mother-infant relationship in the first 3 months. Behaviour 131:75-96.
- Maestripieri D. 1999. The biology of human parenting: insights from nonhuman primates. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 23:411-422.
- Maestripieri D. 2001. Intraspecific variability in parenting styles of rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*): The role of the social environment. Ethology 107:237-248.
- Maestripieri D. 2003. Similarities in affiliation and aggression between cross-fostered rhesus macaque females and their biological mothers. Developmental Psychobiology 43:321-327.
- Maestripieri D. 2004. Genetic aspects of mother-offspring conflict in rhesus macaques. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 55:381-387.
- Maestripieri D. 2005a. Early experience affects the intergenerational transmission of infant abuse in rhesus monkeys. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:9726-9729.
- Maestripieri D. 2005b. On the importance of comparative research for the understanding of human behavior and development: A reply to Gottlieb & Lickliter (2004). Social Development 14:181-186.
- Maestripieri D, Carroll KA. 1998. Child abuse and neglect: Usefulness of the animal data. Psychological Bulletin 123:211-223.
- Maestripieri D, Lindell SG, Higley JD. 2007. Intergenerational transmission of maternal behavior in rhesus macaques and its underlying mechanisms. Developmental Psychobiology 49:165-171.

- Maestripieri D, Megna NL. 2000. Hormones and behavior in rhesus macaque abusive and nonabusive mothers. 2. Mother-infant interactions. Physiology & Behavior 71:43-49.
- Maestripieri D, Roney J. 2006. Evolutionary developmental psychology: Contributions from comparative research with nonhuman primates. Developmental Review 26:120-137.
- Maestripieri D, Ross S. 2004. Sex differences in play among western lowland gorilla *(Gorilla gorilla gorilla)* infants: Implications for adult behavior and social structure. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 123:52-61.
- Maestripieri D, Zehr J. 1998a. Maternal responsiveness increases during pregnancy and after estrogen treatment in macaques. Hormones and Behavior 34:223-230.
- Maki S, Fritz J, England N. 1993. An assessment of early differential rearing conditions on later behavioral development in captive chimpanzees. Infant Behavior and Development 16:373-381.
- Martin P, Bateson P. 1986. Measuring behavior: an introductory guide. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mason W. 1978. Social experience and primate cognitive development. In: Burghardt G, Beckoff M, editors. The development of behavior: comparative and evolutionary aspects. New York: Garland STPM Press. p 233-251.
- Mayeaux D, Mason W, Mendoza S. 2002. Developmental changes in responsiveness to parents and unfamiliar adults in a monogamous monkey (*Callicebus moloch*). American Journal of Primatology 58:71-89.
- Mayeaux DJ. 2008. Relationship between age and activity varies by sex in titi monkeys (*Callicebus cupreus*). Developmental Psychobiology 50:288-297.
- McCarthy M, Todd B, Amatea S. 2003. Estradiol modulation of astrocytes and the establishment of sex differences in the brain. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1007:283-297.
- McGuiness D. 1981. Auditory and motor aspects of language development in males and females. In: Ansara A, Geschwind N, Galaburda A, Albert M, Gartrell N, editors. Sex differences in dyslexia. Towson, MD: Orton Dyslexia Society. p 55-72.
- McIntyre MH, Edwards CP. 2009. The early development of gender differences. Annual Review Of Anthropology 38:83-97.

- Meredith S, Fritz J. 2005. Sex-differential rearing effects in *Pan troglodytes*. American Journal of Physical Anthropology Suppl. 40:151-152.
- Milton K. 2002. Diet and social organization of a free-ranging spider monkey population: the development of species-typical behavior in the absence of adults. In: Pereira ME, Fairbanks LA, editors. Juvenile primates. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 173-181.
- Minutolo C, Nadra AD, Fernández C, Taboas M, Buzzalino N, Casali B, Belli S, Charreau EH, Alba L, Dain L. 2011. Structure-based analysis of five novel disease-causing mutations in 21-hydroxylase-deficient patients. PLoS ONE 6:e15899. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015899
- Moss A. 1966. Sex, age, and state as determinants of mother-infant interaction. Merrill-Palmer Quarterly 13:19-36.
- Muller MN, Marlowe FW, Bugumba R, Ellison PT. 2009. Testosterone and paternal care in East African foragers and pastoralists. Proceedings B: Biological Sciences 276:347-354.
- Nakamichi M, Koyama N. 2000. Intra-troop affiliative relationships of females with newborn infants in wild ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*). American Journal of Primatology 50:187-203.
- Nash L. 1978. The development of the mother-infant relationship in wild baboons (*Papio anubis*). Animal Behaviour 26:746-759.
- Nash L. 1991. Development of food sharing in captive infant *Galago senegalensis* braccatus. In: Ehara A, Kimura T, Takenaka O, Iwamonto M, editors. Primatology Today. Amsterdam: Elsevier Sci Publ. p 181-182.
- Nash L. 1993. Juveniles in nongregarious primates. In: Pereira M, Fairbanks L, editors. Juvenile Primates: Life History, Development, and Behavior. New York: Oxford University Press. p 119-137.
- Nash L. 2004. Kinship and behavior among nongregarious nocturnal prosimians: what to we really know? In: Chapais B, Berman CM, editors. Kinship and behavior in primates. New York: Oxford University Press. p 200-222.
- Nash LT. 2003. Sex differences in the behavior and the social interactions of immature *Galago senegalensis braccatus*. Folia Primatologica 74:285-300.
- Netburn D. 2011, April 13. [Updated] J. Crew and Jenna Lyons' pink toenail controversy. LA Times Blogs. Retrieved 4/1/2012 from <u>http://latimesblogs.latimes.com/alltherage/2011/04/j-crew-and-jenna-lyons-pink-toenail-controversy.html</u>.

- Nguyen N, Gesquiere L, Alberts S, Altmann J. 2010. Sex differences in the motherinfant relationship in wild baboons (*Papio cynocephalus*): Social, experiential, and hormonal correlates. American Journal of Physical Anthropology Suppl. 50:177.
- Nguyen N, Gesquiere L, Wango E, Alberts S, Altmann J. 2008. Late pregnancy glucocorticoid levels predict responsiveness in wild baboon mothers (*Papio cynocephalus*). Animal Behaviour 75:1747-1756.
- Nicholson L. 1994. Interpreting gender. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society 20:79-105.
- Nikolei J, Borries C. 1997. Sex differential behavior of immature Hanuman langurs (*Presbytis entellus*) in Ramnagar, South Nepal. International Journal of Primatology 18:415-437.
- Norikoshi K. 1974. The development of peer-mate relationships in Japanese macaque infants. Primates 15:39-46.
- Nunn C. 2011. The Comparative Method in Evolutionary Anthropology and Biology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Nunn CL. 2006. Comparative Methods for Studying Cultural Trait Evolution: A Simulation Study. Cross-Cultural Research 40:177-209.
- Nunn CL, Lindenfors P, Pursall ER, Rolff J. 2009. On sexual dimorphism in immune function. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 364:61-69.
- O'Mara M. 2008. The influence of habitat quality on juvenile ring-tailed lemur (*Lemur catta*) feeding ecology and glucocorticoid levels. American Journal of Physical Anthropology Suppl. 46:165.
- Onyango PO, Gesquiere LR, Wango EO, Alberts SC, Altmann J. 2008. Persistence of maternal effects in baboons: Mother's dominance rank at son's conception predicts stress hormone levels in subadult males. Hormones and Behavior 54:319-324.
- Overdorff DJ, Merenlender AM, Talata P, Telo A, Forward ZA. 1999. Life history of *Eulemur fulvus rufus* from 1988-1998 in southeastern Madagascar. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 108:295-310.
- Owens N. 1975. Social play behaviour in free-living baboons. Animal Behaviour 23:387-408.

- Pagel M. 1994. Detecting correlated evolution on phylogenies: a general method for the comparative analysis of discrete characters. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London: Biological Sciences 255:37-45.
- Pagel M. 1997. Inferring evolutionary processes from phylogenies. Zoologica Scripta 26:331-348.
- Pagel M. 2009. Human language as a culturally transmitted replicator. Nature Reviews Genetics 10:405-415.
- Palagi E, Gregorace A, Tarli SMB. 2002. Development of olfactory behavior in captive ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*). International Journal of Primatology 23:587-599.
- Panger Ma. 1998. Object-use in free-ranging white-faced capuchins (*Cebus capucinus*) in Costa Rica. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 106:311-321.
- Parker KJ, Buckmaster CL, Sundlass K, Schatzberg AF, Lyons DM. 2006. Maternal mediation, stress inoculation, and the development of neuroendocrine stress resistance in primates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:3000-3005.
- Pasterski VL, Geffner ME, Brain C, Hindmarsh P, Brook C, Hines M. 2005. Prenatal hormones and postnatal socialization by parents as determinants of maletypical toy play in girls with congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Child Development 76:264-278.
- Paukner A, Suomi SJ. 2008. Sex differences in play behavior in juvenile tufted capuchin monkeys (*Cebus apella*). Primates 49:288-291.
- Pepper JW, Mitani JC, Watts DP. 1999. General gregariousness and specific social preferences among wild chimpanzees. International Journal of Primatology 20:613-631.
- Pereira M. 1993a. Agonistic interaction, dominance relation, and ontogenetic trajectories in ringtailed lemurs. In: Pereira M, Fairbanks L, editors. Juvenile Primates. New York: Oxford University Press. p 285-305.
- Pereira M. 1993b. Seasonal adjustment of growth rate and adult body weight in ringtailed lemurs. In: Kappeler P, Ganzhorn J, editors. Lemur social systems and their ecological basis. New York: Plenum Press. p 205-221.
- Pereira M. 2002. Agonistic interaction, dominance relation, and ontogenetic trajectories in ringtailed lemurs. In: Pereira M, Fairbanks L, editors. Juvenile Primates. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 285-305.

- Pereira M, Kappeler PM. 1997. Divergent systems of agonistic behaviour in lemurid primates. Behaviour 134:225-274.
- Pereira ME. 1988. Effects of age and sex on intra-group spacing behaviour in juvenile savannah baboons, *Papio cynocephalus cynocephalus*. Animal Behaviour 36:184-204.
- Pereira ME. 1995. Development and social dominance among group-living primates. American Journal of Primatology 37:143-175.
- Pike TW, Laland KN. 2010. Conformist learning in nine-spined sticklebacks' foraging decisions. Biology Letters 6:466-468.
- Plant TM. 2001. Neurobiological bases underlying the control of the onset of puberty in the rhesus monkey: a representative higher primate. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology 22:107-139.
- Pomerantz SM, Goy RW, Roy MM. 1986. Expression of male-typical behavior in adult female pseudohermaphroditic rhesus: comparisons with normal males and neonatally gonadectomized males and females. Hormones and Behavior 20:483-500.
- Pomerleau A, Bolduc D, Malcuit G, Cossette L. 1990. Pink or blue: environmental gender stereotypes in the first two years of life. Sex Roles 22:359-367.
- Preston DG, Baker RP, Seay B. 1970. Mother-infant separation in the patas monkey. Developmental Psychology 3:298-306.
- Raag T. 1999. Influences of social expectations of gender, gender stereotypes, and situational constraints on children's toy choices. Sex Roles 41:809-831.
- Randolph MC, Mason WA. 1969. Effects of rearing conditions on distress vocalizations in chimpanzees. Folia Primatologica 10:103-112.
- Rangel-Negrín A, Alfaro JL, Valdez RA, Romano MC, Serio-Silva JC. 2009. Stress in Yucatan spider monkeys: effects of environmental conditions on fecal cortisol levels in wild and captive populations. Animal Conservation 12:496-502.
- Ranson E, Beach FA. 1985. Effects of testosterone on ontogeny of urinary behavior in male and female dogs. Hormones and Behavior 19:36-51.
- Richards AB, Morris RW, Ward S, Schmitz S, Rothmond DA, Noble PL, Woodward RA, Winslow JT, Weickert CS. 2009. Gonadectomy negatively impacts social behavior of adolescent male primates. Hormones and Behavior 56:140-148.

- Robinson JG. 1981. Structure in foraging groups of wedge-capped capuchin monkeys *Cebus nigrivittatus*. Animal Behaviour 29:1036-1056.
- Roe KV, Drivas A, Karagellis A, Roe A. 1985. Sex differences in vocal interaction with mother and stranger in Greek infants: some cognitive implications. Developmental Psychology 21:372-377.
- Rosenblum L. 1987. Influences of environmental demand on maternal behavior and infant development. In: Krasnegor N, Blass E, Hofer M, Smotherman W, editors. Perinatal development. Orlando, FL: Academic Press, Inc. p 378-392.
- Rosenblum LA, Paully GS. 1984. The effects of varying environmental demands on maternal and infant behavior. Child Development 55:305-314.
- Roulstone S, Loader S, Northstone K, Beveridge M. 2002. The Speech and Language of Children Aged 25 Months: Descriptive Data from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Early Child Development & Care 172:259-268.
- Rowell TE, Chism J. 1986. The ontogeny of sex differences in the behavior of patas monkeys. International Journal of Primatology 7:83-107.
- Rubin T, Provenzano F, Luria Z. 1974. The eye of the beholder: parents' view on sex of newborns. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 44:512-519.
- Ruble D, Martin C, Berenbaum S. 2006. Gender Development. In: Damon W, Lerner R, editors. Handbook of Child Psychology. New York: Cambridge University Press. p 858-932.
- Ruppenthal GC, Arling GL, Harlow HF, Sackett GP, Suomi S. 1976. A 10-year perpective of motherless-mother monkey behavior. Journal of Abnormal Psychology 85:341-349.
- Ruppenthal GC, Harlow MK, Eisele CD, Harlow HF, Suomi SJ. 1974. Development of peer interactions of monkeys reared in a nuclear-family environment. Animal Behaviour 45:670-682.
- Ruppenthal GC, Walker CG, Sackett GP. 1991. Rearing infant monkeys (*Macaca nemestrina*) in pairs produces deficient social development compared with rearing in single cages. American Journal of Primatology 25:103-113.
- Sackett GP. 1972. Exploratory behavior of rhesus monkeys as a function of rearing experiences and sex. Developmental Psychology 6:260-270.

- Sackett GP, Ruppenthal GC, Davis AE. 2002. Survival, growth, health, and reproduction following nursery rearing compared with mother rearing in pigtailed monkeys (*Macaca nemestrina*). American Journal of Primatology 56:165-183.
- Samuels A, Altmann J. 1992. Costs of maternal care: infant-carrying in baboons. Behavioral Ecology 29:391-398.
- Sanchez MM, Hearn EF, Do D, Rilling JK, Herndon JG. 1998. Differential rearing affects corpus callosum size and cognitive function of rhesus monkeys. Brain Research 812:38-49.
- Sanchez MM, McCormack K, Grand AP, Fulks R, Graff A, Maestripieri D. 2010. Effects of sex and early maternal abuse on adrenocorticotropin hormone and cortisol responses to the corticotropin-releasing hormone challenge during the first 3 years of life in group-living rhesus monkeys. Development and Psychopathology 22:45-53.
- Sapolsky R. 1991. Testicular function, social rank and personality among wild baboons. Psychoneuroendocrinology 16:281-293.
- Sapolsky RM. 1985. Stress-induced suppression of testcular function in the wild baboon: role of glucocorticoids. Endocrinology 116:2273-2278.
- Sapolsky RM, Share LJ. 2004. A pacific culture among wild baboons: its emergence and transmission. PLoS Biology 2:534-541.
- Sauther ML, Cuozzo FP. 2008. Somatic variation in living, wild ring-tailed lemurs (*Lemur catta*). Folia Primatologica 79:55-78.
- Sauther ML, Cuozzo FP. 2009. The impact of fallback foods on wild ring-tailed lemur biology: A comparison of intact and anthropogenically disturbed habitats. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 140:671-686.
- Sauther ML, Sussman RW, Cuozzo F. 2002. Dental and general health in a population of wild ring-tailed lemurs: a life history approach. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 117:122-132.
- Sauther ML, Sussman RW, Gould L. 1999. The socioecology of the ringtailed lemur: thirty-five years of research. Evolutionary Anthropology 8:120-132.
- Schiel N, Huber L. 2006. Social influences on the development of foraging behavior in free-living common marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*). American Journal of Primatology 68:1150-1160.

- Schiel N, Souto A, Huber L, Bezerra BM. 2010. Hunting strategies in wild common marmosets are prey and age dependent. American Journal of Primatology 72:1039-1046.
- Schino G, Speranza L, Troisi A. 2001. Early maternal rejection and later social anxiety in juvenile and adult Japanese macaques. Developmental Psychobiology 38:186-190.
- Schülke O, Bhagavatula J, Vigilant L, Ostner J. 2010. Social bonds enhance reproductive success in male macaques. Current Biology: 2207-2210.
- Scott JW. 1986. Gender: a useful category of historical analysis. The American Historical Review 91:1053-1075.
- Seavey CA, Katz PA, Zalk SR. 1975. Baby X: the effect of gender labels on adult responses to infants. Sex Roles 1:103-109.
- Seay B, Schlottmann RS, Gandolfo R. 1972. Early social interaction in two monkey species. Journal of General Psychology 87:37-43.
- Seraphin SB, Whitten PL, Reynolds V. 2008. The influence of age on fecal steroid hormone levels in male Budongo Forest chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii*). American Journal of Primatology 70:661-669.
- Serbin LA, Connor JM, Burchardt CJ, Citron CC. 1979. Effects of peer presence on sex-typing of children's play behavior. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology 27:303-309.
- Setchell JM, Dixson AF. 2002. Developmental variables and dominance rank in adolescent male mandrills (*Mandrillus sphinx*). American Journal of Primatology 56:9-25.
- Setchell JM, Lee PC, Wickings EJ, Dixson AF. 2001. Growth and ontogeny of sexual size dimorphism in the Mandrill (*Mandrillus sphinx*). American Journal of Physical Anthropology 115:349-360.
- Sewell G. 2004. Yabba-Dabba-Doo! Evolutionary psychology and the rise of flintstone psychological thinking in organization and management studies. Human Relations 57:923-955.
- Sheriff MJ, Krebs CJ, Boonstra R. 2010. The ghosts of predators past: population cycles and the role of maternal programming under fluctuating predation risk. Ecology 91:2983-2994.

Sidorowicz LS, Lunney GS. 1980. Baby X revisited. Sex Roles 6:67-73.

- Silk J. 1999. Why are infants so attractive to others? The form and function of infant handling in bonnet macaques. Animal Behaviour 57:1021-1032.
- Silverman I, Eals M. 1992. Sex differences in spatial abilities: evolutionary theory and data. In: Barkow J, Cosmides L, Tooby J, editors. The adapted mind. New York: Oxford. p 533-549.
- Silverman I, Eals M. 1994. The hunter-gatherer theory of spatial sex differences: proximate factors mediating the female advantage in location memory. Ethology and Sociobiology 15:95-105.
- Singer JD, Willett JB. 2003. Applied longitudinal analysis: modeling change and event occurrence. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sisk CL, Foster DL. 2004. The neural basis of puberty and adolescence. Nature Neuroscience 7:1040-1047.
- Spijkerman RP, Dienske H, van Hoof JARAM, Jens W. 1995. Differences in play development of young chimpanzees reared in family groups and in peer groups. Netherlands Journal of Zoology 45:402-421.
- Spijkerman RP, Dienske H, van Hoof JARAM, Jens W. 1996. Differences in variability, interactivity and skills in social play of young chimpanzees living in peer groups and in a large family zoo group. Behaviour 133:717-739.
- Spijkerman RP, van Hoof JARAM, Dienske H, Jens W. 1997. Differences in subadult behaviors of chimpanzees living in peer groups and in a family group. International Journal of Primatology 18:439-454.
- Stockett MK, Geller PL. 2006. Feminist anthropology: perspectives on our past, present, and future. In: Stockett MK, Geller PL, editors. Feminist Anthropology: Past, Present, and Future. Philadelphia: University of Philadelphia Press. p 1-19.
- Strier KB. 2002. Growing up in a patrifocal society: sex differences in the spatial relations of immature muriquis. In: Pereira ME, Fairbanks LA, editors. Juvenile Primates. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 138-147.
- Suomi S. 1997. Early determinants of behaviour: evidence from primate studies. British Medical Bulletin 53:170-184.
- Suomi S, Mineka S, Delizio R. 1983. Short- and long-term effects of repetitive mother-infant separations on social development in rhesus monkeys. Developmental Psychology 19:770-786.

- Suomi SJ. 1987. Genetic and maternal contributions to individual differences in rhesus monkey biobehavioral development. In: Krasnegor N, Blass E, Hofer M, Smotherman W, editors. Perinatal development. Orlando, FL: Academic Press, Inc. p 397-416.
- Sussman R. 1974. Ecological distinctions in sympatric species of *Lemur*. In: Martin R, Doyle G, Walker A, editors. Prosimian Biology. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press. p 74-108.
- Sussman R. 1991. Demography and social organization of free-ranging *Lemur catta* in the Beza Mahafaly Reserve, Madagascar. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 84:43-58.
- Sussman R, Ratsirarson J. 2006. Beza Mahafaly Special Reserve: a research site in southwestern Madagascar. In: Jolly A, Sussman R, Koyama N, Rasamimanana H, editors. Ringtailed Lemur Biology. New York: Springer. p 41-49.
- Tallichet SE, Willits FK. 1986. Gender-Role Attitude Change of Young Women: Influential Factors from a Panel Study. Social Psychology Quarterly 49:219-227.
- Tartabini A, Dienske H. 1979. Social Play and Rank Order in Rhesus-Monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*). Behavioural Processes 4:375-383.
- Thierry B, Aureli F, Nunn C, Petit O, Abegg C, Dewaal F. 2008. A comparative study of conflict resolution in macaques: insights into the nature of trait covariation. Animal Behaviour 75:847-860.
- Thornton J, Goy RW. 1986. Female-typical sexual behavior of rhesus and defeminization by androgens given prenatally. Hormones and Behavior 20:129-147.
- Timme A. 1995. Sex differences in infant integration in a semifree-ranging group of barbary macaques (*Macaca sylvanus*, L. 1758) at Salem, Germany. American Journal of Primatology 37:221-231.
- Tomaszycki ML, Davis JE, Gouzoules H, Wallen K. 2001. Sex differences in infant rhesus macaque separation-rejection vocalizations and effects of prenatal androgens. Hormones and Behavior 39:267-276.
- Tomaszycki ML, Gouzoules H, Wallen K. 2005. Sex differences in juvenile rhesus macaque (*Macaca mulatta*) agonistic screams: life history differences and effects of prenatal androgens. Developmental Psychobiology 47:318-327.

- Tooby J, Cosmides L. 1990a. On the universality of human nature and the uniqueness of the individual: the role of genetics and adaptation. Journal of Personality 58:17-67.
- Tooby J, Cosmides L. 1990b. The past explains the present: emotional adaptations and the structure of ancestral environments. Ethology and Sociobiology 11:375-424.
- Toscano JE, Bauman MD, Mason Wa, Amaral DG. 2009. Interest in infants by female rhesus monkeys with neonatal lesions of the amygdala or hippocampus. Neuroscience 162:881-891.
- Trivers RL. 1972. Parental investment and sexual selection. In: Campbell B, editor. Sexual selection and the descent of man 1871-1971. Chicago: Aldine. p 136-179.
- Turner CH, Davenport RK, Rogers CM. 1969. The effect of early deprivation on the social behavior of adolescent chimpanzees. American Journal of Psychiatry 125:1531-1537.
- Utami SS, Goossens B, Bruford MW, de Ruiter JR, van Hoof JARAM. 2002. Male bimaturism and reproductive success in Sumatran orang-utans. Behavioral Ecology 13:643-652.
- van Noordwijk MA, Hemelrijk CK, Herremans L, Sterck EHM. 1993. Spatial position and behavioral sex differences in juvenile long-tailed macaques. In: Pereira M, Fairbanks L, editors. Juvenile Primates. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. p 77-85.
- van Noordwijk MA, van Schaik CP. 2001. Career moves: transfer and rank challenge decisions by male long-tailed macaques. Behaviour 138:359-395.
- van Schaik C. 1989. The ecology of social relationships amongst female primates. In: Standen V, Foley R, editors. Comparative Socioecology. Oxford: Blackwell. p 195-218.
- van Schaik CP, Pandit SA, Vogel ER. 2004. A model for within-group coalitionary aggression among males. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 57:101-109.
- van Schaik CP, van Noordwijk MA, Nunn C. 1999. Sex and social evolution in primates. In: Lee PC, editor. Comparative Primate Socioecology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 204-240.
- Wallen K. 1996. Nature needs nurture: the interaction of hormonal and social influences on the development of behavioral sex differences in rhesus monkeys. Hormones and Behavior 30:364-378.
- Wallen K. 2001. Sex and context: hormones and primate sexual motivation. Hormones and Behavior 40:339-357.
- Wallen K. 2005. Hormonal influences on sexually differentiated behavior in nonhuman primates. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology 26:7-26.
- Wallen K, Bielert C, Slimp J. 1977. Foot clasp mounting in the prepubertal rhesus monkey: social and hormonal influences. In: Chevalier-Skolnikoff S, Poirier F, editors. Primate Bio-social Development. New York: Garland Publishing. p 439-461.
- Wallen K, Eisler JA, Tannenbaum PL, Nagell K, Mann DR. 1991. Antide (Nal-Lys GnRH antagonist) suppression of pituitary-testicular function and sexual behavior in group-living rhesus monkeys. Physiology & Behavior 50:429-435.
- Wallen K, Goldfoot DA, Goy R. 1981. Peer and maternal influences on the expression of foot-clasp mounting by juvenile male rhesus monkeys. Developmental Psychology 14:299-309.
- Wallen K, Hassett JM. 2009. Sexual differentiation of behaviour in monkeys: role of prenatal hormones. Journal of Neuroendocrinology 21:421-426.
- Wallen K, Maestripieri D, Mann DR. 1995. Effects of neonatal testicular suppression with a GnRH antagonist on social behavior in group-living juvenile rhesus monkeys. Hormones and Behavior 29:322-337.
- Wallen K, Zehr JL. 2004. Hormones and history: the evolution and development of primate female sexuality. Journal of Sex Research 41:101-112.
- Webster MM, Laland KN. 2008. Social learning strategies and predation risk: minnows copy only when using private information would be costly. Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological sciences: 275:2869-2876.
- White LE, Hinde RA. 1975. Some factors affecting mother-infant relations in rhesus monkeys. Animal Behaviour 23:527-542.
- Whiten A, Horner V, Marshall-Pescini S. 2003. Cultural panthropology. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 12:92-105.
- Whiting B, Edwards CP. 1973. A cross-cultural analysis of sex differences in the behavior of children aged three through 11. Journal of Social Psychology 91:171-188.
- Whitten PL, Turner TR. 2009. Endocrine mechanisms of primate life history tradeoffs: growth and reproductive maturation in vervet monkeys. American Journal of Human Biology 21:754-761.

- Wilansky-Traynor P, Lobel TE. 2008. Differential effects of an adult observer's presence on sex-typed play behavior: A comparison between gender-schematic and gender-aschematic preschool children. Archives of Sexual Behavior 37:548-557.
- Wilson DS. 1994. Adaptive genetic variation and human evolutionary psychology. Ethology and Sociobiology 15:219-235.
- Wittig RM, Crockford C, Lehmann J, Whitten PL, Seyfarth RM, Cheney DL. 2008. Focused grooming networks and stress alleviation in wild female baboons. Hormones and Behavior 54:170-177.
- Wobber V, Hare B, Maboto J, Lipson S, Wrangham R, Ellison PT. 2010. Differential changes in steroid hormones before competition in bonobos and chimpanzees. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107:12457-12462.
- Wood W, Eagly AH. 2002. A cross-cultural analysis of the behavior of women and men: Implications for the origins of sex differences. Psychological Bulletin 128:699-727.
- Worlein JM, Sackett GP. 1997. Social development in nursery-reared pigtailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*). American Journal of Primatology 41:23-35.
- Worthman CM. 1995. Hormones, Sex, and Gender. Annual Review Of Anthropology 24:593-617.
- Yamamoto ME, Albuquerque FS, Lopes Na, Ferreira ES. 2008. Differential infant carrying in captive and wild common marmosets (Callithrix jacchus). Acta Ethologica 11:95-99.
- Zucker EL, Clarke MR. 1992. Developmental and comparative aspects of social play of mantled howling monkeys in Costa Rica. Behaviour 123:144-171.
- Zumpe D, Michael RP. 1996. Social factors modulate the effects of hormones on the sexual and aggressive behavior of macaques. American Journal of Primatology 38:233-261.